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Acknowledgements _
Effective date July 1997 Section 1000.1

The Examination Manual for U.S. Branches andpment of the manual. Accordingly, this manual
Agencies of Foreign Banking Organizations waseflects general policies and procedures to b
prepared under the direction of the Federalsed in conducting examinations of individual
Reserve Board and Reserve Bank supervisidiranches and agencies of foreign bankin
personnel. Federal Reserve staff acknowledgerganizations.

and thank the staff of the New York State The manual will be updated periodically to
Banking Department, the Federal Deposit Insurreflect changes in examination policies and pro
ance Corporation, the Office of the Comptrollercedures. We solicit the input and contribution of
of the Currency, and the Conference of Statall supervisory staff and others in the refining
Bank Supervisors for contributing to the devel-and modification of its contents.
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General Introduction _
Effective date July 1997 Section 1010.1

Foreign banking organizations have had a longnternational Banking Act of 1978 instructed the
standing presence in the United States. TheFederal Reserve to use, to the extent possibl
operations encompass a wide variety of bankinthe examination reports of other state and fed
and nonbanking activities, through subsidiariesgral regulators in carrying out its responsibility
branches, agencies, and representative officder overseeing the U.S. operations of foreigr
These activities are located primarily in thebanking organizations. Enactment of FBSEA
major U.S. cities where finance and internationalvas intended to fill gaps in the supervision anc
trade are most actively conducted. regulation of the U.S. operations of foreign
Branches of foreign banking organizationsbanks and to ensure that the banking policie
are licensed by the state banking authorities agstablished by Congress are implemented in
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. Infair and consistent manner with respect to al
addition, certain grandfathered branches may bentities (domestic and foreign) conducting &
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Combanking business in the United States. FBSE/
poration. Agencies are licensed by the statestablished uniform federal standards for entr:
banking authorities. The Federal Reserve, therand expansion of foreign banks in the Unitec
fore, shares its regulatory responsibility withStates and substantially increased the role of t
other state and federal supervisory authorities:ederal Reserve in the supervision and regulz
Separately, the Board of Governors delegateason of their U.S. activities. Under FBSEA, the
certain of its supervisory and regulatory func+ederal Reserve may examine any office o
tions to the Reserve Banks and directs, coordaffiliate of a foreign bank in the United States
nates, and reviews actions taken by the Reseramd is to coordinate such examinations with the
Banks. OCC, FDIC, and appropriate state bankinc
Prior to the December 1991 passage of thsupervisors to the extent possible. A compreher
Foreign Bank Supervision Enhancement Acsive set of procedures has been developed |
(FBSEA), the examination of federal and statgrovide a uniform framework to be used in
branches and agencies of foreign banks wasxamining branches and agencies of foreig
largely the responsibility of the respective licensbanking organizations.
ing authorities (the states and the OCC). The
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Format and Use of Manual _
Effective date July 1997 Section 1020.1

FORMAT In general, key examination objectives are

designed to determine how well risk is manage«
This manual is divided into sections dealingdy: (1) determining the adequacy of the systen
with particular banking activities that relate of internal control and of policies, practices, anc
specifically to the examination and evaluation oprocedures; (2) evaluating the scope and adequa
U.S. branches and agendiad foreign banking of the internal control environment and audit
organizations (FBOs). Each section, in turnfunction; (3) determining compliance with laws,
may be divided into up to five subsectionsfegulations, and rulings; and (4) evaluating
depending upon the topic of discussion. Thesadherence with internal policies and procedure:

subsections are: These objectives all relate to the overall asses

. ment of the branch as described in the ROC/
* Overview. o rating system and ultimately could result in
* Examination Objectives. the implementation of corrective action, if
+ Examination Procedures. appropriate.

Internal Control Questionnaire.
Audit Guidelines.

Examination Procedures
The manual is intended to provide a compre-

hensive overview of banking activities that mayThese subsections include procedures to L
be conducted in a wide variety of branches. Noperformed during a comprehensive examinatio
all activities will be conducted by every branch.of the particular area of examination interest
Accordingly, the examiner-in-charge should planThere may be instances where the procedurt
the examination, particularly as it relates towill not apply in their entirety to a particular
examination procedures and internal contrapranch; thus, the examiner-in-charge shoul
questionnaires, based on the range of activitie@xercise judgement as to which procedures wi
of the particular branch under examinationbe conducted during the on-site examination
(This point is discussed in greater detail below.Yhe procedures to be addressed should be bas
upon the particular characteristics of the branci
] under examination, such as size, range, arn
Overview complexity of activities and condition. The
materiality and significance of a given area of ¢

The Overview section presents backgrountbranch’s operations are primary consideration
information on the respective topics. This infor-in determining the scope of the examination an
mation will be supplemented and reinforcedhe procedures to be performed. Examiner flex
through the supervisory agencies’ educationability in this respect will result in examinations
programs, updates to existing supervisory polithat are tailored to fit the condition, nature, anc
cies, and the examiner's growing on-the-jolscope of operations, i.e., a risk focus approact
experience. If, for example, serious deficiencies surface o
issues are raised during an examination, a
L .. relevant examination procedures set forth in thi
Examination Objectives manual are generally expected to be followed
. . L .. Additional procedures may also be requirec
The.sub'_sectlons in the Examination ObJe_ctlveﬁom other supervisory manuals and materials
section list the goals that should be of primaryhen modifying the procedures, the examiner
interest to the examiner. Examination obJectlve§n_Charge is responsible for determining that the
are broadly stated and are thus similar for mostyamination objectives are met and that the
manual sections. The objectives directly relatgcope of the examination is consistent witt

to procedures that will be performed at thene condition of the individual branch.
examination and thus will influence the scope of

the examination for the specific focus of exami-

nation interest. Internal Control Questionnaire

1. Collectively referred to as “branches” throughout this The_ evaluation of a branch’s intema_l control
manual, unless otherwise indicated. environment should encompass a review of th
Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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1020.1 Format and Use of Manual

internal audit activities and the implementation The manual was initially published in January
of selected Internal Control Questionnairesl995, and subsequently revised July 1997. Since
(ICQs), which set forth standards for operationathe entire manual was updated and reprinted at
control. Due to the inherent differences betweethat time, all pages are dated as of the July 1997
an examination and an audit, it is not contemrevision date. Supplemental pages will be peri-
plated that all ICQs will necessarily be imple-odically published and distributed by the Fed-
mented on every examination. The ICQ<sral Reserve Board and appropriately dated.
employed during the course of the examination

should include: (1) those selected by the

examiner-in-charge based upon his/her experi-

ence, knowledge of problems within the branch

and perception of risk; and (2) those that focuySE OF MANUAL

on areas where on-site evaluation of operationgthe manual should serve as a working tool as
control seems warranted in light of the results ofyell as a reference manual. It is organized to
the examination of internal audit activities. |nprovide f|ex|b|||ty to the examiner in p|anning
addition to serving as a guide for on-site evaluand conducting a branch examination and iden-
ations, the ICQs can be used in the appraisal gffying the key areas of concern as presented in
operational audit techniques. the ROCA rating system.

As discussed earlier, examination procedures
may be modified, depending upon the size,
Audit Guidelines range of activities, and condition of the branch.
State laws and local characteristics may also
The Audit Guidelines under selected sectiongecessitate a review of additional factors and
are included as an additional source of informasupplemental procedures. For example, specific
tion relative to special situations where seriouprocedures relating to highly sophisticated trad-
issues are raised with respect to the internahg activities have not been included in this
audit program or the general internal contromanual. Examination procedures for those
environment. Audit Guidelines set forth tradi-activities may be found in th&ading Activities
tional audit techniques that ideally should bevianual of the Board of Governors of the
employed by the local staff, head office, internaFederal Reserve System. Similarly, applicable
or external auditors, or a combination thereofState, FDIC, and OCC banking rules and regu-
Audit guidelines should not be routinely includediations must be considered in various areas, such

in the scope of every examination. as those relating to asset maintenance require-
ments or asset pledge/capital equivalency
deposits.

NUMBERING SYSTEM Although the manual discusses selected branch

activities in general terms, it is primarily ori-
The manual is arranged using a numberingnted toward describing examination procedures
system based on the manual's sections anmmbvering those activitiesTherefore, the manual
subsections. For example, the Overview subseshould not be viewed as a comprehensive train-
tion of the Credit Risk Management section isng guide or a legal referencé&Separate training
numbered 3010.1., 3010 is the section numbgrograms will provide more detailed instruc-
for Credit Risk Management, and .1 is thetions to assist the examiner in better understand-
subsection number for the Overview. Theing branch activities and applying examination
Examination Objectives subsection for that secprocedures. In addition, questions concerning
tion is numbered 3010.2, and so on. Subsectiorapplicability and compliance with federal and
are always numbered consecutively regardlesgate laws and regulations should be referred to
of the number of subsections within a particulathe legal staff of the appropriate regulatory
section. agency.
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Enhanced Framework for Supervising the U.S. Operations

of Foreign Banking Organizations _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2000.1

Foreign banking organizations (“FBOs”) con- Banking Act. In addition, the Federal Reserve
duct an extensive and diverse business in thghares supervisory responsibility with other
United States. Consistent with economic effiregulatory agencies for FBOs with respect to the
ciency and national treatment, FBOs are free tbusiness they conduct within the United States
conduct their U.S. activities through a variety ofincluding representative offices. As a result
legal entities. Banking activities are conductedBOs are subject to a number of state an
primarily through branches or agencies licensefkderal statutes, and various aspects of the
by the individual states or by the Comptroller ofoperations are supervised and regulated b
the Currency and, to a lesser extent, throughoth state and federal banking supervison
banks chartered by those banking supervisorguthorities.

authorities and through special-purpose banking In order to better coordinate and further
corporations chartered by the states and thenhance the supervision of the U.S. activities o
Federal Reserve. Some of these banking entitiéBOs, the banking supervisory authorities tha
also are insured and therefore subject to thkave supervisory and examination powers ove
oversight of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corthe U.S. operations of FBOs have developed
poration. Non-banking activities are authorizegorogram encompassing the supervisory prin
by the Federal Reserve pursuant to the Baniples and processes relating to FBOs, which i
Holding Company Act and the Internationalsummarized in the following sections.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Strength-of-Support Assessment for Foreign Banking

Organizations with U.S. Operations _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2001.1

OVERVIEW recent merger, significant other expansion o
changes in operations, or reported control prok
The strength-of-support assessment (SOSA) préems at non-U.S. operations pose a potential ris
vides a general framework for evaluating ando the U.S. operations. The factors considere
assimilating significant financial and manageriafor this component also are discussed below
information related to individual foreign bank- Specific standards or criteria for the secon
ing organizations (FBOs) in order to assign &omponent of the SOSA are not discusse
two-component SOSA. The FBO assessmeftecause the purpose of this component is t
provides information to the supervisory agenindicate whether any such concerns exist,
cies that is taken into account in reachingletermination thatis largely judgmental in nature
decisions regarding the scope and frequency @hd not readily quantified. For this reason, the
examinations and other appropriate superviso@sterisk is used rather than an alpha or numer
initiatives. The assessment also provides a bastymbol which would incorrectly imply differing
for the more efficient utilization of supervisory degrees of such concerns.
resources. All SOSAs are forinternal supervisory use
The first component of the SOSA addressesnly and are not disclosed to the general publi
whether any factors relating to the ability of theor to FBO’s management, either in the Unitec
FBO to meet its U.S. obligations warrant speciabtates or at the head office or to the hom
monitoring of the FBO’s U.S. operations. Thiscountry supervisor(s). If deemed appropriate
component is a reflection of the overall financiakny specific concerns raised through the asses
viability of the FBO as well as several externalment process, rather than the assessment itse
factors such as the degree of supervision theill be communicated directly to the FBO's
FBO receives from its home country supervisormanagement and home country supervisor(s
This component is based on a scale of “A’particularly if those concerns lead to supervisory
through “E” with “A” representing the lowest follow-up action with regard to the FBO's U.S.
level of supervisory concern and “E” represent-operations.
ing the highest.
Factors considered in assigning the first com-
ponent include a review of the FBO'’s financial
condition and prospects, the system of supervisOsA INDICATORS
sion in the FBO’s home country, the record of
home country government support of the bankrnere are five possible indicators for the firs
ing system or other sources of support of th%omponent of the SOSA:
FBO, and any transfer risk concerns. In assign-
ing this component, all relevant factors arezgsessment of AThe FBO has a financial
weighed and evaluated. Standards and criterigfile that is regarded as strong by both hom:
for this component, including the five possiblecoyntry peer and international standards. It ha
strength-of-;upport indicators, are discussed iQuperior risk-based capital ratibspore than
greater detail below. ample access to U.S. dollar funding, and, if rate
The second component of the SOSA, which igy any of the ratings agencies, is accorded or
utilized on an as-needed basis, identifies whethef the two highest market or investment rating
there are any factors that raise questions aboghtegories. Supervision by the home countr
the ability of the FBO to maintain adequatesupervisory agency or agencies is conducted c

internal controls and compliance procedures & comprehensive basis, covering the worldwid
its U.S. offices, irrespective of the overall finan-

cial condition of the FBO. If any such control
risks are apparent, an asterisk is placed next to
the letter component of the SOSA. _
; ; [ ol 1. Risk-based capital ratios based on Basle or EC criteri
Factors considered in assigning the aSterls"re available for most banks. For those banks not providin

include the FBO's managerial and Operationaiuch ratios, judgments related to the adequacy of capital al
record and whether current activities such as iased on the ratio of equity capital to total assets.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
Page 1



2001.1 Strength-of-Support Assessment for Foreign Banking Organizations with U.S. Operations

operations of the FBO and its affiliatésThe Assessment of-B-Significant financial or super-
home country has a good record of supervisingisory weaknesses are apparent such that impo-
financial institutions and dealing with problemsition of asset maintenance requirements on the
institutions, and transfer risk is not an issue ofJ).S. branches and agencies should be consid-
concern. The FBO is an unquestioned source @red. The FBO may be expected to continue as
strength to its U.S. operations. a going concern due primarily to government

support, ownership, or other significant factors,
Assessment of-BThe financial profile and out- although resource constraints, transfer risk con-
look pose a low risk that the FBO will be unablesiderations, operating structure, or other factors
to support its U.S. operations. The FBO isnay place important limitations on that support.
viewed as investment grade or equivalent, capiconversely, the financial profile, based on avail-
tal ratios are above internationally accepte@ble information, may imply a higher assess-
minima, and access to U.S. dollar funding isment, but home country supervision is deemed
readily available; however, financial factors argo be substantially or wholly deficient, or there
not as strong as those of institutions with arare significant transfer risk concerns.
assessment of A. The FBO is subject to a
significant degree of supervision of its overallAssessment of-EDue to a seriously deficient
operations by the home country supervisor(sfinancial profile and/or poor operating practices
and the country has a good record for dealingnd the absence of any sufficient supervisory
with problems in the local financial system.oversight and support, there is a strong possibil-
Transfer risk factors are generally consistenity that the FBO will be unable to honor its U.S.
with those of FBOs with an assessment of A. Arobligations in the near future or is otherwise
FBO whose financial profile is consistent with aconsidered to present a hazard to U.S. financial
B assessment could be assigned an assessmeratrkets.
of C or lower if its home country has a super-
visory system that is lacking in significant
respects or significant transfer risk considerSOSA FACTORS
ations exist.

Determining whether an individual FBO has the
Assessment of-EThe current operating perfor- internal or external resources to provide the
mance of the FBO and its immediate financiahecessary financial or managerial support to its
outlook, although not posing significant con-U.S. operations depends to a great extent upon
cerns about the ability of the organization taits financial condition, operating record, and
honor its U.S. liabilities, may warrant more thangeneral outlook. A good financial condition
normal review based on such factors as the lacdkombined with capable management is gener-
of an investment grade rating, capital ratioslly sufficient to ensure that support. However,
below internationally accepted minima, or othetthe degree of certainty about the ability of an
factors that are considered less than adequate BBO to provide any necessary financial support
international standards. While the FBO curmay be limited by weaknesses in its home
rently may not meet all international financialcountry supervisory system or a significant
standards, the home country has demonstratelégree of transfer risk associated with its major
an ability and willingness to support the FBO oroperations. These two factors also may influ-
similar financial institutions. ence the home country’s record of support for its

Conversely, the financial profile of the FBOfinancial institutions.

may appear to warrant a stronger rating; how- Accordingly, the first component of the SOSA
ever, supervision by the home country regulaeonsiders four major factors: (a) the financial
tors is lacking in significant respects or signifi-profile of the FBO based on its present financial
cant transfer risk considerations exist. condition and outlook, including capital ratios

and access to U.S. dollar liquidity; (b) the FBO’s
- home country banking supervision system;

2. This covers instances in which a determination regard(C) the demonstrated capabilities of the home

ingé:orrl;pr(taﬁen':si\ée, ccl)nsolidatestupzrvisionhhas aBIreagy t:eg{@)umry in dealing with banking problems; and
rbna?seed gn :vaili\b?éainfoersl:r?;t/i%n, 0:jlrre g;ev;\)la?erg tooar;alfea d) the degree of transfer risk associated Wl.th the
positive recommendation to the Board with regard to comi-BO'’S home country and any other countries in
prehensive, consolidated supervision. which the FBO has major operations.

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Strength-of-Support Assessment for Foreign Banking Organizations with U.S. Operations 2C

All assessment factors are considered as 8ystem of Home Country Supervision
whole in assigning the first component of the

SOSA. None of the four principal factors area review of the home country supervisory

assigned a separate “rating” or are considered gystem is essential to ensure that the FBO |

discrete component of the final assessment. subject to an appropriate level of supervision o

its global operations. In assigning an FBO’S

SOSA, the review of the system of home coun

Financial Profile try _sl_Jpervision should concentrate on its gener:

policies and how the supervisory framework

The financial profile of the FBO is based on theapplles in practice to the individual FBO. In this

RN . context, the mere presence of a home countt
institution’s current condition and future pros-

pects. A review of financial condition is based® u_lp_ﬁrvESrO[s ?]Ot considered sufﬁm_ent.

on the level and trend in financial performance h ﬁj b S clnmei %oubntry zupervtlsory systen
indicators relating to the FBO's capital, profit-S lould be evajuated based on those genet
ability and asset quality. These indicators shoul&”nc.'pk.as and practices ’that_ ensure regul_ator
be evaluated in the context of peer performanc@on'tor.'n.g. over the FBO S prlnC|ng operations
and knowledge of the FBO's home countryand activities, including those outside the hom

financial system and accounting policies angounty. These general supervisory principle

practices$ The financial outlook should con- agﬁog{?félcgiinUSL(j)aI:l”-)éitg];Irl\Jg/?)rz?f[gﬁelr?ev\/eillavy
sider a broad range of external and internd? P 9, '

factors, such as the home country bankingrUdem'al guidelines (including capital adequac

system, the FBO’s political and economic env'_equwements),_ and supervisory enforcemer
powers. Effective regulatory systems may take

many forms; however, the system of any coun
try should ensure that the internationally active
banks operating under that system are subject
% sufficient level of supervision.

Supervisory systems may also vary with
spect to the type of institution. Therefore, the

ronment, its market position, risk profile, own-
ership, and management.

Generally, the FBO’s short-term and long-
term market ratings are good indicators of it
financial outlook. An FBO with the highest
market ratings should be able to demonstrater%

strong financial condition and outlook. The FBO nalysis of the supervisory system should evalt

would likely be assigned an A assessment i . o
other factors are consistent with the assessmer%ae actual regulatory practices for the individua

. ; S O. This assessment will be based largely ol
Notwithstanding the significance of market a4 e information that has been accumulated ove

ings, the FBO's financial profile and resultanttime by the U.S. banking supervisory agencies

assessment should not be based on mar tis expected that this assessment will be
ratings alone. Rather the ratings should Serveeshanced as additional information on othe

gfr?rfg?r?gg tlﬁ)t(i)cl)mt f?)re?:ug]gengzrki?nrta?; Sisms pervisory systems is obtained through improve
! 9 ontacts and informational exchange.

not always reflect the most current view of the
FBO or the supervisory authorities may have
information not directly or indirectly available
to the market. For example, examination findRecord of Home Country Support
ings of the U.S. operations could raise questions
about the FBO's overall operations and manageRelated to home country supervision is the
ment that could lead to a SOSA lower than thaiatter of the home country’s record of ensuring
indicated by the FBO’s market ratings. How-the solvency of its financial institutions, particu-
ever, any significant difference between thearly those that operate internationally. The
assessment and market ratings should be fulbecord of support varies by country with respec
analyzed and justified. to structure, coverage of banks, and resource
Such support may be either direct or indirect ir
nature and may be widespread or only applica

3. While recognizing that in many cases knowledge of thiple to banking institutions with specific
nature will take time to develop, it is particularly important characteristics.
because financial disclosure varies among countries. For this .
reason, meetings with head office management and the home SOME countries are able to take whateve

country supervisors of FBOs are useful sources of informatiorSsteps are necessary to support their bank

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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2001.1 Strength-of-Support Assessment for Foreign Banking Organizations with U.S. Operations

unequivocally while others will have a moreexperiencing certain operational problems, not
limited degree of support for their banks due tmecessarily in the United States. The FBO may
legal restrictions or financial constraints. Thesée undergoing extensive expansion into new
factors should be reviewed, giving particulamarkets or products that over time could pose a
emphasis to past performance and an assessmstiain on its financial and managerial resources.
of the country’s resources. The FBO also could be experiencing well-
publicized internal control problems at offices
outside the United States. Although these con-
trol problems would not necessarily affect the
ability of the FBO to pay its obligations, they
may be symptomatic of larger control problems
Wat also might exist in the U.S. offices. Any
uch concerns should be explored to the extent
gossible, particularly as they may influence the
xamination plan for the FBO'’s U.S. operations.

Level of Transfer Risk

Transfer risk, which relates to the FBO's ability
to access U.S. dollars, is an essential factor i
determining whether the FBO can support it
U.S. operations. For some FBOs, transfer risk i
increased due to heavy debt servicing or othéf
financial restraints relating to the home country,
which often leads to exchange controls and hard

currency restrictions. As a result, these FBOgSENERAL SUPERVISORY
may be limited in providing necessary SUPPOIMPLICATIONS
to their U.S. operations.

The assessment of transfer risk for individualyg giscyssed earlier, one of the principal goals
countries is uniformly handled by U.S. regula-of the SOSA is to identify those FBOs that may
tors through the Interagency Country EXposurg,qe risks to their U.S. operations or to U.S.
Cfinancial markets due to financial, operational,
e b \ rlnlﬂ' other concerns at the FBO as a whole. The
ing the SOSAs. For those countries not évallsnsa serves to categorize all FBOs conducting
ated by ICERC, the assessments of transfer ri nking operations in the United States and to

will made in the same manner as conducted byjgnjight those FBOs warranting higher levels

ICERC. ] of supervisory attention with respect to their
Generally, FBOs from countries rated substany g gperations. This assessment may influence

dard or worse would be accorded an assessmefk examination plan and potential supervisory

of no better than C. However, a high level oft)i5,y_up actions for the FBO's U.S. operations.
transfer risk associated with the FBO’s home An FBO'’s SOSA is taken into consideration

country could be mitigated by other conS|der-In setting the examination plan for the FBO'’s

ations that clearly indicate that the FBO hag; g operations. The examination plan considers

broad access to U.S. dollars. any issues raised in the assessment process and
addresses them accordingly. For example, the
U.S. operations of FBOs whose assessments are
Other Factors marked by an asterisk may have examinations
that specially target operational or management
Determining whether an FBO poses any manaareas. The FBO’s SOSA is also a factor in
gerial or operational control risks to its U.S.determining whether the FBO will be subject to
operations can be influenced by a broad range af simultaneous examination.
factors that are generally more subjective than The FBO’s SOSA also is considered in imple-
those discussed under the first component of theenting supervisory follow-up action for the
SOSA. Any such risks, both actual and potent).S. operations. Generally, an assessment of C
tial, which do not directly relate to the ability of or worse would imply a level of concern that
an FBO to meet its obligations as discussediould subject the FBO's U.S. offices to at least
earlier, should be denoted by placing an asterigheriodic monitoring of their due to/due from
beside the FBO's letter assessment. The natupssitions. Any additional supervisory steps, such
of these risks should be discussed separately & imposing an asset pledge or asset main-
the FBO evaluation. tenance requirement, would be implemented
One example of such control risks is an FBOargely based on the condition and nature of the
that otherwise has a SOSA of A or B but may b&J.S. operations. An FBO accorded an assess-
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Strength-of-Support Assessment for Foreign Banking Organizations with U.S. Operations 2C

ment of D or worse indicates a higher level ofE Assessment The FBO will be placed under

concern with some presumption of asset mainzontinuous surveillance and reporting as war
tenance regardless of the condition of its U.S:anted. Termination proceedings for the U.S
operations. operations of such an FBO will be considerec

As with all such supervisory follow-up actions, Under applicable regulatory guidelines.
these steps are considered and implemented
based on the general criteria for applying super-
visory follow-up actions in the context of the DEVVELOPING THE SOSA
FBO’s SOSA. Supervisory follow-up action can
be modified based upon a number of criteria. lrhe FBO's SOSA is developed annually througt
is stressed that no automatic supervisory prog process that involves all U.S. supervisors the
gram is mandated as part of the FBO SOSAnaye licensing, chartering, or examining respon
Furthermore, an assessment of A or B generallyipilities over the FBO’s U.S. operations. The
would imply little if any concern relating to the rocess includes an analysis of available infor
ability of the FBO to meet its obligations. If an mation on the financial condition of the FBO
FBO does raise liquidity or solvency concernsyithin the context of the home country financial
the FBO should not be accorded an assessmefifstem, the banking supervisory system, th
of A or B. record of the authorities in preventing or suc-

Suggested guidelines for supervisory follow-uessfully dealing with banking system prob-
action for each assessment category are #&sms, and transfer risk considerations. The FBC(
follows: evaluations are based on information compile
by all of the relevant U.S. banking supervisory
A or B AssessmentNormally, any supervisory agencies. | . .
follow-up action for FBOs with a SOSA of A or Information obtained by any of the banking

supervisory agencies relating to individual FBOs

B is applied only if warranted by the condition >~ . . X
of the U.S. operations. Supervisory measureQ€lr home country financial systems, supervi

generally would not relate to liquidation con-SO1Y systems and accounting policies should b

cerns. As such, asset maintenance usually wou‘@nsm'tted to ‘h? _Federal Res‘?r."e' which V\."”
not be required for branches and agencies §>>4Me responsibility for organizing and main

these FBOSs; however, supervisory actions woullfining @ database for this information. Th'z
be undertaken, if necessary, to resolve an atabase is available to all of the relevant U.S
significant deficiencies in risk management2anking supervisory agencies.

operations and internal controls, or compliance All Of the relevant state and federal banking
at any of the U.S. offices. supervisory agencies, whenever possible, wil

obtain information for the database, especiall
as it relates to the individual FBOs, the financia
C AssessmentThe FBO’s SOSA is reviewed systems within which they primarily operate and
at least annually. The due to/due from position ishe supervisory systems in the different coun
closely monitored and any substantial due frontries. This information will help to keep the
position is fully analyzed for risk implications. database as current as possible and is develop
If warranted by the condition of the combinedprimarily through discussions with the U.S. and
U.S. operations or the asset quality at the U.Shead office managements of the FBOs as well ¢
offices of such an FBO, asset maintenancthe home country supervisor(s).

would be considered for branches and agencies,

and U.S. subsidiary banks could be required to

operate at capital levels above the minima. PRIMARY PRODUCTS

D AssessmentThere is a strong presumptionThe information in the database is used fc
of asset maintenance for branches and agencigsvelop three primary products, each of whict
of an FBO in this category, and U.S. banksummarizes information in the database an
subsidiaries should operate at strong capitgrovides the supporting data for the SOSA
levels. The FBO is more closely monitored andrhese three products are: (1) an evaluation c
its assessment may be subject to review at leatbte financial condition of the FBO, (2) a review
semi-annually. of the home country financial system, and (3)
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review of significant home country accountingof the U.S. operations of the FBO. The evalua-

policies and practices. tions and assessments normally are reviewed
annually. The evaluations will be revised in the
interim only if information is obtained by any of

. . - - the U.S. supervisory agencies that is significant
Evaluation of the Financial Condition enough to change the SOSA, either positively or

of the FBO negatively.

o These evaluations are kept strictly confiden-
Normally, the FBO evaluation is drafted by thetjg| py each of the agencies, in part to ensure that
Federal Reserve each year. The initial source @fe sharing of information between the agencies

report as well as any external sources that afego and assigning its SOSA does not violate
readily available (e.g. periodicals and servicesktate or federal regulations.

Over time, as the database becomes more devel-
oped, many additional sources of information
will be utilized. . . .

The individual Reserve Banks responsible foRe\”eW of Home Country Financial
drafting FBO evaluations produce a schedule apyStem
the beginning of each year showing the approxi- . .
mate date that the draft evaluation and reconf\S mentioned above, a database containing
mended SOSA for each FBO will be circulatednformation on the financial system of each
for comments. This schedule is based primarilgountry with bank representation in the United
on the fiscal year-end of the FBO (and conse>tates is maintained by the Federal Reserve,
quently the date the FR Y7 report is received)Using its own sources and information submitted
the extent and overall condition of the FBO’sby the other supervisory agencies. This informa-
combined U.S. operations, and the prior SOSAION is made available to all of the agencies. In
of the FBO. This schedule is distributed to all ofaddition, the Federal Reserve provides, in a
the state and federal agencies participating iHniform format, reviews summarizing informa-
this joint program along with the name of ation on the home country financial system, the
contact person at each Reserve Bank. The othB@ture of banking supervision and the country’s
agencies, as well as the other Reserve Bank&cord in dealing with banking problem3hese
may request, through the assigned contact pefi€views are updated whenever any of the super-
son, that an FBO evaluation in any given year b¥iS0ry agencies obtain significant information
indicates. country. The database includes all such reviews

The draft evaluation and the proposed SOSRrepared by the Federal Reserve and any pro-
is circulated for comments within the FederalVided by the other supervisory agencies.
Reserve System and to all federal and state
supervisory agencies involved in supervising the
FBO. Each party revieWS.t.he draft and comReview of Home Country Accounting
ments, if necessary. In addition, the analyst whrgctices
prepared the draft will be available to answer
questions regarding the draft. If the initial reviewrhe gatabase also contains information on sig-
of the draft indicates differences in view regardyicant accounting policies and practices in
ing the proposed assessment that can not Bgner countries and is utilized to develop reviews
resolved informally, a meeting of the relevanisf sych practices. These reviews are developed
banking supervisory agencies could be called bb%y the Federal Reserve utilizing information
any supervisory agency to discuss the SOSA o
the FBO. While it is expected that a consensus

assessment will result from this process, indi- 4. These reviews are produced based on a schedule pro-

vidual agencies retain the right to exercise alNided by the Reserve Banks. The schedules give priority to
statutory authorities available to them to meethose countries that have a major banking presence in the
their Supervisory concerns. United States or are experiencing significant problems within
. . . the home country financial system. The draft is provided to the

The finalized evaluation is sent to all of theother agencies for their comments. The analyst who prepared

supervisory agencies involved in the supervisiome draft is available to answer questions regarding the draft.
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derived from the same sources as used for theovided in the FR Y7 report. These reviews are
review of the home country financial system asipdated whenever any significant changes occt
well as from general accounting informationin accounting policies or practices.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
Page 7



Examination Planning and the Assessment of the

U.S. Operations of Foreign Banking Organizations
Effective date July 1997 Section 2002.1

OVERVIEW scheduling meeting takes place each year t

determine the scope and timing of examination
This segment of the program is designed t®f FBOs that are to be conducted on a mor
provide a more efficient, rational, and uniformcoordinated basis. The Federal Reserve finalize
approach to supervising the U.S. operations ¢he comprehensive examination schedule ar
foreign banking organizations (FBOs), particuprovides it to all of the supervisory agencies.
larly those that operate in the United States For FBOs that conduct all or substantially all
through numerous entities and across multiplef their U.S. operations through entities license
jurisdictions. In order to ensure coordination ofor chartered by one banking supervisory agenc!
supervisory efforts and avoid duplication, thethe timing of the annual examination is estab
U.S. banking supervisory agencies communicatigshed by the licensing authority. In agreemen
with each other to a greater extent regardingiith the individual states, the Federal Reserv
their examination plans, examination resultsand, for insured branches, the FDIC, share th
and, where applicable, their proposed supervburden of conducting the annual examination:
sory follow-up actions. In addition, the Federalof state-licensed branches and agencies. In tho
Reserve assesses annually the combined Ugsars that the Federal Reserve or FDIC condu
operations of each FBO, based largely on inpuhe examination, the timing will be established
from and discussions with the examiningby that agency.

agencies. FBOs which operate in the United States

through multiple offices often will have all
offices examined using the same “as of” finan-

EXAMINATION SCHEDULING cial statement date. This provides the supervi
AND DEVELOPMENT OF sory agencies with increased information on th
EXAMINATION PLANS interrelationships among the various offices an

can enhance the examination of individual office:

FBSEA requires that each U.S. branch an@nd the FBO's overall U.S. operations. Thes
agency of an FBO be Subject to one Safety angxaml!‘latlons are conducted by the variou:
soundness examination in each twelve montRdgencies.
period. More frequent examination may be war- Sometimes, certain activities of a branch art
ranted in certain situatioris. functionally managed or operationally per-
To ensure coordination, the licensing andormed at the branch being examined, but ar
insuring agencies provide the local Federabooked at another office of the FBO, either in
Reserve Bank with a copy of their preliminarythe U.S. or offshore. It is not uncommon for one
examination schedule for the coming year for albranch to generate, or be responsible for loan:
U.S. offices of an FBO for which the agencytrading assets, or deposits that are ultimatel
anticipates conducting an examination. The Fedooked at another office. Similarly, it also is not
eral Reserve uses these schedules, along witincommon for a branch to perform certain
the preliminary examination schedules of theperations such as electronic data processin
various Reserve Banks, to derive a draft comaccounting, financial reporting, or credit admin-
prehensive examination schedule for all U.Sistration on behalf of another office of the FBO.
operations of individual FBOs. Even when a U.S. branch performs limited
The draft schedule is provided to eachoperational functions for a related office, exam
involved agency in order to permit all of theiners should evaluate whether the branch he
examining agencies to review their own schedsufficient records and controls in place to execut
ules in conjunction with those of the otherthe delegated responsibilities. If there is insuffi-
agencies. In addition, where necessary, an intecient information to evaluate the nature of anc
agency the performance of the U.S. branch with respec
_— to the business relationship with another office
1. Under Ieg_isla_tion passed in 1_995, branches and_agenci@cf the FBO, examiners should cite this defi-
that meet certain size and other criteria may be examined on(ﬁency in the report of examination as a matte

in every 18 month period. Those criteria currently are unde i . A N
development and further guidance will be issued. that requires immediate attention.
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SR 96-36 provides detailed guidance on hovgupervisory agency and/or with significant U.S.
to review duties performed by one branch on th@on-banking activities. The Federal Reserve
behalf of another. Essentially, a branch performdrafts the comprehensive Exam Plan based on
ing duties on behalf of another office of the FBOthe individual examination plans prepared by
should have adequate policies, procedures, atide different state and federal supervisory agen-
documentation to clearly delineate the overeies for each office to be examined. These
sight, operational, and control responsibilities obxamination plans should be developed after the
the branch. There should be adequate risk maregulatory agency has completed its most recent
agement processes, operational controls, amckamination of the FBO entity subject to its
compliance programs covering all activities forsupervision. The plan should be incorporated
which the branch has responsibility. The examiinto the confidential section of the examination
nation treatment under the ROCA rating systemeport. After conferring with other participating
for activities conducted by a U.S. branch orbanking supervisory agencies, the scope or time-
behalf of another office of the FBO should betable of an examination, as set out in the annual
the same as for activities conducted by theomprehensive Exam Plan, may be altered in the
branch for its own book, except for the evaluaevent there are impediments to completing an
tion of asset quality. In rating asset quality, theexamination as originally planned.
examiner should only evaluate assets that are on
the books of the U.S. branch. However, exam-
iners should be mindful of the general quality of
assets being generated by the U.S. branch atiPLEMENTING THE ANNUAL
booked elsewhere so as to be alert to any patteEEXAMINATION PLAN
of booking low quality assets outside the U.S. or
any other situations that might indicate prob-The Federal Reserve coordinates the sharing of
lems in risk management or operational controld§nformation throughout the examinations of

FBOs with multi-state operations. Because of
the differing starting dates and lengths of indi-
vidual examinations, most examinations are com-
EXAMINATION PLAN pleted by participating banking supervisory agen-
cies at differenttimes. Consequently, animportant
Subsequent to the examination scheduling prgpart of this program is the sharing of critical
cess, detailed examination plans are developedxamination findings throughout the process.
exchanged and coordinated among the examirFhe U.S. supervisory agencies have committed
ing agencies. Each state and federal supervisoty advising those agencies responsible for exam-
agency participating in this program is commit-ining other U.S. offices of the FBO of any
ted to developing, to the extent possible, examieritical examination findings prior to the exit
nation plans for individual offices of FBOs thatmeeting for that examination.
they plan to examine based primarily on the The Federal Reserve, in its statutory role as
following: umbrella authority with responsibility for over-
all U.S. operations, confers with the examining
« findings and scope of previous examinationsagencies to determine if its participation in any
« the results of any off-site surveillance; of the examiner closeout meetings is warranted.
* the latest assessment of the combined U.Such participation typically is appropriate in the
operations of the FBO and the role of theevent there are systemic weaknesses detected in
office in the context of the FBO’s overall U.S. the U.S. operations or problems exist that are so
business activities; significant as to affect the rating of the overall
results of meetings with both U.S. and head).S. operations. In those instances where a
office management of the FBO, and the hom&ederal Reserve Bank has conducted the exami-

country supervisor(s); and, nation, that Reserve Bank confers with the
* the evaluation of the FBO and the SOSAlicensing agency to determine if the participa-
assigned. tion of that agency is warranted. However, the

normal presumption is that the banking super-

A comprehensive examination plan (“Examvisory agency that conducted the examination

Plan”) is developed annually for each FBO withalso will conduct the closeout meeting without
banking offices licensed by more than ongparticipation by non-examining agencies.

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
Page 2



Examination Planning and the Assessment of the U.S. Operations of Foreign Banking Organizations 2

The agency responsible for the examinatiomombined U.S. operations.
of any office in a given year is also responsible The Summary of Condition is drafted by the
for completion of the examination and preparafederal Reserve which provides a copy of the
tion of the examination report for that entity. Indraft and proposed rating to each supervisor
the case of joint examinations, the examininggency with examination authority over an office
agencies strive to issue only one report obf the FBO in order to make certain that
examination for that office of the FBO. Theinformation obtained from these agencies wa
supervisory agency that conducted the examinaorrectly interpreted.
tion of an individual office of an FBO also is Once the Summary of Condition is finalized,
responsible for the distribution of the transmittathe Federal Reserve provides a copy, includin
letter and examination report. the rating, to the Chief Executive Officer at the

Supervisory actions that affect only one officénead office of the FBO. The Summary of Con-
of an FBO also normally are entered into solelydition and the rating serve as a starting point it
by the licensing authority, unless the actiordrafting the Exam Plan for the next year.
resulted from an examination conducted by the In arriving at the rating for the combined U.S.
FDIC or the Federal Reserve. In these cases tlogerations of the FBO, all of the FBO’s U.S.
action is undertaken by the examining agencyehicles are considered; however, this rating i
or, at the option of the licensing authority, on anot based merely on an arithmetic average of th
joint basis with that authority. Actions that applyexamination ratings of the vehicles examined
to the overall operations of an FBO are enteredhe strengths or weaknesses exhibited withil
into by the Federal Reserve and those licensingdividual entities are evaluated based on th
or insuring agencies that have offices affected bgize and importance of the entity relative to the
the supervisory action and wish to enter intd~BO’s entire U.S. operations, and the material
such an action with the office they license. ity and extent of the weaknesses.

The five ratings are defined as follows:

Combined Rating of-+The overall operations
ASSESSMENT OF COMBINED U.S. 4¢ fundamentally sound in every respect. The

OPERATIONS AND ASSIGNMENT  cause no supervisory concern and require onl
OF A RATING normal supervisory attention.

An important component of this program is theCombined Rating of 2The combined U.S.
integration of individual examination findings operations operate in a basically sound manne
into an assessment of an FBO's entire U.Sut may have modest weaknesses that can |
operations. This assessment provides the FBE&brrected by management in the normal cours
and the U.S. supervisory agencies with a view off business. They do not require more thar
the overall condition of the U.S. operations, anchormal supervisory attention.
helps put into context the strengths and weak-
nesses of individual offices. It also highlightsCombined Rating of-3-Overall U.S. operations
supervisory concerns regarding any problemare weak in risk management, operational con
that are pervasive in the U.S. operations of th&ols, and compliance, or have numerous assi
FBO. quality problems that in combination with the
The Federal Reserve conducts an annuabndition of the FBO cause supervisory con
assessment of the combined U.S. operations ardrn. U.S. and/or head office management ma
prepares a "Summary of Condition" for allnot be taking the necessary corrective actions t
FBOs with U.S. offices supervised by more tharmddress weaknesses. This rating may also |
one agency. The summary includes an assessssigned when either risk management, oper:
ment of all risk factors, including (1) all ele- tional controls, or compliance is individually
ments of the ROCA rating system, (2) quality ofviewed as unsatisfactory. Generally, these oper:
risk management oversight employed by altions raise supervisory concern and require mor
levels of management in the FBO’s U.S. operathan normal supervision to address theil
tions, and (3) the examinations of all vehicles ofveaknesses.
the FBO conducted during the year. The Sum-
mary of Condition leads to the assignment of &ombined Rating of 4-The combined U.S.
single-component rating between 1 and 5 for theperations have a significant volume of seriou:
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weaknesses. Serious problems or unsafe amdisafe and unsound conditions that they require
unsound banking practices or operations existirgent restructuring by head office management.
which have not been satisfactorily addressed or
resolved by U.S. or head office management. This composite assessment serves to apprise
These operations require close supervisorthe various U.S. supervisory authorities of the
attention and surveillance monitoring and aondition of all the U.S. entities of individual
definitive plan for corrective action by headFBOs. These agencies can then factor the infor-
office management. mation that they obtain from the Summary of
Condition and the composite assessment into
Combined Rating of -5-The combined U.S. their supervision of the U.S. entities under their
operations have so many severe weaknessesjorisdiction.
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Banking Organizations _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2003.1

The rating system for U.S. branches of FBOs is The composite rating is based on a scale c
a management information and supervisory toasne through five in ascending order of supervi
designed to assess the condition of a branch asdry concern. Thus, one represents the lowe
to identify significant supervisory concerns at devel of supervisory concern while five repre-
branch in a systematic and consistent fashiorsents the highest level. The five composite
The rating system (ROCA) has been revisedatings are defined as follows.

from the previous rating system of asset quality,

internal controls, and management (AIM), to

better assess the condition of a branch within th i i

context of the FBO, of which it is an integral G:omposne Rating 1

part, and to pinpoint the key areas of concern igranches in this group are strong in even

a branch office. _ respect. These branches require only norm:
For evaluation purposes, the rating systergneryisory attention.

divides a branch’s overall activities into three

individual components: risk management, opera-
tional controls, and compliance. These compo- . .
nents represent the major activities or process&ompos'te Rating 2

of the branch that may raise supervisory con-

n L . .
cern. The rating system also provides for &'anches in this group are in satisfactory con
specific rating of the quality of the branch's dition, but may have modest weaknesses th:

stock of assets as of the examination date. ~Ccan be corrected by branch management in tf
normal course of business. Generally, they di

not require additional or more than normal
supervisory attention.

COMPOSITE RATING

The overall or composite rating indicates whether, . .
in the aggregate, the operations of the brancﬁ’ompos'te Rating 3
may present supervisory concerns and the exteBt N . .

of any concerns. While the individual compo- ranches in this group are viewed as fair due

nent ratings are taken into consideration i combination of weaknesses in risk manage

arriving at the branch’s overall assessment, tH@ent, operational controls, and compliance, o

composite rating should not be merely an arith@SSet quality problems than, combination with
p 9 y the condition of the FBO or other factors, cause

metic average of the individual components; h I~

The examiner should assign and justify in th upervisory concern. In addition, branch gnd/o

report a composite rating using definitions pron€ad office management may not be taking th

vided below as a guide. necessary corrective actions to address subste
tive weaknesses. This rating may also b
assigned when risk management, operation:

1. Assessment of asset quality is an integral part of angontrols, or compliance is individually viewed
examination; however, under certain circumstances, it may be
appropriate to give the individual asset quality rating compo
nent greater or lesser weight in arriving at an overall compodeans, but is otherwise poorly managed should not be give
ite rating. In ensuring the protection of branch creditors, arundue credit for having good asset quality. Alternatively, a
important factor is the strength of the FBO. As the financiabranch that is designated to hold problem assets generated
strength of the FBO weakens, it becomes increasingly impomther offices of the FBO, in order to better manage the
tant to look to the quality of the assets booked in the Unitedvorkout process, should not be penalized, so long as the FB
States as the source of protection for local creditors, and, atteas the ability to support the level of problem assets.
certain point, asset maintenance should be imposed. Similarly, ~ Finally, it should be recognized that asset quality tends
where the FBO is strong, and the need to look to local assete be a “trailing” indicator of branch performance. In instances
for protection of creditors seems remote, the relative weighingvhere risk management systems are weak, but problem ass
of the asset quality component in the overall evaluatiorare currently nominal, it is realistic to assume there will be
diminishes. future deterioration in asset quality. By the same measure

It also should be recognized that different offices of themanagement should be given credit in the overall evaluatiol

FBO can be assigned widely different roles in the FBO’swhere the causes of past asset quality problems have be
overall strategy. Thus, an individual office that books very fewcorrected.
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as unsatisfactory. Generally, these branches raisae to five, where one represents the lowest

supervisory concern and require more thatevel of supervisory concern and five represents

normal supervisory attention to address theithe highest. Each component is discussed below

weaknesses. followed by a description of the individual
performance ratings.

Composite Rating 4
o , ) _. Risk Management
Branches in this group are in marginal condition
due to serious weaknesses as reflected in t@sk is an inevitable component of any financial
assessments of the individual componentsnstitution. Risk management, or the process of
Serious problems or unsafe and unsound banigentifying, measuring, and controlling risk, is
ing practices or operations exist, which have noerefore an important responsibility of any
been satisfactorily addressed or resolved binancial institution. In a branch, which is typi-
branch and/or head office management. Branchggjly removed from its head office by location
in this category require close supervisory attenang time zone, an effective risk management
tion and sUrVei“ance monitoring and a def|n|t|Vesystem is critica| not On|y to manage the Scope
plan for corrective action by branch and heagf its activities but to achieve comprehensive,
office management. ongoing oversight by branch and head office
management. In the examination process, exam-
. . iners will therefore determine the extent to
Composite Rating 5 which risk management techniques are adequate
(i) to control risk exposures that result from the
Branches in this group are in unsatisfactonranch’s activities and (ii) to ensure adequate
condition due to a high level of severe weakoversight by branch and head office manage-
nesses or unsafe and unsound conditions amgent and thereby promote a safe and sound
consequently require urgent restructurinthanking environment.
of operations by branch and head office The primary components of a sound risk
management. management system are a comprehensive risk
assessment approach; a detailed structure of
limits, guidelines, and other parameters used to
DISCLOSURE govern (isk taking; and a strong management
information system for monitoring and reporting

Following approval of the rating by appropriateiSKs. _ _

senior supervisory officials at the examining The process of risk assessment includes the
agency, the numeric ratings for all Componemgjennﬂcatlon of all the risks associated with the
as well as the overall composite rating should branch’s balance sheet and off-balance-sheet
disclosed in the open, summary section of th&ctivities and grouping them into appropriate
examination report. This also applies when conliSk categories. These categories broadly relate
ducting meetings with senior management. 10 credit, market, liquidity, operational, and
disclosing the rating, its meaning should bdegal risks? All major risks should be measured
explained clearly using the appropriate composeXPlicitly and consistently by branch manage-
ite rating definition. The report should alsoMent; risks should also be reevaluated on an

make it clear that the rating is part of the overalP"going basis as underlying risk assumptions
findings of the examination and is thus confi/€lating to economic and market conditions vary
dential. Any rating disclosed or discussed at agnd as the branch’s activities change. The
examination closeout meeting should be hel@a@nch’s expansion into new products or busi-
out by the examiner-in-charge to be tentative. N€SS lines should not outpace proper risk man-

agement or supervision by head office. Where

risks cannot be explicitly measured, manage-

COMPONENT EVALUATIONS

2. While operational risks are identified as part of the
L . . L branch’s overall risk assessment process, the effectiveness of
S'm”ar to the composite rating, the individualine pranch’s operational controls is separately evaluated under
rating components are evaluated on a scale abca.
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ment should demonstrate knowledge of thei¢¥ Whether risk policies, guidelines, and limits at
potential impact and a sense of how to managethe branch are consistent with its lending,
such risks. trading, and other activities; management’
Risk identification and measurement are fol- experience level; and the overall financial
lowed by an evaluation of the tradeoff between strength of the branch and/or the FBO.
risks and returns to establish acceptable risk
exposure levels, which are stated primarily in
the branch’s lending and trading policies subject
to the approval of head office management.
These policies should give standards for evalu-
ating and undertaking risk exposure in indi-
vidual branch activities as well as procedures for
tracking and reporting risk exposure to monitor
compliance with established policy limits or
guidelines. * Management's ability to recognize and accom
Head office management has a role in devel- modate new risks that may arise from the
oping and approving the branch’s risk manage- changing environment, and to identify and
ment system as part of its responsibility to address risks not readily quantified in a risk
provide a comprehensive system of oversight management system.
for the branch. Generally, the branch’s risk
management system, including risk identifica- For example, in the lending area, a branch i:
tion, measurement, limits or guidelines, andexpected to have (1) experienced lending offi
monitoring should be modeled on that of thecers, an effective credit approval and review
FBO as a whole to provide for a fully-integratedfunction, and, where appropriate, credit work-
risk management system. out personnel; (2) a credit risk evaluation systen
In assigning the risk management ratingthat is adequate in assessing relative credit risk
examiners should evaluate the current, ongoin(®) branch officer lending limits, lending guide-
situation and concentrate on developments sind®es, and portfolio policies consistent with the
the previous examination. The rating should noabilities of branch personnel and the financia
concentrate on past problems, such as thospertise and resources of the FBO; (4) a syste!
relating to the current quality of the branch’sthat identifies existing and potential problem
stock of assets, if risk management techniquesedits, a method for assessing the likely impac
have improved significantly since those probof those credits on existing and future profits,
lems developed. and procedures for accurately informing heac
More specifically, in rating the branch’s risk office of the credit quality of the portfolio and
management procedures, examiners should copessible credit losses; and (5) procedures fc
sider the following. assessing the impact on the portfolio of specifi
or general changes in the business climate.
* The extent to which the branch is able to
manage the risks inherent in its lending, trad- A rating of lindicates that management has ¢
ing, and other activities, specifically its ability fully-integrated risk management system tha
to identify, measure, and control these risks.effectively identifies and controls all major types
The soundness of the qualitative and quantief risk at the branch, including those from new
tative assumptions implicit in the risk man-products and the changing environment. Thi
agement system. assessment, in most cases, will be supported |
a superior level of financial performance anc

3. For a more detailed overview of the risk managemenasset quality at the branch. No supervison
process in trading operations, refer to the Federal Reserveggncerns are evident.
Trading Activities Manual.

4. Thus, for example, the change in the level of problem . L .
assets since the previous examination is normally more A rating of 2indicates tha}t the.“Sk manage-
important than the absolute level of problem assets. At thenent system is fully effective with respect to
same time, a loan portfolio that has few borrowers experiencg|most all major risk factors. It reflects a respon:

ing debt service problems does not necessarily indicate &veness and ability to cope successfully witt
sound risk management system because weak underwriti

ng. ..
standards may make the branch vulnerable to credit problen‘éﬁ'snng and' foreseeable EXposureS_ that me
during a future economic downturn. arise in carrying out the branch’s business plar

Whether the management information syster
and other forms of communication are consis
tent with the level of business activity at the
branch and sufficient to accurately monitor
risk exposure, compliance with establishec
limits, and sufficient to enable the head office
to monitor the real performance and risks of
the branch.
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While the branch may have residual risk-relatetbased on the expectation that branches should
weaknesses, these problems have been recdmve an independent internal audit function
nized and are being addressed by the bran@nd/or an adequate system of head office or
and/or head office. Any such weaknesses wikxternal audits as well as a system of internal
not have a material adverse affect on the branchontrols consistent with the size and complexity
Generally, risks are being controlled in a manneof their operations. In this regard, internal audit
that does not require additional or more thamnd control procedures should ensure that
normal supervisory attention. operations are conducted in accordance with
internal guidelines and regulatory policies and
A rating of 3 signifies a risk managementthat all reports and analyses provided to the head
system that is lacking in some important meaeffice and branch senior management are timely
sures. lts effectiveness in dealing with theand accurate.
branch’s level of risk exposures is cause for The rating of operational controls should
more than normal supervisory attention, andhclude the following.
deterioration in financial performance indicators
is probable. Current risk-related procedures are The adequacy of controls and the level of
considered fair, existing problems are not being adherence to existing procedures and systems.
satisfactorily addressed, or risks are not being (These are separate but related factors.)
adequately identified and controlled. While these The frequency, scope, and adequacy of the
deficiencies may not have caused significant branch’s internal and external audit function,
problems yet, there are clear indications that the relative to the size and risk profile of the
branch is vulnerable to risk-related deterioration. branch, and the independence of the internal
audit function from line management.
A rating of 4 represents a marginal riske The number and severity of internal control
management system that generally fails to iden- and audit exceptions.
tify and control significant risk exposures ine Whether internal control and audit exceptions
many important respects. Generally, such a situ- are effectively tracked and resolved in a timely
ation reflects a lack of adequate guidance and manner.
supervision by head office management. As a The adequacy and accuracy of management
result, deterioration in overall performance is information reports. This assessment should
imminent or is already evident in the branch’s be based primarily on whether reports and
overall performance since the previous exami- analyses are sufficient to properly inform head
nation. Failure of management to correct risk office management of the branch’s condition
management deficiencies that have created sig-on a timely basis, and whether there are
nificant problems in the past warrants close sufficient procedures to ensure the accuracy of
supervisory attention. those reports.
» Whether the system of controls is regularly
A branch rated 5has critical performance reviewed to keep pace with changes in
problems that are due to the absence of anthe branch’s business plan and laws and
effective risk management system in almost regulations.
every respect. Not only are there a large volume
of problem risk exposures, the problems are also A branch that is rated has a fully compre-
intensifying. Management has not demonstrateldensive system of operational controls that pro-
the capability to stabilize the branch’s situationtects against losses from transactional and
If corrective actions are not taken immediatelypperational risks and ensures accurate financial
the operations of the branch are severelyeporting. Branch operations are fully consistent
endangered. with sound market practices. The branch also
has a well-defined and independent audit func-
tion that is appropriate to the size and risk

. profile of the branch. No supervisory concerns
Operational Controls are evident.

This component assesses the effectiveness of theA rating of 2 may indicate some minor
branch’s operational controls, including accountweaknesses, such as the presence of new busi-
ing and financial controls. The assessment isess activities where some modest control defi-
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ciencies exist, but which management is addrests other U.S. offices of the FBO. SR 96-27
ing. Some recommendations may be notegirovides additional guidance regarding thes
Overall, the system of controls, including thespecial audits.

audit function, is considered satisfactory and

effective in maintaining a safe and sound branch

operation. Only routine supervisory attention iSCompIiance

required.

. o . Inaddition to maintaining an effective system of
A rating of 3 indicates that the branch's gperational controls, branches should also den
system of controls, including the quality of thenstrate compliance with all applicable state an:
audit function, is lacking in some importantfegeral laws and regulations, including reporting
respects, particularly as indicated by continuegd,q special supervisory requirements. To th
control exceptions and/or substantial deficienayient possible given the size, risk profile anc
cies in or failure to adhere to written pondesorganizational structure of the branch, thes
and procedures. As a result, more than normabsponsibilities should be vested in a branc
supervisory attention is required. official or compliance officer whose function is
. o separate from line management. Branch mar
A branch that is rated 4signifies that the agement should also ensure that all appropria
system of operational controls has serious defi;arsonnel are properly trained in meeting regu
ciencies that require substantial improvemen&tOry requirements on an ongoing basis. Th
In such a case, the branch may lack contrggcope of the branch’s audit function also shoul
functions, including those related to the audibpsyre that the branch is meeting all applicabl
function, that meet minimal expectations; thereregulatory requirements.
fore, adherence to bank and regulatory policy is Accordingly, the branch’s level of compli-
questionable. Head office management has faileghce should be rated based on the followint
to give the branch proper support to maintaisciors. ‘
operations in accordance with U.S. norms. Close

supervisory attention is required. « The level of adherence to applicable state an
) federal laws and regulations and any supervi

A br_anch that is rated Backs a system of_ sory follow-up actions.
operational controls to such a degree that its The effectiveness of (i) written compliance
operations are in serious jeopardy. The branch procedures and (i) training of line personnel

either lacks or has a wholly deficient audit charged with maintaining compliance with
function. Immediate substantial improvement is reqylatory requirements.

required by branch and head office management, \janagement's ability to submit required regu-
along with strong supervisory attention. latory reports in a timely and accurate mannet

) ) ) * Management’s ability to identify and correct
Special audit procedures are required when compliance issues.

both the O component and the composite rating \whether the internal audit function checks for

are 3 or worse. If both the O component'and the compliance with applicable state and federa
composite rating are 3, the special audit proce- |aws and regulations.

dures may be performed by the internal audit

function if, and only if, the audit function is A pranch accorded a rating of demonstrates
considered satisfactory. If the internal audity, outstanding level of compliance with appli-
function is less than satisfactory, or if both the Q-5pje |aws regulations, and reporting require

component and composite rating are 4 or Wors@ents. No supervisory concerns are evident.
then an external audit is required. An external

audit also is required if the internal auditors had  p rating of 2 indicates that compliance is
performed the special audit procedures followgenerally effective with respect to most factors
ing the previous examination, and the O an&ompliance monitoring and related training pro-
composite ratings are again assigres3 rating. grams are sufficient to prevent significant prob:
As significant internal control weaknesses in thgsms Minor reporting errors may be present, bu
operations of one office may be an indication they are being adequately addressed by bran

systemic weaknesses in other branches as welhanagement. Only normal supervisory attentiol
the special audit procedures may be applie@ \warranted.
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A branch that is rated das deficiencies in ability of a branch to honor its liabilities ulti-
management and training systems that result imately is based upon the condition and level of
an atmosphere where significant complianceupport from the FBGa concept that is integral
problems could and do occur. Such deficiencie® the FBO supervision program.
could include a lack of written compliance This concept states that if the condition of the
procedures, no system for identifying possibleBO is satisfactory, the FBO is presumed to be
compliance issues, or a substantial number @fble to support the branch with sufficient
minor or repeat violations or deficiencies. Moreresources on a consolidated basis. As a result,
than normal supervisory attention is warrantedthe assessment of asset quality in such circum-

stances would not in and of itself be a predomi-

A rating of 4indicates that compliance mat- nant factor in the branch’s overall assessment, if
ters are not given proper attention by branch angkxisting risk management techniques are satis-
head office management and close supervisoggctory. If, however, support from the FBO is
attention is warranted. The lack of an effectivequestionable, the evaluation of asset quality
compliance program, including an ongoing trainshould be carefully considered in determining
ing program, may be evident along with a failurevhether supervisory actions are needed to
to meet significant regulatory requirementgmprove the branch’s ability to meet its obliga-
and/or significant, widespread inaccuracies ifions on a stand-alone basis. In cases where a
regulatory reports. branch is subject to asset maintenance, it is

expected that asset quality issues will be

A rating of 5would signal that attention to addressed by disqualifying classified assets as
compliance matters is wholly lacking at theeligible assets.
branch to the extent that immediate supervisory The quality of the branch’s stock of assets is
attention is warranted. evaluated based on the following facto@en-

erally, credit administration concerns should be
addressed in rating risk management.
Asset Quality
» The level, distribution, and severity of asset
Generally, asset quality is evaluated to deter- and off-balance-sheet exposures classified for
mine whether a financial entity has sufficient credit and transfer risk.
capital to absorb prospective losses and, ulti The level and composition of nonaccrual and
mately, whether it can maintain its viability as reduced rate assets.
an ongoing entity. The evaluation of asset qual-
ity in a branch does not have the same resulk branch rated 1 has strong asset quality.
because a branch is not a separately capitalizedpranch rated 2 has satisfactory asset quality.
entity. Instead, a branch relies on the financiak pranch rated 3 has fair asset quality.
and managerial support of the FBO as a Who'?A branch rated 4 has marginal asset quality.

Nonetheless, the evaluation of asset quality i - .
important both in assessing the effectiveness 4t Pranch rated 5 has unsatisfactory asset quality.
credit risk management and in the event of a

possible liquidation of a branch. However, a:

S ) . . )
indicated above. a branch is not strictly limited 5. The various state and federal agencies may differ in
! terms of specific practices and methodologies used to imple-

by its own internal and external funding sourcesnent the above guidelines. For further guidance in this area,
in meeting solvency and liquidity needs. Theexaminers should consult with their respective agencies.
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Risk-Focused Approach to Pre-Examination Planning
Effective date July 1997 Section 2010.1

Risk-focused examinations emphasize effectivR|SK ASSESSMENT
planning and scoping in order to customize
examinations to the size and activities of thg, grder to focus procedures on the areas c
institution and to concentrate examiner resourc€§eatest risk to the branch, a risk assessme
on areas that expose the institution to the greakoy|d be performed in advance of the on-sit
est degree of risk. In addition, under a riskyork. The risk assessment process highlight
focused approach, the resources directed {ghih the strengths and the vulnerabilities of the
assessing an organization's management ajgsiitution and provides a foundation from which
generally increased, while the degree of transy getermine the procedures to be conducte
action testing may be reduced in order to minigyring an examination. Risk assessments ent:
mize the regulatory burden. the identification of the financial activities in
Transaction testing includes the reconciliatioqyhich a banking organization has chosen tc
of internal accounting records to financial reportgngage, the determination of the types an
(in order to evaluate the accuracy of accounguantities of risk, and the consideration of the
balances), the comparison of day-to-day pracuality of the management and control of thest
tices to the office’s policies and procedures (irfisks.” At the conclusion of the risk assessmer
order to assess compliance with internal sysprocess, a preliminary supervisory strategy fo
tems), and all other supervisory testing procethe institution and each of its major activities
dures, such as the review of the quality ofan be formulated. Those activities that are mos
individual loans and investments. Rlsk-focuse@igniﬁcam to the organization’s risk profile or
examinations still require an appropriate level ofhat have inadequate risk management process
transaction testing to verify (1) the adequacy ofgr rudimentary internal controls represent the
and adherence to, internal policies, proceduregjghest risks to the institution and should underg

and limits; (2) the accuracy and completeness qhe most rigorous scrutiny and testing.
management reports and financial records; and

(3) the adequacy and reliability of internal.
control systems. However, under a risk-focusef!
examination approach, the degree of transacti

testing should be reduced when internal risk

management processes are determined to o
and monitoring reports generated by the Boar

adequate or risks considered minimal. nd Reserve Bank staff. requlatory reports. an
Generally, advance notification of an exami2 eserve bank stall, regulatory reports, a

nation is given to enable branch management @iN€" relevant supervisory material. Once sig
have the necessary information available foplflcant activities have been identified, the type:

examiners when they arrive on-site. This prac‘:md quantities of risks to which these activities
tice results in significant savings in time anﬁxpose the institution should be determinec

Identifying the significant activities of an
stitution is the first step in the risk assessmer
ocess. These activities may be identifiec
rough the review of prior examination and
pection reports and workpapers, surveillanc

personnel resources. However, surprise or no his allows identification of the high risk areas

routine examinations may be conducted at an&/o"ar‘lt S.H?g'? bssegm?j(s'vzvi?cﬁu;gg tg: g;‘ggﬂgf
time at the examining agency'’s discretion. - 1he typ . . y D ¢
tered individually or in various combinations are

credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal, or
reputational. These risk types are discusse

PURPOSE OF PRE-EXAMINATION further in Section 3000.1 of this manual.
PREPARATION The quantity of risk can be determined by a

number of factors. For example, in order to
Pre-examination planning results in more effecassess the quantity of credit risk in loans ant
tive examinations that are focused on riskeommitments, the level of past due loans, inter
particular to the specific institution and thusnally classified or watch list loans, nonperform-
minimizes regulatory burden. Further, such planing loans, and concentrations of credit to par
ning facilitates close coordination with otherticular industries or regions should be considerec
state and Federal banking agencies and allows addition, the examiner should consider the
information requests to be better tailored to thérends in special mention and classified loan
specific institutions. and historic chargeoff levels.
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Once the types and quantities of risk in eaclGENERAL GUIDELINES FOR
activity have been identified, a preliminary PRE-EXAMINATION
assessment of the process in place to identifbREPARATION
measure, monitor, and control these risks should
be completed. Sound risk management will vargecayse the primary purpose of the pre-
from branch to branch, but generally includésyamination preparation is to determine exami-
four basic elements. These are: (1) active senigfation objectives and scope, only general guide-
management oversight, (2) adequate poliCiefines for the procedures to be performed can be
procedures, and limits, (3) adequate risk meggiyen, Accordingly, the procedures that follow
surement, monitoring, and management infory 4y he modified to fit the specific circumstances
mation systems, and (4) comprehensive intern@countered. General guidelines for pre-

audits and controls. o __examination preparation include:
Ordinarily the pre-examination preparation is

performed by the examiner-in-charge or desigs Reviewing the examination strategy/annual
nee and one or more assistants. Time require-examination plan developed by the appropri-
ments for this preparation may vary consider- e supervisory authorities.

ably depending upon the size, complexity, and Reviewing examination manuals, programs,

condition of the branch being examined. The anq regulatory letters applicable to the exami-
timing should allow overall scheduling effi-  aiion.

ciency and should'consider suph fag:tors as the Reviewing all other available analyses pre-
number and experience of participating person- nareq by the coordinating Reserve Bank and
nel, geographic location of the branch, and the i q. supervisory agencies.

results of previous examinations. Scheduling Reviewing all available regulatory reports,

factors may result in the pre-examination prepa- including the Report of Assets and Liabilities

ration being performed from many weeks before of U.S. Branches and Agencies of Foreign

the start of the_ examination to _the week imme- Banks (FFIEC 002) and the Country Exposure
diately preceding the examination. Report (FFIEC 019).

Reviewing the branch’s strategic or business
plan, if available. This plan, provided by the

branch, can be useful in examination plan-

ASSIGNMENT AND SUPERVISION  br : us ation:
ning, as it may indicate new or discontinued

OF PERSONNEL
services that could affect the scope and direc-

Early review allows the examiner-in-charge the tion of the examination. The plan can also
greatest flexibility in determining the number of S€rve as a reference between examinations.
examining personnel needed and any special | "€ plan usually contains goals and prospects
expertise required. for the branch over the next business period,
The examiner-in-charge must be able to pri- indicating target markets and the expected
oritize critical categories of the examination and '€vel of profitability and other performance
determine the optimum timing of simultaneous Standards to be achieved.
activities. Budgeting and allocating human® Reviewing the following list of branch ser-

resources should include the following Vices and products to determine their impor-
considerations: tance to the examination:

— Deposit services: checking, automatic
funds transfer, telephone transfer;

— Credit services: commercial loans, over-

draft banking, installment loans, mortgage

lending, letters of credit, bills discounted,

EDP services;

Securities trading and off-balance sheet

activities, including foreign exchange;

Fiduciary activities; and

Private banking.

« Assignment of examiners based on their skills/
expertise and examination objectives.
Assignment of priorities to avoid duplication
of effort and ensure timely completion of the
examination.

Coordination with other regulatory agencies
that may be conducting a joint, concurrent, or
related office examination.

« Assignment of examining personnel in a man-

.

ner to maintain an even workload throughous
the examination.

Reviewing all related examination and visita-
tion reports, correspondence, enforcement

September 1997
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actions, minutes, and memoranda ofn the near-term. Arrangements should be mad
significance. with branch personnel as to the level of thei
« Coordinating with other pertinent regulatoryassistance required during the examination.
agencies or units, particularly in the case of Discussions should be held with any examin
special examinations resulting from novel ofers offering specialized assistance during th
unusual situations. Determining which relatecexamination, for example, consumer affairs
organizations are to be examined and thegDP, or audit, to determine the scope of theil
extent of the procedures to be performed. review and the inclusion of those results within
» Completing personnel assignments and coothe context of the overall examination report, if
dinating with assisting personnel regardingso planned.
any preliminary procedures that are to be At this point in time, the scope of the exami-
performed. nation should be developed so as to facilitate th
+ Determining the cut-off line or the appropriatedevelopment of a First Day Letter applicable to
statistical sampling technique to be used fothe branch being examined.
performing risk asset review. Note any unusual
considerations that may affect the establish-
ment of the factors.
* Reviewing and customizing the First Day
Letter before presentation to branch manageREPARATION OF A SCOPE
ment; early presentation permits timely complepfEMORANDUM
tion of bank-prepared information.
. .. Once the examination planning and risk asses:
Upon completion of the pre-examinationment processes are completed, a scope merr
preparation, the scope of the examination shoulghndum should be prepared. A scope memora
be established and a planning memorandugiym provides a detailed summary of the
should be developed. Accomplishing the forespervisory strategy for an institution and assign
going tasks before starting the examination wilkpecific responsibilities to examination tean
provide for an efficient examination, consisteninempers. A scope memorandum should b
with established objectives. tailored to the size and complexity of the insti-
tution, should define the objectives of eact
examination, and generally should include:

DETERMINING THE SCOPE OF » Name and location of entity to be examined.
THE EXAMINATION * Results of previous examination.
» Objectives of the examination.

Full-scope examinations under a risk-focused |dentification of the risks to be assessed.
approach are not comprised of a fixed set of gcope of the examination/nature and depth c
routine procedures. Rather, the procedures thatcoverage.
must be performed to fulfill the objectives of a A ) f the b b t
full-scope examination must be adjusted depend- n overview of the branch's managemen
ing on the circumstances of the institution being structure. , o
evaluated. At a minimum, however, full-scope® Summary of the branch’s activities.
examinations should include sufficient proces Summary of earnings and other performanc
dures to reach an informed judgement on the information to date.
risk management, operational, and compliance Summary of the structure and busines:
factors rated under ROCA. strategy/plan of the branch.

If necessary, the examiner-in-charge should Bajance sheet and contingency/memoranc
meet with the principal branch officers before jtems.
the start of the examination to determine theg P P
breadith of their individual responsibilities, The. - Cministrative issues.
examiner-in-charge should determine at thi§ Allogatlon of assigned personnel resourc.es.
meeting whether any important developments Business components and support functions
have occurred since the previous examination or Workpaper and report of examination
if any planned or probable events are expected requirements.
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DEVELOPING THE FIRST DAY requested and how to avoid duplication of effort
LETTER through the use of information that may already
be generated by the branch’s own management

Once the scope memorandum is completed, tHaformation systems.

examiner-in-charge can develop the First Day The examiner-in-charge must ensure that
Letter, which should be delivered to branchbranch personnel are fully aware of how the
management in a timely manner, before the stamformation is to be prepared, when the infor-
of the examination. Upon presentation of themation is required, and the need for accuracy
First Day Letter, the examiner should ensur@nd completeness.

that management understands what is being
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Loan Sampling _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2020.1

A risk-focused review of a loan portfolio is oneand evaluation of samples by employing the
of the most important elements of an examinaeoncepts of probability. Use of these concept
tion. Credit reviews are an examiner's primaryeliminates (or at least minimizes) biases by
means for evaluating the effectiveness of intersatisfying a condition that each item in the
nal loan review and credit-grading systemspopulation must have an equal or otherwise
determining that credit is being extended irdeterminable probability of being included in
compliance with internal policies and creditthe examined portion. By satisfying that condi-
standards, ascertaining a branch’s complianden, statistical sampling provides the examine|
with applicable laws and regulations, and judgwith a quantitative measure of risk that can be
ing the safety and soundness of the branch'sontrolled at a level that is tolerable to the
lending and credit administration functions.examiner. Statistical sampling techniques ma;
Examiners must select for review a sample obe implemented only in those branches tha
loans' that is sufficient in size and scope towere found to be in financially sound condition
enable them to reach reliable conclusions abowatt the latest examination and only in those
the branch’s overall lending function. The spebranches where it is determined that the systen
cific details of selecting the sample is subject t@and controls are appropriate for implementing
the examiners’s discretion, based on the level afuch techniques. Moreover, if during the exami
risk perceived at the institution. nation where statistical sampling is being usec
Sampling enables the examiner to draw conthe examiner determines that the sample resul
clusions regarding the condition of the entireare unsatisfactory or the condition of the brancl
loan portfolio and selected off-balance-sheehas deteriorated since the previous examinatio
items by reviewing only a selected portion ofthe traditional judgmental sampling technique
outstanding credit facilities. Thus, such techmust be implemented.
niques economize on the use of examination The following is a description of the two
resources and allow examiners to devote mon@commended statistical sampling techniques:
of their time and efforts to other areas of
examination interest.
Generally, a judgmental sampling technique
is used for reviewing credit facilities. This ATTRIBUTE SAMPLING
technique enables examiners to evaluate the
portfolio by reviewing a desired percentage ofThe objective of attribute sampling is to use 2
all loans and appropriate off-balance-sheet itemsample, within specified reliability limits, to
over preselected cut-off amounts. In addition t@letermine the validity of the branch’s internal
the judgmental sampling approach, statisticagredit review program. The reliability limits are
sampling techniques can also be valid methodgetermined by the examiner who formulates
for evaluating credit portfolios. Two statistical hypothesis about the branch’s credit review
sampling techniques that may be selectivelprogram when evaluating its policies, practices
implemented during on-site examinations ar@nd procedures with regard to extensions o
attribute sampling and proportional samplingcredit. The sample population consists of al
Attribute sampling is used in certain branchesoans and appropriate off-balance-sheet item
that have formal loan review programs; proporpetween certain dollar parameters, except fc
tional sampling is used in branches without suclredit facilities reviewed under the Shared
internal credit review programs. National Credit Program and facilities to iden-
In statistical sampling, the examiner appliesified problem industries, which are reviewed
sampling techniques to the design, selectiorseparately during the examination. The lowe
dollar parameter is an amount that the examine
1. For the purposes of this section, the term "Ioans‘d(:“‘en"|S sufflc_lent to .aChIeve the. desired coverag
includes all sources of credit exposure arising from loans an@f the portfolio and is selected in much the sam
leases including interbank placements, investment securitieBlanner as a cut-off line is chosen in judgmenta
and banker’s acceptances. This exposure also includes Cfec@ampling. The upper dollar parameter is ar
related ofi-balance-sheet items such as standby letters gfyyq 0t over which all credit facilities must be
credit, loan commitments, and risk participations in accep- _ . S
tances. Credit exposures arising from trading and derivative@ewewed because of the S'melcant effect eac
activities are not generally included. could have on the branch’s condition. Credit
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facilities are selected from the sample populatechnique is to determine whether management
tion by using a random digit table. can identify all the criticizable credit facilities in
When the selected credit facilities are reviewedts portfolio. In proportional sampling, every
the examiner compares the findings with thoseredit in the sample population is given an equal
of the branch’s credit review program. An errorchance of selection proportionate to its size;
exists if the examiner’s criticism of a particulartherefore, the larger the credit, the more likely it
credit is significantly more severe than thewill be selected for review.
branch’s findings. If the error rate in the sample As in attribute sampling, the examiner speci-
is beyond the reliability limits that the examinerfies the desired precision of the sample, i.e., that
is willing to accept, all credit facilities over the the true error rate in the branch’s problem credit
appropriate cut-off line will be reviewed. If the |ist should be contained within a certain range of
examiner is satisfied with the sample results, th@ajues. As a control measure, sample precision
branch’s internal classifications may be accepted set to represent a specified percentage of the
for all criticized loans within the sample popu-pranch’s net assets. A statistical error occurs
lation. Even when the branch’s classificationgvhenever the examiner criticizes a credit not
are deemed acceptable by the examiner, arpteviously identified by the branch. If the error
loans reviewed and found to be in error will berate is h|gher than expectedl the examiner may
appropriately classified in the report. review all credit facilities over selected cut-off
lines, which are determined by using the same
criteria used for line selection in judgmental
PROPORTIONAL SAMPLING sampling. If the sample results indicate an error
rate within expectations, then the examiner may
Generally speaking, the procedures for proporaccept the branch’s problem credit list as being
tional sampling are similar to those followed forrepresentative of the quality of the population of
attribute sampling. The examiner formulates &redits from which the sample was taken. The
hypothesis about the quality of the examinedxaminer will then review each credit on the
branch’s credit administration based upon airoblem list over the selected cut-off lines to
analysis of its loan policies, practices, and prodetermine the amounts that should be classified.
cedures with regard to extensions of credit. For detailed procedures on how to implement
Additionally, the branch is asked to provide aboth attribute and proportional sampling tech-
problem credit list, without grading the creditniques, examiners should contact appropriate
facilities. The examiner’s findings are Comparedegulatory agency staff.
to that list. The objective of this sampling
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Workpapers _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2030.1

The primary goal of workpapers is to strengtheAWORKPAPER DOCUMENTATION

the examination process by providing a clear

recounting of the many tasks performed durin o )

an examination. Workpapers, their purpose, theffach individual workpaper should include a
quality, and organization are important to theVorkpaper coversheet, scope, and conclusion.
supervisory process because the workpapers

support the information and conclusions con-

tained in the related report of examination.Workp"jlper CoversheetA workpaper cover-

Accordingly, they could include, but are notsheet should provide the following information:

necessarily limited to: risk-focused scope memo; Ofi d location:
randum (as discussed in section 2010), exami- Icé name and location,

nation procedures and verifications, memo* Workpaper title;

randa, schedules, questionnaires, checklists,examination date and work performance date
abstracts of branch documents, analyses pre-I itials of d initials of th ianec
pared or obtained by examiners, and a summaFyrg'\t'igvsv(;_ preparer and initials of the assigne

memorandum for each component. To this end,
the workpapers should achieve the following Name and title of person or description of
objectives: records that provided the information for the
workpaper; and
* Organize the material assembled during an ap index number identifying the workpaper
examination to facilitate review and future 54 facilitating organization of the workpaper
reference; files.
 Aid the examiner in efficiently conducting the
examination;

Document the policies, practices, procedure
and internal controls of the branch;

?Scope—This should address the activities per-
ormed in order to examine the particular area
. . ___including the nature, timing, and extent of test-
* Provide written support of the examinationing in the application of examination and audit

procedures performed during the examination,scedures as well as the examiner’s evaluatic

Indicate why certain steps or procedures weref and reliance on internal and external audi

eliminated or deemed unnecessary; procedures and compliance testing of interng
« Document the results of testing and formaliz&ontrols. To the extent that this information is
the examiner's conclusions: and, contained in other workpapers, such as th

risk-focused scope memorandum, a reference |
the appropriate workpaper will be sufficient.
Because of the risk-focused nature of examing
tions, an explanation should be provided in the
scope section of the workpapers explaining wh
. . . the particular scope was chosen for a specifi
A tool for the examiner-in-charge to use iNyrea or function. The workpapers also shoul
planning, directing, and coordinating the workqtain an explanation as to why certain steps
of the other examiners; examination procedures were eliminated o
+ A means of evaluating the quality of the workdeemed unnecessary. This information is nece:
performed; sary in order to ensure that an effective audi
A confirmation that the work recommendedtrail is documented in the workpapers detailing
by the annual examination plan was perih€ reasons for the scope chosen.

formed as specified,;

* A guide in estimating future personnel andcqnclusion—This summarizes the findings both
time requirements; and positive and negative, and lists any recommer
A record of the procedures used by the branctations made by examiners. Each workpape
to assemble data for reports to supervisorgummary is consolidated into the applicable
authorities. component(s) rating conclusion memorandum.

Substantiate the assertions of fact or opinio
contained in the report of examination.

They also are useful as:
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ORGANIZATION OF reached, and explanations of symbols used
WORKPAPERS should be free from ambiguity or obscurity. In
addition, examining personnel should be
To promote efficiency and help ensure that alinstructed on workpaper standards and content
applicable areas of an examination have bed ensure that they will meet the quality stan-
considered and documented, examiners shouftiirds of the regulatory agencies. When workpa-
use an indexing system to organize workpapd?ers have the necessary qualities of complete-
files. A general outline or index of all examina-ness, clarity, conciseness, and neatness, a
tion areas provides a basis for organization tgualified reviewer may easily determine their
which a numbering or other sequential systerf€lative value in support of conclusions and
can be assigned and applied to each workpap@bjectives reached. Incomplete, unclear, or vague
file. workpapers may lead a reviewer to the conclu-
area of the examination have been completecﬂ’,erformed-
the workpapers should be indexed and filed by
each rating component. A component rating
conclusion memorandum is then prepared fo
each of the ROCA components. This memoranEzEVlEW PROCEDURES
g:ér::ac?h::frr:nmcgggif?ir:gitngg gg&kfgﬁcﬁazigﬁ?'aperienced personnel must review all workpa-
recom’mended rating for the component, and a’r&ers prepared during an examination. Usually,

. ; - that review is performed by the examiner-in-
required corrective action to be recommended 'Eharge although in some cases, the examiner-
the report. ’ ’

in-charge may designate other experienced per-
sonnel to perform the review. The primary
purposes of a review of workpapers by senior
CONTROL AND REVIEW personnel are to determine that the work is
adequate, given the circumstances, and to ensure
All examiners assigned to an examination shoulthat the record is sufficient to support the con-
ensure that workpapers are controlled at aflusions reached in the report of examination.
times while the examination is in progress. For he timely review and discussion of workpapers
example, when in the branch's offices, the workwith the individual who prepared them is one
papers should be secured at night and saféf the more effective on-the-job training
guarded during the lunch hour or at other time@rocedures.
when no examining personnel are present in the Normally, the review should be performed as
immediate vicinity. It is essential to completelysoon as practicable after the completion of each
control confidential information provided by theassignment. This review ideally occurs at the
branch. In addition, information relating to thebranch’s office, so that, if additional information
extent of tests and similar details of examinatio®r work is required, the matter can be promptly
procedures should not be made available tattended to with a minimum loss of efficiency.
branch employees. When the review of workpapers is completed,
In cases where customary workpaper procghe reviewer should sign or initial the applicable
dures are not practical, alternative proceduredocuments. Although all workpapers should be
and the extent to which they are applied shoulteviewed, the depth and degree of review
be documented. The need for completenegiepends on factors such as:
requires that there be no open items, unfinished
operations, or unanswered questions in the work- The nature of the work and its relative impor-
papers at the conclusion of the examination.  tance to the overall examination objectives.
The clarity of workpapers should be such that The extent to which the reviewer has been
an examiner or examining official unfamiliar associated with the area during the examination.
with the work could readily understand them.s The experience of the examiners who have
Commentaries should be legible, concise, and carried out the various operations.
support the examiner’s conclusions. Descrip-
tions of work completed, notations of confer- Examinerjudgment mustbe exercised through-
ences with branch management, conclusiorsut the review process.
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2030.1

WORKPAPER RETENTION

Examiners should consult with their respective
agency for further guidance on workpaper reten-
tion guidelines.
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Supervisory Follow-up Actions _
Effective date July 1997 Section 2040.1

Supervisory follow-up actions are implementechature, do warrant some type of remedial actiol
to ensure that appropriate corrective actions amendertaking with the foreign banking organiza-
taken in a timely manner to resolve any supertion. Such concerns may be isolated in one
visory concerns that exist with respect to aranch or may be evident in other branches ©
branch. Generally, supervisory action is initiatedhe foreign banking organization. In either case
based upon the results of an on-site examindhe action is entered into with the foreign
tion. Action may be initiated, however, in banking organization and the affected U.S
response to concerns developed through variolisanch or branches; it involves a mutually agree!
supervisory monitoring programs or through thaipon understanding between the foreign bank
review of other available information. ing organization and the supervisory agency o
Because branches are subject to supervisi@gencies. The action generally lists and describe
by their federal or state licensing authority,how specific objectives are to be achieved
branches may be subject to supervisory follow-upncluding timeframes for achieving those
actions by all of these supervisory authorities. Iobjectives.
most cases, however, if concerns are limited to Informal enforcement actions that may be
one branch of the foreign banking organizationytilized for branches include the Commitment
supervisory follow-up action will be the respon-Letter and the Memorandum of Understanding
sibility of the examining agency or agencies. If A Commitment Letter is a document that
problems are apparent in other branches of theontains specific written commitments to take
foreign banking organization, the various supereorrective action in response to problems o
visory authorities will coordinate the develop-concerns identified by the supervisory agency c
ment of the supervisory action plan for theagencies. A Commitment Letter is not a binding
institution. legal document; however, failure to meet the
commitments in the letter will provide strong
evidence of the need for more formal supervi:

sory action.
INFORMAL AND FORMAL A Memorandum of Understanding is a more
SUPERVISORY ACTIONS formally designed action, though still not a

binding legal document, that incorporates evei
As a general rule, informal and formal supervi-greater specificity concerning the measures beir
sory action should be considered when normahken to resolve problems than found in &
follow-up procedures and other more routinecCommitment Letter. A Memorandum of Under-
measures, such as formal discussions with standing suggests a higher level of supervisor
branch’s local or head office management, haveoncern over that of a Commitment Letter. It
failed to resolve supervisory concerns. Thigenerally must be signed by senior officials fron
practice is consistent with the treatment othe head office.
domestic banking organizations and is based on Formal supervisory actions are appropriate ir
the expectation that all banking institutionsinstances where supervisory concerns have rise
operating in the United States are expected t® a level where stronger or more immediate
operate in a safe and sound manner and iaction is necessary to ensure that correctiv
compliance with applicable U.S. laws and reguactions are taken and fully implemented. Thes
lations. Accordingly, when supervisory con-actions are authorized by statute and noncon
cerns are identified, corrective action should beliance has a legal liability, i.e. violators can be
initiated by branch or head office managemengubject to additional enforcement actions, suc
as soon as possible. In this regard, examinees the assessment of civil money penalties.
should communicate to the management of the Formal enforcement actions include the Ceas
branch throughout the course of the examinatioand Desist Order, including a Temporary (Emer
and at its close, both the problems identified angency) Cease and Desist Order, and the Writte
the actions recommended to correct thospgreement. Cease and desist action may k
problems. initiated when there is a finding that an offendel
Generally, an informal supervisory action isis engaging, has engaged, or may engage in ¢
appropriate when supervisory concerns havensafe or unsound practice in conducting th
been identified that, while not overly serious inbusiness of the institution. An action may alsc
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2040.1 Supervisory Follow-up Actions

be deemed necessary due to a finding that the In determining the appropriateness of initiat-
offender is violating, has violated, or may vio-ing a civil money penalty assessment proceed-
late a law, rule, or regulation, or any conditioning, the federal banking agencies may use a
imposed in writing, for example, by the Boardvariety of relevant factors. For example, in
of Governors in connection with the granting ofassessing a civil money penalty, the Board of
any application or written agreement. Governors is required to consider the size of the
In the event that a violation of law, rule, or financial resources and good faith of the respon-
regulation, or the undertaking of an unsafe oflent, the gravity of the violation, the history of
unsound practice meets certain criteria, a ten‘pl’eViOUS violations and such other matters as
porary (emergency) cease and desist order méystice may require. (See FRRS, Section 3-1605.)
be issued. This order may also be issued if it i9ther regulatory agencies have their own guide-
determined that the institution’s books andines. (See, for exampl€&CC Policy and Pro-
records are incomplete or that the institution’ssedures Manua).
financial condition or the details or purpose of Depending upon the regulatory agency in-
any transaction cannot be determined throug¥olved, examiners may be responsible for the
the normal supervisory process. The temporarjitial analyses of potential civil money penal-
order may require the same corrections as dies. Civil money penalties may be proposed for
order issued either on consent or after the fulerious violations and for violations that, because
administrative process. Its advantage is that it i6f their frequency or recurring nature, show a
effective immediately upon service on the entitygeneral disregard for the law. After the examiner
or individual. A hearing must be held within has reviewed the facts and decided to recom-
30-60 days, during which time the temporarynend a civil money penalty, he or she should
order stays in effect. Within 5-10 days of thecontact the appropriate federal regulatory agency
service of the temporary order, the subject mafor advice on proper documentation and any
appeal to a U.S. District Court for relief from the Other assistance.
order.

When circumstances warrant a less severe

form of formal supervisory action, dormal ASSET MAINTENANCE

written agreemenmay be used. Other enforce-

ment tools that are applicable to branches include cases where there is doubt concerning the

the imposition of civil money penalties, prohi- ability of a foreign banking organization to

bition orders, and possibly termination. continue to serve as a source of strength to its
U.S. branch(es), supervisory action may have to
be taken to safeguard the U.S. branch(es) and
ensure that it can honor its liabilities to third
parties. Under these circumstances, an asset

CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES maintenance requireméntf at least 105 per-

" ) ) .. cent material may be imposed on the individual
Under provisions of the Financial Institutionsygnch.
Regulatory and Interest Rate Control Act of Other actions that may be taken to address
1978 (FICA) (Pub. L. 95-630), the appropriateconcerns of this nature regarding the foreign
federal banking agency is authorized to asseganking organization include: asset pledge
civil money penalties for violations of any law requirements, increased capital equivalency

or regulation or for violation of the terms of any deposits, restrictions on transactions with related
written agreement, any final or temporary cease

and desist order or any condition imposed in_
writing by a federal banking agency in connec- 1. Asset maintenance means the maintenance of eligible
tion with the granting of any application by theassets in the United States covering a specified percentage of

; ; ; ; i _third party liabilities of a branch. In general, eligible assets are
foreign banking organization. Civil money pen those for which there is a reasonable expectation of liquida-

alties may.also be imposed, in certain cases, fabn on a timely basis. When under an asset maintenance
engaging in unsafe and unsound practices (I2quirement, a branch must maintain a net due to related
USC Section 1818). In addition, civil money parties position at all times. Thus, the branch is prevented

enalties mav be assessed against office@m providing net funding to other branches or the head
p Yy g office. For more specific information on the examination

direc_tors_, and other inStitUtion'aﬁi“‘?‘tEd_ partie%bjectives and procedures relating to asset maintenance, refer
for violations of any of the above situations. to that section of the manual.
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parties, funding limitations, growth limitations, bination of informal or formal supervisory action
and voluntary or involuntary termination of theand asset maintenance requirement.
branch. When an asset maintenance requirement
In some cases, because of concerns about theemed necessary, the preferred way to imple
financial condition of the foreign banking orga-ment such a requirement is by action of the
nization or circumstances in the home countrappropriate licensing agency and the insure
that may adversely affect the foreign bankinghrough any means available, including mutua
organization’'s U.S. operations, asset mainteagreement, authorization under state law, o
nance may be necessary even when the U.farmal supervisory action. Asset maintenance
operations are in satisfactory condition. Whemmay therefore be imposed regardless of whethe
the U.S. operations, of a foreign banking orgait is a specific regulatory tool of the licensing
nization are in less than satisfactory conditionauthority. When multiple branches are involved
the severity of the problems in those operationsas a general principle, asset maintenance requir
combined with the degree of concern over thenents will be defined to be applied in a consis:
solvency of the foreign banking organizationtent manner to all of the operations of the
will be used to determine the appropriate comforeign banking organization.
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Risk Management

Introduction )
Effective date July 1997 Section 3000.1

Taking and managing risks are fundamental te Operational risk which arises from the
the business of banking. The U.S. banking potential that inadequate information systems
supervisory agencies place significant emphasisoperational problems, breaches in internal cor
on the adequacy of an institution’s management trols, fraud, or unforeseen catastrophes wil
of risk, including the establishment of a man- result in unexpected losses.

agement structure that adequately identifies, mea-Legal riskwhich arises from the potential that
sures, monitors, and controls the risks involved unenforceable contracts, lawsuits, or advers
in its various products and lines of business. In judgments can disrupt or otherwise negatively
a branch, which is typically removed from its affect the operations or condition of the branch
head office by location and time zone, an effece Reputational riskwhich is the potential that
tive risk management system is critical not only negative publicity regarding a branch or its
to manage the scope of its activities but to parent bank will cause a decline in the cus
achieve comprehensive, ongoing oversight by tomer base, costly litigation, or revenue
branch and head office management. In the reductions.

examination process, examiners will therefore

determine the extent to which risk management

techniques are adequate (1) to control risiE. EMENTS OF RISK

exposures that result from the branch’s activitie ANAGEMENT

and (2) to ensure adequate oversight by branc

and head office management and thereby prognen rating the quality of risk management a

mote a safe and sound banking environment. .5 ches  examiners should place primary cor
Principles of sound management should applgjderation on findings relating to the following

to the entire spectrum of risks facing a branckements of a sound risk management system

including, but not limited to, the following:

 active senior management oversight at th
head office, regional management office (if

« Credit riskwhich arises from the potential that applicable) and local branch levels:

a borrower or counterparty will fail to perform L .
party P « adequate policies, procedures, and limits; an

on an obligation. : .

) ) * a strong management information system fo
* Country/transfer riskwhich encompasses the  measuring, monitoring and reporting risks.
entire spectrum of risks arising from the
economic, social and political environments g5ch of these elements is described furthe
of a foreign country which may have potentialpe|ow, along with a list of considerations rel-
consequences for foreigners’ debt and equityyant to assessing the adequacy of each eleme
investments in that country. More specifically, gxaminers should recognize that the consid
transfer risk focuses on a borrower’s capacityrations specified in these guidelines are intende
to obtain the foreign exchange required oy to assist in the evaluation of risk manage.
service its cross-border debt. ment practices and not as a checklist of require
Market risk which is the risk to a financial ments for each branch.
institution resulting from adverse movements Adequate risk management programs can var
in market rates or prices, such as interest ratespnsiderably in sophistication, depending on th
foreign exchange rates, or equity prices.  size and complexity of the FBO and its branct

Liquidity risk which is the potential that a netwo_rk and the level of risk that_it accepts.
branch will be unable to meet its obligationsEX@miners need to ensure that senior manage

as they come due because of an inability to
liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding 1. while operational, legal and reputational risks are iden
(referred to as “funding liquidity risk”) or that tified as part of the branch’s overall risk assessment proces
it cannot easily unwind or offset specificthe effectiveness of the branch’s operational controls ar
exposures without significantly lowering mar_int:luded in the “O” component of the ROCA_rating. system
g . sessment. Further, when legal and reputational risks pote
ket prices because of inadequate market de‘pgﬁlly result in violations of law or regulation, the “C”
or market disruptions (“market liquidity risk”). component would also be impacted.
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3000.1

Risk Management Introduction

at the head office and/or at the regional managéellows policies and practices such as the
ment office are provided with the informationfollowing:

they need to monitor and direct day-to-day
activities of the branch. .

Management has identified and clearly

The risk management processes of branchesunderstands the types of risks inherent in the

would typically contain detailed guidelines that
set specific prudential limits on the principal
types of risks relevant to the FBO's activities
worldwide. Reporting systems should comprise

activities of the branch and makes appropriate
efforts to remain informed about these risks as
financial markets, risk management practices,
and the branch’s activities evolve. Manage-

an adequate array of reports that provide the ment periodically reviews risk exposure limits

levels of detail about risk exposures that are
relevant to the duties and responsibilities of

to ensure they are appropriate considering
changing circumstances.

senior management at the head office and, wheteManagement has reviewed and approved

applicable, the regional management office.

The risk management systems will naturally
require independent monitoring and testing in
addition to review by internal or external audi-
tors to ensure the integrity of the information®
used by senior officials in overseeing compli-
ance with policies and limits. The risk manage-
ment systems or units of FBOs must also be
sufficiently independent of the business lines irt

appropriate policies to limit risks inherent in
all significant activities of the branch, includ-
ing lending, investing, trading, private bank-
ing, and trust.

Management is sufficiently familiar with and

is using adequate recordkeeping and reporting
systems to measure and monitor the major
sources of risk to the branch.

Management ensures that the branch’s areas

order to ensure an adequate separation of dutiesOf activities are managed and staffed by per-

and the avoidance of conflicts of interest.

ACTIVE HEAD OFFICE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT

As part of its responsibility to provide a com-,
prehensive system of oversight for the branch,
the head office has a role in developing and
approving a risk management system for the
branch. Senior management at the head office
regional management office and local branch
levels are responsible for implementing strate-
gies in a manner that limits risks associated with

each strategy, and that ensures compliance with

laws and regulations on both a long-term and
day-to-day basis. Accordingly, branch manage-
ment should be fully involved in the activities of

the branch and possess sufficient knowledge of

all major business lines to ensure that appropri-
ate policies, controls, and risk monitoring sys-
tems are in place and that accountability and

sonnel with knowledge and experience con-
sistent with the nature and scope of these
activities.

Management ensures that the depth of staff
resources is sufficient to operate and manage
the activities of the branch and that branch
employees have the necessary integrity, ethi-
cal values, and competence.

Management at all levels provides adequate
supervision of the day-to-day activities of all
employees, including senior officers.
Management is able to respond to risks that

'may arise from changes in the competitive

environment or from innovations in markets

in which the branch is active.

Management identifies and reviews all risks
associated with new activities or products and
ensures that the branch infrastructure and
internal controls in place are adequate to
manage related risks prior to commencing
new activities or offering new products.

lines of authority are clearly delineated. Man-ADEQUATE POLICIES,
agement is also responsible for establishing aldROCEDURES AND LIMITS

communicating a strong awareness of and need

fOI’ eﬁective intel’nal Controls and hlgh ethicalHead office management should tailor risk man-
standards. agement policies and procedures to the types of
In assessing the quality of the oversight byisks that arise from the activities the branch
head office, regional and branch managementpnducts. Once the risks are properly identified,
examiners should consider whether the brandme branch’s policies and procedures provide

September 1997
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detailed guidance for the day-to-day implemenbranch with timely reports on the financial
tation of broad business strategies, and generalbpndition, operating performance, and risk
include limits designed to shield the branchexposure of the consolidated organization, a
from excessive or imprudent risks. While allwell as with regular and sufficiently detailed
branches should have policies and proceduresports for line managers to engage in the
that address significant activities and risks, theay-to-day management of the branch’s activities

coverage and level of detail in these policies and The sophistication of the risk monitoring and
procedures will vary among branches. A smallefanagement information systems should be cor
less complex branch that has effective managgistent with the complexity and diversity of the
ment that is actively involved in day-to-day pranch’s operations. Accordingly, smaller anc
operations generally would be expected to havigss complicated branches may require only
only basic policies addressing the Sigﬂiﬁcanﬁmited set of management reports to suppor
areas of operations and setting forth a limited sgfsk monitoring activities. These reports include,
of requirements and procedures. In a largefor example, daily or weekly balance sheets an
branch, where senior management must rely GRcome statements, a watch list for potentially
widely-dispersed staff to implement strategies ifroubled loans, a report for past due loans,
an extended range of potentially complex busisimple interest rate risk report, and similar
nesses, far more detailed policies and relatggems. Larger, more complex branches, howeve
procedures would generally be expected. Iyould be expected to have much more compre
either case, management is expected to enstignsive reporting and monitoring systems tha
that policies and procedures address the materigliow, for example, for more frequent reporting,
areas of risk to the FBO and the branch and thajghter monitoring of complex trading activities,
they are modified when necessary to respond #nd the aggregation of risks on a fully consoli-
significant changes in the branch’s activities oHated basis across all business lines and acti
business conditions. ties. Branches of all sizes are expected to hay

In evaluating the adequacy of a branch’sisk monitoring and management information
polici_es, procedures and limits, examiners shoulgystems in place that provide senior manage
consider whether: ment with a clear understanding of the branch’:

positions and risk exposures.

* The _zra?ch sdpoI|C|;as,_dprot(_:ft_adut_res and limits | 55qessing the adequacy of the measureme
provide Tor adequate iaentncation, measurés,y monjtoring of risk as well as managemen

ment, monitoring and control of the risks .o041t5” and information systems at a branct
posed by lending, investing, trading, private

. L9 - . ““examiners should consider whether:
banking, trust and other significant activities.
* The bramh’s pc_)I|C|es, proce_dures and limitg The branch’s risk monitoring practices and
are consistent with the experience level, stated reports address all risks
goals and objectives, and overall financial K . q ' q
strength of the organization. » Key assumptions, data sources, and proce

« Policies clearly delineate accountability and dures used to measure and monitor risk ar
lines of authority across the branch’s activities. @PPropriate, adequately documented and per
odically tested.
* Reports and other forms of communication
are consistent with the activities of the branch
EFFECTIVE RISK MONITORING are structured to monitor exposures and cornr
AND MANAGEMENT pliance with established limits, goals and
INFORMATION SYSTEMS objectives, and, as appropriate, compar
expected to actual performance.
Effective risk monitoring requires branches to Reports to head office are accurate and timel
identify and measure all risk exposures. Conse- and contain sufficient information for senior
quently, risk monitoring activities must be sup- management to identify any adverse trend
ported by information systems that provide senior and to evaluate the level of risk assumed b
managers at the head office, regional office, and the branch.
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Credit Risk Management _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3010.1

CREDIT RISK management. Throughout this manual there i
considerable emphasis on the establishment
This section is devoted to credit risks associatetdrmal written policies to guide and manage the
with direct lending arrangements. The comprescope of the branch’s activities within accept:
hensiveness of a credit risk management systeable risk parameters, and to achieve comprehe
will depend upon the sophistication and typesive, ongoing oversight by branch and hea
of credit-related activities being conducted byoffice management. This is perhaps the mos
the branch. In some circumstances, a brandmportant element in the branch lending func-
may have no independent lending authority antion. The banking organization, in discharging
may simply serve as a booking office for loandts duty to both the depositors and shareholder:
approved by the head office. A more activenust ensure that loans in the branch portfolic
branch may, however, have an independent credite made in accordance with the following two
review department and established lendingbjectives:
authorities. Therefore, credit policies, proce-
dures, and documentation may vary significantly. To grant loans to creditworthy borrowers for
This section will assist the examiner in Cconstructive purposes.

performing two separate, but interrelated, To grant loans that generate income for th
procedures: benefit of shareholders and the protection o

) depositors, and in the case of branches, th
* The evaluation of the depth and scope of protection of third parties.

formalized policies and procedures used by
the branch to manage and control its credit A |oan policy will differ from loan proce-

risks. _ dures. Branches need both to adequately addre

* An overview of the performance of the gl areas of lending and loan administration. The
branch’s entire lending operations by evaluattending policy should contain a general outline
ing the results of all lending departments.  of the scope of the branch’s credit facilities anc
the manner in which loans are made, servicec

and collected. The policy should be broad ir

Branch Credit Administration Policies Nature and not overly restrictive. The formulas
tion and enforcement of inflexible rules not only

As part of the analysis of a branch's Ioanstifles initiative but also may hamper profitabil-

portfolio, examiners review credit policies, credit'ty :?md prevent the branch fror_n serving custom
ers’ changing needs. A lending policy should

administration procedures, and credit risk con- rovide for the presentation to the head office o
trol procedures. The maintenance of pruderg committee thgreof of loans that credit officers
written lending policies, effective internal sys- ! :

tems and controls, and thorough loan documer?—elieve are fundamentally sound and worthy o

tation is essential to the institution’s manage?;rrﬁ'xﬁ[]aggrq:aiiv:sn g::(t)sugptlzgegran;i%’;\?vtriagﬂ
ment of the lending function. P

The policies and procedures governing lending policy. Any exceptions to the lending

branch’s lending activities must be clearly (:omf%;]OIICy should be approved, documented, moni

icated t t and lendi ¢ ored and reported to head office. Flexibility
municated to manageément and lending stally, ot exist to allow for fast reaction and early
These policies and procedures must define pruy;

> P \daptation to changing conditions in the branch’
dent underwriting standards, credit risk Contmlsearning assets mix and within its service area.

prudent internal limits, and an effective credit . o
review and risk identification process. The com- The written loan policy is the cornerstone for
plexity and scope of these policies and proceSound lending and loan administration. An
dures should be appropriate to the size angdeduate loan policy serves to promote:
nature of the branch’s activities, and should be . ) . . .
consistent with prudent banking practices and Con5|sten'cy n busmess and lending philoso
applicable federal and state laws and regulations.PhY: despite changes in management.

The establishment of a written lending policys Stability as it provides a reference for lending

provides the foundation for sound loan portfolio authorities.
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« Clarity to minimize confusion concerning lend- limit, borrower or industry concentration, the

ing guidelines. volatility of funding and the credit risks involved
« Objectivity as it provides sound guidelines formust be considered. Additionally, limits on
evaluating new business opportunities. aggregate percentages of total loans in commer-

cial, real estate, consumer, or other categories
In developing the lending policy, consider-are common. Such policies are beneficial but
ation must be given to the branch’s businesshould allow for deviations with the approval by
plan, financial resources, and personnel. Typithe head office. This allows credit to be distrib-
cally, a branch’s lending policy will be used touted in relation to the changing needs of the
describe the branch’s mission statement, e.darget markets.
facilitating trade transactions with the home

country and lending to U.S. subsidiaries of home Geographic Limits-A branch’s trade area

country corporations. ~ should be clearly delineated and loan officers
A lending policy should prohibit discrimina- and senior management should be fully aware of
tory practices. However, a policy should identifyspecific geographic limitations for lending pur-
acceptable and unacceptable types of credit agd)ses. Although many branches will define their
establish prudent underwriting standards, inclugrade areas to include a number of states, fre-
ing pricing standards. Other internal factorgyyently, the primary calling efforts are focused
addressed include granting credit authoritypn a narrower area. Certain types of lending,
establishing lending limits, and defining organiyhich require significant knowledge of local
zational structure. As authority is spread throughmarket conditions or intensive monitoring of
out its offices, the organization must have amranch personnel, should be carefully consid-
effective method for monitoring adherence tosred. Examples include commercial loans to
established policy. The testing of credit qualityarge regional companies, loans to finance com-
standards can best be accomplished by an intefrercial real estate projects, or asset based lend-
nal loan review and reporting function to thejng that requires regular monitoring of accounts
head office, which allows senior head officereceivables. In addition, the branch’s defined
management to monitor adherence to policiegade area should not be so large that, given its
and provides information sufficient to evaluatgesources, proper and adequate monitoring and

the performance of branch officers and thedministration of the branch’s credits cannot be
condition of the loan portfolio. The audit func- reasonably determined.

tion can also serve to enforce compliance with
policies, guidelines, and approved credit admin-

istration practices. Concentrations of CreditThe loan policy

should recognize the need for diversification of
risk and establish some parameters on concen-
trations of loans to industries, related groups of
Components for a Sound Lending borrowers, loans collateralized by a single secu-
Policy rity or securities with common characteristics,
and loans to borrowers with common character-
The lending policy should require diversifica-istics within an industry.
tion within the portfolio and provide prudent Examiners should recognize that as a part of a
underwriting standards. There are certain comarger banking entity, individual branches may
ponents that form the basis for a sound loahave concentrations that are well within proper
policy and should be addressed by every lendindiversification in the context of the overall
institution. organization. Many branches specialize in terms
of the kind of business transacted and the types
Aggregate Limits and Distributions by of credits extended. Many credits are trade-
Category—In order to limit the total amount of related and often reflect the economic makeup
loans outstanding, relationships with other balef the branch’s home country. In addition, cred-
ance sheet accounts should be establisheits at the branch are often booked at the direction
Branches usually express controls over the loaof the head office and can reveal concentration
portfolio relative to their total claims on nonre- by industry, country, or borrower. Nonetheless,
lated parties. In setting such limits, variousbranches, as part of a sound risk management
factors, such as credit demand, legal lendingystem, must establish procedures for identify-
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ing and monitoring inherent risk resulting fromrelevant factors, such as commitment fees, ar
concentrations of credit. also germane to pricing policy.
Institutions that have effective controls in
place to manage and reduce undue concentra-Documentation and CollateratTrade financ-
tions need not refuse credit to sound borrowerig often represents a significant amount of the
simply because of the borrower’'s industry orbranch’s lending activity. In such financing, the
geographic location. It is important to emphabranch deals only in documents while its cus
size that this principle applies to loan renewalstomer is responsible for the merchandise unde
rollovers, and new extensions of credit. the terms of the contract. The branch’s contro
of documents, especially title documents, is
Types of Loans-The lending policy should crucial. There are significant differences betwee
state the types of loans that the branch will makdomestic loan agreements and foreign one:
and should set forth guidelines to follow in Nevertheless, the branch must ensure that it |
making specific loans. The decision about thedequately protected through loan agreemen
types of loans to be granted should be based owmith foreign borrowers. The loan agreement
a consideration of the business plan, expertise should also protect against adverse changes
the lending officers and support personnel, théoreign tax rules, loan funding problems, anc
funding structure of the branch, and anticipate@dditional withholding and other types of taxes
credit demands of the target markets. Creditfhe branch should have policies for taking
involving complex structures or repaymentforeign collateral as security for a loan to assur
arrangements or loans secured by collateral thatlherence with the local required procedures
require more than normal policing should be~or example, liens on fixed assets in man
avoided unless or until the branch obtains theountries must be registered with the loca
necessary personnel, policies, controls, and sygevernment.
tems to properly administer such loans. Types of
credits that have resulted in an abnormal loss to Maximum Ratio of Loan Amount to Collateral
the branch should be identified, scrutinized, an¥alue or Acquisition CostsThe branch’s lend-
controlled within the framework of stated policy.ing policy should identify where the responsi-
bility for appraisals or internal evaluations lies
Repayment Terms and Maximum Maturities and should define formal, standard appraisa
Loans should be granted with realistic repayand evaluation procedures, and procedures f
ment plans. Maturity scheduling should bepossible reappraisals or reevaluations in the ca:
related to the anticipated source of repaymengf renewals or extensions. Acceptable types ¢
the purpose of the loan, and the useful life of theppraisals or evaluations should be listed. Th
collateral. For term loans, a lending policypolicy should also include the limits on the
should state the maximum number of monthslollar amount and type of real or personal
over which loans may be amortized. Specifigroperty that branch personnel are authorized t
procedures should be developed for situationappraise. Circumstances regarding the use ¢
requiring balloon payments and modification ofin-house appraisers versus a fee appraiser shot
the original terms of a loan. If the branchbe identified. The ratio of loan amount to the
requires a cleanup (out-of-debt) period for lineyalue of the collateral, the method of valuation
of credit, the period should be explicitly stated.and the differences for various types of propert
should be detailed.
Loan Pricing—Rates on various loan types
established by the loan policy must be sufficient Financial Informatior—Extending credit on
to cover the costs of the funds loaned, of safe and sound basis depends on complete a
servicing the loan, including general overheagccurate information regarding the borrower’s
and of probable losses while providing for acredit standing. One exception is when the loal
reasonable margin of profit. Policy makers musis predicated on readily marketable collateral
know those costs before establishing rates th#éte disposition of which was originally desig-
arise out of an effective risk management pronated as the source of repayment for the advanc
cess. Periodic review allows the rates to b&€urrent and complete financial information is
adjusted to reflect changes in costs, competitiveecessary not only at the inception of the credi
factors, or the risks associated with the type dbut also throughout the term of the credit. The
extension of credit. Specific guidelines for othetending policy should define the requirements o
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financial statement information for various typedrom another bank. Direct lending promotes
of credit extended by the branch. In addition, theustomer relationships, serves the credit needs
lending policy should define the requirement®f customers, and develops additional business.
for financial statements and operating data foln some instances, however, a branch may not
businesses and individuals at various borrowinge able to make a loan to a customer for the full
levels and should include requirements foamount requested because of prudential lending
audited, non-audited, annual, interim, incomelimitations or other reasons. In such situations,
cash flow and other financial statements, tathe branch may extend credit to its customer for
returns, changes in owner's equity and othethe full amount needed and sell or participate
supporting notes, schedules, and managemaemit that portion that exceeds the branch’s lend-
analyses. Financial statement requirements shoditty limit or the amount it wishes to extend on its
include external credit checks required at thewn. Generally, such sales arrangements are
time of periodic updates. The policy shouldestablished before the credit is ultimately
define the financial requirements in such approved. These sales should be on a nonre-
manner that any credit data exception in awourse basis to the branch and the originating
examination report should be a clear contraverand purchasing institutions should share in the
tion of the branch’s lending policy. risks and contractual payments on a pro rata
Financial statements for foreign borrowers obasis. Selling or participating out portions of
guarantors may present additional risks or prodeans to accommodate the credit needs of cus-
lems not associated with domestic borrowerdomers promotes goodwill and enables a branch
Foreign customers’ financial statements may b retain customers who might otherwise seek
prepared in either U.S. dollar equivalents or ircredit elsewhere.
the borrower’s local currency. Most branches Conversely, many branches purchase loans or
analyze the latter statements, particularly if thaparticipations in loans originated by other orga-
currency is unstable, therefore figures stated inizations. The policy should require that loans
U.S. dollar equivalent amounts would be dispurchased from another source be evaluated in
torted by the conversion rates used at variouhe same manner as loans originated by the
times. Sometimes, the branch may need tbranch itself. Generally, the branch should avoid
reconstruct a borrower’s financial statement irtoncentrations in purchasing loans from any one
U.S. dollar equivalents to reflect the borrower'soutside source or concentrations in purchases of
financial strength and weaknesses more accleans to any one industry.
rately. Since the financial information may not Purchasing and selling loans can have a
be reliable, the branch’s policies should enable iegitimate role in a branch’s asset and liability
to determine by other means the capacity, integhanagement and can contribute to the efficient
rity, experience and reputation of the foreignfunctioning of the financial system. In addition,
borrower. While analyzing foreign borrowers’ these activities can assist a branch in diversify-
financial statements, examiners should take intiog its risks and improving its liquidity.
consideration the differences in foreign account- The policy should state the limits for the
ing practices from the generally acceptediggregate amount of loans purchased from and
accounting principles (GAAP) in the United sold to any one outside source and for all loans
States. purchased and sold. Limits should also be
established for the aggregate amount of loans to
Limits on Country ExposuresThe loan pol- particular types of industries that may be pur-
icy should define maximum exposures to counehased. Guidelines should be established for the
tries other than the United States. All sizeabléype and frequency of credit and other informa-
exposures should be supported by country analyion that should be obtained from the lead
ses and other supporting information. Countrynstitution in order to keep the branch continu-
limits should be consistent with the creditwor-ally updated on the financial condition of the
thiness of the respective countries. borrower and the status of the credit. Because of
the inherent reliance on the lead institution to
Limits and Guidelines for Purchasing andadminister and collect participated loans, the
Selling Loans Either Directly or Through Par- purchasing branch should evaluate the lead
ticipations or Swaps-If sufficient loan demand institution’s ability to properly carry out these
exists, lending within the branch’s trade area isesponsibilities. Conversely, guidelines should
safer and less expensive than purchasing pap&iso be established for supplying complete and

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
Page 4



Credit Risk Management 3010.1

regularly updated credit information to the pur-departments of the branch. Written policies ant

chasers of loans originated and sold by therocedures approved and enforced in variou

branch. departments should be referenced in the gener
lending policy of the branch.

Loan Authority—The lending policy should = Management should establish appropriate pol
establish limits for all lending officers. In many cies, procedures, and information systems t
branches of FBOs, most lending authorityensure that the impact of the branch’s lendin
remains with the head office. If lending policiesactivities on its interest rate exposure is care
are clearly established and enforced, individudllly analyzed, monitored, and managed. In this
officer limitations may be somewhat higher,regard, consideration should also be given to th
based on the officer's experience and tenumdsks associated with off-balance sheet instru
with the branch. Frequently, group lending lim-ments related to lending arrangements, such :
its are set, allowing a combination of officers ofloan commitments and swaps.

a committee to approve larger loans than the

members would be permitted to approve indi-

vidually. The reporting procedures and the fre-
guency of committee meetings should be definedo.‘pprova1I Process

In addition to the components that form the
; . ~ " “basis for a sound lending policy, there should b
Reserves-The lending policy should define a documented approval process for exceptior

delinquent obligations and contain guideline§O that policy, including the need for approval of

e o o 2 Mileceptions by the head offce. Nanagemer
9 P gs. 4 Y S tormation systems should report and highligh

tus is determined by the contractual terms an%an excentions to branch management and tr
defined as when the principal or interest on alad officg 9

asset becomes due and unpaid for 30 days OrBefore a branch extends credit, its objectives

more. For regulatory_ reports, branches mus olicies, and practices must be clearly estak
comply with the reporting requirements for pas ished. Before examining a loan department
due and nonaccrual loans. Additionally, th%‘ ) 9 p

Collections, Charge-Offs, and Specific

- . ) hose objectives, policies, and practices shoul
policy Sh.OUId dictate the appropriate reports t e reviedved by tﬁe examiner ?o determine i
be submitted to the head office concerning thost

obligations. The reports should include suffi-sueér?/gsertehaesor;?t?gioanfh:i%ilgtfetgf 5\5332;
cient detail to allow for the determination of the P P :

loss potential and alternative courses of actior%JUidelineS is a major deficiency in the lending
The policy should require a follow-up collection &1 o and may indicate that the branch is nc

notice procedure that is systematic and progreé)-e'ng properly supervised by its head office. Th

: S various credit extending areas should be exan
sively stronger. Guidelines should be est"’lbl'réed to determine compliance with objectives,

lished to ensure that all accounts are presented:.”. . S . .
to and reviewed by the head office for charge-pO“C'eS’ and praciices, which is a prime exami

offs or specific reserves in accordance meatlon objective.
applicable regulatory policy.

Legal Lending Limits-The lending policy Loan Information Systems
may describe limitations on loans to one bor-
rower, as are consistent with head office and/oFhe loan information system should include the
federal requirements. The Foreign Bank Supetoan policy and loan administration procedures
vision Enhancement Act of 1991 supersedetban documentation maintained for borrowers
state legal lending limits to the extent thatreports prepared for the benefit of senior man
exposures to a single borrower by all state andgement at the branch or at the head office, th
federal branches of the same FBO must bean grading and loan review system, and th
aggregated and applied against the capital of theystem to manage problem loans.
FBO (12 USC 84.) Loan information and documentation shoulc
demonstrate that the borrower has the abilit
Other—The lending policy should be supple-and willingness to repay the loan. These docu
mented with other written guidelines for specificments should also indicate that the lending
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officer has adhered to sound lending practiceeriodically and any exceptions are addressed
acted prudently to safeguard the branch’s fundgromptly.
and ensured repayment of the loan by all rea-
sonable means. Loan information and other
documentation supporting an extension of crediiNTERNAL LOAN REVIEW
should be in English to enable the examiner to
properly evaluate the quality of the credit. ~ Key Loan Review Objectives
In general, loan documents should provide
answers to the following questions: Depending on the branch’s size, its lending
activities, and management philosophy, loan
» Who is the borrower, including ownership andreview may be handled by a part-time person,

affiliations? one person, an independent contractor, or a
» How did the borrower come to the branch? separate department staffed by a number of
¢ What is the borrower’s business? employees at the branch, at a regional U.S.
e What is the purpose of the credit? office, or at the head office. An important
« What are the primary and secondary sourcgggredient of loan review is that it must be

of repayment? independent from the approval process. Regard-

What is the borrower’s financial condition? less of how loan review is structured, a satisfac-

What are projections for the borrower’s futuretory loan review system should have the follow-

financial performance? ing objectives:

How has the borrower performed on other

credit obligations? » Provide an objective grading system for loans.

What is the collateral for the loan, its location,» Provide current information regarding port-

value, and condition? folio risk to branch management and the head
office on a timely basis.

If guarantees are involved, the branch must Identify problem credits and place them under

have sufficient information on the guarantor’s additional scrutiny.

financial condition. Income, liquidity, cash flows,* Assist in the evaluation of the adequacy of

contingent liabilities, and other relevant factors specific and general reserves in accordance

should be evaluated, including credit ratings, with applicable regulatory policy.

when available, to demonstrate the guarantor's Evaluate trends in the loan portfolio.

financial capacity to fulfill the obligation. Gen- * Cite loan policy exceptions and noncompli-

erally, however, loan quality should be evalu- ance with procedures.

ated based on the primary source of payment netCite documentation exceptions.

secondary sources, such as guarantees. In thi€ite violations of laws and regulations.

respect, guarantees from head office are netAssist in the development and revision of

viewed as providing support to a loan. policy and procedures.

An effective system to obtain and maintain® Act as an information source concerning
complete and current loan information and docu- emerging trends in the portfolio and the
mentation is a necessary component of soundbranch’s lending areas.
lending. Failure to establish and enforce this
system will increase credit risk and cause the
brané:hdto suffer losses that could have beepgan Review Reporting
avoided.

Before the loan is funded, the branch must oan review reporting must be thorough, accu-
ensure that all the required documentation igate, and timely to provide sufficient information

current. It is generally easier to ensure completg, allow management and the head office to both

and current documentation before the loan is

funded, as the borrower will be cooperative and

the loan has the lending officer’s full attention. 1 granches are not required to maintain an allowance for
To ensure on-going attention to documentatoan losses for Federal Reserve supervisory purposes. How-

tion, the loan policy should require the branch tever. itis recognized that the licensing and insuring authorities

obtain and maintain current documentation of'® require U.S. branches to maintain such reserves under

. eir respective jurisdictions to fulfill the requirements of their
borrowers and collateral. The loan pollcy Shoulcindividual licensing or insurance statutes, or to satisfy other
also ensure that loan documentation is reviewespecific concerns of the authority.
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identify and control risk. At a minimum, there | pan Problems
should be three types of reporting required from

loan review: file memoranda, head office reportsl.he failure of branch and head office manage
and. an annual schedule or loan review plan. ment to establish a sound lending policy, tc

File memoranda are completed after eacRgiaplish adequate written procedures, and |
loan is reviewed and are placed in the credit fileqnitor and administer the lending function
to document the reviewer's conclusions. LoaRyithin established guidelines may result in sub:
grades and supporting facts should be includegantial problems for the branch. Loan problem:
along with any instances of noncompliance W'”I*nay be caused by a number of factors affectin

the branch’s policy, procedures and applicablghe” pranch or its borrowers, such as  th
regulations. Documentation exceptions shoulgyoying:

also be indicated.

If the process is conducted by the lending Anxiety for Income-The loan portfolio is
officers themselves, then compliance with p0|iusua||y the branch’s most important revenue
cies and procedures is best determined by anothgioducing asset. However, the pursuit of earn
branch department, such as internal audit.  jngs must never be permitted to override soun

Head office/management reports are summamnderwriting principles by extending credit that
ries of the loan reviewer’s conclusions regardingarries undue risks or unsatisfactory repaymer
the quality of the portfolio or segment of theterms. Over the long term, unsound loans ust
portfolio. These reports should state the scope @lly cost far more than the revenue they produce
the review; the distribution of loan grades for
the portfolio or segment of the portfolio; the Compromise of Credit PrinciplesBranch
percentage of both collateral and financial documanagement, for various reasons, may know
mentation exceptions; all instances of noncomingly grant loans carrying undue risks or unsat
pliance with policies, procedures, or regulationsisfactory terms in violation of its own underwrit-
an assessment of the overall quality of théng standards. These reasons may include he:
portfolio; and the resulting impact on the allow-office relationships with associated companie
ance for loan losses, where applicable, and anyf the branch’s customer. Self-dealing, anxiety
other factors that might have an adverse effe¢br income, inappropriate salary incentives,
on the portfolio. bonuses based on loan portfolio growth, an

These reports should go to head office marcompetitive pressures may also lead to a con
agement. If applicable, a copy of these reportgromise of sound credit principles.
can also be given to U.S. regional management,
the manager of the loan department, and the Incomplete Credit Informatier-Character and
branch’s executive management; however, mamrapability may be determined by many mean:
agement should not be allowed to influence thbut complete credit information is the only
content of the report. The head office should bacceptable and reasonably accurate method f
given this report on a timely basis and requiraletermining a borrower’s financial condition.
lending officers to correct and respond to allThe lack of sufficient financial information is an
significant problems and exceptions within a@mportant cause of problem credits. Current an
specified time frame. complete comparative financial statements

Although a good loan review system isOperating reports, and other pertinent statistice
important to ensure sound lending and stron§upport should be available. Other essentic
loan administration, excessive reliance shoulhformation, such as the purpose of the borrow
not be placed on this system. It is always thdng, the intended plan and source of repaymen
lending officers’ responsibility to maintain soundProgress reports, inspections, and memoran
underwriting standards and loan quality. It isof outside information and loan conferences
also their responsibility to monitor the portfolio Should be contained in the branch’s credit files
on an ongoing basis and to initially identify Proper credit administration and accurate cred
problem credits. Loan review should not be thé@ppraisals are not possible without sucl
first line of defense to identify emerging prob-information.
lems. Its primary responsibility is to identify The Interagency Policy on Documentation of
weaknesses in lending and loan administratiohoans by U.S. Branches and Agencies of For
and their underlying causes. eign Banks, which was issued on May 14, 1993
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exempts these branches from certain docunanagement may restructure loans or take other
mentation requirements for credits to small anagneasures in recognition of borrowers’ condition
medium-sized businesses and farm loans. (Refand repayment prospects. Such actions, if done
to the policy statement for specific limitations.)in a way that is consistent with prudent lending
principles and supervisory practices, can improve
Failure To Obtain or Enforce Repaymenta branch’s prospects for collection. Generally
Agreements-Loans granted without a clear writ- accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and
ten agreement governing repayment violate eegulatory reporting requirements provide a
fundamental banking principle that frequently isframework for working in a constructive fashion
a major cause of problem loans. Another comwith borrowers experiencing financial difficul-
mon cause of problem loans is when scheduleiiks.
payments or reductions are not collected in The Interagency Policy Statement on Credit
accordance with the terms of the loan agreemenavailability, issued on March 1, 1991, presented
clarifications of a number of supervisory poli-
Inadequate supervision of familiar borrowers. cies regarding issues relating to nonaccrual assets
and restructured loans. These clarifications indi-
Over-reliance on verbal information fur- cated that when certain criteria are met: (a) inter-
nished by borrowers in lieu of reliable financial est payments on nonaccrual assets can be rec-
data. ognized as income on a cash basis, without first
recovering any previous partial charge-offs;
Downplaying of known credit weaknessegb) nonaccrual assets can be restored to accrual
because of the borrower’s past history of overstatus when subject to formal restructuring in
coming recurrent hazards and distress. accordance with Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) Statement No. 15; and
Ignoring warning signs pertaining to the (c) restructuring that yields a market rate of
borrower, economy, region, industry, or otherinterest would not have to be included in restruc-
related factors. tured loan amounts reported in the years subse-
guent to the year of the restructuring.
Lack of Supervisioch-Many loans that are
sound at inception have developed into prob-

lems and losses because of lack of effectin\I
on-going supervision. onaccrual of Interest

Technical IncompetenseAble and experi- Loans and lease financing receivables are to be
enced bankers should possess the technical agiaced in nonaccrual status if:
ity to analyze financial statements and to obtain
and evaluate other credit information. Technicat They are maintained on a cash basis because
incompetence often results in unexpected losses.Of deterioration in the financial condition of
the borrower.
Overlending—Loans granted beyond the bor-+ Payment in full of principal or interest is not
rower's reasonable capacity to repay are inher- expected; or
ently unsound. Technical competence and sounrdPrincipal or interest has been in default for a
credit judgment are necessary in determining a period of 90 days or more, unless the loan is
sound borrower’s safe, maximum loan level.  both well secured and in the process of
collection.
Competitior—Competition among branches
for size and market share may result in the A debt is well secured if it is secured (a) by
compromise of credit principles and the fundingcollateral in the form of liens on or pledges of
of unsound loans. real or personal property, including securities,
that have a realizable value sufficient to dis-
charge the debt, including accrued interest, in
Nonaccrual and Restructured Loans full, or (b) by the guarantee of a financially
responsible party. A debt is in the process of
Working in a prudent manner with borrowerscollection if collection of the asset is proceeding
that are experiencing financial difficulties, branchn due course either through legal action, includ-
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ing judgment enforcement procedures or, irmccordance with the contractual terms, involv:

appropriate circumstances, through collectioing payments of cash or cash equivalents. How

efforts not involving legal action, which are ever, loans that meet these criteria would con

reasonably expected to result in repayment dfnue to be disclosed as past due and stil

the debt or in its restoration to a current status iaccruing for purposes of the Report of Asset:

the near future. and Liabilities (call report), until they have been
brought fully current.

Treatment of Cash Payments and Criteria for For purposes of meeting the first test, the
the Cash Basis Recognition of Incom@/hen branch must have received repayment of th
doubt exists as to the collectibility of the remain-past due principal and interest unless, as dis
ing book balance of a loan in nonaccrual status;ussed below, the loan has been formally
any payments received must be applied to redueestructured and qualifies for accrual status ©
principal to the extent necessary to eliminatéhe asset has been acquired at a discount (becat
such doubt. Placing an asset in nonaccrual stattisere is uncertainty as to the amounts or timing
does not, in and of itself, require a charge-off, irof future cash flows) from an unaffiliated third
whole or in part, of the asset’s principal. How-party and meets the criteria for amortization
ever, identified losses must be charged-off. Wheire., accretion of discount, specified in AICPA
a loan is in nonaccrual status, some or all of th@ractice Bulletin No. 6.
cash interest payments received may be treatedUntil the loan is restored to accrual status
as interest income on a cash basis if the remaicash payments received must be treated i
ing book balance of the asset, after a charge-officcordance with the criteria stated above. Ii
if any, is deemed to be fully collectible. A addition, after a formal restructuring, if a restruc-
branch’s determination as to the ultimate coliured loan that has been returned to accru:
lectibility of the asset’s remaining book balancestatus later meets the criteria for placement il
must be supported by a current, well-documentedonaccrual status as a result of past due stat
credit evaluation of the borrower’s financialbased on its modified terms or for any othel
condition and prospects for repayment, includreasons, the asset must be placed in nonaccrt
ing consideration of the borrower’s historicalstatus. Under GAAP, when a charge-off wa:s
repayment performance and other relevartaken before the date of the restructuring, thi
factors. charge-off does not have to be recovered befor

When recognition of interest income on athe restructured loan can be restored to accru
cash basis is appropriate, the amount of incom&tatus. When a charge-off occurs after the dat
that is recognized should be limited to thatof the restructuring, the considerations and trea
which would have been accrued on the loan’snents discussed in the previous paragraphs
remaining book balance at the contractual ratéhis section are applicable.

For a formally restructured loan, the effective
interest rate should be used. Any cash interest Treatment of Multiple Extensions of Credit to
payments received in excess of this limit, andDne Borrower—As a general principle, nonac-
not applied to reduce the loan’s remaining bookrual status for an asset should be determine
balance, should be recorded as recoveries bised on an assessment of the individual asse
previous charge-offs, until these charge-offs haveollectibility and payment ability and perfor-
been fully recovered. mance. Thus, when one loan to a borrower i
placed in nonaccrual status, a branch does n

Restoration to Accrual StatusAccording to have to place all other extensions of credit tc
the Revised Interagency Guidance on Returninthat borrower in nonaccrual status. When
Certain Nonaccrual Loans to Accrual Statusdranch has multiple loans or other extensions ¢
issued June 10, 1993, nonaccrual loans may feedit outstanding to a single borrower, and on
returned to accrual status, even though the loahsan meets the criteria for nonaccrual status, th
have not been brought fully current, providedoranch should evaluate its other extensions c
two criteria are met: (1) all principal and interestcredit to that borrower to determine whether one
amounts contractually due, including arrearagesy more of these other assets should also &
are reasonably certain of repayment within glaced in nonaccrual status.
reasonable period and (2) there is a sustained
period of repayment performance (generally a Examiner Review-Some states have promul-
minimum of six months) by the borrower, in gated regulations or adopted policies for nonac
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crual of interest on delinquent loans, which mayonaccrual status include the requirement that
differ from the above procedures. In such case$pans or other assets be placed in nonaccrual
the branch should comply with the more restricstatus when repayment in full of principal or
tive policy. The examiner should ensure that thénterest is not expected, such nonaccrual loans
branch is complying with such guidelines. In allshould not be restored to accrual status.
instances, whether or not there is a formal It is imperative that the reasons for the resto-
policy, each branch should formulate its owrration of a partially charged-off loan to accrual
policies to ensure that income is not beingstatus be documented. Such actions should be
overstated. The examiner should review thgupported by a current, well-documented credit
branch’s specific policy to ensure that it isevaluation of the borrower’s financial condition
prudent. and prospects for full repayment of contractual
When a branch places a loan in nonaccrugirincipal, including any amounts charged-off,
status, it must determine an appropriate trea&nd interest. This documentation will be subject
ment for previously accrued but uncollectedo review by examiners.
interest and subsequent payments. One accept-
able method is to reverse all previously accrued
but uncollected interest against appropriate .
income and balance sheet accounts. For interds€negotiated Troubled Debt
accrued in the current accounting period, the
entry is made directly against the interest incom&enegotiated troubled debt includes those loans
account. For prior accounting periods, all interand lease financing receivables that have been
est previously recognized, if accrued interestestructured or renegotiated to provide conces-
provisions had not been provided, would besions to the borrower, e.g., a reduction of inter-
reversed (expensed) against current earnings.est or principal payments because of a deterio-
Generally accepted accounting principles ddjatlon in the financial position of the borrower.
not require the write-off of previously accruedA loan extended or renewed at a stated rate
interest if principal and interest are ultimatelyequal to the current interest rate for new debt
protected by sound collateral values. A branch i%ith similar risk is not considered renegotiated

expected to have a well-defined po||Cy governdebt. For further information, see Financial
ing the write-off of accrued interest receivable Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 15,

Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for
Troubled Debt Restructuring, (FASB Statement

_ No. 15).
Treatment of Nonaccrual Loans with  pgranches should develop a policy relative to
Partial Charge-offs renegotiated troubled debt to ensure that such

items are identified, monitored, and properly

Questions have been raised regarding whethaandled from an accounting and control stand-
partial charge-offs associated with a nonaccrugdoint. Such items should be relatively infrequent
loan (that has not been formally restructured)n occurrence. If not, the branch is probably
must first be fully recovered before a loan can bexperiencing significant problems. Before such
restored to accrual status. GAAP and regulatoryoncessions are made to a borrower, it is good
reporting requirements do not explicitly addresgractice to have the transactions receive prior
this issue. approval of the head office. All such transac-

When a loan has been brought fully currentions should be reported to the head office upon
with respect to contractual principal and interesenactment.
and the borrower’s financial condition and pros-
pects for repayment have improved so that the
full amount of contractual principal, including .
any amounts charged-off, and interest is expectdyonaccrual Assets Subject to FASB
to be repaid, the loan may be restored to accru&tatement No. 15 Restructuring
status without having to first recover the charge-
off. On the other hand, this treatment would nofThe Policy Statement on Credit Availability
be appropriate when the charge-off is indicativéssues indicated that a loan or other debt instru-
of continuing doubt regarding the collectibility ment that has been formally restructured, so as
of principal or interest. Because the criteria forto be reasonably certain of repayment and per-
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formance according to its modified terms in The formal restructuring of a loan or other
accordance with a reasonable repayment schediebt instrument should be undertaken in way
ule, need not be maintained in nonaccrual statuthat improve the likelihood that the credit will
Furthermore, the policy statement indicated thahe repaid in full under the modified terms in
in returning the asset to accrual status, sustainegcordance with a reasonable repayment sche
historical payment performance for a reasonablele. When a restructured loan is not reasonabl
time before the restructuring may be taken int@ertain of repayment and performance under it
account. modified terms in accordance with a reasonabl
For example, a loan may have been restruadepayment schedule, the loan may not be restore
tured, in part, to reduce the amount of theo accrual status.
borrower’s contractual payments. In so doing, When restructuring loans, regulatory report-
the borrower’s restructured terms may requiréng requirements and GAAP do not require
payments that do not exceed the amount arshnking organizations to grant excessive con
frequency that have been demonstrated by theessions, forgive principal, or take other step
sustained historical payment performance of theot commensurate with the borrower’s ability to
borrower for a reasonable time before the loarepay in order to use the reporting treatmen
was restructured. In this situation, assuming thajpecified in FASB Statement No.15. Further.
the restructured loan is reasonably certain ahore, regulatory reporting requirements an
repayment and performance according to it&AAP do not preclude institutions from includ-
modified terms, the loan can be immediatelying prudent contingent payment provisions ir
restored to accrual status. the restructured terms that permit an institutior
Clearly, a period of sustained performanceto obtain appropriate recovery of concession
whether before or after the date of the restrudnvolved in the restructuring, should the borrow-
turing, is an important factor in determininger’s condition substantially improve.
whether there is reasonable assurance of repay-A nonaccrual loan or debt instrument may
ment and performance according to the loan’fave been formally restructured in accordanc
modified terms. In certain circumstances, eviwith FASB Statement No. 15 so that it meets the
dence may exist regarding other characteristiGgiteria for restoration to accrual status pre-
of the borrower that may be sufficient to demsented in the previous section that addresse
onstrate a relative improvement in the borrowrestructured loans. Under GAAP, when a charge
er's condition and debt service capacity, therebyff was taken before the date of the restructur
reducing the degree of reliance on the borrowmg, the charge-off does not have to be recovere
er's performance to date in assessing prospegigfore the restructured loan can be restored |
for future performance and collectibility undergccrual status. When a charge-off occurs afte
the modified terms. For example, substantial anghe date of the restructuring, the consideration
reliable sales, lease, or rental contracts obtaineghd treatments discussed in the previous par.

by the borrower, or other important develop-graphs in this section are applicable.
ments that are expected to significantly increase

the borrower's cash flow and debt service
capacity and strengthen the borrower’'s commit- .
ment to repay, may be sufficient to provide thifReporting of Loan Fees and Interest
assurance. In certain circumstances, a prepon-
derance of such evidence, in and of itself, majrhe accounting standards for nonrefundable fee
be sufficient to warrant returning a restructurecind costs associated with lending, commitment
loan to accrual status, provided the loan undep lend, and purchasing a loan or group of loans
its restructured terms is reasonably certain ddire set forth in FASB Statement No. 91, Account:
performance and full collectibility. ing for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associ
It is imperative that the reasons for the restoated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and
ration of restructured debt to accrual status bnitial Direct Costs of Leases. The statemen
fully documented. Such actions should be supapplies to all types of loans and to debt securi
ported by a current, well-documented credities but not to loans or securities carried a
evaluation of the borrower’s financial conditionmarket value and to all types of lenders. It mus
and prospects for repayment under the modifiebe applied to all lending and leasing transaction
terms. This documentation will be subject toin fiscal years beginning after December 15
review by examiners. 1987, but retroactive application is permitted.
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For further information, see FASB Statementssets for the purpose of avoiding examination
No. 91. scrutiny and possible classification.

All other lending-related costs, whether or not During branch examinations, examiners should
incremental, should be charged to expense d@entify situations where low quality assets have
incurred, including costs related to activitiesbeen transferred between the branch being
performed by the lender or by independent thir@¢xamined and another U.S. branch of a foreign
parties for the lender, for advertising, identifyingbank or other depository institution. Low quality
potential borrowers, soliciting potential borrow-loans, broadly defined, include loans that are
ers, servicing existing loans, and other ancillarglassified or specially mentioned or if subjected
activities related to establishing and monitoringo review would most likely be classified or
credit policies, supervision, and administrationspecially mentioned, past due loans, nonaccrual
Employees’ compensation and fringe benefitans, loans on which the terms have been
related to these activities, unsuccessful loafenegotiated because of a borrower’s poor finan-
origination efforts, and idle time should becial condition, and any other loans that the
charged to expense as incurred. Administrativexaminer believes are of questionable quality.
costs, rent, depreciation, and all other occu-
pancy and equipment costs are considered indi-
rect costs and should be charged to expense Ekamining the Lending Function
incurred.

Net unamortized loan fees represent an adjusthe results of the loan examination should
ment of the loan yield and shall be reported ihrovide the examiner with a method of arriving
the same manner as unearned income on loan, an overall evaluation for the entire branch
i.e., deducted from the related loan balances, 1an portfolio. Historically, examination results
the extent possible, or deducted from total loangaye identified problems in the loan area through
in any unearned income on loans in the calj detailed review of credits and credit documen-
report, which provides a breakdown of variougation. The examiner should also correlate the
types of loans. Net unamortized direct loarfo|lowing items with the overall system of
origination costs shall be added to the relategoncie& practices, procedures, and controls

loan balances. Amounts of loan origination instituted by the branch to prevent such problems:
commitment, and other fees and costs recog-

nized as an adjustment of yield should be |gentified problem credits.

reported under the appropriate Interest incomg ynsafe or unsound lending procedures.
item in the income statement. Other fees, such past due loans.

as fees that are recognized during the commit- ~ 4 it documentary exceptions.
ment period or included in income when the, \/iJotions of laws and regulations
(cjommit_me:t exgi;es, i.fe., fees, _retrospecti%/ely Concentrations of credit '
etermined, and fees for commitments, where " - .
exercise is remote, and (b) syndication fees that Evidence of self-dealing loan t_ransactlons.
are not deferred, should be reported as othér Collateral documentary exceptions.

noninterest income. . L .
The purpose of this correlation is to determine

causes of existing problems and weak situations,
which represent a potential weakness in the
. branch’s risk management process.

Other Lending Concerns The examiner performing the procedures in

this section should make the final decision as to
The transfer of low quality loans from onethe quality of the entire portfolio, the quality of
depository institution to another may be made tonanagement review and controls, and the scope
avoid detection and classification during regulaand adequacy of internal guidelines. A great
tory examinations. Transfer may be accomedeal of judgment is necessary in making those
plished through participations, purchases/saledgcisions because they significantly affect the
and asset swaps with other affiliated or nonafeverall conclusions reached by the examiner-in-
filiated financial institutions. Examiners shouldcharge. The process of compiling information
be alert to situations where a branch’s intentiogenerated, analyzing it, and formulating conclu-
seems to be the concealment of low qualitwions about the causes of existing deficiencies,
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requires considerable thought and judgement cerential treatment should be given to loans t
the part of the examiner. The ultimate concluinsiders of correspondent banks nor should ther
sions concern the risk management of the lende the appearance of a conflict of interest. Th
ing function, as it now exists, and as it isbranch should comply with Title VIII of the
projected for the future. Furthermore, the examFinancial Institutions Regulatory and Interest
iner is expected to discern causes of existing arildate Control Act of 1978 (FIRA) (12 USC
potential problems, to capsulize the causes arid72(2)).
effects, and to present the problems to branch
management in such a manner as to obtain Appraisals and Evaluation&ederally-insured
positive corrective action. branches should obtain an appraisal or evaluz
tion for all real estate-related financial transac
tions prior to making the final credit decision in
Regulatory Compliance conformance with Title XI of the Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcemen
Branches are expected to comply with laws£Ct Of 1989 (FIRREA) (12 USC 3310, 3331-
regulations, and applicable regulatory policy in3351). Appraisal and evaluation requirement
all aspects of their lending programs. Moreoverd'® Separately discussed in the Real Esta
branches should establish adequate internal cofiPPraisals and Evaluations part of this section
trols to detect deficiencies or exceptions to their ) . .
lending policy that result in unsafe and unsound Consumer Complianc&he residential lend-
lending practices. In regard to applicable lend"d Program at a federally-insured branch shoul
ing limits, the examiner should review the€nsure that the loan applicant is adequatel
branch’s lending practices in accordance witfformed of the annual interest rate, finance
the applicable state laws in the following area§harges, amount financed, total payments, ar
that prescribe limits on aggregate advances to'§Payment schedule, as mandated in the Fede
single borrower and related borrowers. Reserve’'s Regulation Z, Truth in Lending
(12 CFR 226). The federally insured branch’s
Commissions or Gifts for Procuring Loans ~ Process for taking, evaluating, and accepting c
branch officer, employee, agent, or attorneye/ecting a credit application is subject to the
should not receive anything of value for procurt-€deral Reserve’'s Regulation B, Equal Credi
ing or endeavoring to procure a loan, which i€OPPortunity (12 CFR 202).

prohibited under 18 USC 215. o
Credit Life Insurance IncomeThe branch’s

Political Contributions Loans made in con- S@le of mortgage life insurance in connectior
nection with any election to any political office With its real estate lending activity should com-
should comply with applicable state bankingP!y With the sales practices, sales commissio
laws and regulations and with the Foreign Corlimits, and disclosure requirements as defined i
rupt Practices Act of 1977 (Pub. L. 95-213,the Federal Reserve’s policy statement on th
91 Stat. 1494 (1977), 15 USC 78dd-1 and disposition of credit life insurance income
78m, 780, and 78ff) and the Federal Electiof67 Federal Reserve Bulletin 431 (1981)
Campaign Act (2 USC 441b). FRRS 3-1556).

Loans to Executives, Officers, and Principal
Shareholders of Correspondent Bank® pref-
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Credit Risk Management

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3010.2

1. To determine if policies, practices, proce5. To prepare information regarding the branch’
dures, and internal controls regarding credit lending function in concise reportable format.
risk management are adequate. 6. To determine compliance with applicable

2. To determine if branch officers are operating laws and regulations.
in conformance with the established7. To recommend corrective action when poli-

guidelines. cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
3. To determine the scope and adequacy of the trols are deficient or when violations of
audit and loan review functions. applicable law or regulations have been notec

4. To determine the overall quality of the loan
portfolio and how that quality relates to the
risk management function of the branch.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Credit Risk Management

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3010.3

The following procedures are intended to detert OAN REVIEW

mine that the branch under examination has

established satisfactory procedures to ensufg general, a loan review program should pro:
that controls regarding credit risk managementide an independent means to identify credit an
are adequate. Examiner discretion is required ilvan administration weaknesses, provide acct
applying these procedures. Before beginning theate and timely reports to management detailini
assignment, the examiner should review theueaknesses discovered, and provide a means 1
scope memorandum and consult with theecognizing potential problems.

examiner-in-charge or other designated indi-
vidual to determine the scope of the review. 7.
Some of the procedures may not be necessary,
based on the quality of the branch’s internal
controls or the nature and level of activity in the
area.

1. If selected for implementation, complete, or
update the Internal Control Questionnaire
for this section.

2. Determine if deficiencies noted at previous
examinations and internal/external audits
have been adequately addressed by
management. 8.

3. Reconcile the customer central liability led-
ger or subsidiary loan ledgers to the general
ledger.

4. Obtain the branch’s internal listing of Shared
National Credits and verify ratings with
regulatory records.

5. Review the branch’s lending policies to
determine: 9

a. If the policies are adequate for the size,
nature, and business of the bank.

b. If the branch is in compliance with its
policies.

c. If the policies are reviewed and updated
periodically to ensure they are relevant
with changing market conditions and
new business lines of the bank.

d. If policies have been approved by the
head office.

6. If applicable, review minutes of the branch’s10.
loan committee meetings to determine:

a. Current members and their attendancél-
record.

b. Scope of work performed.

c. Any information deemed useful in the
examination of specific loan categories
or other areas of the branch.

Determine if the loan review program
ensures independence from the lending func
tion including whether:

a. Policies specifically address the separe
tion of loan review from the lending and
credit approval functions.

b. The loan review function reports directly
to the head office, a regional office, or a
senior branch officer not involved in the
lending function. If not, determine if the
branch has adequate controls to ensur
independence from the lending function.

Determine if the frequency of loan review is

adequate, and if the program includes:

a. A minimum frequency of reviews.

b. A frequency which is sufficient to pro-
vide timely information concerning
emerging trends in the portfolio and
general economic conditions.

c. Increased frequency for identified prob-
lem credits.

. Evaluate the adequacy of the scope of th

loan review, including:

a. Method of loan selection.

b. Manner in which loans are reviewed,
including:

e an analysis of the current financial
condition of the borrower which
addresses repayment ability, and

« tests for documentation exceptions, pol-
icy exceptions, noncompliance with
internal procedures, and violations of
laws and regulations.

Assess the qualifications of the personne
involved in the credit review function.

Evaluate the loan review reporting systen
including credit file memoranda, head office
reports, and an annual schedule or loa
review plan, to ensure it is thorough, accu-
rate and timely and will provide sufficient
information to allow management and the
head office to both identify and control risk.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Determine if the reports include: h. The accuracy and completeness of reports
a. ldentification of problem credits. submitted to the head office or regional
b. Current information regarding portfolio office.

risk. i. Competency of senior management, loan
c¢. Information concerning emerging trends officers and credit administration

in the portfolio and the branch’s lending personnel.

areas. 15. Determine, through information previously

generated, the causes of existing problems
or weaknesses within the system, which

CREDIT GRADING SYSTEM present potential for future problems.

12.

Assess the adequacy of the credit grading
system and determine if it: PROBLEM LOAN
a. Includes an objective grading system foia\ DMINISTRATION
loans.
b. Contains explicit definitions of the 16 petermine if the branch has adequate poli-

branch’s internal grading system, and  cies and procedures for problem and work-
that it is easily understood by all lenders oyt |oans, including:

and loan review staff. ) a. A periodic review of individual problem
c. Designates who has ultimate authority to credits.
assign and change credit grades. _ b. Guidelines for collecting or strengthen-
grading system by comparing the credit updating collateral values and lien posi-
grade assigned by the branch with those tions, documentation review, officer call
assigned by examiners. Determine the extent reports.
of management's knowledge of its own ¢ volume and trend of past due or nonac-
loan problems. crual credits.
d. Qualified officers handling problem loans.
e. Guidelines on proper accounting for prob-
GENERAL CREDIT RISK lem loans, e.g., non-accrual policy; spe-
ADMINISTRATION cific reserve policy.

14. Assess the effectiveness of the branch’s

credit administration and portfolio manage-COMPLIANCE

ment by evaluating:

a. Management's general lending philoso17. Assess the branch’s compliance with laws
phy in such a manner as to elicit man-  and regulations, by determining whether:

agement responses. a. The branch has loans to affiliates (Sec-

b. The volume and magnitude of differ- tion 23A of the Federal Reserve Act).
ences in grades assigned by the branch b. A bank officer or employee received
and by the examiners. anything of value for procuring or

c. The impact of credits not supported by endeavoring to procure any extension of
current and complete financial informa- credit (18 USC 215 for Commission or
tion and analysis of repayment ability. Gift for Procuring a Loan).

d. The impact of credits for which loan and c. The branch has a stated purpose for each
collateral documentation are deficient. loan over $10 thousand, except those

e. The volume of loans improperly struc- secured by real estate (31 CFR 103.33(a)
tured, e.g., repayment schedule does not of the Bank Secrecy Act).
match loan purpose. d. The branch is in compliance with state

f. The volume and nature of concentrations and federal lending limits, as described
of credit, including concentrations of in Regulation K, or specific statutes.
classified and criticized credits. e. The branch is in compliance with Regu-

g. The appropriateness of transfers of low lation O regarding loans to insiders.
quality credits to or from another affili- (applicable to FDIC-insured branches
ated office. only).

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual

Page 2



Credit Risk Management Examination Procedures

3010

18. Forward any violations of law to the exam-
iner in charge of compliance, and include a
cross reference here.

SPECIFIC RESERVES

e.

Compile a listing of all loans not

supported by current and complete credi
information and collateral documentation.
Compile a listing of low quality loans

transferred to or from another lending
institution through purchases/sales, par
ticipations, or swaps.

19. Ensure that any specific reserves reportegp: Discuss results of the examination of the
lending function with senior management,

structuring inquiries in such a manner as to
a. Elicit management responses for correc

by the branch are appropriate, i.e., based on

a specific loss amount that has been identi-

fied for an individual credit.

20. Determine if the branch accounts for spe-
cific reserves appropriately when the under?4-
lying asset has been transferred, sold, or
paid off.

21. Review the management reports submitted
to the head office, to determine that reports
are sufficiently detailed to evaluate risk
factors.

22. Summarize your findings being sure to
consider the following:

a. Check for noncompliance with internal
policies, practices, procedures, and con-
trols. Determine if instances of noncom-
pliance are system-wide or limited to a
specific area.

b. Organize exceptions in order of relative
importance.

c. Organize and prepare a listing of viola-
tions of laws and regulations.

d. Determine the aggregate amount of loand>-
criticized in each of the four levels of
criticism.

tion of deficiencies.

Write, in appropriate report format, genera
remarks including:
a. The scope of the examination of the

b.

g.
h.

lending function.
The quality of internal policies, prac-
tices, procedures, and controls over the
lending function.

. The general level of adherence to inter-

nal policies, practices, procedures, anc
controls.

. The scope and adequacy of the interne

loan review system.

. The quality of the entire loan portfolio.

The competency of management with
respect to the lending function.

Causes of existing problems.
Expectations for continued sound lend-
ing or correction of existing deficiencies.

Prepare a complete set of workpapers t
support conclusions, and discuss all mate
rial findings with management.
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Credit Risk Management

Inte

rnal Control Questionnaire

Effective date July 1997

Section 3010.4

Review the branch’s internal controls, policies, 5. Do credit files contain the following
practices, and procedures for managing the loan
portfolio. The system should be documented in
a complete and concise manner and should

include, where appropriate, narrative descrip

dGENERAL INFORMATION

tions,
other

1. Has a policy for credit risk management,

b

flowcharts, copies of forms used, an
pertinent information.

information:

e The borrower's name, address, ownershig

and affiliations?

een adopted that specifically:

A description of the borrower’s business?
« Amount, rate and maturity of the loan; type of

a. Establishes suggested guidelines for dis- oan: appropriate approvals?
tribution of loans in the commercial, real, The purpose of the loan?

O Q0O T

. Are the following reported to the head 9
office at least monthly:

estate, and other categories?

e« The primary and secondary sources 0

. Establishes geographic limits, including repayment?

country limits,for loans?

* The planned repayment schedule?

. Establishes suggested guidelines fos The disposition of the loan proceeds?

aggregate outstanding loans in relation to
other balance sheet categories?

. Establishes loan authorities of Commit'FINANCIAL INFORMATION

tees and individual lending officers?

. Defines acceptable types of loans?
Establishes maximum maturities for vari-
ous types of loans? .

. Establishes loan pricing? .

. Establishes appraisal policy?
Establishes minimum financial informa-
tion required at the inception of the
credit? .
Establishes limits and guidelines for pur-
chasing loans? .

. Establishes collection procedures?

Defines the duties and responsibilities of 6.
loan officers and loan committees?

. Outlines loan portfolio management

objectives that acknowledge the need to /-

employ personnel with specialized knowl-
edge and experience?

. Past due loans?

. Loans on nonaccrual?

. Classified loans?

. Loans requiring special attention?

. New loans, loan renewals, and restruc-
tured loans?

. Are borrowers’ outstanding

10.

11.

. Are reports checked by a designated indi-
vidual for possible omissions before they
are submitted to the head office?

. Are written applications required for all
loans?

e Current financial information on the borrower
and guarantor (if applicable)?

Three years of previous financial statements
An analysis of the borrower’s and guarantor’s
(if applicable) financial condition?
Projections for the borrower’s future financial
performance?

A description of the collateral, its location,
value, and condition?

Covenant compliance checksheet, if applicable

Does the branch perform a credit investiga
tion on proposed and existing borrowers for
new loan applications?

Is it required that all loan commitments be
in writing?

8. Are lines of credit reviewed and updated a

least annually?

liabilities

checked to appropriate lines of credit before

additional advances are granted?

Does the branch employ a procedure fo

disclosure of a loan or combination of loans

that are or will be secured by 25 percent of

another insured financial institution’s stock?

Is there an internal review system that:

a. Rechecks interest, discount, and maturit
date computations?

b. Reexamines notes for proper executior
receipt of all required supporting papers,
and proper disclosure forms?

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Credit Risk Management Internal Control Questionnaire

C.

will be
at the

Determines that loan approvals are within
the limits of the branch’s lending authori-
ties?

. Determines that notes bear the initial of

the loan officer?

. Ascertains that new loans are within the

limitations set for the borrower by cor-

porate resolution?

Rechecks the liability ledger to deter-

mine that new loans have been accu-
rately posted?

nation, or were considered to be of
guestionable quality for any other reason.

. Review the branch’s policies and proce-
dures to determine whether or not assets
or participations purchased by the branch
are given an independent, complete, and
adequate credit evaluation.

. Determine that assets purchased by the
branch are properly reflected on its books
at fair market value.

While fair market value may be difficult to
Loan transfers, purchases and sales involvindetermine, it should, at a minimum, reflect both
other U.S. branches and affiliates of the FBO arthe rate of return being earned on such assets
evaluated to determine whether branch managend an appropriate risk premium. Determine
ment retains responsibility for the loan. In suchthat appropriate write-offs are taken on any
a case, the management of the transferred loaassets sold by the branch at less than book value.

considered in assessing risk management
branch. Loan transfers are also evaluatei®.

to determine whether they were transferred to
avoid classification and to determine any effect

of the
cases

transfer on the institution’s condition. In14.
where the transfer is suspected of being

improper, the appropriate regulatory authorities

for the

other financial institution involved in the 15.

transfer should be notified.

16.

12. Review loan transfers for the following:

a.

. Compare the volume of loans purchaseqg

. Determine that the branch has sufficiengo

Determine that the branch does not buy 7.
back or pay interest on defaulted loans in
contravention of the underlying loan 1g
agreement.

and sold to the total portfolio.

expertise to properly evaluate the vol-
ume of loans purchased and sold.

. Determine if loans are sold primarily to

accommodate overline needs of custom-
ers or to generate fee income.

were transferred before the date of the?l.
examination to determine if any were
transferred to avoid possible criticism
during the examination.

Determine whether any of the loans trans22.
ferred were nonperforming at the time of
transfer, classified at the previous exami-

Is a systematic and progressively stronger
follow-up notice procedure utilized for
delinquent loans?

Has the branch conducted industry studies
for those industries in which it is a substan-
tial lender?

Are loan proceeds ever disbursed in cash? If
so, notify BSA examiner.

Are loans ever paid off by liquidating cash
collateral? If so, notify BSA examiner.

Are adequate accounting and control proce-
dures in effect with respect to recoveries?
Are adequate procedures in effect to moni-
tor compliance with the lending limits?

. Are original loan documents safeguarded

properly?

. Are notes and collateral periodically veri-

fied by an independent party?

CONCLUSION

. Investigate any situations where assets

Is the information covered by this ICQ
adequate for evaluating internal controls in
this area? If not, indicate any additional
examination procedures deemed necessary.
Based on the information gathered, evaluate
the internal controls in this area (i.e. strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).

September 1997
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Credit Risk Management

Audit Guidelines
Effective date July 1997

Section 3010.5

1. Testthe additions of the trial balances and the
reconciliation of the trial balances to the
general ledger. Include loan commitments
and other contingent liabilities.

2. Using an appropriate sampling technique,
select loans from the trial balance and per-
form the following:

a.

m.

Prepare and mail confirmation forms to
borrowers. Loans serviced by other insti-
tutions, either whole loans or participa-
tions, should be confirmed only with the

servicing institution. Confirmation forms

should include borrower's name, loan
number, the original amount, interest rate,
current loan balance, contingency and
escrow account balance, and a brief
description of the collateral.

. After a reasonable time, mail second

requests.

. Follow up on any no-replies or excep-

tions, and resolve differences.

. Examine notes for completeness and verify

date, amount, and terms to trial balance.

. In the event any notes are not held at the

branch, request confirmation by the holder.

Check to see that the note is signed,
appears to be genuine, and is negotiable.

. Check to see that the required initials of

the approving officer are on the note.

. Determine that the amount is within the

officer’s lending limit.

Compare collateral held in files with the
description on the collateral register. 3.
Determine that the proper assignments,

stock powers, hypothecation agreements,
statements of purpose, etc., are on file.

. Test the pricing of the negotiable collateral.

Determine that margins are reasonable
and are in line with branch policy and

legal requirements.

Determine if any collateral is held by an

outside custodian or has been temporarily
removed for any reason.

. Forward a confirmation request on any

collateral held outside the branch.

. For accounts receivable financing, recon4.

cile accounts receivable invoices to col-
lateral records.

. For banker’s acceptances, compare colla
eral (e.g. trust receipts and warehous
receipts) with the description on the col-
lateral records. Check to be sure tha
procedures are in effect to preclude &
customer from obtaining additional credit
extensions on the same merchandise.

. Review escrow account provisions to
determine if undisbursed amounts are a
least equal to the provisions in the escrow
agreements. Determine if debit entries tc
escrow accounts are authorized accordin
to the terms of the loan agreement and i
they are supported by individual bills or
other evidence.

List all discrepancies and investigate.

. Determine that each file has documenta

tion supporting guarantees and subordina
tion agreements, where appropriate.

Determine that any necessary insuranc
coverage is adequate and that the branc
is named as loss payee.

. Review participation agreements, making
excerpts where necessary for such item
as rate of service fee, interest rate, reten
tion of late charges, and remittance
requirements, and determine whether par
ticipant has complied.

. Review disbursement ledgers and autho

rizations and determine if authorizations
are signed in accordance with the terms o
the loan agreement.

Review the accrued interest accounts by:

a.

b.

Reviewing and testing procedures fol
accounting for accrued interest and for
handling of adjustments.

Scanning accrued interest for any unusue
entries and following up on any unusual
items by tracing to initial and supporting
records.

. For those loans selected in step 2, inde
pendently calculate the amount of accruec
interest and verify the amount to the detail
of accrued interest receivable for that
loan.

Using a list of nonaccruing loans, check loar

a

ccrual records to determine if interest income

is not being recorded.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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30105 Credit Risk Management Audit Guidelines

5. Obtain or prepare a schedule showing the b. Investigate significant fluctuations and/or

monthly interest income amounts and the trends.
accounts receivable loan balance at eadd. Test accuracy and completeness of all man-

month-end since the last audit and: agement reports.
a. Calculate yield.
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Asset-Based Lending _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3020.1

Asset-based lending is a specialized area of Provides an efficient way to finance an expand
commercial lending in which borrowers assign ing operation because borrowing capacity
their interests in certain accounts receivable and expands as sales increase;

inventory, and in selected cases, fixed assets, {oPermits the borrower to take advantage o
the lender as collateral. In asset-based lending,purchase discounts because the compar
the primary repayment source is the conversion receives immediate cash on its sales and |
of the pledged assets into cash. Asset-basedaple to pay trade creditors on a satisfactor
lending differs from a commercial loan in which  pasis, thereby earning a good reputation an
the bank takes a security interest in all accounts reducing the cost of goods sold;

receivable and inventory owned or acquired by Ensyres a revolving, expanding line of credit
the borrower. This section will discuss asset- for which the actual interest paid may be lest
based lending in relation to the characteristics of than that for a fixed amount unsecured loan.
the borrower, its advantages to the borrower and

the branch, credit and collateral analysis, docu- From the branch’s viewpoint, asset-baset
mentation, and safeguards to ensure the authegnging:

ticity and collectibility of the assigned receivables.

The examiner must judge the quality of the, Generates a relatively high yield loan com-
credit by evaluating the financial condition and mensurate with the perceived credit risk of the
debt-servicing ability of the borrower and the porrower:

quality of the collateral. In addition, the exam-, anerates a depository relationship whict
iner musft_evaluate.the branch’s internal con- provides income and enhances the branch
trols, policies, practices, and procedures. ability to monitor changes in the borrower’s
cash flow and overall financial condition;
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE * Permits a.continuing branch relatlionsh'ip with
BORROWER Io_r)gstandmg customers whose financial con
dition no longer warrant unsecured credit ol
traditional commercial lines of credit; and,
Minimizes potential loss when the loan is
t_(:oIIateraIized by a percentage of the account
receivable and inventory.

Many borrowers whose financial condition is
not strong enough to allow them to qualify for®
regular, secured commercial loans may use asse
based loans to meet their financial needs. Typi-
cal characteristics of asset-based borrowers are

those which: However, as discussed further, this type o

lending requires close and periodic supervisiol
of the borrower’s financial condition and regular
financing in amounts too large to justify monitoring of the borrower’'s accounts receiv-

unsecured credit or commercial lines of credifP!eS t0 ensure compliance with the financing

secured by blanket liens on accounts recei29"€ement.
able and inventory;
» Are nonseasonal and need year-round financ-
ing because working capital and profits are
insufficient to permit periodic clean-ups; CREDIT AND COLLATERAL
» Have inadequate working capital for the vol-ANALY SIS
ume of sales and type of operation; and,
» Cannot obtain regular commercial loan term@lthough asset-based loans are collateralize
because of deteriorating credit factors. and closely monitored, it is important to analyze
the borrower’s financial statements. Even if the
collateral is of good quality and supports the
ADVANTAGES TO THE loan, the borrower must demonstrate financia
BORROWER AND THE BRANCH progress. Full repayment through collateral lig:
uidation is normally a solution of last resort. The
From the borrower's viewpoint, asset-basedborrower’s financial statements should be ane
lending: lyzed with particular emphasis on working capi-

e Are growing rapidly and need year-round

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3020.1 Asset-Based Lending

tal and its trends. Trade reports should belecreasing, the quality of receivables may be
reviewed, the agings of receivables and payableaketeriorating.

should be scrutinized, and inventory turnover

should be analyzed. Furthermore, the prompt Aging of accounts receivableThe branch
payment of taxes, especially payroll taxes, shoulghould obtain a monthly aging of the accounts
be verified. A primary reason for a company toreceivable pledged. The examiner should note
obtain asset-based financing is to maximizene percentage of accounts delinquent in relation
discounts offered by suppliers; therefore, ito the total accounts pledged, and those accounts
should pay creditors promptly upon receivinghaving past due balances, which also have
the financing. If it is not doing so, it may be current amounts due.

diverting the funds out of the business and/or the

company'’s financial condition may not warrant - concentration of debtor accounts lender
this type of financing. may be vulnerable to loss if a large percentage

Branch management's ability to recognize é)f the dollar amount of receivables a_\s&gned is
oncentrated in a few accounts. A list of con-

customer’s financial problems as they develo entrations should be brepared periodicall
and to initiate orderly liquidation, if necessary, ; prep P y
ahowmg the largest accounts.

is important in the supervision of asset-base
financing. The line theoretically could be full . . .
J y y Ineligible receivablesThe examiner should

liquidated by discontinuing further advances : .
collecting the assigned receivables and quuida\be aware of receivables that, by their nature,
hould be excluded from the lending formula.

ing pledged inventory. However, such drasti . ;
action could cause the borrower's business toN€ following are examples of receivables that

close resulting in a probable deterioration of th&n@ be considered ineligible:

receivables from new disputes and in returns . .
and offsets. So that the branch’s loan may be Pue from affiliated companieslthough such
receivables might be valid, the temptation for

liquidated in an orderly manner without losses h ¢ | o
or other adverse effects, the branch usually e Porrower to create fraudulent invoices
would be great.

notifies its borrower of a contemplated liquida-
tion, allowing the borrower time to seek others Receivables subject to a purchase money inter-
means of continuing the business. Asset-basedest, such as floor plan arrangementEhe
lines where the financial position has declined manufacturer will frequently file financing
so that refinancing is prevented should be criti- statements when merchandise is delivered to
cized, unless the branch has initiated an orderly the borrower. That filing usually gives the
liquidation. When such a liquidation is occur- manufacturer a superior lien on the receivable.
ring, the examiner may not see the need for An alternative would be to enter into an
classification if the borrower’s business is con- agreement with the manufacturer where rights
tinuing, the existing collateral is of good quality, to the receivables are subordinated to the
and no collateral deterioration is anticipated.  branch.

In asset-based lending, branch management
should continually evaluate the realizable valu
of assets pledged. To do so, management ShOL{
review the loan agreement and compliance ther‘?ﬁe borrower’s credit file. The examiner should
with; the quality of the assets pledged, includinqj

d on- and th ; d etermine whether the debtor accounts are sig-
ocumentation; and the safeguards to ensure thig;ont 1o the borrower's business and are well
authenticity and collectibility of the pledged

: . . . '~ rated and financially strong.
assets. The information obtained is sometimes y 9

difficult to interpret unless it is related to other Disputes. returns. and offsetShe borrower
periods, comparable businesses, or industry sta- SlgL]! es, ﬁu S, 3 t Othseb € ho owe f
tistics. The following factors should be consig->NoY1d Turnish promptly to the branch coples o

B : ; Il significant credit memoranda issued. An
ered in evaluating the quality of assets pledgecgnalysis of those memoranda must be made. A

large or increasing volume of such transactions
The turnover of the receivables pledged andould adversely affect the branch’s collateral
the borrower’s credit limit.If the turnover is position.

Financial strength of debtor account3he
ranch should maintain credit information and
de reports on large debtor accounts as part of

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Asset-Based Lending 3020.1

DOCUMENTATION the agreed percentage of the outstanding recei
ables. The receivables are usually pledged on
Loan Agreement-An asset-based loan agree-notification basis. Under this method, the brancl
ment is a contract between a borrower and th@aintains complete control of all funds paid on
branch that sets forth conditions governing thell accounts pledged by requiring the borrower’s
handling of the account and the remedies avaikustomer(s) to remit directly to the branch. The
able in the event of default. Among the majorsame application of payments is then used &
provisions, might be: under the blanket assignment method. Regar
less of the methods used, the branch shoul
« A percentage advance against acceptabRnsure its collateral through a program of regu
receivables. The advance may depend on tHar audit and direct confirmation.
gross profit margin from the sale of merchan-
dise and the credit quality of the borrower's Security ~Agreement and Financing
customers. For example, if a borrower has Statement-Article 9 of the Uniform Commer-
gross profit margin of 30 percent, the maxi-Cial Code (UCC) applies to any transaction tha
mum advance might be 70 percent, with ds intended to create a security interest ir
reduced percentage if the borrower’s customaccounts receivable. Under the UCC, the branc
ers do not have top credit ratings. must create a valid and enforceable securit
interest and perfect that interest. Once an

* Use of only acceptable receivables. This M nforceable security interest is created, th

refers to a branch’s outlining qualifications for.secured party can always enforce it, on defaul

acceptance. For example, acceptable rece'\c’fgainst the debtor, provided there is no superic
ab:?SnTa¥ Lzlctlurcri]eronlt)k/] tr:]ose ?\?Cgu:t?ntgart arﬁﬁird-party interest. If the holder of a valid and
current or not more than a given NUMDEr O ¢, caaple Article 9 interest takes the addi

days past due. The entire amount of reCeVional steps required to perfect under Article 9, it

ables may be unacceptable if a certain PeLZil defeat most such third parties

centage, e.g., 10 percent, is 90 days or more . :
delinquent. Under the provisions of the UCC, a branch
should request from the Secretary of State, c
* A maximum dollar amount due from any oneother filing office, a listing of any open liens on
account debtor. Because there is always th@e customer’s receivables or inventory. Provid
possibility of unforeseen and undisclosedng no such liens are outstanding, the branc
credit failure or a return of merchandise, ashould then obtain a Security Agreement
common benchmark is that no more thamccounts Receivable and a Financing Statemel
20 percent of the receivables assigned argnd file promptly. The security agreement anc
from one customer. financing statement should cover current an
) future accounts and advances for all proceec
Documentation of AdvancesThere are two thereof (a “blanket assignment”), or detail the
dominant methods by which advances are madgpecific item(s) being taken as collateral (z
Under theblanket assignmenhethod, the bor- “specific assignment”). To protect its rights to
rower periodically supplies the branch withthe receivables, the lending branch should cor
documentation of the amount of receivablesider taking a lien on the borrower’s current anc

outstanding on its books. Based upon this inforfytyre inventory and all proceeds thereof.

mation, the branch advances the agreed percent-goctions 9-203 and 9-204 of the UCC require

age of the outstanding receivables. The recei\p the parties take four steps to create a vall

ables are usually pledged on a non-notification\ enforceable security interest. They must:
basis and payments on receivables are made

directly to the borrower, who then remits them, £nier into a security agreement
to the branch. The branch applies all or a portion '

of such funds to the borrower's loan and/or thé Reduce as much of that agreement to writing
as is necessary to satisfy Section 9-203, whic

cash collateral account, which is under the : ; - .
branch’s control. Under tHedgering of accounts also requires tha_t the debtor sign this writing
method, the lender receives duplicate copies of or give possession of the collateral to the
the invoices together with the shipping docu- creditor. o )
ments and/or delivery receiptsl Upon receip’[ OT Have the debtor vaL"re I’Ights n the Collateral
satisfactory information, the branch advances Have the secured party give value.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3020.1 Asset-Based Lending

Section 9-302(10) provides for automatic perENSURING AUTHENTICITY AND
fection, without filing a financing statement, COLLECTIBILITY
when any or all assignments to the branch do not

transfer a significant part of the outstandingregardiess of the advance methods used, the
accounts of the borrower. However, in all Othelfouowing Safeguards’ which branch manage-
accounts receivable security interests, the bran¢hent should consider and the examiner should

must file a financing statement to perfect itsvaluate, ensure the authenticity and collectibil-
security interest. The law of the jurisdiction injty of the pledged assets:

which the debtor is located provides where the

financing statement must be filed. Filing loca- Audits. To verify the information supplied by
tion is determined by place of business, execlhe borrower to the branch, the branch sends its
tive office, or residence if the debtor has nostaff member(s) to the borrower's place of
place of business in the state. Refer to thgysiness to audit its books. The audit should
appropriate  State jurisdiction for filing occur several times a year, usually on a quarterly

instructipns. . o basis. The scope of such audit should include
The financing statement, which is the docupreparation of balance sheets, profit and loss
ment filed for public notice, must: statements, working capital analysis, agings of

payables and receivables, an inspection of inven-
* Give the names and mailing addresses of thery and related records, and a determination
debtor and secured party. that the debtor accounts are properly marked on
Be signed by the debtor. the books as assigned to the branch. The audit
Give an address of the secured party fronalso should include procedures to determine
which information concerning the securitywhether all significant credit memoranda have
interest may be obtained. been properly issued and reported by the bor-
« Give the mailing addresses of the debtor andower to the branch.
the secured party.
Contain a statement indicating the types of Confirmations.To verify the authenticity of
collateral or describing the items or collateralthe pledged collateral, the branch should insti-
Be renewed every five years. tute a program of direct confirmation. This
procedure is particularly important if the accounts
A copy of the security agreement is sufficienteceivable are pledged on a non-notification
as a financing statement if it meets the precedinigasis because the branch does not have the same
requirements. control of the debtor accounts as it does when
Although effective compliance with the UCC the receivables are pledged on a notification
creates, in most instances, a valid and enforc#asis. Direct confirmations should be made
able first lien, it does not insulate the branctbefore the initial lending arrangement and, there-
from the need to police its collateral. By filing, after, at least semiannually. Confirmations should
the branch establishes the right to collect ofpe on a positive basis. The branch should obtain
only those receivables assigned to it, providedwritten approval from the borrower before con-
firming accounts receivable on a non-notification

» The sales are legitimate. basis. Further, the branch should consider using
« The merchandise has been delivered. the name of a phantom company as sender of the
« The merchandise is as ordered. confirmations and having the confirmations
« Sales were made without warranties (almogieturned to a post office box to ensure that
all sales are covered by warranties). account debtors do not know that their receiv-

« The merchandise was not shipped ofPles are being pledged.

consignment.

* The merchandise is not subject to offset, i.e.,
contra accounts or liens.

* The receivable has not already been paid to
the borrower.

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Asset-Based Lending

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3020.2

1. To determine if the policies, practices, pro-3. To evaluate the portfolio for collateral suffi-
cedures, and internal controls regarding asset- ciency, credit quality, and collectibility.
based lending are adequate. 4. To recommend corrective action when poli-

2. To determine if branch officers are operating cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
in conformance with the established trols are deficient or when violations of laws
guidelines. or regulations have been noted.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Asset-Based Lending

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3020.3

Refer to the Credit Risk Management examina4. Analyze secondary support offered by guar
tion procedures for general procedures to assess antors and endorsers.

the risk of asset-based lending activities. Hows5,
ever, if the branch engages in significant asset-
based lending activities, and additional informasg.
tion is needed, the examiner should perform the

following examination procedures.

update the Internal Control Questionnaire for
this area.

. Determine if deficiencies noted at previous
examinations and internal/external audits

have been
management.

3. Review the following information for selected

asset-based loans:

a. Relationship between amount collected in
a month on the receivables pledged as

collateral and the borrower’s credit limit.
. Aging of accounts receivable.
. Ineligible receivables.
. Concentration of debtor accounts.
. Financial strength of debtor accounts.
Disputes, returns, and offsets.

Q"0 Q0T

authenticity and collectibility of the
assigned receivables.

adequately addressed by

. Management’s safeguards to ensure th&

Ascertain compliance with established brancl
policy.

Discuss with appropriate officer(s) and pre:
pare a summary of the branch’s asset-base
lending activities.

] ) 7. Evaluate the function with respect to:
1. If selected for implementation, complete or

a. The adequacy of written policies relating
to asset-based lending.

b. The manner in which branch officers are
conforming with established policy.

c. Adverse trends within the asset-based lenc
ing department.

d. Accuracy and completeness of the man
agement reports relating to asset-base
lending obtained from the branch.

e. Internal control deficiencies or exceptions

Recommended corrective action wher

policies, practices, or procedures are

deficient.

g. The competency of
management.

h. Other matters of significance.

Update the workpapers with any information

that will facilitate future examinations.

—

departmental
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Asset-Based Lending

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3020.4

Refer to the Credit Risk Management internaB
control questionnaire for a general review of the

branch’s internal controls, policies, practices,

and procedures. If the branch engages in signifj;
cant asset-based lending activities, and addi-
tional information is needed, the examiner should
complete the following internal control question-
naire. For audit procedures, refer to the Cred
Risk Management section 3010.5.

1. Does the branch have policies specificallys.

relating to asset-based lending that:

a. Establish procedures for reviewing asset-
based lending applications?

b. Establish standards for determining credit
lines?

c. Establish standards for determining th
percentage advance to be made again
acceptable receivables?

d. Define acceptable receivables?

e. Establish minimum requirements for veri-
fication of borrower’s pledged assets?

f. Establish minimum standards for

documentation? 8.

2. Are policies reviewed at least annually to
determine if they are compatible with chang-
ing market conditions?

7.

. Does the branch record on a timely basis
first lien on the assigned receivables for eac!
borrower?

. Do all loans granted on the security of the
receivables also have an assignment of th
inventory?

. Does the branch verify the borrower’s

accounts receivable or require independer
verification on a periodic basis?

Does the branch require the borrower tc
provide aged accounts receivable schedule
on a periodic basis?

ONCLUSION

Is the information covered by this ICQ ad-
equate for evaluating internal controls in this
area? If not, indicate any additional exami-
nation procedures deemed necessary.

Based on the information gathered, evaluat
internal controls in this area (i.e. strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
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Asset Securitization _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3030.1

Banking organizations, including branches, havenercial real estate loans, home equity loans
long been involved with asset-backed securitiestudent loans, nonperforming loans, and leas
(ABS), both as investors in such securities andeceivables.
as major participants in the securitization pro-
cess. In recent years, they have stepped up their
involvement by increasing their participation in
the long-established market for securities backeBENEFITS AND RISKS OF ASSET
by residential mortgage loans. Banking organiSECURITIZATION
zations have also expanded their securitization
activities to include other types of assets, such a&/hile the objectives of securitization may vary
credit card receivables, automobile loans, bodtom organization to organization, there are
loans, commercial real estate loans, studemissentially five benefits that can be derived fron
loans, nonperforming loans, and lease receivablesecuritized transactions. First, the sale of asse
may reduce regulatory costs. The removal of a
asset from an FBO’s books generally reduce
capital requirements and reserve requiremen
AN OVERVIEW OF ASSET on the deposits funding the asset. Second, ass
SECURITIZATION securitization provides originators with an addi-
tional source of funding or liquidity or both. The
In recent years, the number of banking organiprocess of securitization basically converts al
zations that have issued securities backed hlfiquid asset into a security with greater mar-
their own assets and that have acquired ABS atability. Securitized issues often require &
investments has increased markedly. This increaseedit enhancement, which results in a highe
has resulted because securitization activities camedit rating than what would normally be
yield significant financial and operational benefitsobtainable by the institution itself. Conse-
In its simplest form, asset securitizationquently, these issues may provide a cheaps
involves the selling of assets. The process firdorm of funding to the banking organization.
segregates generally illiquid assets into pool$hird, securitization may be used to reduce
and transforms them into capital market instruinterest-rate risk by improving the organiza-
ments. The payment of principal and interest otion’s asset-liability mix. Such a benefit is more
these instruments depends on the cash floviigely if the organization has a large investmen
from the assets in the pool underlying the nevin fixed-rate, low-yield assets. Fourth, by
securities. The new securities may have denomiemoving assets, the organization enhances i
nations, cash flows, and other features that differeturn on equity and assets. Finally, the ability tc
from the pooled assets making the securities igell these securities worldwide diversifies the
them more attractive to investors. organization’s funding base which reduces the
The federal government encourages the secdependence of the branch on local economies
ritization of residential mortgages. In 1970, the It may be appropriate for a banking organiza-
Government National Mortgage Associationtion, including a branch, to engage in securiti-
(GNMA) created the first publicly traded zation activities and to invest in ABS, if it does
mortgage-backed security. Soon, the Federab in a prudent manner. Nonetheless, thes
National Mortgage Association (FNMA) and activities can significantly affect a branch’s
the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporatiomverall risk exposure. It is of great importance
(FHLMC), both government-sponsored agenparticularly given the growth and expansion of
cies, also developed mortgage-backed secusuch activities, that examiners be fully informed
ties. The guarantees provided by these goverwof the fundamentals of the securitization pro-
ment or government-sponsored entities assuress, including knowledge of the various risks
investors of the payment of principal and interthat securitization and investing in ABS create
est and have thus greatly facilitated the securfor branches. Additionally, examiners need to be
tization of mortgage assets. As previously menaware of the pertinent examination procedure
tioned, securities have also been issued that aireorder to effectively assess the branch’s expc
backed by other assets such as: credit caglre to risk and its ability to manage that
receivables, automobile loans, boat loans, conexposure.
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3030.1 Asset Securitization

The following instructions were developedsponsored agencies that are perceived by the
for Federal Reserve System use in order toredit markets to have the implicit support of the
provide examiners with the information andfederal government. Privately issued, mortgage-
guidance they need on asset securitization. Thebacked securities and other types of asset-
instructions discuss the mechanics of securitizdsacked securities generally depend on some
tion and related accounting issues while alséorm of credit enhancement provided by the
providing a set of examination guidelines,originator or third party to insulate the investor
objectives, and procedurésThe various state from a portion of or all credit losses. Usually,
and federal agencies may differ in terms othe amount of the credit enhancement is based
specific practices and methodologies used topon several multiples of the historical losses
implement these guidelines. For further guidexperienced on the particular asset backing the
ance in this area, examiners should consult witkecurity.
their respective agencies.

THE SECURITIZATION PROCESs Credit Enhancement

The asset securitization process beains with t One form of credit enhancement is the recourse
. P . 9 rovision, or guarantee, that requires the origi-
segregation of loans or leases into pools that ai

relatively homogeneous with respect to credit ator to cover any losses up to an amount
y 9 P iontractually agreed upon. Some asset-backed

maturity, and interest-rate risks. These pools g ecurities, such as those backed by credit card

assets are then transferred to a trust or Oth?éceivables, typically use a spread account. This

o e L sstes Wicount s acualy an escrow accourt. The
P d nds in this account are derived from a portion

by investors. These asset-backed securities m

e - ._0f the spread between the interest earned on the
take the form of debt, certificates of beneﬁma@isets in the underlying pool and the lower

OWFerSh'pv or other instruments. The ISSUET I terest paid on securities issued by the trust.
typically protected from bankruptcy by VanouSthe amounts that accumulate in the account are

tsrzgfft;gsil dgg?hleegssle?srrt?)nt?:rsr]e(acnl}fiiiz'?e dsgv?/p]:q}sed to cover credit losses in the underlying
P 85set pool up to several multiples of historical

other\leg establishes the issuer. . - losses on the particular asset collateralizing the
Each issue of ABS has a servicer that i ecurities

responsible for collecting interest and principa o .
payments on the loans or leases in the under- Overcollateralization, another form of credit
lying pool of assets and for transmitting thesénhancement covering a predetermined amount

funds to investors (or a trustee representin ;?r?tentlgl Clr?d't Iossets, occurzwphenfthe Valllje
them). A trustee is responsible for monitoring®! (1€ UNUErlyINg assets exceeds the rface vaiue

the activities of the servicer to ensure that i€f thte.seclurltleti. Athlrdff;)hrm of credit thda}ncte- g
properly fulfills its role. ment involves the use of the senior-subordinate

A guarantor may also be involved to ensur ecurity structure. Under such a structure, at
that principal and interest payments will be east two classes of asset-backed securities are

received by investors on a timely basis, even il[ssued, with the senior class having a priority

the servicer does not collect these paymenfd@im on the cash flows from the underlying
from the obligors. Many issues of mortgagepOOI of assets. Therefore, the subordinated class

backed securities are guaranteed directly byuSt absorb credit losses before they can be
GNMA, a government agency backed by th harged to the senior portion. Because the senior

full faith and credit of the U.S. government, orclass has this priority claim, cash flows from the

by FNMA or FHLMC, both government- unde_rlylng pool of assets must first satisfy the
requirements of the senior class. Only after these
1. The Federal Reserve System has developed a threreecll‘l!rements have_been met will _the cash flows
volume set that contains educational material concerning th@€ directed to service the subordinated class.
process of asset securitization and examination guidelines. A more recent form of credit enhancement is
The volumes are as follows: (a) An Introduction to Assetthe cash collateral account. which is established
Securitization, (b) Accounting Issues Relating to Asset Secu- " . .
ritization, and (c) Examination Guidelines for Asset When a third party deposits cash into a pledged
Securitization. account. The use of cash collateral accounts
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Asset Securitization 3030.1

grew as the number of highly rated banks and The pay-through structure with multiple
other credit enhancers declined in the earlglasses combines the cash flows from the unde
1990s. Other forms of credit enhancemenlying pool of assets and reallocates them to tw
include standby letters of credit, pool insurancegr more issues of securities that have differen
or surety bonds from third parties. cash flow characteristics and maturities. Ar
An investment banking firm or other organi-example is the collateralized mortgage obliga
zation generally serves as an underwriter fotion (CMO), which has a series of bond classes
ABS. In addition, for asset-backed issues thatach with its own specified coupon and state
are publicly offered, a credit rating agency willmaturity. In most cases, the assets that make
analyze the policies and operations of the origithe CMO collateral pools are pass-througt
nator and servicer as well as the structuresecurities. Scheduled principal payments, an
underlying pool of assets, expected cash flowsny prepayments, from the underlying collatera
and other attributes of such securities. Beforgo first to the earliest maturing class of bonds
assigning a rating to the issue, the rating agenchhis first class of bonds must be retired before
will also assess the extent of loss protectiothe principal cash flows are used to retire the
provided to investors by the credit enhancelater bond classes. The development of th
ments associated with the issue. pay-through structure resulted from the desire t
Traditional lending activities are generallybroaden the marketability of these securities t
funded by deposits or other liabilities with bothinvestors who were interested in maturities othe
the assets and related liabilities reflected on thinan those generally associated with pass
balance sheet. Liabilities must generally increasthirough securities.
in order to fund additional loans. In contrast, the Multiple-class, ABS may also be issued as
securitization process generally does not increaskerivative instruments, such as stripped secur
on-balance-sheet liabilities in proportion to theties. Investors in each class of a stripped securit
volume of loans or other assets securitized. Awill receive a different portion of the principal
discussed more fully below, when bankingand interest cash flows from the underlying poo
organizations securitize their assets and thesd assets. In their purest form, stripped securitie
transactions are treated as sales, both the assetay be issued as interest-only (10) strips, fo
and the related ABS (i.e., liabilities) are removedvhich the investor receives 100 percent of the
from the balance sheet. The cash proceeds froimterest from the underlying pool of assets anc
the securitization transactions are generally useas principal-only (PO) strips, for which the
to originate or acquire additional loans or otheinvestor receives all of the principal.
assets for securitization and the process is In addition to these securities, other types o
repeated. Thus, for the same volume of loafinancial instruments may arise as a result o
originations, securitization results in lower assetasset securitization, as follows:
and liabilities in comparison to traditional lend-
ing activities. e Loan servicing rights-these instruments are
created when organizations purchase or orig
nate loans, sell or securitize the loans, an
The Structure Of Different Types retain the right to act as servicers for pools o
Of ABS I(_Jans. The cost of these purchased_serwcm
rights may be recorded as an intangible ass
when certain criteria are met. In addition,

Asset securitization involves different types of - ; -
servicing rights are created when organiza

capital market instruments. These instruments
may be structured apass-throughs or pay-
throughs Under a pass-through structure, the

cash flows from the underlying P00| of asset CMOs), or multiple class securities, were introduced to hely
inimize the reinvestment and interest rate risks inherent i

are passed through to investors on a pro ra{?ﬁe traditional fixed rate mortgage-backed security. As a resu
basis. This type of security may be a single-class the Tax Reform Act of 1986, REMIC was created. The
instrument such as a GNMA pass-through or &EMIC is a more flexible mortgage security, which expandec

multi-class instrument such as a real esta e appeal of the CMO structure to a wider investor base an
offered preferred tax status to both investors and issuer:

mortgage investment conduit (REMIE). Today, almost all CMOs are issued in REMIC form. (From

The ABCs of CMOs, REMICs and I0/POs: Rocket Science
_— Comes to Mortgage Finance, Journal of Accountancy, April
2. In the early 1980s, collateralized mortgage obligationd991, p. 41.)
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3030.1 Asset Securitization

tions purchase the right to act as servicers fasecondary markets for certain ABS are thin,

loan pools. investors may encounter greater than anticipated
» Excess servicing fee receivables-These difficulties when seeking to sell their securities.

instruments generally arise when the preseriturthermore, certain derivative instruments, such

value of any additional cash flows from theas stripped ABS and residuals, may be extremely

underlying assets that a servicer expects teensitive to interest rates and exhibit a high

receive exceeds standard servicing fees.  degree of price volatility, and, therefore, may
« ABS residuals (sometimes referred to aglramatically affect the risk exposure of inves-

residuals or residual interestsyThey repre- tors, unless used in a properly structured hedg-

sent claims on any cash flows that remain afteng strategy.

all obligations to investors and any related

expenses have been met. Such excess cash

flows may arise as a result of overcollateraly
ization or from reinvestment income. Residu-ISSuer

als can be retained by sponsors or purchased o )
by investors in the form of securities. Banking organizations that issue ABS may be

subject to pressures to sell only their best assets,
thus reducing the quality of their own loan
portfolios. On the other hand, some organiza-
SUPERVISORY CONSIDERATIONS tions may feel pressures to relax their credit
standards because they can sell assets with
Clear benefits can accrue to banking organizdiigher risk than they would normally want to
tions that engage in securitization activities andetain for their own portfolios.
invest in ABS. Nonetheless, securitization To protect their names in the market, issuers
activities can increase the overall risk profile Ofmay feel pressures to provide moral recourse by
the banking organization if the activities are notvepurchasing securities backed by loans or leases
carried out in a prudent manner. For the moshat they originated and which have since dete-
part, the types of risks that financial institutionsriorated and become nonperforming. Funding
encounter in the securitization process are idemisk may also be a problem for issuers when
tical to those that they face in traditional lendingmarket aberrations do not permit the issuance of
transactions. These involve credit risk, concenABS that are in the securitization pipeline.
tration risk, interest-rate risk, including prepay-
ment risk, operational risk, liquidity risk, moral
recourse risk, and funding risk. However, .
because the securitization process separates thervicer
traditional lending function into several limited
roles such as originator, servicer, credit enhanceBanking organizations that service securitiza-
trustee, and investor, the types of risks that @on issues must ensure that their policies,
branch will encounter will differ depending on operations, and systems will not permit break-
the role it assumes. downs that may lead to defaults. Substantial fee
As with direct investments in the underlyingincome can be realized by acting as servicer. An
assets, investors in ABS will be exposed tanstitution already has a fixed investment in its
credit risk, that is, the risk that obligors will servicing systems, and achieving economies of
default on principal and interest paymentsscale relating to that investment is in its best
Investors are also subject to the risk that thénterest. The danger, though, lies in overloading
various parties, for example, the servicer othe systems’ capacity, thereby creating enor-
trustee, in the securitization structure will bemous out-of-balance positions and cost over-
unable to fulfill their contractual obligations. runs. Servicing problems may potentially pre-
Moreover, investors may be susceptible to coreipitate a technical default, which, in turn, could
centrations of risks across various ABS issuelead to the premature redemption of the security.
through over-exposure to an organization pern addition, expected collection costs could
forming various roles in the securitization pro-exceed fee income. (For further guidance, refer
cess, or as a result of geographic concentrations the Federal Reserve’€ommercial Bank
within the pool of assets providing the cashExamination ManualLoan Portfolio Manage-
flows for an individual issue. Also, because thenent section.)
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Accounting Issues Securitization Of Commercial Paper

Asset securitization transactions are frequentlpVer time, banking institutions have increas:
structured to obtain certain accounting treatiNdly been involved in the securitization of
ments, which, in turn, affect reported measureSomMmercial paper. It is important to note, how-
of profitability and capital adequacy. In transfer-€Ver, that asset-backed commercial paper pr
ring assets into a pool to serve as collateral fograms differ from other methods of securitiza-
ABS, a key question is whether the transfefion. One difference is that more than one type
should be treated as a sale of the assets or a®E@sset may be included in the receivables poo
collateralized borrowing, that is, a financingMOreover, in certain cases, the cash flow fron
transaction secured by assets. Sales treatmdfg receivables pool may not necessarily matc
results in the assets being removed from thi!® pPayments to investors because the maturi
branch’s balance sheet, thus reducing total asséts the underlying asset pool does not alway:
relative to earnings and capital and, thereb arallel the maturity of the structure of the
producing higher performance and capital ratiocommercial paper. Consequently, when the pap
Treatment of these transactions as financingg)atures, it is usually rolled over or funded by
however, means that the assets in the IDO_51|no_ther|ssue. In certain circumstances, a matu
remain on the balance sheet and the relatdfd iSsue of commercial paper cannot be rolle

liabilities are subject to reserve requiremehts, OVer. To address this problem, many bankin

institutions have established back-up liquidity

facilities. Certain banking institutions have clas-

sified these back-up facilities as pure liquidity

facilities despite the credit-enhancement ele

I ment present in such facilities and, as a resul

3. Note, however, that it is the Federal Reserve's Reguldhave incorrectly assessed the risks associatt

tion D that defines what constitutes a reservable liability of ayjth such back-up liquidity facilities. In these

depository institution. Thus, although a given transaction ma: ases, the back-up liquidity facilities have beer

qualify as an asset sale for regulatory reporting purposes, I Lo . 4 )

nevertheless could result in a reservable liabilty undefNOre similar to direct credit substitutes than tc
Regulation D. loan commitments.
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Asset Securitization

Examination Objectives
Effective date July 1997

Section 3030.2

1. To determine if the branch is in compliancelO. To determine that liquidity and market risks

with laws, regulations and policy statements.
. To determine if the branch is involved in
originating, servicing, providing credit

enhancements, serving as a trustee for, gr

investing in securitized assets.

. To determine that securitization activities
are properly managed within the context of
the branch’s overall risk managemen
techniques.

. To determine that management has an
appropriate level of experience in securiti-
zation activities.

. To ensure that the branch does not hold any

asset-backed securities that are inappropri3.

ate, given the size of the branch and the
sophistication of its operations, e.g., 10s
and POs.

. To ensure that all asset-backed securitief

owned and any assets sold with recourse are
properly accounted for on the branch’s
books and in the branch’s regulatory reports.

. To determine that sources of credit risk are
understood and properly analyzed and man-
aged without excessive reliance on credi
ratings by outside agencies.

. To determine that credit, operational, and

other risks are recognized and are addressed
through appropriate policies, procedures}l6.

management reports, and other controls.

. To determine if officers are operating in
conformance with established branch poli-
cies and procedures.

are recognized and the branch is not exce:
sively dependent on securitization as a sub
stitute for funding or as a source of income.

. To determine that steps have been taken

minimize the potential for conflicts of inter-
est due to securitization.

2. To determine that possible sources of struc

tural failure in securitization transactions
are recognized, and that branch and hea
office management has adopted measures
minimize the impact of such failures should
they occur.

To determine that branch and head offic
management is aware of the legal risks an
uncertainty regarding various aspects o
securitization.

To determine that concentrations of expo
sure in the underlying asset pools, in the
asset-backed securities portfolio, or in the
structural elements of securitization trans:
actions are avoided.

i1.5. To determine that all sources of risk are

evaluated at the inception of each securiti
zation activity and are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

To recommend corrective action when poli-
cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
trols are deficient or when violations of
laws, regulations or policy statements have
been noted.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Asset Securitization

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3030.3

These procedures represent a comprehensive li§. Determine whether adequate procedures fi
of processes and activities to be reviewed during  evaluating the branch’s internal control pro-
a full scope examination. The examiner-in- cedures and financial strength of the othe
charge will establish the general scope of the institutions involved in the securitization
examination and work with the examination  process are in place.
staff to tailor specific areas for review as cir- v Ghiain the documentation outlining any
cumstances warrant. The procedures selected . q4it enhancements and the remedies ava
will be based on internal audit comments, pre-  opiin the event of a default. In addition
vious exar_ni_nation workpapers, ageneral_review both originators and purchasers of secur’i‘
of the activity to be examined, and the judge-  j;64 assets should have a prospectus on tt
ment of the examiner and examiner-in-charge.  gqe. Obtaining a copy of the prospectu:
can be an invaluable source of information;

1. Request a schedule of all asset-backed o hospectus generally should contain infor

securities owned by the branch. Reconcile
to subsidiary ledgers of the balance sheet
and review credit ratings assigned to these
securities by independent rating agencies.
Determine that the accounting methods and

procedures used for these assets, at incep-
8. Ensure that, regardless of the role a branc

tion and throughout the carrying life, are
appropriate.

. Request and review information on the
types and amount of assets that have been
securitized by the branch. In addition,
request information concerning potential

contractual or contingent liability from guar- 9.

antees, underwriting, and servicing of secu-
ritized assets, whether originally securitized
by the branch or not.

. Review the branch’s policies and proce-
dures to ensure that it follows prudent

standards of credit assessment and approval

for all securitization exposure. Procedures
should include thorough and independent
credit assessment of each loan or pool for
which it has assumed credit risk followed
by periodic credit reviews to monitor per-
formance throughout the life of the expo-
sure. If a branch invests in asset-backed

securities, determine whether there is sol@Q.

reliance upon the conclusions of external
rating services when evaluating the securities.

. Determine that rigorous credit standards are
applied regardless of the role the branch

plays in the securitization process, for exam11

ple, servicer, credit enhancer, or investor.

. Determine that major policies and proce-
dures, including internal credit review and
approval procedures and in-house exposure
limits, are reviewed periodically and
approved by head office management.

mation on credit enhancement, default pro
visions, subordination agreements, etc. Ir
addition to the prospectus, obtain the docu
mentation confirming the purchase or sale
of a security.

plays in the securitization process, the docu
mentation for an asset-backed securit
clearly specifies the limitations of the
branch’s legal responsibility to assume
losses.

Verify whether the branch, acting as origi-
nator, packager, or underwriter, has writter
policies addressing the repurchase of asse
and other reimbursement to investors in the
event that a defaulted package results il
losses exceeding any contractual credi
enhancement. The repurchase of defaulte
assets or pools, although not required by th
underlying agreement, in effect sets a stan
dard by which a branch could potentially be
found legally liable for all sold assets.
Review and report any situations in which
the branch has repurchased or otherwis
reimbursed investors for poor quality assets

Evaluate credit risk of asset-backed secur
ties and classify any adverse credit risk. Lis
classified assets and evaluate the impact ¢
the classifications on the overall evaluatior
of the branch.

Aggregate securitization exposures with al
loans, extensions of credit, debt and equit)
securities, legally binding financial guaran-
tees and commitments, and any other inves
ments involving the same obligor when
determining compliance with internal credit
exposure limits.
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3030.3

Asset Securitization Examination Procedures

12

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

ogy for asset-backed securities to determine
if it is appropriate.
Review securitized assets for industrial or
geographic concentrations. Excessive expo-
sures to an industry or region among the
underlying assets should be noted in the
review of the loan portfolio and evaluated in
the context of the risk management
assessment.

Ensure that, in addition to policies limiting

direct credit exposure, a branch has devel-

oped exposure limits with respect to par-
ticular originators, credit enhancers, trust-20
ees, and servicers. )

Review the policies of a branch engaged in

underwriting with regard to situations in

which it cannot sell underwritten asset-
backed securities. Credit review, funding
capabilities, and approval limits should
allow the branch to purchase and hold
unsold securities. All potential credit expo-
sure should be within prudential lending”™ ™"
limits.

Ensure that internal systems and controls

adequately track the performance and con-

dition of internal exposures and monitor the
branch’s compliance with internal proce-
dures and limits. In addition, verify that
adequate audit trails and internal audit covZ2-
erage are in place. Ensure that the internal
reports are adequate in scope and frequency.

Determine that management information

systems provide:

a. A listing of all securitizations in which 23.
the branch is involved.

b. A listing of industry and geographic
concentrations.

c. Information on total exposure to specific
originators, servicers, credit enhancers,
trustees, or underwriters.

d. Information regarding portfolio aging and
performance relative to expectations.

e. Periodic and timely information to head
office  management on the branch’s
involvement in, and credit exposure aris-
ing from, securitization.

. Review the branch’s valuation methodol-18. Check whether internal auditors review all

facets of securitization on a regularly basis.

19. Review policies and procedures for compli-

ance with applicable state and federal lend-
ing limits. These requirements must be
analyzed to determine whether a particular
asset-backed security issue is considered a
single investment or a loan to each of the
creditors underlying the pool. Collateralized
mortgage obligations may be exempt from
this limitation, if they are issued or guaran-
teed by an agency or instrumentality of the
U.S. government.

Determine whether the underwriting of
asset-backed securities of affiliates are:

a. Rated by an unaffiliated, nationally rec-
ognized statistical rating organization.

b. Issued or guaranteed by FNMA, FHLMC,
or GNMA, or represent interests in such
obligations.

Determine if purchases of high-risk
mortgage-backed securities were made to
reduce the overall interest rate risk of the
branch. Determine if the branch evaluates
and documents at least quarterly whether
these securities have reduced its interest rate
risk.

Review and discuss any documentation
exceptions, violations, internal control
exceptions, and classifications with manage-
ment and obtain and document manage-
ment’s response.

Review the branch’s liquidity agreements
with any asset-backed commercial paper
programs and determine whether the agree-
ments have any credit related components.
Is the branch required to purchase the assets?
Are these assets repurchased from the
branch? If the facility is determined to be a
commitment, determine whether its matu-
rity is short-term or long-term. Do any of
the liquidity agreements contain a material
adverse clause or any other credit contin-
gency provision?

September 1997
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Asset Securitization

Internal Controls Questionnaire .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3030.4

Review the branch’s internal controls, policies, f. Hedge the branch’s exposure to advers
practices, and procedures for all aspects of asset  price movements when engaged in under
securitization. The branch’s system should be writing or market-making activities?

documented in a complete and concise mann&: Are securitization policies reviewed and

and should includewhere appropriate narra- reaffirmed at least annually to determine if
tive descriptions, flowcharts, copies of forms they are compatible with changing market
used, and other pertinent information. conditions?

INTERNAL
POLICIES CONTROL/MANAGEMENT

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
1. Does the branch employ the services of a
securities dealer? If so, does the branch rel. Do the branch’s internal systems and con
solely on the advice of such a dealer when trols adequately track the performance an
purchasing asset-backed securities for the condition of internal exposures, and do the
branch’s investment portfolio? Does the systems monitor the branch’s compliance
branch have staff responsible for reviewing with internal procedures and limits? Are
and approving the investment manager's adequate audittrails and internal and extern:
acquisitions? Have minimum criteria been audit coverage provided?
established for selecting a securities dealer?. Do the branch’s cost accounting system
2. To ensure a proper level of supervision over Provide a reliable determination of the prof-
branch activities, has head office manage- itability and volatility of asset securitization
ment reviewed and ratified asset securitiza- activities? . .
tion policies, practices, and procedures thaté. Are management information systems an
a. Require an initial thorough and indepen- eporting procedures adequate, in that they
dent credit assessment of each asset pool & Provide a listing of all securitizations for

for which the branch has assumed credit ~ Which the branch is originator, servicer,
risk as either a participant in the securiti- _ Credit enhancer, underwriter, or trustee?

zation process or as an investor? . Provide a listing of industry and geo-

i ions?
b. Address the repurchase of assets and other c %r%%?('j% ci:gfnocrﬁ?;;%'nogsn' total exposure to
forms of reimbursement to investors by ™ P

the branch when 1 is serving as e Sheciic orgnelors, sevcers cred
originator, packager, or underwriter in y ’ )

the event that a default results in losses d. 5r%wd;nénfcgﬁpoe;“rﬁ;négﬂglﬂ,ge tpOOFetI(OHeOO
exceeding any contractual credit ging P P

ions?
enhancement? tations - . . .
S . e. Provide periodic and timely information
c. Ensure that the credit, pricing, and servic- to head office management on the branch’
ing standards for securitized assets are

. involvement in, and credit exposure aris-
equivalent to standards for assets that

. D
remain on the branch’s books? ing from, securitization? .
f. Provide credit ratings assigned by inde-

d. Ensure that the Cl’edit, pI’iCing, and Sel’ViC- pendent rating agencies to all asset
ing standards and compliance with any backed securities held by the branch?
provisions relating to government guaran-
tees are reviewed periodically by head
office management? CONCLUSION

e. Establish in-house diversification require-
ments, within proper risk management?7. Is the information covered by this ICQ
techniques, regarding aggregate outstand- adequate for evaluating internal controls in
ing exposures to a particular institution, this area? If not, indicate any additional
industry, or geographic area? examination procedures deemed necessary
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8. Based on the information gathered, evaluate
the internal controls in this area (i.e. strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
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Banker’'s Acceptances _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3040.1

One method of financing international trade ion Acceptances (liability) accounts are reduce
by the use of a banker’s acceptance. Such and the discounted acceptance is recorded wil
instrument may be used to finance all of thether loans and discounts. If the accepting ban
successive stages of the movement of goodaibsequently rediscounts (sells) the acceptan
through the channels of trade from the point ofn the market, that acceptance is rebooked &
origin to the final destination. Customers’ Liability on Acceptances and Bank’s

A banker’s acceptance is an order in the forniiability on Acceptances outstanding and the
of a time draft (also referred to as a bill ofloan and discount account is reduced. Redis
exchange or a usance draft) drawn by one partyounted acceptances are not considered borro
(the drawer) in favor of itself or another partyings. The customer’s liability on acceptances i
(the payee), addressed to (drawn on) a bank (thieduced by a customer’s prepayment or antici
drawee) and accepted by that bank to pay thgation, of an acceptance outstanding. Howeve
holder a certain sum on or before a specifiethe bank’s liability is not similarly reduced by
date. The bank’s acceptance of this order froman anticipation.
the drawer, by stamping across the face of the The established market for banker’s accep
draft ACCEPTED and dating and signing thetances in the United States is regulated by th
stamp, is a formal acknowledgement of thd-ederal Reserve System. Federal Reserve Ban
obligation and constitutes an unconditionabre authorized to discount or purchase eligibls
promise by that bank to honor the time draft abanker's acceptances subject to qualitative an
maturity. The drawee bank creating the accemuantitative limits, thus providing a source of
tance is primarily liable for the instrument, liquidity to the selling banks. The creation of
while the payee, as first endorser, is secondarilyanker’s acceptances is governed by Section !
liable for paying the holder in due course. If theof the Federal Reserve Act (12 USC 372), whict
drawee (acceptor) is other than a bank, thestablishes criteria that must be met in order fo
instrument is a trade acceptance, not a bankertle instrument to be eligible for either discount
acceptance. or purchase by the Federal Reserve Banks. |

Most banker’s acceptances are used to finaneeldition, for federally-licensed branches, the
trade transactions. Accordingly, acceptances amdigible banker’s acceptance limit is in addition
often created in connection with a letter ofto the loan and investment securities limits. The
credit, although they may arise in connectiorrules governing whether an acceptance mee
with collection or open account transactionsthe eligibility requirements for discount or pur-
Refer to the manual section entitled Letters othase are important for two major reasons. Firs
Credit. In general, acceptance credit is considacceptances meeting the conditions of eligibility
ered self-liquidating in that it provides the meansare more readily salable in the market than ar
for its own payment at maturity. Self-liquidation acceptances that do not satisfy these conditior
is accomplished because the acceptance must#ed, as such, provide a greater degree of liquic
based on a specific trade transaction in whichly for the accepting bank. Second, unlike eli-
goods are being shipped prior to entering thgible acceptances, ineligible acceptances al
channels of trade. Therefore, satisfactory evisubject to reserve maintenance requirement
dence should be available indicating that théhus raising the cost to the borrower over that o
draft, when created, is based on an actuan eligible acceptance. For federally-licenses
shipment or storage. Furthermore, at maturity dfranches, ineligible banker's acceptances ai
the draft, the proceeds from the sale of the goodsubject to the limits specified in 12 USC 84 anc
will be used to settle the draft. To a lesser extengire combined with loans. The examiner must b
acceptances also finance the domestic shipmefatmiliar with the criteria used for determining
of goods and domestic or foreign storage oéligibility for discount or purchase by the Fed-
readily marketable staples. eral Reserve Banks.

The payee of the acceptance may hold an Branches that are subject to reserve require
acceptance until maturity, discount it with his orments (i.e. controlled by an entity with $1 bil-
her bank, or sell it in the acceptance marketion in total worldwide consolidated assets)
When a bank discounts (purchases) its ownnder Section 7 of the International Banking Act
acceptance for the payee, its Customers’ Liabilef 1978 (12 USC 3105(a)) are subject to the
ity on Acceptances (asset) and Bank’s Liabilitylimitations described in Section 13 of the Fed-
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3040.1 Banker's Acceptances

eral Reserve Act (12 USC 372). These regulaeent of the aggregate of all eligible acceptances
tions limit the amount of eligible banker’'s accep-authorized for a branch.

tances that may be created to 150 percent (or Banker's acceptances, as a source of finance
200 percent with the permission of the Board) ohnd investment, offer significant advantages to
the paid up and unimpaired capital stock angorrowers, accepting banks, and investors alike.
surplus of the foreign banking organizationover the years, a banker's acceptance has often
(FBO). In addition, all U.S. branches of an FBOpeen a cheaper financing vehicle than a loan,
are prohibited from creating eligible banker'shecause it is readily marketable, is considered an
acceptances for any one person in the aggregafiportant secondary reserve for the accepting
in excess of 10 percent of the FBO's capitalpank, and is a relatively secure investment to the
Eligible banker's acceptances growing out ofnvestor because of its two-name backing.
domestic transactions are not to exceed 50 per-
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Banker’'s Acceptances

Examination Objectives
Effective date July 1997

Section 3040.2

1. To determine if objectives, policies, prac-4.
tices, procedures, and internal controls
regarding banker's acceptances are adequate.

2. To determine if branch officers are operating.
in conformance with the established
guidelines. 6.

3. To determine the scope and adequacy of the
audit function as it applies to banker’'s
acceptances.

To evaluate the portfolio for documentation
and collateral sufficiency, credit quality, and
collectibility.

To determine compliance with applicable
federal and state laws and regulations.

To recommend corrective action when poli-
cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
trols are deficient or when violations of law
or regulations have been noted.
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Banker’'s Acceptances

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3040.3

1. If selected for implementation, complete oreligibility according to established criteria.
update the Internal Control QuestionnaireDetails provided should cover:

10.

11.

for this section.

. Determine if deficiencies noted at previous Value of merchandise.

examinations and internal/external audits Description of merchandise.
have been adequately addressed by manage©Origin and destination of shipment.

ment.

the lending policy for adequacy.

. Check scope of internal audit to ensure that

« Date of shipment.
. Review the bankers acceptance section ef Certification that the merchandise is not being
financed elsewhere.

it covers a review of bankers acceptances12. Review procedures for financing clean

. Reconcile balances to departmental controls

and the general ledger.

. Verify that appropriate accounting methods

are used and that regulatory reports are
accurately prepared.

. Determine that there is appropriate segrega-

tion of duties in that:

a. Individuals who prepare and post BA
records also do not issue official checks
or handle cash,

b. Individuals who perform reconciliations
and certifications also do not process
acceptances, and

c. Persons who investigate exceptions and
respond to inquiries do not normally
process acceptances.

. Ensure the branch has an adequate system

to track outstanding exceptions and
delinquencies.

. Ensure that acceptances are registered it

some manner (manual log book or com-
puter system), consecutively numbered, and
identified by type of transaction so as to

leave an audit trail. 15.

Review procedures for safeguarding blank,
accepted, and pre-signed documents and
drafts.

Review procedures for determining BA eli-
gibility. Ensure that ineligible acceptances
are appropriately segregated from the elibible

acceptances. Ineligible acceptances cannot

be discounted at the Federal Reserve and
are treated as reservable liabilities.

Eligibility can be determined by reviewing
documentary evidence detailing the nature of
the transaction underlying the credit extended.
This evidence may be in the form of correspon-
dence, title documents, or document transmittal
letters that provide sufficient detail to judge

13.

acceptance§.e. when the title and shipping

documentation is not processed by the office

to ensure they include:

a. Details of the shipment such as invoice
amount, type of commaodity or merchan-
dise, ports of embarkation and debarka
tion, and the bill of lading date.

b. Certification that duplicate financing does
not exist.

c. An agreement by the customer to pro-
vide copies of invoices and bills of
lading to the branch upon request.

Review procedures for monitoring the stipu-

lated aggregate liability limitations on out-

standing acceptances. Systems should be
place to monitor the global customer expo-
sure on the aggregate outstanding amour
on a consolidated basis which cannot excee

150% of parent bank capital.

Select a sample of bankers acceptanc

created for specific borrowers and review

credit files for credit risk. Forward findings
to examiner in charge of loan review.

Ensure the branch has procedures in plac

to comply with OFAC and Anti-Boycott

provisions.

16. Prepare, in appropriate format, the finding:

and conclusions regarding:

a. The adequacy of policies relating to
banker’'s acceptances.

b. Whether branch officers are operating ir
conformance with established policy.

c. Adverse trends within the banker’s accep:
tance department.

d. The accuracy and completeness of th
schedules obtained.

e. Internal control deficiencies or exceptions

f. Recommended corrective action wher
policies, practices, or procedures are
deficient.
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3040.3 Banker’'s Acceptances Examination Procedures

g. Other matters of significance.
17. Update the workpapers with any informa-
tion that will facilitate future examinations.
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Banker’'s Acceptances

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3040.4

POLICIES

1.

Have policies been adopted that:

a. Establish procedures for reviewing bank-
er's acceptance applications?

b. Define qualified customers?

c. Establish minimum standards for docu-
mentation in accordance with the Uni-
form Commercial Code?

11.

be shown as a liability under Bank’s Liabil-
ity on Acceptances Outstanding?

Are banker’s acceptance record copies ar
liability ledger trial balances prepared and
reconciled monthly with control accounts
by employees who do not process or recor
acceptance transactions?

2. Are policies reviewed at least annually toFEES

RECORDS
3.

10.

determine if they are compatible with chang-
ing market conditions?

Is the preparation and posting of subsidiary
banker's acceptance records performed or
reviewed by persons who do not also handle
cash or issue official checks or drafts?

. Are the subsidiary banker's acceptance

13.

12. Is the preparation and posting of fees an

discounts performed or reviewed by per-
sons who do not also handle cash or issu
official checks or drafts?

Are any independent fee and discount comn
putations made and compared or adequate
tested to initial fee and discount records by
persons who do not also handle cash o
issue official checks or drafts?

records balanced daily with the appropriateOTH ER

general ledger accounts and are reconciling
items adequately investigated by person
who do not normally handle acceptances
and post records?

. Are acceptance delinquencies prepared for

and reviewed by management on a timely
basis?

. Are inquiries about acceptance balancegs

received and investigated by persons who
do not normally handle settlements or post
records?

. Are bookkeeping adjustments checked anglg,

approved by an appropriate officer?

. Is a daily record maintained, summarizing 7.

acceptance transactions details, i.e., bank-

er's acceptances created, payments received,

and fees collected, to support applicable
general ledger account entries?

. Are acceptances of other banks that have

been purchased in the open market segre-
gated on the branch’s records from the
branch’s own acceptances purchased?

Are prepayments on banker’s acceptances

netted against the appropriate asset account

Customer Liability for Acceptances Out-

standing (or loans and discounts, depending
upon whether the branch has discounted its
own acceptance), and do they continue to

4. Are acceptance record copies, own acce

tances discounted (purchased) and acce

tances of other banks purchased safe

guarded during banking hours, locked in
the vault overnight, and periodically
inventoried?

Are blank (pre-signed) customer drafts main

tained under dual control in the vault, num-

bered, inventoried monthly, and verified
with the customer on a monthly basis?

Are any acceptance fee rebates approved |

an officer?

Does the branch have an internal reviev

system that:

a. Reviews collateral and supporting docu:
mentation held for negotiability and
proper assignment?

b. Test checks the values assigned to co
lateral at frequent intervals?

c. Determines that lending officers are peri-
odically advised of maturing banker's
acceptances or acceptance lines.

d. Determines that the individuals to whom
funds are being disbursed are authorize
by the beneficiary to receive the funds?

e. Addresses funding procedures for redis
counted acceptances?
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3040.4 Banker’'s Acceptances Internal Control Questionnaire

f. Tests for compliance with IBF ing internal controls in this area? If not,
restrictions? indicate any additional examination proce-
18. Does the branch’s acceptance filing system dures deemed necessary.
provide for the identification of each gccep-go_ Based on the information gathered, evaluate
tance, e.g., by consecutive numbering and  iyternal controls in this area (i.e. strong,

applicable letter of credit, to provide a  gagisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
proper audit trail?

CONCLUSION

19. Is the information covered by this internal
control questionnaire adequate for evaluat-
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Commercial Loans _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3050.1

Generally, commercial loans comprise the largef credit are generally reviewed annually by the
est asset concentration of a branch, offer theranch, do not have a fixed repayment scheduls
most complexity, and require the greatest comand may not require fees or compensating ba
mitment from branch management to monitoances. In the case of unadvised lines of credi
and control risks. Proper management of theste branch has more control over advances ar
assets requires a clearly articulated credit policynay terminate the facility at any time, depend-
that imposes discipline and sound loan admining on state law or legal precedents. A revolvinc
istration. Since lenders are subject to pressurdise of credit is valid for a stated period of time
related to productivity and competition, theyand does not have a fixed repayment schedul
may be tempted to relax prudent credit underbut usually has a required fee. The lender ha
writing standards to remain competitive in theless control over a revolving credit since there i
marketplace, thus increasing the potential foan embedded guarantee (i.e. firm commitment
risk. Examiners need to understand the unigu® make advances within the prescribed limits o
characteristics of the varying types of commerthe loan agreement. The borrower may receiv
cial and industrial loans, as well as how toperiodic advances under the line of credit or the
properly analyze their quality. revolving credit up to the agreed limit. Repay-
Commercial loans are extended on a securedent is generally accomplished through the
or unsecured basis with a wide range of pureonversion or turnover of short-term assets
poses, terms, and maturities. While the types afuch as inventory or accounts receivable. Intel
commercial and industrial loans can vary widelyest payments on working capital loans are ust
depending on the purpose of loans made arally paid throughout the term of the loan, such a:
market characteristics where the branch opemonthly or quarterly.
ates, most commercial and industrial loans will Working-capital loans are intended to be
primarily be made in the form of a working- repaid through the cash flow derived from con-
capital loan, term loan, or loan to an individualverting the financed assets to cash. The structu
for a business purpose. This section will providef the loans can vary, but they should be closel;
examiners with a fundamental understanding died to the timing of the conversion of the
secured and unsecured transactions, the kéipanced assets. In most cases, working-capit
principles for assessing credit quality, and basitacilities are renewable at maturity, are for a
bankruptcy law. Other sections of this manuabne-year term, and include a clean-up require
discuss more specific types of lending. ment for a period sometime during the low point
or contraction phase of the business cycle. Th
clean-up period is a specified period (usually 3(
days) during the term of the loan in which the
TYPES OF COMMERCIAL LOANS borrower is required to pay off the loan. While
this requirement is becoming less common, i
Working Capital or Seasonal Loans provides the branch with proof that the borrowel
is not dependent on the lender for permaner
Working capital or seasonal loans provide dinancing. It is important to note, however, that
business with short-term financing for inven-an expanding business may not be able to clez
tory, receivables, the purchase of supplies, atp its facility since it may be increasing its
other operating needs during the business cycleurrent assets.
These types of loans are often appropriate for
businesses that experience seasonal or short-
term peaks in current assets and current liabili- . . i
ties, such as a retailer who relies heavily on &nalysis of Working-Capital Loans
holiday season for sales or a manufacturing
company that specializes in summer clothingThe analysis of a working-capital loan is best
These types of loans are often structured in thaccomplished by a monthly or quarterly review
form of an advised line of credit or a revolving of a company’s balance sheet and income stat
credit. An advised line of credit is a revocablements to identify the peak and contraction phase
commitment by the branch to lend funds up to &f the business cycle. The lender should knov
specified period of time, usually one year. Linesvhen the peak and contraction phases are, al
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3050.1 Commercial Loans

the loan should be structured accordingly. The The following are potential problems associ-
lender's primary objective is to determineated with working-capital loans:
whether the advances are being used for the
intended purposes (inventories or payables) andWorking-capital advances used for funding
not for the acquisition of fixed assets or pay- losses. A business uses advances from a
ments on other debts. Repayments on the facil- revolving line of credit to fund business losses,
ity should also be consistent with the conversion including the funding of wages, business
of assets. If the borrower has other loan facilities expenses, debt service, or any other cost not
at the branch, all credit facilities should be specifically associated with the intended pur-
reviewed at the same time to ensure that the pose of the facility.
activity with the working-capital facility is not « Working-capital advances funding long-term
used to pay interest on other loans in the branch. assets.A business will use working-capital
Projections of sources and uses of funds are alsofunds to purchase capital assets that are nor-
a valuable tool for reviewing a working-capital mally acquired with term business loans.
line of credit and determining the sales cycle. . Trade creditors not paid out at end of business
Quarterly balance-sheet and income state- cycle. While the branch may be paid out,
ments are very helpful when a comparison is gome trade creditors may not get full repay-
made with the original projections. Other help- ent. This can cause a strained relationship as
ful information can be obtained from a review of unpaid trade creditors may be less willing to

an aging of accounts receivable for delinquen- provide financing or offer favorable credit
cies and concentrations, a current list of inven- tarms in the future. In turn. the business will
tory, an accounts-payable aging, and accrualspacome more reliant on the branch to support

made during th_e quarter. This_ information can funding needs that were previously financed
be compared with the outstanding balance of the by trade creditors.

Igﬁ'd“;% tgngntilgtettfzaéotlrlaetelrc;\?nmgr nl(r)é g\:grgé;]-_ Overextension of collateralhe business does
9 not have the collateral to support the extension

S'S;egép'rvc')t\xir?orégvsvéng?ﬁ;;ﬂzhar:?fggfén der is of credit, causing an out-of-borrowing-base
g situation. Examiners should review borrowing-

Wl'g('jnge JOCS%Z?;I? S?Z'Q;:nal edoelllatr) r;ﬁél:]ew?ﬁ base certificates to verify that coverage meets
pledg ’ pe, the prescribed limitations established by the

only lend up to a predetermined specified per- b ; . h i
- . ranch’s credit policy for the specific assets
centage of total outstanding receivables less all being financed.

accounts more than a certain number of days ) . .
delinquent. A borrowing-base certificate should Value of inventory decline$Vhen a business
be compiled at least monthly or more often does not pay back the branch afterln_ventory is
during peak activity in the facility. When review- converted to cash or accounts receivable, the
ing working-capital loans, examiners should valqe of the inventory (_:iecllnes. Other causes
remember that a branch relies heavily on inven- Of inventory devaluation include obsoles-
tory as collateral in the beginning of a compa- C€nce, a general economic downturn, or in the
ny’s business cycle and on receivables toward €€ Of a commodity, market volatility.
the end of the business cycle. However, in Declines in inventory value will commonly
traditional working-capital loans, greater empha- Put & working-capital facility in an out-of-
sis is usually placed on accounts receivable asPorrowing-base situation and require the
collateral throughout the loan’s tenure. excess dek_)t to be amortl_zed and repaid through
Normally, a branch is secured by a perfected future profits of the business.
blanket security interest on accounts receivable, Collectibility of accounts receivable declines.
inventory, and equipment, and on the proceeds The increasingly past-due status of accounts
from the turnover of these assets. Well- receivable or deteriorating credit quality of
capitalized companies with a good history of account customers both result in the noncol-
payout or cleanup may be exceptions and qualify lection of receivables. This can also cause an
for unsecured lending. An annual lien search, out-of-borrowing-base situation for the lend-
however, would be prudent under this type of Ing institution.
lending relationship to detect any purchase Working-capital advances used to fund long-
money security interest that may have occurred term capital. Funds may be inappropriately
during the business cycle. used to repurchase company stock, pay off

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
Page 2



Commercial Loans 3050.1

subordinated debt holders, or even pay divirower pledges to fulfill certain requirements,
dends on capital stock. such as maintain adequate insurance coverac
make timely loan repayments, or ensure th

These situations may cause a loan balance fmancial stability of the business. Negative ol
be remaining at the end of the business cycle. estrictive covenants prohibit or require the
this should occur, the branch generally has onleorrower to refrain from certain practices, suct
of three options: (1) Require the unpaid balancas selling or transferring assets, defaulting, fall
to be amortized; This option is, however, depening below a minimum debt coverage ratio,
dent on the ability of the business to repay thexceeding a maximum debt-to-equity ratio, ot
debt through future profits; (2) Request theaaking any action that may diminish the value of
borrower to find another lender or require arcollateral or impair the collectibility of the loan.
infusion of capital by the borrower. This is notCovenants should not be written so restrictively
always a feasible option because of the probabtéat the borrower is constantly in default over
weakened financial condition of the businessrivial issues; however, violations should be
and ownership under these circumstances; aealt with immediately to give credibility to the
(3) Liquidate the collateral. Foreclosing on theagreement. Violations of these covenants ca
collateral should only be executed when ibften result in acceleration of the debt maturity
becomes obvious that the business can no longand payments. A formal loan agreement is mos
function as a going concern. The problem withoften associated with longer-term loans. If &
this option is that once the branch discovers thdbrmal agreement does not exist, the term loan
the business is no longer a viable concerrshould be written with shorter maturities and
realizing the full value of the collateral is in balloon payments to allow more frequent review
jeopardy. The need to resort to any of thesby branch management.
options will usually prompt criticism of the
credit.

Analysis of Term Loans

Term Loans While a working-capital loan analysis empha-

sizes the balance sheet, the analysis of ter
Term loans are generally granted at a fixed doans will focus on both the balance sheet an
variable rate of interest, have a maturity inthe income statement. Because a term loan
excess of one year, and are intended to providepaid from excess cash flow, the long-tern
an organization with the funds needed to acquireiability of the business is critical in determin-
long-term assets, such as physical plants aridg the overall quality of the credit. In evaluat-
equipment, or finance the residual balance oimg long-term earnings, the examiner musi
lines of credit or long-term working capital. develop a fundamental understanding of th
Term loans are repaid through the business'sompany’s industry and competitive position in
cash flow, according to a fixed-amortizationthe marketplace. Most of the analysis will be
schedule, which can vary based on the cash-flosonducted based on the historical performanc
expectations of the underlying asset financed a@f the business and its history of making pay-
the anticipated profitability or cash flow of thements on its debt. Any historical record of
business. Term loans involve greater risk thamconsistencies or inability to perform on exist-
short-term advances because of the length afig debt should prompt an in-depth review to
time the credit is extended. As a result of thigletermine the ability of the borrower to meet the
greater risk, term loans are usually securedoan’s contractual agreements. One of the mos
Loan interest may be payable monthly, quareritical determinations that should be made whe
terly, semiannually, or annually. Loan principalevaluating term debt is whether the term of the
should amortize with the same frequency irdebt exceeds the useful life of the underlying
order to fully pay off the loan at maturity. asset being financed.

In most cases, the terms of these loans are While cash flow of the business is the primary
detailed in formal loan agreements with affirmasource of repayment for a term loan, a seconda
tive and negative covenants that place certaisource would be the sale of the underlying
conditions on the borrower throughout the terntollateral. Often, if circumstances warrant a
of the loan. In affirmative covenants, the bor-collateral sale, the branch may face steep dis
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counts and significant expenses related to theinstitutions with the purchasing entity assum-
sale. Examiners should carefully consider these ing its pro rata share of the credit risk.
issues when evaluating the underlying value of

collateral under a liquidation scenario. A single facility with different terms and/or
The following are potential problems associparticipants for tranches should be reported as
ated with term loans: separate credits. Loans sold to affiliate banks of

the same holding company are not part of the
The term of the loan is not consistent with theSNC program.
useful life of collateral. If the outstanding balance or commitment of a
Cash flow from operations does not allow forSNC falls below $20 million after its inception,
adequate debt amortization, a fundamentand it is not criticized, the credit will not be
problem that can be solved only by improvedeviewed at the next review date. Therefore, the
performance. examiner should conduct an individual review
« The gross margin of the business is narrowof the credit at the branch under examination.
ing, which requires the business to sell mordlowever, if the former SNC facility fell below
product to produce the same gross profithe threshold through a charge-off, and was
Higher sales volume could require more casklassified or specially mentioned at the most
for expansion of current assets, leaving lesgecent SNC review, the credit relationship would
cash for debt amortization. This situation is acontinue to be reviewed under the SNC program
common by-product of increased competitionuntil such time that the balance falls below
Sales are lower than expected. In the face 6§10 million. The Federal Deposit Insurance
lower sales, management is unable or unwillCorporation (FDIC), the state agencies, and the
ing to cut overhead expenses, straining casRffice of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC)
flow and resulting in diminished debt servic-also participate in this program. The Federal
ing ability. Reserve carries out the examination of SNCs at
- Fixed assets that are financed by term loarf§e lead or agent banks that are state-member

become obsolete before the loans are retire§anks, state-chartered foreign branches, and
likely causing the value of underlying collat- credit-extending nonbank subsidiaries of domes-

eral to deteriorate. tic and foreign organizations. The FDIC is

« The business’s excess cash is spent on highBfimarily responsible for any SNC credits at
salaries or other unnecessary expenses. state non-member banks, and the OCC super-

The payments on term debt have put a strai ises the review of those SNCs in which the lead
on cash flow. and the business is unable tEank is a national bank or an OCC-chartered

adequately operate or allow natural expant©réign branch. )
sionc.] y op P SNCs should not be analyzed or reviewed

The balance sheet of the business is weakefuring the examination of the individual partici-
ing. The overall financial condition of the pating branch. If the examiner is uncertain
business is deteriorating because of poor pey\_/hether the credit was reviewed under the SNC

; rogram, the respective Reserve Bank coordina-
{géﬁ;?ce or unforeseen occurrences in thtgor should be contacted. If credits eligible for the
Y- .
program are found but have not been reviewed
(other than new SNCs since the time of the last
. . SNC program review), the examiner should
Shared National Credits submit a memorandum detailing those credits to
the respective Reserve Bank coordinator to be
Regulatory agencies participate in a program foiorwarded to the SNC coordinator at the Federal
the uniform review of shared national creditsReserve Bank of New York.
(SNC). A SNC is defined as any loan, commit- The SNC program does not track subpartici-
ment, or group of loans or commitments aggrepations. A subparticipant is a banking organiza-
gating $20 million or more at origination that is: tion that has purchased a share from either a
bank in the original syndicate or from a bank
* Committed under a formal lending considered a first-tier participant. Therefore, if
arrangement. the bank is a subparticipant in a credit, it will not
e Shared at its inception by two or more superappear in the “Report of Lenders and their
vised institutions or sold to one or moreBorrowers”. However, the credit may have been

.
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reviewed by the SNC Program and examinersahich the security interest is created anc

can obtain the results of such a review by callingpecomes enforceable against the debtor. Perfe

the SNC coordinator for their agency. tion refers to the steps that must be taken i
order for the security interest to be enforceabls
against third parties who have claims agains
collateral.

SECURED AND UNSECURED
TRANSACTIONS

This subsection is intended to be a generé?\ttaChment of Security Interest
reference for an examiner’'s review of a credit

file to determine whether the branch’s collateraf € three requirements for the creation of :

position is properly documented. Examiner$ecUrity interest are stated in UCC sectior
should be aware that secured transactiong203(1). Once the following requirements are
encompass an extensive body of law that i§1€l the security interest is attached.

rather technical in nature. The following discus- h I Lis in th . f th
sion contains general information for examiner§ The collateral is in the possession of the
secured party pursuant to agreement, or th

on the basic laws that govern a branch’s security ) | ,
interest in property and on the documentation debtor has signed a security agreement th:
contains a description of the collateral and

that needs to be in a loan file to properly -
document a perfected security interest in a When the security interest covers crops nov
growing or to be grown or timber to be cut, a

borrower’s assets. 9
description of the land concerned.

« Value has been given to the debtor.
Secured Transactions . )
* The debtor has rights in the collateral.

Most secured transactions in personal property . .

and fixtures are governed by article 9 of the Thus, unless the collateral is in the possessio
Uniform Commercial Code (UCC). The UCC of the secured party, there must be a writtel
has been adopted by all 50 states, the District GeCUrity agreement that describes the collatere
Columbia, and the Virgin Islands. Timing dif- | € description does not have to be very specifi
ferences as well as filing locations differ from©r detailed— “any description of personal prop-
state to state. Failure to file a financing stateme@-- is sufficient whether or not it is specific if
in a timely manner or in the proper location will it reasonably identifies what is described” (see

compromise a lender’s security interest in thé/CC section 9-110). The agreement must als
collateral. be signed by the debtor. The creditor may sigt

Article 9 of the UCC applies to any transac-b bt its failure to do so does not affect the
tion that is intended to create a security interedtgreement's enforceability against the debtor.
in personal property. Mortgage transactions are Giving valueis any consideration that sup-
not covered, marine mortgages are filed with th@orts a contract. Value can be given by a direc
Coast Guard, and aircraft liens are filed with théoan, a commitment to grant a loan in the future
Federal Aviation Administration. Asecurity the release of an existing security interest, or th
interestis defined in the UCC as “an interest in sale of goods on contract.
personal property or fixtures which secures pay- While the debtor must haveights in the
ment or performance of an obligation.” A collateral, he or she does not necessarily have
secured transaction requires that there be drave title to the property. For example, the
agreement between the parties indicating théebtor may be the beneficiary of a trust (the
parties’ intention to create a security interest fotrustee has title of trust assets) or may lease tt
the benefit of the creditor or secured party. Thigollateral. The debtor, in such cases, has right
agreement is commonly referred to as a securifiy the collateral, but does not hold the title to the
agreement. collateral. The secured party, however, only

Article 9 of the UCC refers to two different obtains the debtor’s limited interest in the col-
concepts related to security interests: attachmelateral on default if the debtor does not have full
and perfectionAttachments the pointin time at title to the collateral.
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county where the collateral is located if it is
owned by a nonresident.
» Alternative System Thredn a few states,

Perfection represents the legal process by whichfilings made with the secretary of state must
a creditor secures an interest in property. Per- also be filed in the county of the borrower’s
fection provides the branch assurance that it hasbusiness (or residence if there is no place of
a legal interest in the collateral. The category of business in that state). Otherwise, the require-
collateral will dictate the method of perfection Mmentin these states is the same as system two.
to be used. The most common methods of
perfection are: (1) automatic perfection when As each state may select any of the above
the security interest is attached (such as in thi@ree alternatives or a modified version of them,
case of purchase-money security interests applf- is important that the examiner ascertain the
cable to consumer goods other than vehiclesfing requirements of the state(s) where the
(2) perfection by possession; (3) the filing of & ranch’s customer operates. Most importantly, it
financing statement in one or more public filing!S the location of the borrower, not the branch,
officest and (4) compliance with a state certifi-that determines where the financing statement
cate of title law or central filing under a statemust be filed.
statute other than the UCC, such as registration
of vehicles.

The most common method of perfecting aEvaluation of Security Interest in
security interest is public filing. Public filing Property
serves as a constructive notice to the rest of the
world that the branch claims a security intereskey items to look for in evaluating a security
in certain property of the debtor described innterest in property include the following:
both the security agreement and the financing
statement. Public filing is accomplished by fil-« security agreementhere should be a proper
ing a financing statement (UCC-1) in a public security agreement, signed and dated by the
office, usually the county recorder or secretary horrower, that identifies the appropriate col-
of state. The system of filing required by the |ateral to be secured. It should include a

UCC provides for a notice filing whereby description of the collateral and its location in
potential creditors can determine the existence suyfficient detail so the lender can identify it,

Perfection of Security Interest in
Property

of any outstanding liens against the debtor’s
property.

The form of the financing statement and
where to file it varies from state to state. Whiles
the filing of a nonstandard form will generally
be accepted, the failure to file in the proper
public office can jeopardize the priority of the
lender’s security interest. The UCC provides
three alternative filing systems:
¢ Alternative System Ond.iens on minerals,
timber to be cut, and fixtures are filed in the
county land records. All other liens are filed in
the office of the secretary of state.
Alternative System Twdhe majority of states

have adopted this version. It is the same as _
system one, except liens on consumer goods,

farm equipment, and farm products are filed in
the county where the debtor resides, or in the

1. The financing statement is good for five years, and the
lender must file for a continuation within the six-month period
before expiration of the original statement.

and should assign to the lender the right to sell
or dispose of the collateral if the borrower is
unable to pay the obligation.

Collateral possessionlf the institution has
taken possession of the collateral to perfect its
security interest, management of the institu-
tion should have an adequate record-keeping
system and proper dual control over the
property.

Financing statementlf the institution has
filed a financing statement with the state or
local authority to perfect its security interest in
the collateral, in general, it should contain the
following information:

names of the secured party and debtor
the debtor’s signature

the debtor’'s mailing address

the address of the secured party from
which information about the security inter-
est may be obtained

the types of the collateral and description
of the collatera

2. Substantial compliance with the requirements of UCC

September 1997
Page 6
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* Amendments\ot all amendments require thejudicial foreclosure, whereas, in some states,
borrower’s signature, and branches may fildoreclosure on a deed of trust may not. Nearly
an amendment for the following reasons:  all matters affecting the title to the real estate

— borrower’s change of address including the ownership thereof, are recorded ir
— creditor’'s change of address the recorder’s office.
— borrower’s name change When determining the enforceability of a real
— creditor's name change estate mortgage or deed of trust, the examine
— correction of an inaccurate Co||atera|should be aware of the fO”OWing requirements:
description _ N
— addition of a trade name for the borrower® The mortgage must be in writing.
that was subsequently adopted * To be recordable, the mortgage must be
o Where to file afinancing Statemem.generah aCknOW'edged. There are different forms of

financing statements filed in good faith or acknowledgments for various situations
financing statements not filed in all of the depending on whether individuals, corpora:
required places are still effective. If a local tions, partnerships, or other entities are execu
filing is required, the office of the recorder in iNg the mortgage. Make sure that the form o
the county of the debtor’s residence is the the acknowledgment used is in accordanc
place to file. If state filing is required, the With the type of individual or entity executing
office of the secretary of state is the place to the mortgage.

file. « If a corporation is the mortgagor, its articles of
Duration of effectiveness of a financing state- incorporation or bylaws often will specifically
ment.Generally, effectiveness lapses five years state which officers have authority to sign ar
after filing date. If a continuation statement is instrument affecting real estate. In these
filed within six months before the lapse, instances, the designated officer should b
effectiveness is extended five years after the required to sign. If the corporation has a seal
last date on which the filing was effective. that also must be affixed. If the corporation
Succeeding continuation statements may be does not have a seal, this fact must be show
filed to further extend the period of in the acknowledgment.

effectiveness. « As soon as possible after the mortgage i
executed, it should be recorded in the office o
the recorder for each county in which the
property described in the mortgage is locatec
In most cases, the borrower signs an affidavi
that indicates, in part, that he or she will not
. . . attempt to encumber the property while the
As previously mentioned, real estate is expressly |ender is waiting for the mortgage to be
excluded from coverage under the UCC. A recorded. In any event, the lender shoulc
separate body of state law covers such interests.conduct a title search after the mortgage i
However, for a real estate mortgage to be yecorded to ensure that his position has nc
enforceable, the mortgage must be recorded inpgen compromised.

the county where the real estate covered by the
mortgage is located.

Perfection of Security Interest in Real
Estate

If the mortgagor is married, the spouse mus
join in the execution of the mortgage to
subject his or her interest to the lien of the
mortgage. If the mortgagor is single, the
mortgage should indicate that no spouse exis

Real estate mortgage/deed of trusithen
obtaining a valid lien on real estate, only one
document is used, the mortgage or deed of trust. who might have a dower interest or homestea
The difference between a mortgage and a deed.; :

. ) interest in the property.
of trust varies from state to state; however, the If th ; hio. i b
primary difference relates to the process of ! theé mortgagor is a partnership, it must be

foreclosure. A mortgage generally requires a d€termined whether the title is in the name o
gage 9 y req the partnership or in the names of the indi-

vidual partners. If the title is in the names of
section 9-402 is sufficient if errors are only minor and not the individual partners, their Spouses shoul

seriously misleading. Some states require the debtor’s tax ID jOin in exeCUting the mortgag_e- If the title is in
number on the financing statement. the name of the partnership, those partnel

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3050.1 Commercial Loans

who are required to sign under the partnershiREVIEWING CREDIT QUALITY
agreement should sign.

Importance of Cash Flow

Unsecured Transactions Evaluating cash flow is the single most impor-

. tant element in determining whether a business
Unsecured transactions are granted based on thgs the ability to repay debt. Two principal
borrower's financial capacity, credit history, methods of calculating the cash flow available in
earnings potential, and/or liquidity. Assignmenty pysiness to service debt are presented in this
of the borrower’s collateral is not required, ands;hsection. The results of these methods should
repayment is based on the terms and conditionse ysed to determine the adequacy of cash flow
of the loan agreement. While unsecured loang, each credit evaluated at an institution. The
often represent the branch’s strongest borrowsccrual conversion method is the preferred
ers, the unsecured loan portfolio can represepethod because it is the most reliable. The
its most significant risk. One of the primarysecond and less reliable method is the supple-
concerns related to unsecured credit is that if thgental or traditional cash-flow analysis; how-
borrower’s fi_nancial condition deteriorates,_thqaver’ the information needed for this analysis is
lender’s options to work out of the lending ysyally more obtainable and easier to calculate.
relationship deteriorate as well. In general, if arhe traditional method can be used when cir-
credit is unsecured, the file should containtmstances warrant, for example, when the
reliable and current financial information that isygrrower’s financial statements are not suffi-
sufficient to indicate that the borrower has thesiently detailed for the information requested in
capacity and can be reasonably expected {@e accrual conversion analysis or when histori-
repay the debt. cal information is inadequate.

Emerging Problem Loans Analysis and Limitations of Cash
The following are key signals of an emergingFlow
problem loan:

Cash-flow analysis uses the income statement
e Outdated or inaccurate financial information. and balance sheet to determine a borrower’s
The borrower is unwilling to provide the operational cash flow. Careful analysis of all
financial institution with a current, complete,investment and financing (borrowing) activities
and accurate financial statement at least anngiust be made for an accurate assessment of cash
ally. Management also should request a pefftow. In reality, examiners face time constraints
sonal tax return (and all related schedules) othat often prevent them from performing the
the borrower. While borrowers will usually complex mathematical calculations involved in
present their personal financial statements igophisticated cash-flow analysis. Therefore, the
the most favorable light, their income taxcash-flow methods presented below were
return provides a more conservative picture.designed to be reasonable and practical for
The crisis borrowerThe borrower needed the examiner use. However, examiners should be
money Yyesterday, so the branch advanceshreful of conclusions reached using the tradi-
unsecured credit. tional cash-flow analysis, without consideration
* No specific terms for repaymerithe unse- of balance-sheet changes or other activities that
cured loan has no structure for repayment, anaffect cash flow. The traditional cash-flow analy-
it is commonly renewed or extended atsis does not recognize growth in accounts
maturity. receivable or inventory, a slow-down in accounts
Undefined source of repaymerRepayment payable, capital expenditures, or additional bor-
sources are often not identified and are unpreewings. If the credit file contains a CPA-
dictable. These types of loans are often repaigrepared statement of cash flow or a statement
through excess cash flow of the borrower, salprepared using the accrual conversion method,
of an asset(s), or loan proceeds from anothéhe examiner should concentrate efforts on
financial institution. reviewing and analyzing these statements rather

°
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than on preparing a traditional cash-flowExcess (Deficit)
statement. Cash Flow: Represents cash available befor
One critical issue to remember is that deficit debt service.

cash flow does not always mean that the bor-
rower is encountering serious financial difficul-
ties. In some cases, deficit cash flow is caused
by a business’s experiencing significant growth,
and there is a pronounced need for externgCalculation of
financing to accommodate this growth and elimiSupplemental/Traditional Cash Flow
nate the deficit cash-flow position. In this case,
an adequate working-capital facility may not be .
in placgto accommc?datgthe neeélyfor a)(/JIditioné}let Income:  Amount of net income reported
inventory. A comprehensive analysis of changes on most recent annual income
in the balance sheet from period to period statement before taxes.
should be made before the loan is criticized. |nterest

Expense: Add the total amount of interest

expense for the period.

Components of the Accrual Depreciation/

Conversion Method of Cash Flow Amortization: Add all noncash depreciation
and principal amortization on
outstanding debt.

Category Basis for Amount Cash Flow
before

Sales: Dollar amount of sales in periodDebt Service: Indicates net Earnings Before

Interest, Taxes, Depreciation,
+/-change in and Amortization (EBITDA).
A/R, INV., Amortization should include
AlP: Represents the absolute differ- both principal and interest pay-

ence of the current period from ments required on debt.

the corresponding period of the ) o
previous year in accounts Debt Service: Subtract scheduled principal

receivable, inventory, and and interest payments.
accounts payable. Capital

Formula: a) An increase in any Curren,[Expenditures: Subtract all capital expendi-
asset is a use of cash and is tures for the period.

subtracted from the calculation. EQUALS—
Conversely, a decrease in anyexcess (Deficit)

current asset is a source of castCash Flow:  Total amount of excess or defi-
and is added to the calculation. cit cash flow for the period after
b) An increase in any current debt service.
liability is a source of cash and Coverage
is added to the calculation. Con- Ratio: Cash flow before debt service
versely, a decrease in any cur- divided by debt service (princi-
rent liability is a use of cash pal and interest).
and is subtracted from the
calculation.
SGA: Subtract selling, general, and
administrative expenses. Importance of Financial Analysis
Interest
Expense: Add interest expense to the caWVhile cash-flow analysis is critical in reviewing
culation if SGA “expense” whether a borrower has the ability to repay
includes interest expense. individual debt, a review of the borrower’s other
Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3050.1 Commercial Loans

financial statements can offer information about fixed assets, return on assets, and return on
other sources of repayment, as well as the equity.

borrower’s overall financial condition and futures Leverage ratios.These ratios compare the
prospects. The availability of historical balance- funds supplied by business owners with the
sheet and income information, which allow financing supplied by creditors, and measure
declining trends to be identified, is critical. Also, debt capacity and ability to meet obligations.
it may be appropriate to compare the borrower’'s These ratios may include debt-to-assets, debt-
financial ratios with the average for the industry to-net-worth, debt-to-tangible-net-worth, and
overall. Much of the financial information that interest coverage.

examiners will review will not be audited; ¢ Liquidity ratios. Include ratios such as the
therefore, considerable understanding of generalcurrent ratio and quick ratio, which measure
accounting principals is necessary to compe- the borrower’'s ability to meet current
tently review an unaudited financial statement. obligations.

At a minimum, financial statements should be

obtained annually; where appropriate, the branch

also should obtain monthly or quarterlyCommon “Red Flags”

statements.

When reviewing a credit file of a borrowing The symptoms listed below are included to
customer of a branch, the following financialprovide an understanding of the common prob-
information should be available for review:lems or weaknesses examiners encounter in
income statement, balance sheet, reconciliatidheir review of financial information. While one
of equity, cash-flow statements, and applicablsymptom may not justify criticizing a loan,
notes to financial statements. The componentghen symptoms are considered in the aggregate,
for a financial review can be segregated intéhey may help the examiner detect near-term
three areas: operations management, asset méiiguble. This list is only a sampling of "red
agement, and liability management. Operationiags” that should prompt further review; exam-
management is derived from the income statdners should also be able to identify issues that
ment and can be used to assess company salggly require further investigation from their
cost control, and profitability. Asset manage<cursory review of a borrower’'s financial
ment involves the analysis of the quality andstatement.
liquidity of assets, as well as the asset mixe A slowdown in the receivables collection
Liability management covers the analysis of the period. This symptom often reveals that the
company’s record of matching liabilities to the borrower has become more liberal in estab-
asset conversion cycle, such as long-term assetdishing credit policies, has softened collection
being funded by long-term liabilities. practices, or is encountering an increase in

In studying these forms of management, vari- uncollected accounts.
ous ratios will help the examiner form ane Noticeably rising inventory levels in both
informed and educated conclusion about the dollar amount and percentage of total assets.
quality of the credit being reviewed. The ratios Increases in inventory levels are usually sup-
can be divided into four main categories: ported by trade suppliers, and financing these

increases can be extremely risky, particularly
Profitability ratios. These ratios measure man- if turnover ratios are declining. The increase
agement’s efficiency in achieving a given in inventory levels or lower turnover ratios
level of sales revenue and profits, as well as may also be related to the borrower’s natural
management’s ability to control expenses and reluctance to liquidate excessive or obsolete
generate return on investment. Examples of goods at a reduced price. Many businesses are
these ratios include gross margin, operating willing to sacrifice liquidity to maintain profit
profit margin, net profit margin, profit-to-sales margins.
ratio, profit-to-total assets ratio, and directe Slowdown in inventory turnoverhis symp-
cost and expense ratios. tom may indicate overbuying or some other
Efficiency ratiosThese ratios, which measure imbalance in the company’s purchasing poli-
management’s ability to manage and control cies, and it may indicate that inventory is
assets, include sales to assets, inventory daysslow-moving. If the inventory is undervalued,
on hand, accounts receivable days on hand,the actual turnover is even slower than the
accounts payable days on hand, sales to netcalculated results.

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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» Existence of heavy liens on assdisidence of law; it would be difficult in this manual to
of second and third mortgage holders is a sigdiscuss all the issues necessary for comprehe
of greater-than-average risk. The cost of juniosive understanding of the code. This subsectio
money is high. Most borrowers are reluctanwill focus on basic issues that an examinel
to use this source of funds unless conventionaleeds to be familiar with relative to three
sources are unavailable. principal sections of the code, chapters 7, 11

« Concentrations of noncurrent assets otheand 13.
than fixed assetA company may put funds
into affiliates or subsidiaries for which the
branch may not have a ready source of infor
mation on operations.

« High levels of intangible assetdntangible
assets, which shrink or vanish much mor
quickly than hard assets, usually have ver
uncertain values in the marketplace. In som
cases, however, intangible assets such as p
ents or trademarks have significant value an

Creditors of a Bankrupt Business

éA creditor in bankruptcy is anyone with a claim
gainst a bankrupt business, even if a forme
laim is not filed in the bankruptcy case. In
fa_mkruptcy court, a claim is defined very broadly

claim may include a right to payment from a
: . ; ankrupt business, a promise to perform work
should be given considerable credit. or aright to a disputed payment from the debto

» Substantial increases in long-term debhis . .
symptom causes increasing dependence p]at is contingent on some other event. The tw

: asic types of creditors are secured and uns
cash flow and long-term profits to support . .
debt repayment. cured. Secured creditors are those with perfecte

. . . security interest in specific property, such a:
Aamaggr ?;%gtesm;eerir;i%rosl‘z\?;do?ertestaﬁgsan quipment, accounts receivable, or any othe
gllgwar?ces which coul% indicate Iowlier ual- sset pledged as collateral on a loan. Unsecur
; AP ; Ul reditors are generally trade creditors and othel
ity or inferior product lines. Customer dissat-

isfaction can seriously affect future profitability. who have_not taken a specific interest in prop
- “erty supplied to the bankrupt debtor.
* Rising cost percentageShese percentages
can indicate the business’s inability or unwill-
ingness to pass higher costs to the customer or
its inability to control overhead expenses. Voluntary Versus Involuntary
* A rising level of total assets in relation to Bankruptcy
sales|f a company does more business, it will
take more current assets in the form of invenwhen a debtor files a bankruptcy petition, it is
tory, receivables, and fixed assets. Examinewgescribed as a voluntary bankruptcy filing. The
should be concerned when assets are incredaeividual or organization does not have to be
ing faster than sales growth. insolvent to file a voluntary case. Creditors may
« Significant changes in the balance-sheet strualso file a bankruptcy petition, in which case the
ture. These changes may not be the customanyroceeding is known as an involuntary bank
changes mentioned previously, but they areuptcy. This form of petition can occur in
represented by marked changes spread acragsapters 7 and 11 bankruptcy cases, and tt
many balance-sheet items and may not beebtor generally must be insolvent. To be deeme
consistent with changes in the marketplacensolvent, the debtor must be unable to pay deb
profits or sales, product lines, or the generads they mature. However, the code does limi
nature of the business. who an involuntary action can be sought agains

BANKRUPTCY LAW AND Chapter 7—Liquidation Bankruptcy
COMMERCIAL LOANS

A chapter 7 action may be filed by virtually any
This section provides examiners with an overperson or business organization that is eligibls
view of the United States Bankruptcy Codeto file bankruptcy. Chapter 7 bankruptcy can be
(code) chapters that affect commercial and indugiled by a sole proprietorship, partnership, cor-
trial loans. Bankruptcy law is a significant bodyporation, joint stock company, or any other

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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business organization. Restrictions apply to onlf,hapter 11_Reorganization
a few highly regulated businesses, such as
railroads, insurance companies, banks, municjiost major or large businesses filing bank-
palities, and other financial institutions. ThiSruptcy file a Chapter 11 reorganization_ AS in
chapter is often referred to as “straight liquida-chapter 7, virtually any business can file bank-
tion” or the orderly liquidation of all assets of ryptcy under chapter 11. There are specialized
the entity. Generally, a debtor in a chapter Ghapter 11 reorganization procedures for certain
bankruptcy case is released from obligations tgysinesses such as railroads, and chapter 11 is
pay all dischargeable pre-bankruptcy debts ipot available to stockbrokers, commodity bro-
exchange for surrendering all nonexempt assef&rs, or a municipality. The basic concept behind
toabankruptpy t_l’UStee. The trustee |iqUidateS a,ﬂhapter 11 is that a business gets temporary
assets and distributes the net proceeds on a pilief or a reprieve from paying all debts owed
rata basis against the allowed claims of unsep creditors. This temporary relief gives the
cured creditors. Secured creditor claims argusiness time to reorganize, reschedule its debts
generally satisfied by possession or sale of thgt east partially), and successfully emerge from
debtor’s assets. Depending on the circumpankruptcy as a viable business. The basic
stances, a secured creditor may receive th@sumption underlying a chapter 11 bankruptcy
collateral, the proceeds from the sale of thes that the value of the enterprise as a going
collateral, or a reaffirmation of the debt from theconcern will usually exceed the liquidation value
debtor. The reaffirmed debts are generallyf its assets.
secured by property that the debtor can exempt
from the bankruptcy estate, such as a home or
vehicle. The amount of the reaffirmation is L
limited to the value of the asset at the time of thdR€0rganization Plan
bankruptcy filing.

Some characteristics of a chapter 7 ban
ruptcy are described below:

kGeneraIIy, the debtor has an exclusive 120-day
period to prepare and file a reorganization plan.
If the debtor's plan has not been confirmed
within 180 days of the bankruptcy filing, a
creditor may file a plan. A plan can provide for
gny treatment of creditor claims and equity

bankruptcy estate. The bankruptcy estate thiftterest, as long as it meets the requirements set
is established when the petition is filedoUt in the code. For example, a plan must
becomes the legal owner of the property. Thdesignate substantially similar creditor claims

trustee acts to protect the interest of all partie€"d €quity interest into classes and provide for
affected by the bankruptcy. equal treatment of such class members. A plan

must also identify those classes with impaired
The trustee has control of all nonexemptiaims and their proposed treatment. Finally, a
assets of the bankrupt debtor. method of implementation must be provided.
The trustee is required to liquidate the estatélthough plans do not have to be filed by a

quickly without jeopardizing the interests ofdeadline, the bankruptcy judge will generally
the affected parties. place a deadline on the debtor or creditor autho-

The proceeds from the sale pay trustee’s feerézgd to prﬁpare th_e plan. f h 11 bank
and other creditors. Trustee fees are deter- 20M€ € aracteristics of a chapter ank-

mined according to the amount disbursed t5UPtCY are described below.
the creditors and are a priority claim.

e A trustee is appointed in all chapter 7 bank
ruptcies and acts as an administrator of th

) ) » The bankrupt debtor usually controls the busi-
A chapter 7 bankruptcy is typically completed ness during the bankruptcy proceedings. This
in 90 days, depending on the time needed 10 arrangement is referred to as “debtor in pos-
liquidate collateral. In rare situations, other gession.”

chapter 7 bankruptcies may take years tQ The pusiness continues to operate while in
complete. bankruptcy.

The court may allow the trustee to continue to The debtor is charged with the duty of devel-
operate a business, if this is consistent with oping a reorganization plan within the first

the orderly liquidation of the estate. 120 days of the filing. After this period

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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expires, the court may grant this authority to eaamount that the creditor would get in a liquida-
creditors’ committee. tion or chapter 7 bankruptcy. Chapter 13 may b
» Once the plan is approved by the bankruptcysed for a business bankruptcy, but only if the
court, the debtor’'s payment of debts is generbusiness is a proprietorship. In most cases, tt
ally limited to the schedule and amounts thabusiness needs to be fairly small to qualify.
are detailed in the reorganization plan. Some characteristics of a chapter 13 bank
» A chapter 11 proceeding can be complex anduptcy are described below:
lengthy, depending on the number of credi-
tors, amount of the debts, amount of the In most cases, only an individual can file a
assets, and other factors that complicate the chapter 13 bankruptcy.
proceedings. » Secured debt may not exceed $350,000.
» Unsecured debt may not exceed $100,000.
* The debtor must propose a good-faith plan tc
Chapter 13—Wage-Earner Bankruptcy repay as many debts as possible from avai
able income.
A chapter 13 bankruptcy is available to any A debtor makes regular payments to a trustee
individual whose income is sufficiently stable who disburses the funds to creditors under th
and regular to enable him or her to make terms of the plan.
payments under the plan. As long as the indie The trustee does not control the debtor’
vidual has regular wages or takes a regular draw assets.
from his or her business, the individual may> A chapter 13 bankruptcy may include the
qualify under chapter 13 of the code. Under debts of a sole proprietorship. The busines
chapter 13, an individual or married couple can may continue to operate during the bank:
pay their debts over time without selling their ruptcy.
property. As a protection to creditors, the money After all payments are made under the plan
paid to a creditor must equal or exceed the general discharge is granted.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Commercial Loans

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3050.2

1. To determine if lending policies, practices4. To recommend corrective action when poli-
procedures, and internal controls regarding cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
commercial loans are adequate. trols are deficient or when violations of law

2. To determine if branch officers are operating or regulations have been noted.
in conformance with the established
guidelines.

3. To evaluate the portfolio for credit quality,
performance, collectibility, and collateral
sufficiency.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Commercial Loans

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3050.3

Refer to the Credit Risk Management examina3. If the branch has any credits that should b
tion procedures for general procedures to assess reviewed under the Shared National Credi
the risk of commercial lending activities. How-  program but were omitted (other than new
ever, if the branch conducts significant commer- credits that originated since the previous
cial lending activities, and additional informa-  review) submit a memorandum to the SNC
tion is needed, the examiner should perform the coordinator detailing those credits to the
following procedures. respective Federal Reserve District. Do no

include subparticipations, where the branct

1. If selected for implementation, complete or purchased its share from either a bank in thi

update the Internal Control Questionnaire for
this area.
. Determine if deficiencies noted at previous

original syndicate, or from a bank considerec
afirst-tier participant. Subparticipations shoulc
only be tracked internally by the branch.

examinations and internal/external audits
have been addressed by management.

September 1997
Page 1
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Commercial Loans

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3050.4

Refer to the Credit Risk Management internal

control questionnaire for a general review of the
branch’s internal controls, policies, practices,

and procedures. If additional information is

needed, complete the following internal control

guestionnaire. For audit procedures, refer to the
Credit Risk Management section 3010.5.

6.

POLICIES

7.

1. Has the head office adopted written com-
mercial loan policies for the branch that:

a. Establish procedures for reviewing com-
mercial loan applications?

b. Define qualified borrowers?

c. Establish minimum standards for
documentation?

2. Are policies reviewed, at least annually, to
determine if they are compatible with chang-
ing market conditions? 10

3. Do loan records provide satisfactory audit
trails that permit the tracing of transactions
from initiation to final disposition?

4. Has the branch instituted a system that
ensures: 12
a. Security agreements are filed?

b. Collateral mortgages are properly
recorded?
c. Title searches and property appraisals

9.

b. Checks collateral values when the loan i
made and at reasonable intervals
thereafter?

c. Ensures that cash flow analyses are pe
formed on appropriate borrowers in a
timely manner?

d. Determines that loan payments are
promptly posted?

Do working capital loans require clean-up

periods?

Who is responsible for monitoring the

clean-up period, the account officer or arn

independent source?

8. What are the consequences if the borrowe

cannot clean-up the line?

Are different criteria used for loans to
borrowers on an unsecured basis versus
secured basis (e.g. more stringent documel
tation requirements, more frequent credi
reviews, or cashflow analyses)?

. Is there any evidence that the branch i

extending working capital loans to finance
the acquisition of long-term assets or capital’

11. Do all term loans require meaningful prin-

cipal amortization (at least quarterly)?

. Does the term of the loan correspond to th

useful life of the underlying asset being
financed?

are performed in connection with collat-: CONCLUSION

eral mortgages?

d. Insurance coverage, including loss paye#3.

clause, is in effect on property covered
by collateral mortgages?

e. The borrower is in compliance with all
the covenants of the loan agreement?

5. Does the branch have an internal revievi4.

system that:
a. Ensures liens are perfected?

Is the information covered by this internal
control questionnaire adequate for evaluat
ing internal controls in this area? If not,
indicate any additional examination proce-
dures deemed necessary.

Based on the information gathered, evaluat
internal controls in this area (i.e. strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Financing Corporate Restructurings _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3060.1

Corporate restructurings have become a tecleise caution and apply especially rigorous lend
nique for financing acquisitions through lever-ing and investing standards in participating in
aged buyouts, resisting takeovers, and restruthese transactions.

turing corporate balance sheets. They encompass

traditional leveraged buyouts, management buy-

outs, corporate mergers and acquisitions, argd/AYS TO FINANCE CORPORATE
significant stock buybacks. Leveraged EmployeRESTRUCTURINGS

Stock Option Plans (ESOPs) may also be con-

sidered as corporate restructurings if they argorporate restructurings are typically financec
used to acquire or recapitalize an existinghrough a complex combination of debt and
business. equity instruments. A general overview of the

Itis not considered inappropriate for branchesypes of financings is provided as follows:
to lead and/or participate in loans to finance

corporate restructurings so long as they are
conducted in a sound and prudent manneg .
However, booking of such credits could affectgemor Debt

asset quality and increase overall levels of riSlﬁ'his term refers to all loans and debt securitie
exposure. secured by first liens on assets or the stock of th

Corporate restructurings involve many of thgi)orrower’s operating entities; and, any unse

same characteristics and risks that have tra qured loans and debt securities, which hav

tionally been evaluated during on-site eXam'n‘"‘|E)riority in repayment over all other creditors and

tions. These relate to the borrower’'s income, .. ~. : o
cash flow, and general ability to pay interest an quity investors in the event of I|qU|dat|o_n. The
' ajority of senior debt generally consists of

principal on outstanding debt; economic condi- ecured term loans; however, other types c

g?\gs tﬁgd g:)er?gviia:’ge ;é)”rirtow;aor Sren;ﬁ;]:gs;fg lebt, including revolving working capital loans,
throuah the sale or li uida)t/ion of assets Whagridge loans, and debt securities may be consic
J d : red senior debt. To be considered as seni

usually distinguishes corporate restructuring :
from typical bank loans is the level of debt theaebt, the loans must not be subordinated to an

. : other obligations in the event of liquidation.
borrower assumes in relation to standard mea-
sures of financial capacity or ability to repay.
Clearly, a high level of debt in relation to net . . .
worth or total assets can place heavy demand4€zzanine Financing
on a borrower’'s cash flow and reduce the ] ) ) )
borrower’s ability to absorb the effects of unanMezzanine financing consists of all layers of
ticipated financial shocks or economic adversityfinancing between senior debt and equity inves

Branches may be involved in corporatemems- Th(_a_se include all unsec_ured Ioans an
restructurings at a number of levels. First, theydebt securities where payment is subordinate:
together with other institutional lenders, mayloans or debt securities secured by liens inferio
provide senior secured financing that typicallyl® those of senior debt, fully subordinated debt
represents the largest portion of a corporat@“d any limited-life preferred stock with signifi-
restructuring. In addition, branches may exten§@nt debt characteristics.
credit on a subordinated basis. Bridge loans also
represent another type of financing, which may
be considered as senior debt or mezzaninBridge Loans
financing, depending on its characteristics.

Because corporate restructurings traditionallridge loans have varying characteristics an
entail high leverage, they often increase thare considered as either senior debt or mezz
vulnerability of borrowers to adverse marketine financing based upon the definitions above
and financial developments and have the potefRepayment of bridge loans is dependent on th
tial to raise the level of risk in bank loan successful marketing of longer term securities o
portfolios. For these reasons, bank supervisotbe sale of assets for repayment. Bridge loan
have actively urged bank management to exethat would be subordinated to other obligation:s
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3060.1 Financing Corporate Restructurings

in the event of liquidation are considered mezfestructurings (commonly referred to as junk

zanine financing. bonds). This includes various types of high yield
issues, which have attributes of debt, such as
zero-coupon or zero-slash bonds and pay-in-
and other issues with significant equity attributes

These bonds consist of all noninvestment-gradé/® considered equity investments.

high-yield debt securities involved in corporate
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Financing Corporate Restructurings

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3060.2

1. To determine if policies, practices, proce-3. To determine compliance with applicable
dures, and internal controls regarding corpo- laws and regulations.
rate restructurings are adequate. 4. To recommend corrective action when poli-
2. To determine if branch officers are oper- cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
ating in conformance with the established trols are deficient or when violations of law
guidelines. or regulations have been noted.
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Financing Corporate Restructu

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

rngs
Section 3060.3

Determine if management performs thed
following:

1. Evaluates the adequacy and stability of the
borrower’s current and prospective cash flow
under varying economic scenarios, including
the possibility of an economic decline.

2. Sets reasonable in-house limits regarding

exposure to individual borrowers, total expo-5.

sure to all corporate restructured borrowers,
and industry concentrations resulting from

corporate restructurings. 6.

3. Establishes credit analysis, approval, and
review procedures that take account of the
high levels of debt involved in these
transactions.

. Maintains internal systems, controls, anc
reporting procedures that track the perfor-
mance and condition of individual exposures
monitor the organization’s compliance with
internal procedures and limits and keep hea
office management adequately informed on
timely basis of the organization’s involve-
ment in corporate restructurings.
Establishes pricing policies and practices the
take into account a prudent manner of the
trade-off between risk and return.

Avoids compromising sound banking prac-
tices in an effort to broaden market share o
realize substantial fees.
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Due From Nonrelated Banks _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3070.1

This section refers to deposit accounts withf[ME DEPOSITS
nonrelated banking organizations. These deposit
accounts can be either noninterest-bearing settlBranches also maintain interest-bearing time
ment accounts (demand) or interest-bearingeposits, known as due from banks-time, witf
deposits and placements (time). For informatiother banks. Those assets may also be referr
on accounts withrelated banking offices and to as placements, placings, interbank placemen
affiliates see the Due From/Due To Relateqdeposits), redeposits or even Federal funds, i
Offices section of this manual. In addition, theinstances where their maturities are similar tc
instructions for the FFIEC 002, Report of Assetsederal funds. These placements represent
and Liabilities of U.S. Branches and Agencies obource of primary liquidity to many branches.
Foreign Banks, are an important source of All banks with which the branch has demand
information on accounts with nonrelated ancand time accounts shown on its books should b
related offices and institutions. subject to an appropriate level of scrutiny for
creditworthiness, which should be documente:
in the branch’s on-site credit files. In cases
where these credit evaluations are conducted ¢
the head office or another related office, branc
DEMAND DEPOSITS management should obtain copies of these eval
ations for its files.

Banks maintain deposits in other banks to facili- Due from banks-time deposit aciivities becam

tate the transfer of funds. Those assets, knov\mﬁportant with the growth of the Eurodollar

as due from banks-demand, correspondent ba@\arket. The bulk of due from banks-time depos
' I

K h .
balances, or settlement accounts, are a part gy NOW consist of Eurodollars, with smaller
amounts in other Eurocurrencies. Other foreigt

the primary, uninvested funds of every bank. A urrency time deposits are placed in substar

transfer of funds between banks may result, ilﬁa” the same manner as Eurodollar deposits
part, from the collection of cash items, the y POSItS

transfer and settlement of securities transa(,SUbjeCt to differing exchange control regulation

tions, the transfer of participating loan funds,Or local customs.

and the purchase or sale of Federal funds. Eurodollar (interbank) deposits are some

times linked with foreign exchange transactions

Banks also utilize other banks to provideAS a result, the branch’s foreign exchange o
certain services that can be performed morEurocurrency deposit traders frequently work
economically or efficiently by the other banksclosely with the trader responsible for placing
because of their size or geographic locatiordue from banks-time deposits. Foreign exchang
Such services include processing of cash letterB/okers also may act as intermediaries if war
packaging loan agreements, funding overlinéameq by market conditions, local customers
loan requests of customers, performing EDhE size of the branch, or other factors. _
services, collecting out-of-area items, exchang- The practice of placing interbank deposits
ing foreign currency, and providing financial (@nd takings on the liability side) originated in
advice in specialized loan areas. When th&ondon because, under U.K. regulations, bank
service is one-way, the bank receiving thatvere entitled to “accept” interbank deposits
service usually maintains a minimum balancdvhereas interbank borrowings (i.e. loans) require
that acts as a compensating balance in full GRuthorization by the Bank of England. There-

partial payment for the services received. ~ fore, due from banks-time deposits are
“accepted” even though the receiving bank may

Some banks, particularly branches, must bbave instructed its foreign exchange tradel
prepared to make and receive payments idirectly or through brokers, to find a bank
foreign currencies to meet the needs of theiwilling to offer it such deposits.
international customers. This can be accom- Due from banks-time deposits contain the
plished by maintaining foreign currency duesame credit and country risks as any extensio
from banks-demand accounts with affiliates (nossf credit to a bank. Consequently, a prudently
tro balances) or with other banks in foreignmanaged bank should place deposits with (i.e
countries. lend to) only well-managed banks. The trader:
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3070.1 Due From Nonrelated Banks

should be provided with a list of approved banksts are placed for longer periods. Furthermore,
with which funds can be deposited up to prethe credit risks for specialized or smaller banks
scribed limits for each bank. Due from bank-that have recently entered the interbank deposit
time deposits differ from other types of creditmarket can be far greater than that for larger,
extensions because they often represent depoditeg-established banks. Banks which tradition-
of relatively short maturity which normally ally utilized only regular lines of credit or
receive first priority in case of insolvency. Nev-special facilities also have entered the due from
ertheless, the credit and country exposure existisanks-time deposit market to meet their external
and customer limits must be established byeeds. Those banks could be the first to be
credit officers and not by foreign exchangecaught in a market crunch.
traders. Such limits must be reviewed regularly Incoming confirmations from banks must be
by credit officers, particularly during periods of meticulously checked by the bank to record
money market uncertainty or rapidly changingcopies in each instances to protect against fraud
economic and political conditions. and errors. Similarly, a systematic follow-up on
The examiner also must recognize that crediton-receipt of incoming confirmations should
risks intensify when due from bank-time deposbe carefully monitored by the bank.
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Due From Nonrelated Banks

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3070.2

1. To determine if the policies, practices, pro4. To determine whether the branch evaluate
cedures, and internal controls regarding bal- the credit quality of banks with which demand
ances due from banks, both demand and and time accounts are maintained.
time, are adequate. 5. To determine the scope and adequacy of th

2. To determine if branch officers and employ- internal and external audit coverage as i
ees are operating in conformance with estab- applies to this area.
lished guidelines. 6. To recommend corrective action when poli-

3. To determine that all due from accounts are cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
reasonably stated and represent funds on trols are deficient or when violations of law,
deposit with other banks. rulings, or regulations have been noted.
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Due From Nonrelated Banks

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3070.3

. Ifincluded in the scope of the examination,
complete or update the Internal Control
Questionnaire.

. Test for compliance with policies, practices, 8.

procedures, and internal controls within the
parameters of the established scope.

. Scan the most recent bank-prepared recon-
cilements for any unusual items and deter-
mine that closing balances listed on recon-
cilements agree with the general ledger and
with the balance shown on the cut-off state-
ment if one has been obtained.

. If the bank’s policy for charge-off of old

open items provides for exceptions in 9.

extenuating circumstances, review excepted
items and determine if charge-off is
appropriate.

. If the bank has no policy for charge-off of
old open items, review any items which are
large or unusual or which have been out-
standing for over two months, along with
related correspondence, and determine if
charge-off is appropriate.

. Obtain a trial balance of the due from bankd.1.

—time balances. Reconcile balances to
department controls and general ledger.

. Check a sample of confirmations. This will12.

ensure that the balances are indeed due from
bank balances and not loans to banks (for
Call Report purposes). If any transactions

10.

are not confirmed as of the date of exami:
nation, determine why incoming confirma-
tion is missing.

The credit quality of placements is included
in the scope of the asset quality review.
Using appropriate sampling techniques
select deposit customers for examinatior
and review the credit file maintained on
each bank. Ensure the bank has performed
credit analysis on all approved due from
bank counterparties. If the credit analysis
has been prepared by the head office, shadc
files need to be maintained at the institution
Check back office procedures, adequacy c
separation of duties, and who monitors
limits.

If problems are detected concerning the
institution’s policies or lack thereof, the
deficiencies should be discussed under Ris
Management. If the institution is deficient
in its operations and is not following its
policies, the exception should be discusse
under Operational Controls.

Prepare comments on deficiencies or violg
tions of law noted above for inclusion in the
examination report.

Assemble workpapers to support conclu
sions reached. Include any information tha
will facilitate future examinations.
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Due From Nonrelated Banks

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3070.4

AUDIT COVERAGE

POLICIES FOR DUE FROM

BANKS

1. Does the scope of the branch’s internal

audit program include procedures covering: 3. Do current written policies and procedures

a. Due from banks-demand accounts?
b. Due from banks-time accounts?

. Do audit procedures include all of the
following to ascertain the effectiveness of
internal controls:

a. Ensure that procedural manuals or
instructions covering the reconcilement
function exist?

b. Ascertain if statements are not recon-
ciled by an individual, who also:

» Has signing authority on the account?
» Approves entries?

» Posts the general ledger?

» Effects money transfers?

c. Ensure that statements are reconciled

promptly when received?

d. Check to see that reconcilements are

prepared on preprinted forms?

e. Ensure that completed reconcilements

are properly stored to satisfy record-
retention requirements?

f. Ensure that open items are promptly
referred to and followed up by the
appropriate operating department or
responsible officer?

g. Testthat open entries outstanding beyond

a reasonable length of time are:

» Referred to appropriate senior branch
management in writing?

» Charged off to profit/loss accounts?

e Transferred to special suspense
accounts, pending additional follow-up
action?

h. Ensure that reconciliation personnel are

prohibited from preparing adjusting
entries?

i. Spot check selected general ledger tick-
ets and supporting documentation for:

* Adequate details of the transaction?
 Proper officer approvals?

j. Test check on selected transactions that5.

include open, reconciled, adjusted, and
charged-off items to ascertain propriety
of disposition?

exist for due from banks-demand account:

that:

a. Provide for periodic review and approval
of balances maintained in each suct
account?

b. Indicate person(s) responsible for moni:
toring balances and the application of
approved procedures?

c. Establish levels of check-signing author-
ity?

d. Indicate officers responsible for approval
of transfers between correspondent bank
and procedures for documenting suct
approval?

e. Indicate the supervisor responsible fol
regular review of reconciliations and rec-
onciling items?

f. Indicate that all entries to the accounts
are to be approved by an officer or
appropriate supervisor and that suct
approval will be documented?

g. Establish time guidelines for charge off
of old open items?

4. Do current written policies and procedures

exist for due from banks-time account that:

a. Establish maximum limits of the aggre-
gate amount of due from banks-time
deposits for each:

* Bank?

e Currency of deposit?

e Country of deposit?

b. Restrict due from banks-time deposits tc
only those customers for whom lines
have been established?

c. Establish definite procedures for:

» Balancing of accounts?

e Holdover deals?

* Rendering of reports to management
external auditors, and regulating
agencies?

e Accounting cut-off deadlines?

e Handling of interest?

Are the policies and procedures for due

from bank accounts reviewed at least annu

ally to determine their adequacy in light of
changing conditions?
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3070.4

Due From Nonrelated Banks: Internal Control Questionnaire

BANK RECONCILEMENTS
6.

7.

11.

Are branch reconcilements prepared
promptly upon receipt of the statements?
Are statements examined for any sign ofl2.
alteration and are payments or paid drafts
compared with such statements by the per-
sons who prepare branch reconcilements? §3.
yes, skip question 8.

. If the answer to question 7 is no, are

statements and paid drafts or paymentd4.
handled before reconcilement only by per-
sons who do not also:

a. Issue drafts or official checks and pre-

Are overdrafts in due from bank accounts
properly recorded on the branch’s records
and promptly reported to the responsible
officer?

Are individual interest computations checked
or adequately tested by persons independent
of those functions?

Are accrual balances for due from banks-
time verified periodically by an authorized
official? If so, indicate frequency.

Do all internal entries require the approval
of appropriate officials?

pare, add, or post the general or subsidcONCLUSION

iary ledgers?
b. Handle cash and prepare, add, or post thes.
general ledger or subsidiary ledgers?

. Are branch reconcilements prepared by per-

sons who do not also:

a. Issue drafts or official checks?
b. Handle cash?

c. Prepare general ledger entries?

OTHER

10. Is a separate general ledger account or

individual subsidiary account maintained
for each due from bank account?

16.

Is the information covered by this ICQ
adequate for evaluating internal controls in
this area? If not, indicate any additional
examination procedures deemed necessary.
Based on the information gathered, evaluate
the internal controls in this area (i.e., strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).

September 1997
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Due From Nonrelated Banks

Audit Guidelines
Effective date July 1997

Section 3070.5

. Determine the number of the last unissued
draft of each due from bank account and
record for comparison when performing
reconcilements.
. Prepare a listing of all due from bank
accounts, together with their balances from
the branch’s daily statement as of the exami-
nation date. Compare each balance or total
balances to the appropriate subtotal in the
general ledger as of the examination date.
. Request a cut-off statement as of the exami-
nation date and for a subsequent date, not
less than five days later for each due from
account. Include instructions that the state-
ments be addressed to the examiner-in-
charge and be delivered unopened.

. In preparing or reviewing reconcilements:

a. Review reconciling items carefully to
determine that the time period between
debit or credit entries and the offsetting
credit or debit by the correspondent bank
is comparable for similar types of items. If
any differences in timing occur, ascertain
the reason.

b. Determine that wire transfers appear on
the correspondent statement the same day
as entered on the branch’s books. Deter-
mine the reason for any exception.

c. Test all drafts included in the cut-off
statement for authorized signature, proper
endorsement, dates of drafts, payee, and
amounts and determine that:

+ Dates drawn are not subsequent to dates j.

paid by the correspondent bank.

« Drafts issued to transfer funds from the
branch’s account to the correspondent’s
account are not outstanding more than
the normal transit time.

« Drafts are numbered.

 Drafts are issued sequentially.

. Reconcile due from bank accounts on a

reconcilement form using the following steps:

a. Prove the mathematical accuracy of the
prior reconcilement by a machine run of6.
the figures.

b. Determine thabur balance to their debit
agrees to general ledger as of their prior
reconcilement date.

c. Determine thatheir balance to our credit
agrees to each correspondent bank state-
ment as of the prior reconcilement date.

. Determine that the closing balance anc
date listed on the statement used in th
branch’s last reconcilement agrees to the
opening balance and date listed on the
cut-off statement as of the examination
date.

. Determine that any open items from pre:
vious reconcilements have cleared.

f. If any items on a previous reconcilement

do not clear, list on the reconcilement

form being prepared.

Determine that each debit and credit entn

shown on the general ledger since the dat

of the last reconcilement is offset by a

corresponding credit or debit on the cor-

respondent bank’s cut-off statement.

h. Any items on the general ledger, excep
outstanding drafts, that are not offset by
an appropriate debit or credit on the cor-
respondent bank’s cut-off statement are
considered open and should be transferre
to the reconcilement form under the
appropriate we debit or we credit caption
along with the date and a brief description.

i. Any items on the correspondent bank’s
cut-off statement that are not offset by an
appropriate debit or credit on the branck
general ledger are considered open an
should be transferred to the reconcilemen
form under the appropriate they debit or
they credit caption along with the date anc
a brief description.
“We credit” items that represent drafts
outstanding should not be listed on the
“we credit” section of the reconcilement
form. Each outstanding draft should be
listed by number on the reverse side of the
reconcilement form and the total should
be carried forward opposite the caption
drafts outstanding. The listing should
include any drafts still outstanding from
the previous reconcilement.

k. Prove the reconcilement.

Determine clearance of “we debit” and “we

credit” items using later cut-off statements,

when available, and:

a. Ifanitemis cleared by reversing the entry

that is, by a subsequent offsetting debit o

credit entry on the ledger of the branch

under examination, check the entry througt
to its source.

g.
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3070.5 Due From Nonrelated Banks: Audit Guidelines

b. All material “we debit” and “we credit” a. Reviewing and testing procedures for
items that do not clear on the later cut-off accounting for accrued interest and for
statements received should be confirmed, handling adjustments.
with a copy of the confirmation tracer b. Scanning accrued interest for any unusual
retained for comparison to the original entries and following up on any unusual

after it is returned. items by tracing them to initial and sup-

7. Utilizing the general ledger or appropriate porting records.

subsidiary ledger, determine clearance 09. Obtain or prepare a schedule showing the

“they debit” and “they credit” items. The accrued interest balances and the deposit

reason for nonclearance should be deter- balances for selected time periods since the

mined for all “they debit” and “they credit” previous examination.

items that do not clear in a reasonable amount a. Calculate ratios.

of time. b. Investigate significant fluctuations and/or

8. Review the accrued interest accounts by: trends.
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Financing Foreign Receivables _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3080.1

Financing foreign receivables includes opertonsiderable. As with open account sales, ther
account financing, sales on consignments a lack of standard trade financing documen
advances against collections, banker’'s accepation on which to base legal action if the
tances, factoring, and forfaiting. Certain foreignconsignee defaults. The exporter should thor
receivables are guaranteed or insured for crediughly understand the inherent credit risks
and political risk by the Export-Import Bank of especially when goods are consigned to a
the United States, the Foreign Credit Insurancagent, representative, or import house abroad.
Association, or other American and foreign In countries with free ports or free trade
organizations. zones, consigned goods may be placed in

bonded warehouse in the name of a foreign ban

or branch of the bank. Arrangements may thel

be made to release the consigned merchandise
OPEN ACCOUNT FINANCING the time it is sold. Merchandise is cleared

The simplest method of financing foreign receiv-through customs after the sale has been cor

ables is on open account. In such a sale, thtgeted. However, that type of consignment shoul

buyer and seller agree on payment at a specifiébmnbe Pwrgc;lenalgd m” nor:tiLIJsul?”y ?ﬁnazctem?%iu
date without any negotiable instruments, such any foreign banks untit all pertinent condi-
a draft or acceptance, evidencing the obligatio ions, regulatlons,’and storage facilities are veri
In most instances, the shipping documents a éed. The exporter’s bank also should verify tha
sent directly to the buyer rather than through gqogjs not sald may be returned to the cquntryci
bank. The exporter may request the buyer tgrigin. Bank financed consignment shipment:

make payment to the bank in which the exporte hould be limited to thqse countries that dp no
maintains an account. The advantages of & ave burdensome foreign exchange restrictior

open account sale are its simplicity and the lac hd have sufficient foreign exchange availabl

of bank charges and stamp duties applied t pay for imports. . . .
drafts by certain countries. To overcome the disadvantages of financint

The financing of open account sales contain&IPMENIS on an open account or consignmet
certain risks. The lending bank and exporteP2SiS: exporters frequently ship goods again:
have no control over the documents and thgocumentary collgctlons. That practice mean

at the exporter, in the case of a time or arriva

buyer (importer) may take possession of th . =
goods without the bank's or the exporter _draft, and the exporter and the importer, jointly,
n the case of a sight draft, finance(s) the

consent. In addition, if the importer does not hi Th d the i
register the goods with the proper authoritiesSN!PMent. The exporter and the importer ma

the dollar or other exchange may not be ava”have unused credit lines with their banks and b
able at the time of payment. Probably theable to borrow the needed money without tying
greatest risk in open account financing is th he financing to the trade transaction. Often

lack of standard trade financing documentatio owlf\{_er, the exportgr’s orfthe mportter’s re%_ula:
on which to base legal action against the import ank lines Sre tﬁse up Orlgt:r. rznsic 'Ont‘
in the event of default. Therefore, open account©"S€quently, they may ask their bankers u
sales are most appropriate when the buyé}rowde financing through advances against ou

(importer) is a subsidiary of a related compan ard collections, discounting 'trade acceptance
or is well-known to the seller ankers’ acceptances, factoring, or forfaiting.

SALES ON CONSIGNMENT ADVANCES AGAINST FOREIGN
COLLECTIONS

Under a consignment arrangement, goods are

consigned to the importer (consignee) abroad manufacturer or merchant conducting a strictly
and the exporter (consignor) retains title to thendomestic business often gets a loan from a ban|
until they are sold to a third party. However,finance company, factor, or forfaiter by using
unless the shipment is made to an exporteraccounts receivable as security. Because ou
overseas branch or subsidiary, the credit risk igard collections are the same as foreign receiv
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3080.1 Financing Foreign Receivables

ables, the same general type of financing vehiclieg documents. Because the branch wishes to
is available to exporters. maintain control of the merchandise, the bill of

A common method of financing foreign lading should be either to the order of the shipper
receivables is for the exporter to pledge aland blank endorsed or to the order of the branch.
outward collections to its bank. The exporterThe bill of lading must not be consigned to the
may then borrow from the bank up to a stateduyer (importer); otherwise, the buyer has con-
maximum percentage of the total amount ofrol over the goods. In addition, shipments
receivables pledged at any one time. Whefinanced should be covered by adequate
notes, rather than drafts, are used to finandasurance.
foreign collections, they are usually paid on
demand enabling the exporter to increase or
decrease the loan depending on need and thelISCOUNTING TRADE
current amount of collections outstanding. PrefACCEPTANCES
erably, all of the collections lodged with the
exporter’s bank should be pledged to the banlé draft accepted by the foreign buyer becomes a
When a particular collection is paid, it is remit-trade acceptance, carrying the full credit obliga-
ted by the foreign collecting bank to the domestion of the importer. Such trade acceptances are
tic bank that has advanced the funds. The latteédso frequently called trade bills or trade paper.
uses the proceeds of the collection to reduce thEhe acceptance is returned to, and becomes the
exporter's loan. Some exporters have no nedgroperty of, the exporter, who will ask the
for a continuous financing arrangement bucollecting bank to present it to the acceptor for
occasionally may wish to obtain financing onpayment at maturity. The exporter is, therefore,
only one large foreign collection. In suchproviding the financing or carrying its own
instances, the branch may be willing to advancéoreign receivables. However, if the exporter
money with only that one receivable as securityneeds the funds before maturity of the trade
Again, the branch establishes a maximum pe@cceptance, the exporter may ask the branch to
centage of the amount of the draft that it isdiscount the draft with or without recourse. If
willing to advance. When payment for thethe primary obligor (acceptor) is a well-known
receivable is obtained, the branch uses theompany of good credit standing, the branch
proceeds to liquidate the loan, crediting anynay be willing to discount the draft without
excess to the exporter. Bank financing in thé&ecourse to the exporter. More commonly, how-
form of advances against export collections is agver, the lending bank looks to the exporter for
accepted practice in international trade and iecourse, should the primary obligor fail to pay
not considered factoring. the amount when due.

Besides having a pledge on the exporter's When discounting a trade acceptance, the
outward collections, the branch usually retaindranch advances the face amount of the draft to
recourse to the exporter whose financial condithe exporter, minus discount charges, until the
tion and reputation are of prime importancematurity date. In that case, the branch is buying
Other factors, however, are also significant. Ithe trade acceptance for value and is entitled to
the foreign importers are prime companies witfany benefits due it from the primary obligor as a
undoubted reputation and financial strength, thigolder in due course of a negotiable instrument.
branch will probably advance a larger percentThat is also the case whenever the branch makes
age on collections directed to them. The branchdvances against a single collection or a pool of
will also advance a larger percentage of funds teollections. Any intermediary collecting bank
importers in those countries that promptly payalso has a financial interest in the collection and
drafts drawn on them. In other countries, wherdas all the rights of a holder in due course under
payment is generally slow, perhaps becaugée Uniform Commercial Code.
importers are financially weak or because U.S.
dollar or other foreign currency exchange is
hard to obtain, the branch will advance a loweBANKER'S ACCEPTANCES
percentage on collections. Certain collections €t REATED AGAINST FOREIGN
habitually slow paying importers or countriesCOLLECTIONS
may be entirely ineligible for financing.

When a branch advances against foreign coburing periods of tight money, branches may
lections, it must carefully scrutinize the supportchoose to finance foreign collections by using
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banker’s acceptances. Banker's acceptances amaintain bookkeeping or accounting record:s
discussed separately in this manual, so thgertaining to the status of receivables. Thes
following comments relate only to the financingresponsibilities have been assumed by the fa
of foreign collections. tor. In addition, under the terms of an advanc
As with all acceptance financing, the exportefactoring arrangement, the client receives pay
first submits a signed acceptance agreement ent for its receivables before the time agree
its bank. To obtain acceptance financing foupon under the normal terms of the invoice.
foreign receivables, the exporter draws two Maturity factoring and advance factoring are
drafts. The first is a time draft drawn on thetwo basic types of service offered by the indus:
foreign buyer (importer) that, along with thetry. In maturity factoring, an average maturity
necessary documents, is sent for collection idue date is computed for the receivables pur
the usual manner. The other draft, for the samehased during a period and the client receive
or smaller amount as agreed on by the brangbayment on that date. Advance factoring use
and exporter, is drawn by the latter on the brancthe same computations; however, the client ha
and has the same tenor as the draft drawn on titiee option of taking advance payments equal t
importer. The branch accepts the latter draft and percentage of the balance due at any time pri
discounts it, crediting the net amount to theo the computed average maturity due date. Th
exporter’s account. The branch has now createthadvanced balance, sometimes called the cl
a banker's acceptance that can be sold in thent’s equity, is payable on demand at the du
highly liquid acceptance market, provided thedate.
branch’s reputation is fully established. When The typical factoring agreement stipulates
payment is received from the importer, thethat all accounts receivable of a client are
branch applies the proceeds to pay its owassigned to the factor but not all are purchase
acceptance, which will be presented for paymerwithout recourse. The agreement between th
if sold in the market. Should the importerfactor and the client will usually state that
default, the branch has recourse on the draweeceivables subject to shipping disputes, error:
and can demand payment from that source. returns, and adjustments are chargeable back
the client because they do not represent bor
fide sales. In addition, sales made by the clier
FACTORING without the factor's approval are considerec
client risk receivables, with full recourse to the
A factor buys accounts receivable with or with-client if the customer fails to pay. The usual
out recourse. In the past, factoring was usedpproval process requires the client to contac
primarily in domestic trade in certain industriesthe factor’s credit department before filling a
such as textiles. In recent years, however, segales order on credit terms. The credit depart
eral domestic factors have established foreigment will conduct a credit review, determine the
affiliates or invested in foreign finance compa<reditworthiness of the customer and approve c
nies and several banks have purchased or estabject the sale. If the credit department reject
lished factoring firms to finance foreign tradethe sale, the client may complete the sale but ¢
Branches are also financing foreign trade byhe client's own risk. The most commonly
factoring. rejected sales are those to affiliates, to know
Factoring is the purchase, on a withoutad risks, to customers whose credit cannot b
recourse basis, of the accounts receivable of \erified, and to those customers whose outstan
client. Factoring differs from asset-based lending payables exceed the factor’s credit line tc
ing financing, in that the factor assumes théhose customers.
credit and collection risk associated with the Once a sale has been made and the receivab
receivables. In asset-based lending these riskehether or not approved, is assigned to thi
remain with the client. Among the principal factor, the client’'s account will be credited for
advantages of factoring to the client, is that thehe net invoice amount of the sale. Trade o
client is certain of the collection of the proceeds/olume discounts, early payment terms, an
of its sales, regardless of whether or not thether adjustments are deducted from the invoic
factor is paid. Other advantages of factoring aramount. The receivable then becomes part of tf
that the client does not have to maintain a creditlient’'s availability to be paid in advance or at
department to evaluate the creditworthiness dhe computed date, depending upon the basis
customers and collect past due accounts ahe factoring arrangement.
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Factoring Foreign Receivables payment to the factor when due.
Frequently, instead of making immediate pay-

A factor who purchases a foreign receivablén€nt under a sight letter of credit, the factor will
must approve the credit standing of a specifielftilize its credit line with the bank. This option
foreign obligor before the sales contract ignay be taken by either asking the bank to create
concluded. If the foreign buyer's credit is not& bankers acceptance or by charging the fac-
approved, the exporter may still make the Shiptor’s loan account. In both instances, the factor
ment but at its own risk. If shipments to approvednust pay the bank at maturity of the acceptance
importers are made on a documentary collectiofi’ l0an. Such maturities should coincide as
basis, the drafts and documents are submitted §0Sely as possible with the expected payment of
the factor who purchases them without recoursdhe accounts receivable by the ultimate customer.
The factor pays the money to the exporter either A factor buying foreign accounts receivables
at the average maturity date, when actuallgreated through open account shipments follows
received or, if financing is also required, immethe same basic procedures as in purchasing
diately. Thereafter, the drafts and documents a@omestic receivables. As discussed heretofore,
routed through commercial banks for collectionthe exporter and financing institution could lose
Because the factor owns the drafts and docigontrol over the goods because the shipping
ments, the collection process is undertaken fofocuments are consigned directly to the
its account. Occasionally, a factor will make usémporter. Consequently, open account shipments
of its own credit line with a commercial bank to should be conducted only with prime foreign
carry receivables purchased from the exportefuyers.
until payment is received from the ultimate
buyer.

When financing irr_]ports, the factor mayClient Records
arrange for the opening of a letter of credit

through its bank in favor of an overseas suppller% client's balance sheet will have a due from

nl_ctor account instead of accounts receivable.
credit for that of the client. Becau_se the factor iﬁhf;en chcc?rl;:;l ?gi?\fgblrgs )éat?gnigtrlﬁnv: g;ftla?:\t/\i/r? 5
gl_Jltl':_\ranteelng th% Ietterd_of Crr]?dt:t'. the_ rl:])ank 'Rurnover ratios and other short-term ratios. The
willing to open the credit, which It might ot yigerence relates to the client's ability to con-
have done for the |mporter. directly. . vert sales to cash faster with a factor than if the

When the goods are shipped, the title docUrecejvables were to be collected by the client.
ments are either conS|gn_ed or endorsed over t0 g4 month, the client receives an accounts
the factor. The factor, in turn, releases therent statement from the factor, detailing trans-
documents to the importer against either a trut tions on a daily basis. This statement reflects
receipt or warehouse receipt. All proceeds fromy,o daily assignments of receivables, remit-
subsequent sales are turned over to the factQhces ‘made (including overadvances and
Once the final sale has been made t0 a customgh,nts advanced at the client's risk), deduc-
approved by the factor, an account receivable igyns for term loans, interest charges, and fac-
created. The factor, according to its agreemenfing commissions. Credit memos, client risk
with the customer, buys that receivable W'thOUEharge-backs, and other adjustments also will be
recourse. shown. Client risk charge-backs are the amounts

When the bank turns over the shipping docudeducted from the balance due to the client upon
ments to the factor, arrangements must be magige failure of customers to pay receivables
to pay under the sight letter of credit. The factofactored at client risk. The accounts current
may pay the bank from its own funds. The goodstatement and the availability sheets are neces-
are cleared through customs and the factor isary for asset analysis. The accounting system
paid on the average or final maturity date of thghat develops this data probably will be auto-
accounts receivable, which the factor has bougfated, allowing the factor to compare and
from its customer without recourse. monitor data on the client. Examiners should

Time letters of credit are paid to the bank byuse the data provided, within client records,
the factor at maturity and the resulting acceptoenhance the asset analysis process for these
tances are charged to the customer’s account foypes of credits.

The factor becomes an intermediary between i
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Factor Records ity and collection. The other major portion of the
assets will be the client loans and credit accon

The factor’s balance sheet reflects the purchas@dodations, such as overadvances and amour
accounts receivable as factored receivables @flvanced at the client's risk, for which the
the asset side and due to clients as the corr@ccount officers are responsible.

sponding liability. Usually, the due to clients Any factor’s ability to buy receivables with-

balance will be less than the factored receivable@ut recourse is predicated on its ability to make
balance because of payments and advances@und credit judgments regarding buyers. Th
the clients. If, however, the factor makesfactor, therefore, replaces the credit and, in par

advances to the client for greater amounts thalfe receivables bookkeeping departments of sel
are due to the client, these amounts will beers. The credit department maintains a credit fil
reflected on the asset side of the balance sheetf@§ each of its client's customers, which are
overadvances. Overadvances are tantamount éentinually updated as purchases are made a
unsecured loans. A limit on the amount Ofpald for by the customers. These files include
overadvances available at any one time to thénancial statements, credit bureau reports, an
client should be included in the factoring agreedetails of purchasing volume and paying habits
ment. Such limitation is generally based uponpredlt information on domestic buyers is easie
but not necessarily secured by, the amount of tH@ obtain than on buyers located overseas. Hov
client's inventory. This relationship is usedever, by establishing foreign affiliates, factors
because, theoretically, the inventory will be sold'ave improved their ability to determine the
to generate receivables that the factor has coftedit standing of foreign importers.

tracted to purchase. The proceeds from the

factored receivables will then be used to repay

the overadvance. The factor's income statemei®ystems and Controls

will show factoring commissions that represent

the discount on the receivables purchased &Spnsidering the large volume of daily transac:
income. Interest income for advances on the dugyns that flows through a factor, any internal
to client balances may or may not be a separaigntro| that can be easily negated represents
line item. potential problem. The review of the factoring
An analysis of the changes in the relativejepartment's internal systems and control
proportions of the due to clients account shoul@hould be continuous during the examination
provide valuable input into the analysis of theThis review should include the credit controls
earnings of a branch’s factoring operationfor both clients and customers. Credit controls
Because factoring is a highly competitive indusand systems must be responsive to the identif
try, price cutting has reduced factoring commiscation of these problems because problems c:
sions to a point where they provide minimaldevelop rapidly in factoring. Earnings are evalu-
support to earnings; therefore, the interest magted in terms of the department's own perfor-
gins on factoring advances have a significanhance. The factoring department’s earning
impact on net income. The implication of thetrends may be evaluated by using a comparativ
analysis of proportional changes is that as morgleld on assets approach. By analyzing yields o
clients take advances (reducing due to clientshsset categories from period to period, the
profit margins should widen. Conversely, as thexaminer will be able to make a judgment as t
due to Clients prOpOftion Of tOta| |IabI|ItIeS rises,the efﬁciency of the Systemsl Factors are Subje‘
profit margins may be expected to narrow.  to the same price competition in the commercia
finance market as accounts receivable finar

ciers. Declining portfolio yields may reflect the

Evaluating the Factoring Operation inroads made by competition and may indicate «
decline in future profitability.

The evaluation of a branch’s factoring operation

includes: (a) a review of its systems and con-

trols, and (b) an analysis of the quality of itsAsset Evaluation

assets. A major portion of a factor’s assets will

be factored receivables, for which the credifThe asset evaluation involves an evaluation ©
department has the responsibility for credit qual¢1) credit accommodations to each client anc
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(2) customer receivables purchased by the factor An analysis of the client's balance sheet
at its own risk. For the first part of the evalua-should incorporate an assessment of the client’s
tion, generate a list of each client's aggregatability to absorb normal dilution and the poten-
credit exposure to the factor, both direct andial losses associated with client risk receiv-
indirect, including overadvances and receivables, particularly when these elements are
ables purchased at the client's risk. For théigher than usual for the portfolio. The analysis
second part of the evaluation, use the aginglso should consider the client’s ability to repay
schedule of factored receivables aggregated tany advances received from the factor in the
customer but net of client risk receivablesform of overadvances, term loans, or other
Select clients and customers for review basecdredit accommodations.

upon the same selection methods used for the when classifying the credit exposure to a
commercial loan review. Clients with high dilu- client, the client risk receivables portion of
tion of receivables (i.e., customer nonpaymenfactored volume is the only amount appropriate
due to returns, shipping disputes, and errors arfgr use in the classification. Because of the
the like) and those with client risk receivablesrecourse aspect, the balance is considered as an
equal to 20 percent or more of factored volumendirect obligation rather than a direct obliga-
may also be included. tion. Any other credit accommodations to a
client that are not reflected in factored receiv-
ables, such as overadvances, term loans, etc., are
also appropriate for classification. Asset quality,
as measured by classifications, may be influ-
enced by seasonal aspects of clients’ businesses

) . and should be carefully analyzed allowing for
In order to evaluate credit accommodations tQ,ch influences.

each client, generate a list of each client's
aggregate credit exposure to the factor, both
direct and indirect, including overadvances and
receivables purchased at the client's riskCustomer Receivables Purchased by

Although past due status is an essential elemeffhe Factor at its Own Risk
in evaluating customer accounts, it should be

noted that for its clients, a factor usually coIIectsl_o evaluate receivables purchased by the factor

principal and mterestpaymentsdlrectlyfromtheat its own risk, use the aging schedule of

client's availqbility. This pra(.:tice.m.eans that the1‘actored receivables aggregated by customer but
expecteql delinquency rate is minimal. Past_ du et of client risk receivables. Select customers
volume is not an effective measure of clien or review based upon the same selections
qualltx. , e methods used for the commercial loan review.
A client's availability is the sum of all fac- pagt que volume is an essential element in
tored receivables, less trade and other d'scoung\yaluating customer accounts. In addition. cus-
factoring commissions, client risk charge-backsgmer files maintained by tHe factor sHouId

and other miscellaneous charges to the clientis, ., ge financial statements and an analysis of
account. There may also be other deductions fQf,o - ,stomers’ financial condition

letters of credit and other credit accommoda- . .
When classifying credit exposure to a cus-

tions. An advance client’s availability would be . ;
fpmer, factored receivables are appropriate for

further reduced by advances on the factore |assification. Care should be taken not to clas-
receivables, interest charges, and the reciproc‘étf”1 :

of the contractually agreed upon advance pelsiIfy any receivables that have already been

centage. This reciprocal, 20 percent in the cas‘aass'f'ed under client risk exposure.

of an 80 percent advance client, is sometimes

referred to as the client’s equity in the factored

receivables. Availability may be increased by

liens on additional collateral, such as inventoryFORFAITING

machinery and equipment, real estate, and other

marketable assets. Loans against this type @f number of financial institutions are financing
collateral may be handled in the commerciateceivables from Eastern European and devel-
finance section of a factoring department. oping countries by a method called forfaiting.

Credit Accommodations to Each
Client
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Forfaiting is nonrecourse financing of receiv-THE EXPORT-IMPORT BANK OF
ables similar to factoring. However, while aTHE UNITED STATES
factor normally purchases a company’s short-
term receivables, a forfait bank purchases noteghe Export-Import Bank of the United States
that are long-term receivables with maximum{Eximbank) issues to commercial banks, for
maturities of elght years. The forfaiting bank hasfee, guarantees of payment for foreign receiv
no recourse to the seller of the goods but gets thehles that the branch purchases from exporter
notes at a substantial discount for cash. generally without recourse to the latter. The
The centers of forfaiting are Zurich andmaturities of the receivables range from 18!
Vienna, where many large banks, includinglays to over five years. Generally, the foreigr
American institutions, provide forfaiting through buyer must make a cash payment, either befol
either their branches or specialized subsidiariesr upon delivery, of at least 10 percent of the

Forfaiting is used when government exporinvoice value and the amount of receivables
credits or credit guarantees are not available gturchased by the branch without recourse to th
when a seller does not extend long-term creditgXporter normally cannot exceed 90 percent ¢
to areas, such as Eastern Europe. Forfaiting i€ financed portion of the sale (invoice amoun
also an important method of financing for smalless cash payment). That guarantee cove
and medium-sized companies because it enablBglitical risks, such as inconvertibility of foreign
them to negotiate transactions that would norcurrencies into U.S. dollars, governmental action
mally exceed their financial capabilities. ByPreventingimportation of goods, war, civil strife,
using forfaiting, small and medium-sized con-expropriation, and confiscation by governmen
cerns can immediately sell their long-termaction. Commercial risks, basically the credit
receivables without recourse. risk of the foreign purchaser, usually are covere

The examiner should review the branch'd™oM Six months to five years.

forfaiting activities carefully to determine whether

long-term receivables have been purchased from

countries prone to frequent political changes and

fluctuations in exchange rates. In addition, thd HE FOREIGN CREDIT

other risks peculiar to factoring are present iHNSURANCE ASSOCIATION

forfaiting, along with the risks associated with

the long-term nature of receivables purchasedThe Foreign Credit Insurance Association (FCIA)
is an association of leading marine, property
and casualty insurance companies. In cooper:
tion with Eximbank, FCIA offers a comprehen-
sive selection of credit insurance policies, whict

U.S. AND FOREIGN protect policyholders against loss from failure tc
RECEIVABLES GUARANTEE AND receive payment from foreign buyers.
INSURANCE PLANS FCIA coverage protects the exporter agains

the failure of the buyer to pay dollar obligations
To reduce credit, political, and other risks assofor commercial or political reasons; enables the
ciated with foreign receivables financing,exporter to offer foreign buyers competitive
branches may avail themselves of a variety oferms of payment; supports the exporter’s pru
guarantee and insurance plans, both public ardént penetration of higher risk foreign markets,
private, that are available in many countries. and, gives the exporter greater financial liquidity
Because of the Comp|exity of the numerou@ﬂd erX|b|I|ty in administering a foreign receiv-
plans available, an examiner must frequentijbles portfolio.
rely on the technical knowledge of the staff of The FCIA does not itself finance export sales
the branch. Nevertheless, the examiner shoultbwever, the exporter who insures accoun
know the risk coverage and claim adjustmenteceivables against commercial and politica
provisions of the major plans. Often a branch’sisks is usually able to obtain financing from
experience with its receivables insurance andommercial banks and other lending institutions
guarantee plans indicates its effectiveness arat lower rates and on more liberal terms thar
whether the branch has properly met its resporwould otherwise be possible by assigning the
sibilities under the programs. proceeds of the FCIA insurance to the lenders
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Comprehensive FCIA policies protect insur-3
ers against nonpayment of receivables due to
unforeseeable commercial and political occur-

rences. Commercial risks that are covered.

include insolvency or protracted default, which
may be caused by economic deterioration in the
buyer's market area, shifts in demand, unantici-
pated competition, tariffs, or technical changes.
Political risk coverage applies to defaults due to
government action, such as currency inconvert-
ibility, expropriation, and cancellation of import
license and to political disturbances such as war,
revolution, and insurrection.

FCIA generally offers four basic types of
insurance policies covering political and com-
mercial risks (Source: Washington Agencies
that Help to Finance Foreign Trade, Seventh
Edition, Bankers Trust Company, N.Y.C.):

. Combined short-term/medium-term policies
for sales that pass through distributors before
reaching final buyers.

Master policies that include the basic insur-
ance features of the previous policies, plus
discretionary and deductible provisions. Under
a master policy, usually only for short-term

and seldom for medium-term transactions,
exporters may obtain FCIA authority to grant

insured credit up to a certain amount without
seeking prior approval. The deductible pro-
vision, used only for commercial risks and

not political risks, requires the exporter to

assume a fixed amount of the first loss on
total debts.

OTHER INSURERS

1. Short-term policies covering shipments nor-

mally sold on terms up to 180 days. TheT

here are numerous other private and govern-

usual policy covers 100 percent of politicalmental institutions, both in the U.S. and over-

risk and 90 percent of any losses froms
commercial risk. b
. Minimum-term policies insuring transactionse

eas, that guarantee or insure risks assumed by
anks financing foreign receivables. Some for-
ign examples are the Export Credits Guarantee

from six months to five years. FCIA coversDepartment (ECGD) in the United Kingdom,
up to 90 percent of commercial risks and ugCOFACE in France, and HERMES in West
to 100 percent of political risks, with the Germany.

remainder retained by the exporter.

September 1997
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Financing Foreign Receivables

Examination Objectives
Effective date July 1997

Section 3080.2

1. To determine if the policies, practices, pro4.
cedures, and internal controls regarding the
financing of foreign receivables are adequate.

2. To determine if branch officers are operating.
in conformance with established branch
guidelines.

3. To evaluate the portfolio for credit quality,
collectibility, and collateral sufficiency.

To determine the scope and adequacy of tf
audit function as it relates to the financing of
foreign receivables.

To recommend corrective action when poli-
cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
trols are deficient.
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Financing Foreign Receivables

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3080.3

1.

2.

4.

If selected for implementation, complete or
update the Internal Control Questionnaire.
Determine the scope of the examination
based on the evaluation of internal controls
and the work performed by internal and
external auditors.

. Test for compliance with policies, practices,

procedures, and internal controls in conjunc-
tion with performing the remaining exami-

nation procedures. Obtain a listing of any
deficiencies noted in the latest reviews by
internal and external auditors from the
examiner performing the audit assignment,
and determine if appropriate corrections
have been made.

Obtain the following information for:

a. Open Account Financing:

* Whether the shipment is directed to
third parties or branches and subsidi-
aries of the borrower.

 The financial strength and trustworthi-
ness of the overseas buyer.

The extent of foreign exchange control
and the availability of exchange for the
importer to effect payment.

» The branch’s past experience in deal-
ing with the borrower who sells on
open account.

b. Sales on Consignment:

* Whether the shipment is directed to
third parties or branches and subsidi-
aries of the obligor.

 The financial strength and trustworthi-
ness of the foreign consignee.

» The responsibilities of the foreign sales
agent, overseas representative, orimport
house under contract.

» The extent of foreign exchange control
and the availability of exchange for
that type of transaction in the country
of destination.

Whether the borrower’s goods without
a definite buyer are consigned abroad
in the name of the borrower’s bank or
a foreign bank.

Whether the goods being shipped are
assigned to a responsible warehouse.
Any arrangements that have been made
whereby the selling agent negotiates
for the sale of the goods.

The regulations in the country of des-
tination regarding the return of unsold
consigned goods to the country of
origin.

The branch’s past experience in deal-
ing with the borrower who sells on

consignment.

. Advances Against Collections:

The relationship between the amount
collected in a month on the collections
pledged as collateral and the borrow-
er's credit limit.

The tenor of sight drafts stated number
of days after sight or a stated numbel
of days after the date of the draft.
Instructions regarding delivery of docu-
ments against payment (D/P) or docu-
ments against acceptance (D/A).
Whether amounts advanced against col
lections are within the percentage of
advance limitation established.

Aging of drafts (collections).

Ineligible drawees, including house
bills.

Concentrations of drawees.

Financial strength of drawees.
Unusual situations such as disputes
nonacceptance of goods, and posse:
sion of goods without payment.
Dishonor and protest instructions.
Any special instructions.

The extent of foreign exchange con-
trols and the availability of exchange
for that type of transaction in the
country of destination.

The branch’s experience in dealing
with the borrower who receives
advances against collections.

. Discounted Trade Acceptances:

The relationship between the amount
collected in a month on the trade
acceptances discounted and the bol
rower’s credit limit.

Whether the branch discounted the
trade acceptance with or without
recourse.

Whether the borrower retains a per-
centage of the trade acceptance
endorsed to the branch.

Aging of trade acceptances.

Ineligible drawees, including house
bills.
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Concentrations of drawees.

Financial strength of the drawees.
Unusual situations, such as disputes,
nonacceptance of goods, and posses-
sion of goods without payment.
Dishonor and protest instructions.

Any special instructions.

The extent of foreign exchange con-
trols and the availability of exchange
for that type of transaction in the
country of destination.

The branch’s experience in dealing
with the borrower for whom its trade
acceptances are discounted by the
branch.

e. Banker’'s Acceptance Financing:

The relationship between the amount
collected from the foreign buyer in a
month and the borrower’s credit limit.
Whether the discounted draft drawn by
the exporter (customer) on the export-
er's bank has the same tenor as the
draft addressed to the foreign buyer.
The procedures for applying payment
received from the foreign buyer to pay
the branch’s own acceptance.

Aging of time drafts drawn on the
importer (drawee).

Ineligible foreign buyers (drawees),
including house bills.

Concentrations of foreign buyers
(drawees).

Financial strength of the foreign buy-
ers (drawees).

Disputes, nonacceptance of goods, and
possession of goods without payment.
Dishonor and protest instructions.
Any special instructions.

The extent of foreign exchange control
and the availability of exchange for
that type of transaction in the country
of destination.

The branch’s experience in dealing
with the borrower.

f. Factoring:

The extent of factor guarantees (letters
of credit opened by the branch in favor
of overseas suppliers).

Whether the title documents on import
transactions are consigned to or
endorsed over to the factor.

Whether the importer who receives

Whether the imported goods held under
warehouse receipt are stored in an
independent warehouse for the account
of the factor.

Whether banker’'s acceptances are
charged to the branch customer’s

account for payment to the factor when

due.

Whether the factor creates a banker’s
acceptance pending payment of
accounts receivable resulting from the

sale of goods imported under letters of
credit.

The financial strength of the importer

for whom the branch opened the letter
of credit.

Any disputes, nonacceptance of goods,
and possession of goods without

payment.

The branch’s experience in dealing

with the factor.

. Forfaiting:

» Agings of debtor accounts purchased.
* Ineligible debtor accounts purchased,
including affiliate receivables, if any.
Concentration of debtor accounts
purchased.

The adequacy of the branch’s credit
investigation before approving the sale
(or signing of a sales contract) creating
a receivable.

The financial strength of the debtor
accounts purchased.

The capability of the exporter from
whom receivables were purchased to
provide any required after-sales ser-
vice and to honor warranties.
Disputes and returns.

The extent of foreign exchange restric-
tions, availability of exchange, and
country risk involved that could jeop-
ardize collection of receivables
purchased.

The branch’s experience in dealing
with both the debtors and the exporter.

. U.S. and foreign receivables guarantee

and insurance plans:

» Whether foreign receivables coverage
by FCIA, Eximbank, or other insur-
ance or guarantee programs is suffi-
cient, adequately identifies risks, and is
consistent with established limits.

goods under trust receipt agrees to5. Analyze secondary support offered by guar-

hold them in trust for the factor.

antors and endorsers.

September 1997

Page 2

Branch and Agency Examination Manual



Financing Foreign Receivables: Examination Procedures 308(

6. Determine compliance with the branch’s
established loan policy.

7.

At

this point, the examiner needs to decide

g. Concentrations of credit.
h. Other matters regarding the condition of
the department.

whether further examination and testing is 9. Evaluate the branch with respect to:
needed. If further work is warranted, refer
to the audit guidelines. After reviewing the
audit guidelines, proceed to step 8.

. Discuss with appropriate officers and pre-

pare summaries in appropriate report form

of:
a.
b.

C.

0D

Delinquent loans.

Loans not supported by current and com-
plete financial information.

Loans on which documentation is
deficient.

. Loans with credit weaknesses.
. Inadequately collateralized loans.

a. The adequacy of written policies relating
to financing foreign receivables.

b. The manner in which branch officers are
operating in conformance with estab-
lished policy.

c. Adverse trends in those sections con
cerned with financing foreign receivables.

d. Recommended corrective action wher
policies, practices, or procedures are
deficient.

e. The competency of departmental
management,

f. Other matters of significance.

Criticized loans, including supporting 10. Update the workpapers with any informa-

commentaries.

tion that will facilitate future examinations.
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Financing Foreign Receivables

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3080.4

POLICIES

1.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

tion 9.

3.

Has the head office adopted policies that:

a. Establish procedures for reviewing financ-
ing applications?

b. Establish standards for determining credit
lines?

8. Are frequent debt instrument and liability

ledger trial balances prepared and recor
ciled monthly with control accounts by
employees who do not process or recort
loan transactions?

c. Establish standards for determining thedDQCUMENTATION

percentage of advances made against
9. Are terms, dates, weights, description of the

acceptable collections (receivables)?

d. Define acceptable receivables
(collections)?

e. Establish minimum requirements for veri-
fication of borrower’s
(collections)?

f. Establish minimum standards for docu-

mentation in accordance with the Uni-11.

form Commercial Code?

. Are policies reviewed at least annually to

determine if they are compatible with chang-
ing market conditions?

receivables 10.

merchandise, etc., shown on invoices, ship
ping documents, trust receipts, and bills of
lading scrutinized for differences?

Are procedures in effect to determine if the
signatures shown on the above document
are authentic?

Are payments received from customers scrt
tinized for differences in invoice dates,
numbers, terms, etc.?

LOAN INTEREST

If the following questions have been answered ii

the Credit Risk section (3010), skip to ques

If the following questions have been answered ifion 14.
the Credit Risk section (3010), skip to ques-

Is the preparation and posting of subsidiary
records performed or adequately reviewed
by persons who do not also:

a. Issue official checks or drafts?
b. Handle cash?

. Are subsidiary records reconciled, at least

monthly, with the appropriate general led-
ger accounts, and are reconciling items
adequately investigated by persons who do
not normally handle foreign receivables
financing?

foreign receivables financing received and

13.

12. Is the preparation and posting of loan inter

estrecords performed or adequately reviewe
by persons who do not also:

a. Issue official checks or drafts?

b. Handle cash?

Are independent interest computations mad
and compared or adequately tested to initia
loan interest records by persons who do nc
also:

a. Issue official checks or drafts?

b. Handle cash?

. Are inquiries regarding loan balances fotCOLLATERAL

investigated by persons who do not nor14. Does the branch record a first lien or

mally process documents, handle settle-
ments, or post records?

. Are bookkeeping adjustments checked andl5.

approved by an appropriate officer?

. Is a daily record maintained summarizing
transaction details, i.e., loans made, payi6.

ments received, and interest collected to
support applicable general ledger entries?

assigned foreign receivables for each bor
rower on a timely basis?

Do loans granted on the security of the
foreign receivables also have an assignmel
of the inventory?

Does the branch verify the borrower’s
receivables or require independent verifica
tion on a periodic basis?

Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Financing Foreign Receivables: Internal Control Questionnaire

17. Does the branch require the borrower t@2.

18.

19.

ADVANCES AGAINST

provide aged receivables schedules on a
periodic basis?
Are underlying bills of lading covering

shipments either to the order of the shippep3.

or blank endorsed to the order of the branch
rather than the foreign buyer?

Are the shipments being financed covereg,

by adequate insurance?

COLLECTIONS AND
DISCOUNTED TRADE
ACCEPTANCES

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

20.

30.

31.

36.

Are permanent registers kept for foreign
collections against which advances were

made or trade acceptances were discounted?.

Are all collections indexed in a collection
register?
Do these registers furnish a complete his-

tory of the origin and final disposition of 38.

each collection against which advances were
made or trade acceptances were discounted?

Are receipts issued to loan customers for a§9.

collections received from them?

Are serial numbers or prenumbered forms
assigned to each collection item and all
related papers?

Are all incoming tracers and inquiries
handled by an officer or employee not
connected with the processing of coIIections’?
Is a daily record maintained showing the
various collections that have been paid and
credited to the borrower’s advance?

Are proceeds of paid collections credited to
the correct customer’s advance?

Is an itemized daily summary made of all
interest charged and received from the
exporter or importer (drawee) indicating

underlying collection numbers and amounts?
Are payments collected from importers
(drawees) by foreign banks or branches of

35.

40.

42.

Is the employee handling collection pro-
ceeds required to apply them to the borrow-
er's advance on the same business day that
payment is received?

Is the disposition of each collection noted
on the register so that verification of dispo-
sition can be made?

Has a regular policy of follow-up proce-
dures been established for sending tracers
and inquiries on unpaid collections in the
hands of correspondents?

Should the foreign drawee refuse to honor
the draft, are instructions clear as to what
actions should be taken by the collecting
bank?

In the event of nonpayment of the collec-
tion, is the borrower promptly notified by
the branch?

Are collections against which advances have
been made or trade acceptances discounted
distinctly segregated from ordinary collec-
tion items?

Are financed collections maintained under
memorandum control and is the control
balanced regularly?

Are collections against which advances have
been made or trade acceptances discounted
booked by persons other than employees
handling those items?

Are collections carried over to the next
business day adequately secured?

1. Does the customer for whom trade accep-

tances were discounted know whether they
were purchased with or without recourse to
that customer?

Do all parties, i.e., the seller (exporter),
importer (buyer), and banks, clearly under-
stand whether interest, discount, and collec-
tion charges are to be absorbed by the seller
or paid by the importer?

U.S. banks forwarded directly to the branclFACTORING

and not through the exporter?

If the exporter accepts importer (drawee¥3.

payments directly, are controls established
or audits of exporter’s books conducted? If
so, explain briefly.
Are employees handling collections periodi-
cally rotated, without advance notification,
to other banking duties?

44.

Has the branch properly surrendered the
shipping documents to the factor either
through endorsement or consignment?

Do advances or banker’'s acceptances coin-
cide with the expected payment of the
accounts receivable by the ultimate
customer?

September 1997
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308(

FOREIGN CREDIT INSURANCE

ASSOCIATION INSURANCE

45

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

EXPORT-IMPORT BANK OF THE

. Is the branch aware of risks not covered4.

under its assigned FCIA insurance?

Does the branch monitor whether the bor-
rower exceeded its FCIA established credit
limits?

Does the branch monitor whether the bor-
rower properly assigned the proceeds of its
FCIA insurance to the branch?
Is the branch aware of whether the FCIA
insurance is on either simple notice or a
special assignment basis?
Does the branch retain recourse to the
exporter under its FCIA arrangement?

Has the branch reported delinquencies tgy.

FCIA in accordance with its agreement with
the Association?

If default occurs, does the branch file a
proper claim with FCIA?

55.

56.

53. If the branch has discretionary authority

from Eximbank, does it nevertheless inform
Eximbank of each transaction thereunder?
If the branch has been issued an equipme
political risk guarantee by Eximbank, does
it have a written statement from the govern-
ment of the country in which the equipment
will be used indicating that it will permit the
importation, use, and any subsequent expo
tation of the equipment?

Does the branch monitor whether loan agree
ments between applicable borrowers an
the branch are acceptable to Eximbank?
Does the branch report delinquencies t
Eximbank in a timely manner, as specified
in its agreement with that agency?

If default occurs, does the branch file ¢
proper claim with Eximbank?

CONCLUSION

UNITED STATES

52.

Does the branch, financing under Eximbank
arrangements,
Eximbank guarantees or commitments cov-
ering transactions?

have properly execute89.

58. Is the information covered by this ICQ

adequate for evaluating internal controls in
this area? If not, indicate any additional
examination procedures deemed necessar
Based on the information gathered, evaluat
the internal controls in this area (i.e. strong
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
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Financing Foreign Receivables

Audit Guidelines
Effective date July 1997

Section 3080.5

1. Test the addition of trial balances and their

reconciliation to the general ledger. Include
loan commitments and other contingent
liabilities. 3.

2. If memoranda controls are maintained, pre-

pare a trial balance of each account so

controlled. Using an appropriate sampling

technique, select representative items and:

a. Review all supporting documents.

b. Verify the authenticity of each item
selected and trace and clear each item
through final payment, including appropri-
ate credit to the customer’s account.

c. In the case of unusual, altered, or long-
standing items, prepare and mail confir-
mation requests to customers.

d. Examine financing instruments for com-
pleteness and verify dates, amounts, ang
items to the trial balance. '

. Check to see that financing instruments
are signed, appear to be genuine, and a;oe
negotiable. '

f. Check to see that required initials of an
approved lending officer are on the financ-
ing instrument.

g. Determine that the amount is within the
officer’s lending limit.

h. Determine that any necessary insurance
coverage is adequate and that the branch
is named as loss payee.

i. Review disbursement ledgers and autho-
rizations to determine if:

« Authorizations are signed in accordance
with the terms of the loan agreement.
 Collection funds received are credits in
accordance with provisions of the bor-

rower’s loan agreement.

j. Determine that records are posted promptly
on collections settled, preferably on the
same day they are received.

Review the applicable accrued

accounts by:

a. Reviewing and testing procedures of
accounting for accrued interest and for
handling adjustments.

b. Scanning accrued interest for any unusue
entries and following up on any unusual
items by tracing them to initial and sup-
porting records.

c. Independently calculating for those credit
extensions selected in step 2, the amour
of accrued interest and confirming the
amount to the detail of accrued interes
receivable for that loan.

Using a list of nonaccruing loans, check

accrual records to determine that interes

income is not being recorded.

Test appropriate records to determine the

discount, commissions, fees, and collectior

charges are in accordance with establishe
amounts and that the income accounts ar
properly credited.

interes

6. Obtain or prepare a schedule showing th

monthly interest income amounts and appli-

cable loan balances at each month-end sinc

the last audit and:

a. Calculate yield.

b. Investigate significant fluctuations and
trends.
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Other Real Estate Owned _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3090.1

A branch’s authority to hold real estate restENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY
with the laws of its respective state (if state
licensed) or the National Banking Act (if feder- Under federal and state environmental liability
ally licensed). State and federal laws and regustatutes, a branch may be liable for cleaning u
lations may dictate accounting procedures, maxhazardous substance contamination of other re
mum holding periods, and other details relating:state owned. In some cases, the liability ma
to other real estate owned. Examiners shouldrise before the branch takes title to a borrow
follow the most recent interagency guidelinesr’s collateral real estate. A property’s transitior
when verifying the proper identification, report-from collateral to branch ownership may take ar
ing, valuation, and accounting for disposal ofextended period of time. As the financial prob-
other real estate owned (OREO). lems facing a borrower worsen, a branch ma
Relevant interagency joint statements includ®ecome more involved in managing a compan
“Interagency Guidance on Accounting foror property. Such involvement may become
Dispositions of Other Real Estate Owned,”extensive enough that the branch is deemed |
dated July 16, 1993, and “Interagency Guidanc&ave met substantially all ownership criteria, the
on Reporting of In-Substance Foreclosures,absence of a clear title in the branch’s name
dated June 10, 1993. In addition, refer to th@otwithstanding. Generally, the more involved
final rule entitled “Real Estate Lending Stan-branch management is in such activity, the
dards,” promulgated by the Federal Reserv@reater the branch’'s exposure to any futur
Board, FDIC, OTS, and OCC in Decemberclean-up costs assessed in connection with tf
1992. See Final Rule, 57 Fed. Reg. 6289@roperty. A more thorough discussion of envi-
(December 31, 1992). The various state antbnmental liability can be found in the Real
federal agencies may differ in terms of specifi&state Loans section of this manual.
practices and methodologies used to implement
the above guidelines. For further guidance in

thi , i hould It with thei
respoctive agenciss. oot M T R ANSFER OF ASSETS TO

Real property becomes other real estate ownéaTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED
through: Real estate assets transferred to OREO shou
be accounted for individually on the date of
transfer, at the lower of the recorded investmern
in the loan or fair value. The recorded invest-
Exchange for future advances to an existingnent in a loan is the unpaid balance, increase
borrower to fully or partially satisfy debts by accrued and uncollected interest, unamor
previously contracted,; tized premium, finance charges, and loan

. acquisition costs, if any, and decreased by pre

Purchase to secure debts previously contractegioys write-downs and unamortized discount, i
any. Any excess of the recorded investment it
the loan over the property’s fair value must be
« Abandonment of plans to use real estatéharged against the allowance for loan and leas
acquired for future expansion for bankinglosses immediately upon the property’s transfe
premises. to OREO. Legal fees should generally be charge
to expenses unless payment of the fees is for tt

Although the borrower may still retain pos-purpose of enhancing the property’s value (fol
session and legal title to the property, certai®xample, obtaining a zoning variance).
troubled loans secured by real estate are consid-Establishing a valuation allowance for esti-
ered to be “insubstance foreclosures” and arenated selling expenses may also be necesse
also treated as other real estate owned. Awmpon transferring each property to OREO tc
insubstance foreclosure situation is generallgomply with AICPA Statement of Position 92-3,
characterized by a borrower with little or noAccounting for Foreclosed Assets. According tc
equity and the sale of the property is the onlythis pronouncement, the value of OREO prop
source of repayment. erties must be reported at the lesser of the fa

» Conveyance in satisfaction of debts previ
ously contracted;

Relocation of branch premises; or

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3090.1 Other Real Estate Owned

value minus estimated selling expenses or th®@REO, it is common practice to use the terms
recorded investment in the loan. For example, iffair value” and “market value” interchange-
the recorded investment of the property is $125bly. When no active market exists for a prop-
the fair value is $100, and the estimated sellingrty, the accounting industry’s definition of fair
expenses are $6, the carrying value for thisalue applies because the appraiser cannot deter-
property would be $94. The difference betweemine a market value. The accounting industry
the recorded investment and the fair value ($25)efinition requires the appraisal or evaluation to
would be charged to the allowance for loan andontain an estimate of the property’s fair value
lease losses at the time the property was tranbased on a forecast of expected cash flows,
ferred to OREO. In addition, since the branchdiscounted at a rate commensurate with the risks
estimated it would incur selling expenses of $6involved. The cash flow estimate should include
a valuation reserve for this amount must berojected revenues and the costs of ownership,
established. The net of the fair value and thislevelopment, operation, marketing, and sale. In
valuation reserve for selling expenses is calleduch situations, the appraiser or evaluator should
the “net realizable value,” and in this examplefully describe the definition of value and the
would be $94. Changes to this valuation reservmarket conditions that have been considered in
should be handled as outlined in the subsectioastimating the property’s value.

“Accounting for Subsequent Changes in Market When a branch acquires a property through
Value.” foreclosure as a junior lienholder, whether or not

On the other hand, if the recorded investmerihe first lien has been assumed, the fair value of
in the property is $250, the fair value is $300the property should be recorded as an asset and
and the estimated selling expenses are $18, t#ae senior debt as a liability. The senior debt
carrying value of this property would be $250should not be netted against the assets. Any
(the lesser of the recorded investment or the fafxcess of the recorded investment of the prop-
value). In this example, a valuation reserve fofrty over the fair value should be charged off, as
estimated selling expenses is unnecessary, H recorded investment may not exceed the sum
netting the estimated selling expenses ($18)f the junior and senior debt. Payments made on

from the fair value ($300) would yield a netSenior debt should be accounted for by reducing
realizable value of $282. both the asset and the liability, and interest that
. . ccrues on the senior debt after foreclosure
The tEansfer O.f a I_oan to OREO IS <_:on5|dere§hou|d be recognized as interest expense.
to be a “transaction involving an existing exten- .
For regulatory reporting purposes, a collateral-

sion of credit” under 12 CFR 225.63(a)(7) and
is exempt from Regulation Y’s appraisal require_dependent real estate loan should be transferred

ment. However, under 12 CFR 225.63(b), thé0 OREQ _only when the lender has taken pos-
branch must obtain an “appropriate evaluation”>€ssion (title) of the collateral. Nevertheless, to

of the real estate that is “consistent with Safefacnnate administration and tracking, branches

and sound banking practices” to establish th‘?;i?/eg?;?li;r?iAnfiizdgRaEéogg:t?‘inilt_)d:spEg?:r?-t
carrying value of the OREO. A branch MaY il or probable OREO. Examiners should review

elect, but is not required, to obtain an apprais_a} ese loans using the same criteria applied to
to serve as the “appropriate evaluation.” Unt”)g)REO

the evaluation is available, a branch should rel
on its best estimate of the property’s value to
establish the carrying value. The federal bank-
ing agencies have issued appraisal and evalua-

tion guidelines to provide guidance to examinCARRYING VALUE OF OTHER

ing personnel and federally regulated institution:REAL ESTATE OWNED

regarding prudent appraisal and evaluation poli-

cies, procedures, practices, and standards. o pranch should have a policy for periodically
The appraisal or evaluation should provide amdetermining the fair value of its OREO property

estimate of the parcel's market value. Refer tdy obtaining an appraisal or an evaluation, as

Real Estate Loans section of this manual for appropriate. While the Federal Reserve has no

definition of market value. Generally, marketprescribed time frame for when a branch should

value and fair value are equivalent when ameappraise or reevaluate its OREO property, the

active market exists for a property. In discussindpranch’s policy should conform to state or

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
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Other Real Estate Owned 3090.1

federal law, if applicable, and address the volaDepreciation in OREO Property Value
tility of the local real estate market. Specifically,

a branch should determine if there have beefssume a branch has written down its initial

material changes to the underlying assumptiongcorded investment in an OREO property fromn
in the appraisal or valuation that have affected 125 to its fair value of $100. Since the fair
the original estimate of value. If material changega|ye of the property was less than the initia
have occurred, the branch should obtain a neyscorded investment, a valuation reserve fo
appraisal or evaluation based on assumptionsstimated selling expenses was established.
that reflect the changed conditions. this example, assume these to be $6. Accorc
ingly, the net realizable value was $94 ($10C
minus $6). Next, assume a new appraisal indi
cates a fair value of $90, reducing the estimate

ACCOUNTING FOR SUBSEQUENT selling expenses to $5. Although the branct

must expense the depreciation in the fair valui
CHANGES IN MARKET VALUE ($10), the valuation reserve for selling expense

Charges for subsequent declines in the fairvaluWOUId be reduced by the difference in the

Estimate of the selling expenses ($1). Given thi
of OREO property should never be posted to thgcenario the “adjus%ed”pnet regliz)able value
allowance for loan and lease losses. If a !

appraisal or evaluation indicates a subsequer\r}l\fOUIOI be $85 ($90 minus $5).

decline in the fair value of an OREO property,
the loss in value should be recognized by a
charge to earnings. Branches should attempt #ppreciation in OREO Property Value
determine whether a property’s decline in value
is temporary or permanent, taking into considassume a branch has written down its recorde
eration each property’s characteristics and exisfnvestment in an OREO property to its fair value
ing market dynamics. The preferred treatmengf $100. Since the fair value of the property was
for permanent losses in value is the direcless than the original recorded investment, a
write-down method, in which the charge toestimated valuation reserve for selling expense
expenses is offset by a reduction in the OREQf $6 was established. Accordingly, the net
property’s carrying value. If the reduction inrealizable value was $94. A new appraisa
value is deemed temporary, the charge to earfhdicates an increase in the fair value of the
ings may be offset by establishing a valuatiorproperty to $110, with selling expenses now
allowance specifically for that property. In theestimated at $7. As a result, the net realizabl
event of subsequent appreciation in the value Qfgjuye is now $103. Given that the new net
an OREO property, the increase can only beealizable value is greater than the recorde
reflected by reducing this valuation allowance ofnvestment of $100, the selling expense valua
recognizing a gain upon disposition, but nevefion reserve is no longer necessary and the $
by a direct write-up of the property’s value. A can be reversed to income. Notwithstanding th
change to the valuation allowance should b@roperty’s increased fair value, the recordec
offset with a debit or credit to expense in theinvestment value cannot be increased abov
period in which it occurs. $100. The valuation reserve for selling expense
In addition to the preceding treatment of thecan never be less than zero, thus prohibiting a
write-down in the OREO value, the previousincrease in the value of the property above th
subsection “Transfer of Assets to Other Realecorded investment.
Estate Owned” discusses setting up a valuation
allowance for estimated selling expenses asso-
ciated with the sale of the other real estate. The
balance of this valuation reserve can fluctuatdCCOUNTING FOR INCOME AND
based on changes in the fair value of th&XPENSE
property held, but it can never be less than zero.
The following examples are presented to illusGross revenue from other real estate owne
trate the treatment that subsequent depreciatiahould be recognized in the period in which it is
and appreciation would have on OREOearned. Direct costs incurred in connection witt
properties. holding an OREO property, including legal fees,
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3090.1 Other Real Estate Owned

real estate taxes, depreciation, and direct writtdREO property begins on the day that plans for

downs, should be charged to expense whefuture use are formally terminated. Some states

incurred. require OREO property to be written off or
A branch can expend funds to develop andepreciated on a scheduled basis, or to be

improve OREO when it appears reasonable taritten off at the end of a specified time period.

expect that any shortfall between the property'She branch should determine whether such

fair value and the branch’s recorded book valugequirements exist and comply with them.

will be reduced by an amount equal to or greater

than the expenditure. Such expenditures should

not be used for speculation in real estate. The

economic assumptions relating to the branch'da CCOUNTING FOR THE SALE OF
decision to improve a particular OREO property0THER REAL ESTATE OWNED

should be well documented. Any payments for

developing or improving OREO property arécains and losses resulting from a sale of OREO

treated as capital expenditures and should operties for cash must be recognized imme-

reflected by increasing the property’s Ca”yi”jSately. A gain resulting from a sale in which

value. the branch provides financing should be
accounted for under the standards described in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 66

DISPOSITION OF OTHER REAL  (SFAS 66). _ _ _
ESTATE OWNED SFAS 66 recognizes that differences in terms

of the sale and in selling procedures lead to

OREO property must be disposed of within am;iifferent profit recognition criteria and methods.
holding period established by state law and, ifpranches may facilitate the sale of foreclosed
any case, as soon as it is prudent and reasonadigd! estate by requiring little or no down pay-
Branches should maintain documentation reflecfl€Nt: or by offering loans with favorable terms.
ing their efforts to dispose of OREO property,”0fit shall only be recognized in full when the
which should include a record of inquiries andcP!lectibility of the sales price is reasonably
offers made by potential buyers, methods use@nsured and when the seller is not obligated to
in advertising the property for sale whether b)perform significant activities after the sale to

the branch or its agent, and other informatior$a'n the profit. Unless both conditions exist,
reflecting sales efforts. recognition of all or part of the profit shall be

The sale or disposition of OREO property iSdeferred. Collectibility of the sale price of OREO

considered a real estate-related financial trang_roperty is demonstrated when the buyer's

action under the Board’s appraisal regulation. Anvestment is sufficient to assure that th_e b_uyer
sale or disposition of an OREO property tha ill be motivated to honor his or her_obllgatlon
qualifies as a federally related transaction und the _sz_a_ller rather than lose the investment,
the regulation requires an appraisal conformin ollectibility shall also be assessed by consid-
to the regulation. A sale or disposition that doe ring factors such as _the credit standing of the
not qualify as a federally-related transactio uyer, age and location of the property, and
nonetheless must comply with the regulation bﬁdequacy O,f cash flow fr.o.m the prOF’e”V-
having an appropriate evaluation of the real The practice of recognizing all profit from the
estate, that is consistent with safe and sourtfle of branch-financed OREO at the time of the
banking practices. sale is referred to as the full-accrual method. A

The branch should promptly dispose of OREGranch shall not recognize profit using this
if it can recover the amount of its original loan method until all of the following general criteria
plus additional advances and other costs relatéf® Met:
to the loan or the OREO property before the end )
of the legal holding period. The holding period® A Salé is consummated.
generally begins on the date that legal title to the The buyer’s initial and continuing investments
property is transferred to the branch, except for adequately demonstrate a commitment to pay
real estate that has become OREO because thdor the property.
branch no longer contemplates using it as its The branch’s loan is not subject to future
premises. The holding period for this type of subordination.
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e The branch has transferred to the buyer th§he |Installment Method
usual risks and rewards of ownership in a
transaction that is in substance a sale, and fthis method is used when the buyer's dowr
has no substantial continuing involvement irpayment is insufficient to allow the full-accrual
the property. method, but when recovery of the cost of the
property is reasonably assured if the buye
A sale will not be considered consummatediefaults. The installment method recognizes th
until the parties are bound by the terms of th&ale of the property and the booking of the
contract, all consideration has been exchangedorresponding loan, although profits from the
and all conditions precedent to closing haveale are recognized only as the branch receive
been performed. payments from the buyer. Under this method

Initial investment, as defined by SFAS 66,interest income is recognized on an accruz
includes only cash down payments, notes sugasis, when appropriate.
ported by irrevocable letters of credit from an Since default on the loan usually results in the
independent lending institution, payments bygeller (the branch) reacquiring the real estate, tr
the buyer to third parties to reduce existing debpranch is reasonably assured that it will be abl
on the property, and other amounts paid by tht recover its costs with a relatively small down
buyer that are part of the sale price. In thespayment. Cost recovery is especially likely wher
situations, SFAS 66 requires that profit on thdoans are made to buyers who have verifiable ne
sale be deferred until a minimum down paymenworth, liquid assets, and income levels adequat
has been received and annual payments equg|service the loan. Reasonable assurance of cc
those for a loan for a similar type of propertyrecovery also may be achieved when the buye
with a customary amortization period. Thepledges adequate additional collateral.
amount of down payment required varies by
category of property: land, 20-25 percent; com-
mercial and industrial, 10-25 percent; multifam-The Cost-Recovery Method
ily residential, 10-25 percent; and single-family
residential, 5-10 percent. Ranges within thesgispositions of OREO that do not qualify for
categories are defined further in the statemenigjther the full-accrual or installment methods are
Continuing investment requires the buyer tasometimes accounted for using the cost-recovel
be contractually obligated to make level annuaiethod. This method recognizes the sale of th
payments on his or her total debt for the purproperty and the booking of the corresponding
chase price of the property. This level annualoan, but all income recognition is deferred.
payment must be able to service principal an®rincipal payments are applied by reducing th
interest payments amortized for no more than 2@an balance, and interest payments are account
years for raw land, and for no more than thefor by increasing the unrecognized gross profit
customary amortization term for a first-mortgageNo profit or interest income is recognized until
loan by an independent lending institution foreither the buyer's aggregate payments excee
other types of real estate. the recorded amount of the loan or a change t
If a branch finances the sale of foreclosed@nother accounting method (for example, th
property it owns with a loan at less than currentnstallment method) is appropriate. Conse:
market interest rates or noncustomary amortizgiuently, the loan is maintained on nonaccrua
tion terms, generally accepted accounting prinstatus while this method is being used.
ciples require that the loan be discounted to
bring its yield to a market rate, using a custom-
ary amortization schedule. This discount willThe Reduced Profit Method
either increase the loss or reduce the gain
resulting from the transaction. Interest income ishis method is used in certain situations whei
over the life of the loan. but the loan amortization schedule does nc
If a transaction does not qualify for the meet the requirements for use of the full-accrue
full-accrual accounting method, SFAS 66 idenimethod. The branch again recognizes the sale
tifies alternative methods of accounting for salethe property and the booking of the correspond
of OREO property as described below. ing loan but, as under the installment method
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3090.1 Other Real Estate Owned

profits from the sale are recognized only as the When evaluating the OREO property for
branch receives payments from the buyer. Sinadassification purposes, the examiner must con-
sales with adequate down payments generallider the property’s market value, whether it is
are not structured with inadequate loanbeing held in conformance with state law, and
amortization schedules, this method is seldorwhether it is being disposed of according to the
used. branch’s plan. The amount of an OREO prop-
erty subject to classification is the carrying value
of the property, net of any specific valuation
The Deposit Method allowance. The existence of a specific valuation
allowance does not preclude adverse classifica-

This method is used when a sale of OREO hatéon of OREQ. The examiner should review all
not been consummated. It also may be used f&¥Pes of OREOQ for classification purposes,
dispositions that could be accounted for undefcluding sales that fail to meet the standards
the cost-recovery method. Under this method, Kauired for the full-accrual method of account-
sale is not recorded, so the asset continues to B¥J- When the branch provides financing, the
reported as OREO. Further, no profit or interesg*aminer should determine whether it is pru-
income is recognized. Payments received froff€ntly underwritten. _
the buyer are reported as a liability until the use The examiner should review all relevant fac-
of one of the other methods is appropriate.  tors to determine the quality and risk of the
Branches may promote the sale of foreclose@REO property and the degree of probability
real estate by offering nonrecourse financing téhat its carrying value will be realized. Some
buyers. These loans should be made under tfiactors the examiner should consider include :
same credit terms and underwriting standards ) ) ]
the branch employs for its regular lending® The property’s carrying value relative to its
activity. Financing arrangements associated with market value (including the date of any
this type of transaction are subject to the account- @ppraisal or evaluation relative to changes in
ing treatment discussed above. market conditions), the branch’s asking price,
Branch records should (1) indicate the account- and offers received;
ing method used for each sale of OREO, (2) sup- The source and quality of the appraisal or
port the choice of the method selected, and evaluation, including the reasonableness of
(3) sufficiently document that the institution is assumptions, such as projected cash flow for
correctly reporting associated notes receivable, commercial properties;
as either loans or OREO property, with valua= The length of time a property has been on the
tion allowances as appropriate. market and local market conditions for the
type of property involved, such as history and
trend of recent sales for comparable properties;

CLASSIFICATION OF OTHER » Branch management'’s ability and track record
REAL ESTATE OWNED in liquidating other real estate and assets
acquired in satisfaction of debts previously
The examiner should generally evaluate the contracted;
quality of each OREO property to determine if* Income and expenses generated by the prop-
classification is appropriate. OREO usually erty and other economic factors affecting the
should be considered a problem asset, evenprobability of loss exposure;
when it is carried at or below its appraised values The manner in which the branch intends to
Despite the apparent adequacy of the fair or dispose of the property; and
market value, the branch’s acquisition of OREQ Other pertinent factors, including property-
through foreclosure usually indicates a lack of title problems, statutory redemption privi-
demand. As time passes, the lack of demand canleges, pending changes in the property’s zon-
become more apparent, and the value of the realing, environmental hazards, other liens, tax
estate can become increasingly questionable. status, and insurance.
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Other Real Estate Owned

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3090.2

1. To determine if the policies, practices, pro4. To determine the scope and adequacy of th
cedures, and internal controls regarding other internal/external audit function.
real estate owned are adequate. 5. To determine compliance with applicable
2. To determine that branch officers and laws and regulations.
employees are operating in conformance witlé. To recommend corrective action when poli-

the established guidelines. cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
3. To verify the carrying value of all other real trols are deficient or when violations of law
estate owned. or regulations have been noted.
Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Other Real Estate Owned

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3090.3

. If included in the scope of the examination,
complete or update the Internal Control
Questionnaire.
. Test for compliance with policies, practices,
procedures, and internal controls in conjunc-
tion with performing the remaining examina-
tion procedures. Obtain a listing of any audit
deficiencies noted in the latest review by
internal/external auditors, and determine if
appropriate corrections have been made.

. Obtain a list of other real estate owned and

reconcile the total to the general ledger.

. Review the other real estate owned account

to determine if any property has been dis-

posed of since the prior examination and:

a. If so, determine that:

* The branch accepted written bids for the
property.

¢ The bids are maintained on file.

e There is justification for accepting a
lower bid if the branch did not accept 6
the highest one.

b. Investigate any insider transactions.

. Test compliance with applicable laws and

regulations:

a. Determine that other real estate owned is
held in accordance with the provisions of
applicable state or federal laws and
regulations.

. Determine if other real estate is being
amortized or written off in compliance

with applicable state or federal laws and7.

regulations.

. Consult with the examiners assigned to
“Loan Portfolio Management,” “Other
Assets (and Other Liabilities),” and “Bank
Premises and Equipment” to determine:

If the branch holds real estate acquired

as salvage on uncollectible loans, aban-

doned bank premises, or property origi-

nally purchased for future expansion bui8.

which is no longer intended for such
usage.

If troubled real estate loans meeting the
criteria for in-substance foreclosures and
covered transactions are identified.
If covered transactions and in-substance
foreclosures are being properly
accounted for and reported as other real
estate owned.

9.

d. Review the details of all other real estate
owned transactions to determine that:

e The property has been booked at its fail
value.

The documentation reflects the branch’s

persistent and diligent effort to dispose

of the property.

If the branch has made expenditures t

improve and develop other real estate

owned, proper documentation is in the
file.

Real estate that is former banking prem:

ises has been accounted for as other re

estate owned since the date of its aban
donment.

Such property is disposed of in accor-

dance with state or federal laws and

regulations, including Regulation Y.

The valuation is not affected by an

Environmental Protection Agency issue.

. Review parcels of other real estate owne

with appropriate management personnel anc

if justified, assign appropriate classification.

Classification comments should include:

a. Description of property.

b. How and when real estate was acquired.

c. Amount and date of appraisal.

d. Amount of any offers and branch’s asking
price.

Other circumstances pertinent to the clas

sification.

Review the following with appropriate man-

agement personnel or prepare a memo t

other examiners for their use in reviewing

with management:

a. Internal control exceptions and deficiencie:
in, or noncompliance with, written poli-
cies, practices, and procedures.

b. Uncorrected audit deficiencies.

c. Violations of law.

Prepare comments in appropriate report forr

for all:

a. Criticized other real estate owned.

b. Deficiencies noted.

c. Violations of law.

Update the workpapers with any information

that will facilitate future examinations.

e.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual

September 1997
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Other Real Estate Owned
Internal Control Questionnaire

Effective date July 1997 Section 3090.4
OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED e. Anticipated methods for disposal of
RECORDS property?

1.

f. Changes in tax status, zoning restric-
Are postings to the general ledger account tions, other liens, etc.?
for other real estate owned approved and/or
tested, prior to posting, by persons who do

not have direct, physical, or accounting,OTHER PROCEDURES
control of those assets?

. Are the subsidiary records for other real 7 pges the branch have written policies an

estate owne_d balanced at least quarterly to procedures relating to other real estat
the appropriate general ledger accounts by 4 ned?

persons who do not have direct, physical, org poes the branch factor in Environmental

accounting control of those assets? Protection Agency issues and their impac
. Are supporting documents maintained for .\ aiuation into its policies?

all entries to other real estate owned

accounts?
. Are acquisitions and disposals of other real

estate owned reported to senior managd=ONCLUSION
ment at the head office?

5. Does the branch maintain insurance cover-9. Is the information covered by this 1CQ
age on other real estate owned, including adequate for evaluating internal controls ir
liability coverage where necessary? this area? If not, indicate any additional

6. Are all parcels of other real estate owned examination procedures deemed necessal
reviewed at least annually for: 10. Based on the information gathered, evaluat
a. Current appraisal or certification? the internal controls in this area (i.e. strong
b. Documentation inquiries and offers? satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
c. Documented sales efforts?

d. Evidence of the prudence of additional
advances?
Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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Other Real Estate Owned

Audit Guidelines .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3090.5

1. Test the additions of the subsidiary ledger8. Using appropriate sampling techniques
and reconcile the total to the general ledger. select specific properties, and for expense
Include insubstance foreclosures and prop- incurred in maintaining the properties or

erty sold in “covered transactions.” capitalized costs of improvement and
2. Using appropriate sampling techniques, select development:
specific properties and determine that: a. Trace the transaction to any previous
a. Legal title to the property is obtained records and to postings in the genera
when the asset is recorded as other real ledger.
estate owned. b. Examine documentation supporting the
b. Legal fees and direct costs of acquiring transaction and prove any computations
title, including payment of existing liens, reflected on the supporting document.

taxes, and recording fees are expensed
when incurred and are not capitalized.

c. Insurance, including liability coverage, is
adequate and the branch is named as loss
payee.
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Real Estate Loans _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3100.1

Real estate lending is a major function of soméstration procedures, and credit risk control pro:
branches. However, the composition of reatedures as well as the branch’s compliance wit
estate loan portfolios will vary from branch toits policy.
branch because of differences in strategic direc- On March 19, 1993, a uniform rule on real
tion, asset size, lending experience, market comstate lending by insured depository institution:
ditions, and location. This section of the manuapromulgated by the federal banking agencie
deals with the permanent financing of residentidbecame effective. Although the rule does no
and commercial real estate. Also included in thiglirectly apply to uninsured branches, it shoulc
section are discussions on real estate appraiséls used as a general supervisory guide whe
and environmental liability. Real estate construcreviewing loan portfolios, procedures, and prac
tion lending is discussed separately in the foltices at all branches. The rule requires eac
lowing section of this manual. insured depository institution to adopt and main:
Due to the differences in individual statetain comprehensive written real estate lending
banking laws, this section of the manual projpolicies that are consistent with safe and soun
vides a general overview of the supervisory anthanking practices, are appropriate to the size c
regulatory requirements for a safe and sounthe institution, and the nature and scope of it
real estate lending program. For information oroperations. The policies must establish loan-tc
lending limitations and restrictions, refer to thevalue limits; loan administration procedures;
applicable banking laws and regulations thaportfolio diversification standards; and documen
govern federally-insured and state-licensetation, approval, and reporting requirements
branches. The policies adopted by the branch shoulc
reflect consideration of the Interagency Guide
lines for Real Estate Lending Policies estab
lished by the federal banking agencies. In addi
REAL ESTATE LENDING POLICY tion to the requirements of the uniform rule, a
branch’s real estate lending policy should include
The branch’s real estate lending policy is grincipal amortization terms acceptable for eacl
broad statement of the standards, guidelines, atype of real estate loan that the branch undel
limitations that senior branch management andrites. Branch management should also ensui
lending officers are expected to adhere to in ththat loans are granted with the reasonabl
process of making a real estate loan. The mairexpectation that the borrowers will be able anc
tenance of prudent written lending policieswilling to meet the repayment terms. Any loan
effective internal systems and controls, andhat does not follow this principle should be
thorough loan documentation is essential to theegarded as an unsound banking practice, regar
branch’s management of the real estate lendirigss of the collateral value and favorable ratio o
function. collateral value to the outstanding loan. While
The policies governing a branch’s real estatéhere is no single lending policy appropriate for
lending activities must include prudent underall branches, there are basic elements that
writing standards that are periodically reviewedranch should consider in formulating its policy,
by head office management and clearly communcluding:
nicated to the branch’s management and lending
staff. The branch should also have credit risk Allocation of funds (i.e., maximum exposure)
control procedures that include, for example, for real estate lending;
prudent internal limits on exposure and arr Definition of acceptable loans that the branct
effective credit review and problem loan identi- would consider making and the minimum
fication process. The complexity and scope of terms that are acceptable to the branch (i.e
these policies and procedures should be appro-amortization rates and cash flow coverage
priate to the size of the branch and the nature of ratio by loan type);
the branch’s activities, and should be consistent Geographic area in which the branch will
with prudent banking practices and relevant consider lending;
regulatory requirements. As part of the analysis Minimum standards for credit analysis and
of a branch’s real estate loan portfolio, examin- loan documentation, including real estate
ers should review lending policies, loan admin- appraisal and evaluation policies;

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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3100.1 Real Estate Loans

* Minimum credit criteria that a borrower mustthis task is even more evident in real estate

meet for the credit to be considered by thdending activity. Many institutions reduce their

branch; funding risk by entering into loan participations

Maximum loan amounts and loan maturitiesand sales with other institutions and asset secu-

that can be extended on a given property typeitization transactions.

« Maximum aggregate loan amounts that may For a detailed discussion on short-term financ-
be extended for a given category of real estatiédg, see the manual section on Real Estate

loans and for all other real estate loans; Construction Loans.
* Required pricing structure for each type of
loan;

.

Definition of lending authorities and loan UNSOUND LENDING PRACTICES
approval process;
Structure and procedures for administratingsome institutions have adversely affected their
the disbursement and servicing of the branch’nancial condition and performance by granting
real estate loan portfolio; loans based on ill-conceived real estate projects.
* System for monitoring troubled loans; Apart from losses due to unforeseen economic
Regular review of procedures and practices tdownturns, these losses have generally been the
ensure compliance with the branch’s lendingesult of poor or lax underwriting standards and
policy and safe and sound lending practicesmproper management of the institution’s over-
and all real estate loan portfolio.
Procedures for originating and purchasing A principal indication of an unsound lending
loans with loan-to-value ratios in excess ofpractice is an improper relationship between the
those limits discussed in the Interagencyoan amount and the market value of the prop-
Guidelines for Real Estate Lending Policieserty; for example, a high loan-to-value ratio in
based on the support provided by other creditelation to normal lending practice for a similar
factors. type of property. Other unsafe and unsound
lending practices include the failure of the
institution to examine the borrower’s debt ser-

vice ability, or inappropriate loan structure such
REAL ESTATE LENDING as capitalizing interest on a term loan, not

ACTIVITY AND RISKS requiring principal amortization, or “ever-

. . green” lending—i.e. extending a short-term loan
Real estate lending falls into two broad categogyr |ong-term purposes. For a commercial real
ries: short-term financing (i.e., constructionggate loan, sound underwriting practices are
loans) and permanent financing (€.9., a 30-ye¥itical to the detection of problems in the
residential mortgage or 10-year balloon morty giacr's plans, such as unrealistic income
gage on an existing commercial office building) 5ssumptions, substandard project design, poten-
Each type of lending carries with it uniqueyig| construction problems, and a poor marketing

underwriting risks and common risks associated|a that will affect the feasibility of the project.
with any type of lending. In all cases, the branc

should understand the credit risks and structure

of the proposed transaction, even if it is not thﬁ?EAL ESTATE LOAN PORTEOLIO

originating lender. This policy includes, at a
minimum, evaluating the financial strength of CONCENTRATION RISK

the borrower to repay the debt and the value of ) o

the underlying real estate collateral. A branch should have in place effective internal
Permanent financing, as the name implies, iOlicies, systems, and controls to monitor and

long-term in nature and presents a funding risk’anage its real estate loan portfolio risk. An

because a branch’s source of funds is generalljdication of improper management of a branch’s

of a shorter maturity. Accordingly, branch man-Portfolio is an excessive concentration in loans

agement should be aware of the source for

funding this lending activity. While matching ——————
1. See the section on Asset Securitization for additional

the maturity structures of assets to liabilities is i g .
information, including information on mortgage-backed secu-

particularly _important for a brahCh’s overall ities (MBSS), collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs),
loan portfolio management, the importance ofnd real estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICS).

.
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Real Estate Loans 3100.1

to one borrower or related borrowers, in oneand remitting the funds to the insurance com
type of real estate loan, or in a geographipany and taxing authority.
location outside the branch’s designated trade
area. In the case of a branch, examiners shou@bllateral administration—maintaining docu-
base their initial review of asset concentrationsnents to reflect the status of the branch’s lien o
on the total assets of the branch. (See the Credhiie collateral (i.e., mortgage/deed of trust an
Risk Management section for further informa-title policy/attorney’s opinion), the value of the
tion on branch concentrations.) collateral (i.e., real estate appraisal or evaluatio
In identifying loan concentrations, commer-and verification of senior lien, if in existence),
cial real estate loans and residential real estagnd the protection of the collateral (i.e., hazard
loans should be viewed separately when theliability insurance and tax payments).
performance is not subject to similar economic
or financial risks. However, groups or classes ofoan pay-offs-determining the pay-off amount,
real estate loans should be viewed as concentrgreparing the borrower release or assumptio
tions when there are significant common chardocuments, confirming the receipt of funds, anc
acteristics and the loans are affected by similaiecording the appropriate lien-release docu
adverse economic, financial, or business devements in the public land records.
opments. Institutions with asset concentrations
should have effective internal policies, systemsCollections and foreclosuremonitoring the pay-
and controls in place to monitor and manage thigient performance of the borrower and pursuin
risk. collection of past-due amounts in accordanc
Concentrations that involve excessive ofvith branch policy on delinquencies.
undue risks require close scrutiny by the branch
and head office management, and should Helaims processingseeking recoveries on
reduced over a reasonable period of time. T@efaulted loans that are covered by a goverr
reduce this risk, the branch should develop &€nt guarantee or insurance program or a pr
prudent plan and institute strong underwritingvate mortgage insurance company.
standards and loan administration to control the
risks associated with new loans. The branch should have adequate procedur:
to ensure segregation of duties for disbursal an
receipt of funds control purposes. Additionally,
the procedures should address the need f
LOAN ADMINISTRATION AND document control because of the importance ¢
SERVICING the timely recording of the branch’s security
interests in the public land records.
Real estate loan administration is responsible for Some institutions provide various levels of
certain aspects of loan monitoring. While theloan services for other institutions, which may
administration may be segregated by propertgange from the distribution of payments receivec
type, such as residential or commercial realo the ultimate collection of the debt through
estate loans, the functions of the servicindoreclosure. In such cases, the branch will hav
department may be divided into the followingthe additional responsibility of remitting funds
categories (although the organization will varyon a timely basis to the other institutions, in
among institutions): accordance with a servicing agreement. Th
servicing agreement sets forth the servicer’
Loan closing and disbursemenpreparing the duties, reporting requirements, time frame fol
legal documents verifying the transactionyemitting funds, and fee structure. If one insti-
recording the appropriate documents in the puliution relies upon another institution for servic-
lic land records, and disbursing funds in accoring, the branch should have adequate contrc
dance with the loan agreement. and audit procedures to verify the performanc
of the servicer (also see the manual section o
Payment processingesellecting and applying Asset Securitization). For residential loans solc
the loan payments. into the secondary mortgage market for whict
the branch has retained servicing, the Feder
Escrow administration-eollecting insurance National Mortgage Association (FNMA), the
premiums and property taxes from the borroweFederal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
Page 3



3100.1 Real Estate Loans

(FHLMC), and the Government National Mort- If a branch delegates the loan origination
gage Corporation (GNMA) have specific stanfunction to a third party, the branch should have
dards to which the branch (i.e., seller/serviceradequate controls to ensure that its loan policies
must adhere. Failure to meet these standards cand procedures are being followed. The controls
result in the termination of the servicingshould include a review of the third party’s
agreement. qualifications; a written agreement between the
branch and the third-party originator to set forth
the responsibilities of the third party as an agent
ASSESSMENT OF THE for the branch; a periodic review of the third
BORROWER party’s operations to ensure that the branch’s
policies and procedures are being followed; and

While the value of the real estate collateral is aﬁe"e'opmem of quality con_trols to ensure that
loans originated by the third party meet the

important component of the loan approval pro;

cess, the branch should not place undue reIiané’é""nch’s lending standards_ and those of the
upon the collateral value in lieu of an adequat§econdary mortgage market, if the branch expects

assessment of the borrower's ability to repay thE® Sell the mortgages.
loan. These assessment factors will differ
depending upon the purpose of the loan, such as
single family residential loans compared toSecondary Residential Mortgage
income producing commercial property loangViarket
and commercial or residential development loans
(referred to as “commercial real estate lendin the secondary market, a branch (the primary
ing”). The loan documentation must adequatelynortgage originator) sells all or a portion of its
support the branch’s assessment of the borrowgiterest in residential mortgages to other finan-
and contain the appropriate legal documentatiogja| institutions (investors). Thus, the secondary
to protect the branch’s interests. mortgage market provides an avenue for a
branch to liquidate a long-term asset, as the need
for funds arises. The majority of the secondary
Single Family Residential Loans mortgage market activity is supported by three
government-related or controlled institutions:
Some branches make single family residentidfNMA,2 FHLMC,* and GNMAS. These entities
loans, typically to branch employees. As withwere created or sponsored by the federal gov-
other such loans, the branch should evaluate ttfgnment to encourage the financing and construc-
applicant’s creditworthiness and determindion of residential housing. FNMA, FHLMC,
whether the individual has the ability to meetand GNMA have specific underwriting stan-
monthly mortgage payments and meet all othedlards and loan documentation requirements for
obligations and expenses associated with honfgortgages, which they purchase or guarantee.
ownership. This process includes an assessment
of the applicant’s income, liquid assets, employ-—
ment history, credit history, and existing obliga- 3. Although FNMA was originally created in 1938 as an
tions2 The branch should also consider theerganization within the federal government, it became a
availabilty of private morigage insurance, alsterly cPatered, stocktolder coporation n 1966, uen
government guarantee, or a government INSUGNMA. Financial institutions can either sell mortgages
ance program, such as loans through the FHAdirectly to FNMA or pool mortgages for placement in a
insured or VA-guaranteed programs, in asses§NMA-guaranteed mortgage-backed security.

. 3 . 4. FHLMC was sponsored by the Federal Home Loan
Ing the credit risk of a loan appllcant. Bank Board and its members in 1970. Its primary purpose is

to provide a secondary market for conventional mortgages
_ originated by thrifts.

2. There are restrictions on the information that federally- 5. GNMA, a government agency under the Department of
insured branches can request. The Federal Reserve’s Regutéeusing and Urban Development (HUD), was created in 1968
tion B, Equal Credit Opportunity (12 CFR 202), details thewhen FNMA became a private corporation. It has several
information that may and may not be requested on a loafunctions to assist in government housing programs, such as
application and provides a model form for a residentialmanaging and liquidating loans acquired by the government.
mortgage transaction; and Regulation Z, Truth in Lending (12n the secondary market, GNMA acts as a guarantor of
CFR 226), describes the disclosure requirements to the potemortgage-backed securities for pools of loans originated and
tial borrower on the cost of financing. securitized by financial institutions.
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Real Estate Loans 3100.1

Generally, financial institutions enter into eitherASSESSMENT OF THE REAL
a mandatory or a standby commitment agreee STATE COLLATERAL
ment with these entities, wherein the financial
institution agrees to sell loans according t@®ranches should obtain an appraisal or evaluz
certain deIive_ry schedules, terms, and perfotjon, as required by any applicable federal o
mance penalties. state laws or regulations, for all real estate
related financial transactions, before making th
final credit or other decision. (Refer to the Rea
. Estate Appraisals and Evaluations part of thi
Commercial Real Estate Loans section for additional information.) The appraisa
section explains the standards for appraisal
As with other types of lending activities, theindicates which transactions should have a
extent of commercial real estate lending activityappraisal or an evaluation, provides guideline
should be contingent upon the lender’s expertisen qualifications for an appraiser and evaluato
and the branch’s experience. In considering aprovides guidance on evaluations, and describe
application for a commercial real estate loan, ¢he three appraisal approaches for a Comple
branch should understand the relationship of th&ppraisal.
actual borrower to the project being financed. Management is responsible for determining
The form of business ownership varies fowhether the assumptions and conclusions of th
commercial real estate projects and can affeeppraisal or evaluation are reasonable. In add
the financial resources available for the completion, management'’s rationale for accepting an
tion of the project and the management andelying upon the appraisal or evaluation shoulc
repayment of the loan. be documented in writing. In assessing the

Information on past and current projects conunderwriting risks, management should recon
structed, rented, or managed by the potentigider any assumptions used by an appraiser th
borrower can help the branch assess the borrokeflect overly optimistic or pessimistic values. If
er's experience and the likelihood of the promanagement, after its review of the appraisal o
posed project’s success. For deve|opment arﬁ.j/aluatlon, det.ermlnes that there are unsubsta
construction projects, the branch should closel{jated assumptions, the branch may request tf
review the project’s feasibility study. The studya@ppraiser or evaluator to provide a more detaile
should provide sensitivity and risk analyses ofustification of the assumptions or obtain a new
the potential impact of changes in key economi@ppraisal or evaluation.
variables, such as interest rates, vacancy rates,
or operating expenses. The branch should also
conduct credit checks of the borrower and of alSingle Family Residential Loans
principals involved in the transaction to verify
relationships with contractors, suppliers, andhe assessment of the residential property’
business associates. market value is critical to the branch’s estimate

Finally, the branch should assess the borrowef loan-to-value ratio. This assessment provide
er’s financial strength to determine if the prin-the branch with an estimate of the borrower’s
cipals of the project have the necessary workingquity in the property and the branch’s potentia
capital and financial resources to support theredit risk, if the borrower should default on the
project until it reaches stabilization. As with anyloan. While transactions under $250,000 ma
type of lending on income-producing proper-not require an appraisal, a branch is expected |
tiesé the branch should quantify the degree operform an appropriate evaluation of the under
protection from the borrower’s (or collateral’s) lying real estate collateral. Additionally, state
cash flow, the value of the underlying collateralJaws for appraisals may differ from federal
and any guarantees or other collateral that maygulatory or internal requirements.
be available as a source of loan repayment.

Commercial Real Estate Loans

6. Income-producing commercial properties include rente;lg . .
apartments, retail properties, office buildings, warehouses, argU€ tO the Var'_ety of uses and th? complt_axny o
hotels. most commercial projects, there is no uniformly
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accepted format for valuing commercial properof commercial real estate, the branch should
ties as there is for valuing one-to-four familyconsider:

residential properties. A branch relies upon

outside appraisers or, in some instances, in-houseCurrent and projected vacancy and absorption
expertise to prepare appraisals. For the mostrates;

part, appraisals on commercial real estate Lease renewal trends and anticipated rents;
projects are presented in a narrative format witk Volume and trends in past due leases;
supporting schedules. As the complexity of & The project's feasibility study and market
commercial project increases, the detail of the survey to determine support for the assump-
appraisal report or evaluation should also tions concerning future supply and demand
increase to fully support the analysis. factors;

When estimating the value of income-. Effective rental rates or sale prices (taking into
producing real estate, the appraiser generally account all concessions);
relies on the income approach to valuation to @ Net operating income of the property com-
greater degree than on the comparable salespared to budget projections; and,
approach or the cost approach. The incOme pjiscount rates and direct capitalization rates.
approach converts all expected future net oper-

ating income into present value terms using Because the income approach is generally
different analytical methods. One method, knowRgjied upon to a greater degree than the other
as the direct capitalization method, estimates th@ethods, with specific emphasis on arriving at
present value of a property by discounting itsapjlized values, the branch must use judgment
stabilized net operating income at an approprial§ determining the time it will take for a prop-
capitalization rate (commonly referred to as &ty to achieve stabilized occupancy and rental
cap rate). Stabilized net operating income is thgytes, The analysis of collateral values should
net cash flow derived from a property whenhot pe based on a simple projection of current
market conditions are stable and no unusugéyels of net operating income if markets are
patterns of future rents and occupancy argepressed or reflect speculative pressures but
expected. To approximate stabilized net operasan pe expected over a reasonable period of time
ing income, the appraiser or branch may need @, retyrn to normal (stabilized) conditions.
adjust the_current net operating income of a Tha capacity of a property to generate cash
property either up or down to reflect currentyoy, 1 service a loan is evaluated on the basis of
market conditions. The direct capitalization gpnig (or sales), expenses, and rates of occu-
method is appropriate only for use in valuingyancy that are reasonably estimated to be
stabilized properties. . chieved over time. The determination of the
Another method, known as the discounteqg,e| of stabilized occupancy, rental rates, and
cash flow method, requires the dlscountlng. Ofhet operating income shouid be based on an
expected future cash flows, at an appropriatgaiysis of current and reasonably expected
discount rate, to determine the net present valyga et conditions, taking into consideration his-
of a property. This method is appropriate for usgy g levels, when appropriate.
in estimating the values of new properties that
have not yet stabilized or for troubled properties
that are experiencing fluctuations in income.
The discount rates and cap rates, used iEARLY INDICATIONS OF
estimating property values, should reflect reaTROUBLED COMMERCIAL REAL
sonable expectations about the rate of return th@STATE LOANS
investors and lenders require under normal,
orderly, and sustainable market conditions. ThMarket Related
appraiser’s analysis and assumptions should sup-
port the discount and cap rates used in th&o evaluate the collectibility of their commer-
appraisal. The appraiser should not use exaggegial real estate portfolio, branches should be
ated, imprudent, or unsustainably high omlert for economic indicators of weakness in
low discount rates, cap rates, or incomeheir real estate markets and for indicators of
projections. actual or potential problems in the individual
In assessing the reasonableness of the faaemmercial real estate projects. Available indi-
and assumptions associated with the valuatiorators, which may be useful in evaluating the
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condition of the local real estate market, include Loans on speculative, undeveloped propert
permits for and the value of new construction, where the borrower’s only source of repay-
absorption rates, employment trends, vacancy ment is the sale of the developed property;
rates, and tenant lease incentives. Weaknessesoans based on land values that have bee
disclosed by these types of statistics may signify driven up by rapid turnover of ownership but
that a real estate market is experiencing difficul- without any corresponding improvements tc
ties that may cause cash flow problems for the property or supportable income projec:
individual real estate projects, declining real tions to justify an increase in value;

estate values and ultimately, troubled real estate Additional advances to service an existing

loans. loan without evidence that the loan will be
repaid in full;
e Loans to borrowers with no development
Project Related plans or noncurrent development plans;

* Renewals, extensions, and refinancings th:
Characteristics of potential or actual difficulties lack credible support for full repayment from
in commercial real estate projects may include: reliable sources and that do not have a reasol
able repayment scheddje
* An excess supply of similar projects under Evergreen loans—short-term, interest-only
construction in the same trade area; loans that are renewed annually with no pro
» The lack of a sound feasibility study or vision for repayment. Although structured as ¢
analysis that reflects current and reasonably short-term loan, these loans are intended fc
anticipated market conditions; long-term purposes such as for the acquisitiol
» Changes in concept or plan (for example, a or development of real estate;
condominium project converted to an aparte Loans that continue to capitalize interest afte
ment project because of unfavorable market construction is completed because of slowe
conditions); than anticipated lease-up;
» Rent concessions or sales discounts, resultingLoans with no meaningful principal amortiza-
in cash flow below the level projected in the tion, instead relying on price appreciation anc
original feasibility study, appraisal or the sale of property for repayment; and,

evaluatio_n; S e Loans that are funded before zoning is
+ Concessions on finishing tenant space, mov- obtained, water rights acquired, or an environ
ing expenses, and lease buyouts; mental study is performed.

* Slow leasing or lack of sustained sales activity
and increasing sales cancellations that may

reduce the project’s income potential, reSUItEXAMINER REVIEW OF
ing in protracted repayment or default on theCOLLATERAL VALUE

loan;

* Delinquent lease payments from majort.enantsl;he focus of an examiner’'s review of a real
* Land values that assume future rezoning;  gqiate j0an is on the ability of the loan to be

: 'éax_arreara?elsh; and(,j dliability for cl repaid. The principal factors that bear on this
nvironmental hazards and liability for cleanup.q,je are the income-producing potential of

the underlying collateral and the borrower’s

As the problems associated with a commerg;yinaness and ability to repay the loan from

cial real estate loan become more pronouncegther resources, if necessary, and according
the borrower/guarantor may experience a reducé-

tion i h flow t . lated debts. whi Xisting loan terms. In evaluating the overall
lon in cash Tlow 1o service related debts, WhiChiqy associated with a real estate loan, examine
could result in delinquent interest and principa

payments hould consider a number of factors, includinc

While some real estate loans become trouble 7. As discussed more fully in the section on Asset Quality

because of a general downturn in the markeblassifications, the refinancing or renewing of loans to soun
others become troubled because the loans weti@rowers would not result in a supervisory classification or
originated on an unsound or a liberal basisgriticism unless well-defined weaknesses exist that jeopardiz

Common examples of unsound loans include: repayment of the loans. Consistent with sound bankin
" practices, institutions should work in an appropriate anc

o . constructive manner with borrowers who may be experiencin
» Loans with little or no borrower equity; temporary difficulties.
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the borrower’s character, overall financial con<credit analysis purposes when the examiner can
dition and resources, and payment history; thestablish that underlying facts or assumptionsare
prospects for support from any financiallyinappropriate and can support alternative
responsible guarantors; and the nature and degragsumptions.
of protection provided by the cash flow and
value of the underlying collater@lAs the bor-
rower's and guarantor's ability to repay aCLASSIFICATION GUIDELINES
troubled real estate loan decreases, the impor-
tance of the collateral value of the loan increase8s with other types of loans, real estate loans
commensurately. that are adequately protected by the current
An examiner’s analysis of the collateral valuesound worth and debt service capacity of the
is based on the branch’s most recent appraisal borrower, guarantor, or the underlying collateral
evaluation and includes a review of the majogenerally are not classified. In analyzing loans,
facts, assumptions and approaches used by ttiee examiner should focus on the ability of the
appraiser (including any comments made byporrower, guarantor, or the collateral to provide
management on the value rendered by ththe necessary cash flow to adequately service
appraiser). This review and any resulting adjusthe loan. However, the fact that the underlying
ments to value are solely for purposes of awmollateral value equals or exceeds the current
examiner’s analysis and classification of a credipan balance, does not preclude the loan from
and do not involve actual adjustments to armlassification if other factors jeopardize the
appraisal or evaluation. repayment ability of the borrower, such as the
Examiners should not make adjustments ttack of credible financial support for full repay-
appraisal or evaluation assumptions for credinent from reliable sources.
analysis purposes based on worst-case scenariosSimilarly, loans to sound borrowers that are
that are unlikely to occur. For example, exam+efinanced or renewed according to prudent
iners should not necessarily assume that a buildmnderwriting standards, including loans to cred-
ing will become vacant just because an existingworthy commercial or residential real estate
tenant, who is renting at a rate above today’slevelopers, should not be classified or catego-
market rate, may vacate the property when thézed as special mention, unless well-defined
current lease expires. On the other hand, aweaknesses exist that jeopardize repayment. A
adjustment to value may be appropriate fobranch should not be criticized for working with
credit analysis purposes when the valuatioborrowers whose loans are classified or catego-
assumes renewal at the above-market rate, unlegzged as special mention, as long as the branch
that rate is a reasonable estimate of the expectéds a well-conceived and effective workout plan
market rate at the time of renewal. for such borrowers and effective internal con-
Assumptions should be given a reasonablgols to manage the level of these loans.
amount of deference when recently made by In evaluating real estate credits for possible
qualified appraisers or qualified evaluators andlassification, examiners should apply the stan-
when consistent with the discussion abovedard classification definitions as set forth in the
Examiners should not challenge the underlyinglassification of Credits section of the manual.
assumptions, including discount rates and calm determining the appropriate classification,
rates used in appraisals or evaluations, tha&xaminers should consider all important infor-
differ only in a limited way from norms that mation regarding repayment prospects, includ-
would generally be associated with the propertyng information on the borrower’s creditworthi-
under review. However, the estimated value ohess, the value of and cash flow provided by all
the underlying collateral may be adjusted forcollateral supporting the loan, and any support
provided by financially responsible guarantors.
The loan’s performance history to date is

8. The primary basis for the review and classification of th ; _
loan should be the original source of repayment and thimportant and must be considered by the exam

borrower's intent and ability to fulfill the obligation without IN€r. As a general principle, a perfprming rea!
relying on third-party guarantees. However, examiners shoul@state loan should not be automatically classi-
also consider the support provided by any guarantees whefled or charged off solely because the value of

determining the appropriate classification treatment for ; :
troubled loan. The treatment of guarantees in the classificati(?rbe underlying collateral has declined to an

process is discussed in the Asset Quality CIassification@mOun_t that is less than the_loan balance-_ How-
section of this manual. ever, it would be appropriate to classify a
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performing loan when well-defined WeaknessePartiaIIy Charged-Off Loans
exist that jeopardize repayment, such as the lack
of credible support for full repayment from An evaluation based upon consideration of al
reliable sources. relevant factors may indicate that a credit ha
These classification guidelines apply to indiwell-defined weaknesses that jeopardize collec
vidual credits, even if portions or segments otion in full, although a portion of the loan may
the industry to which the borrower belongs arére reasonably certain of collection. When &
experiencing financial difficulties. The evalua-charge-off has been taken in an amount suffi
tion of each credit should be based upon theient to ensure that the remaining recorde
fundamental characteristics affecting the collectbalance of the loan (1) is being serviced (base
ibility of the particular credit. The problems upon reliable sources) and (2) is reasonabl
broadly associated with some sectors or se@ssured of collection, classification of the remain
ments of an industry, such as certain commerciahg recorded balance may not be appropriate
real estate markets, should not lead to overlglassification would be appropriate when well-
pessimistic assessments of particular credits iflefined weaknesses continue to be present in tl
the same industry that are not affected by theemaining recorded balance. In such cases, tt
problems of the troubled sectors. remaining recorded balance would generally b
classified no more severely than substandard.
. A more severe classification than substandar
Troubled Project-Dependent for the remaining recorded balance would be
Commercial Real Estate Loans appropriate, however, if the loss exposure car
not be reasonably determined; for example
The following guidelines for classifying a where significant risk exposures are perceivec
troubled commercial real estate loan apply whesuch as in the case of bankruptcy situations c
the repayment of the debt will be providedioans collateralized by properties subject tc
solely by the underlying real estate collaterabnvironmental hazards. In addition, classifica
and there are no other available and reliabléon of the remaining recorded balance more
sources of repayment. As a general principle, foseverely than substandard would be approprial
a troubled project-dependent commercial reakvhen sources of repayment are considere
estate loan, any portion of the loan balance thatnreliable.
exceeds the amount that is adequately secured
by the value of the collateral and that can be
clearly identified as uncollectible, should beFormally Restructured Loans
classified “loss.” The portion of the loan bal-
ance that is adequately secured by the value dihe classification treatment previously dis-
the collateral should generally be classified neussed for a partially charged-off loan would
worse than substandard. The amount of the loaiso generally be appropriate for a formally
balance in excess of the value of the collaterafestructured loan, when partial charge-offs hav
or portions thereof, should be classified doubtfubeen taken. For a formally restructured loan, th:
when the potential for full loss may be mitigatedfocus of the examiner’s analysis is on the ability
by the outcome of certain pending events oef the borrower to repay the loan in accordanc
when loss is expected, but the amount of the losgith its modified terms. Classification of a
cannot be reasonably determined. If warrantetdrmally restructured loan would be appropriate
by the underlying circumstances, an examindf, after the restructuring, well-defined weak-
may use a doubtful classification on the entiréiesses exist that jeopardize the orderly repay
loan balance. However, this methodology wouldnent of the loan in accordance with reasonabl
occur infrequently. modified terms? Troubled commercial real
estate loans, whose terms have been restru

T A o i _tured, should be identified in the institution’s
9. Another issue that arises in the review of commercial

real estate loans is its accrual or nonaccrual treatment for

reporting purposes. The federal banking agencies, under the———

auspices of the FFIEC, have provided guidance on nonaccrual 10. An example of a restructured commercial real estat

status in the instructions for the Report of Assets andoan that does not have reasonable modified terms would be

Liabilities (call report) and in related supervisory guidance of‘cash flow” mortgage, which requires interest payments only

the banking regulatory agencies. This guidance is summarizedhen the underlying collateral generates cash flow but pro

in the Credit Risk Management section of this manual. vides no substantive benefits to the lending institution.
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internal credit review system and closely monipursuant to Title XI of FIRREA are discussed in
tored by management. the remainder of this section. The appraisal
regulations are directly applicable only to FDIC-
insured branches. In uninsured branches, exam-
iners may use the regulations as general super-
REAL ESTATE APPRAISALS AND visory guidance when reviewing appraisal
EVALUATIONS practices. As such, while an examiner in
an uninsured branch may not cite the branch as

Bank regulators have a long-standing policy of€ing in violation of law or regulation for
real estate appraisals that emphasizes the imp@pPraisal practices not consistent with the stan-
tance of sound appraisal policies and procedards set forth in Title XI and the implementing
dures. In December 1987, the federal bankingPpraisal regulations, the examiner may criticize
agencies jointly adopted supervisory guideline§Uch practices in the report of examination if
for real estate appraisal policies and revievgonsidered appropriate from a risk management
procedures (which were revised in Septembetasis.
1992). With the passage of Title Xl of the
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and
Enforcement Act (FIRREA) of 1989, in August .
1990, the federal banking agencies adopteﬁffecnve Date
regulations regarding the performance and utili-
zation of appraisals by federally regulated finanAppraisals performed in connection with
cial institutions. federally-related transactions after the effective
The intent of Title XI of FIRREA is to protect date of August 9, 1990, are to comply with the
federal financial and public policy interests infegulations. Appraisals for real estate-related
real estate-related financial transactions requifinancial transactions entered into before August
ing the services of an appraiser. Title XI require®, 1990, do not have to comply with the regu-
that real estate appraisals be performed in writations. However, the branch would have had to
ing in accordance with uniform standards and bjdhere to the Federal Reserve Board's supervi-
individuals with demonstrated competency angory guidelines, issued in 1987, for such real
whose professional conduct is subject to effecestate appraisals. Transactions are deemed to
tive supervision. In this regard, Title XI requiredhave been entered into and a loan is deemed to
each state to establish a program for certifyinfiave been originated if there was a binding
and licensing real estate appraisers, who ag@mmitment to perform, before the effective
qualified to perform appraisals in connectiordate.
with federally-related transactions (which are The requirement to use a state-certified or
defined later in this section). Additionally, Title -licensed appraiser had a separate effective date
XI designated the Appraisal Foundation, a nonef no later than December 31, 1992. However,
profit appraisal industry group, as the authoritystates had the flexibility to adopt an earlier
for establishing qualifications criteria for implementation date regarding state require-
appraiser certification and standards for thenents that an appraiser be certified or licensed
performance of an appraisal. However, Title Xlto perform an appraisal within their state. Finan-
left to the states the authority to establish qualieial institutions doing business in a state that had
fication standards for licensing. Title XI estab-an effective date for mandatory use of certified
lished the Appraisal Subcommittee of the Feder licensed appraiser earlier than the federally-
eral Financial Institutions Examination Councilmandated effective date would have had to abide
to monitor the requirements established to meddy any state laws in this regard.
the intent of Title XI.

Applicability of Title XI of FIRREA  Branch Appraisal and Evaluation
to Branches Policy

The requirements of the appraisal regulationBranch and head office management is respon-
adopted by each of the federal banking agenciesble for adopting policies and procedures that
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establish effective real estate appraisal and evalges, opinions, and conclusions. The branc
ation programs for the branch. Analyzing reakhould maintain formal documentation or evi-
estate collateral at a loan’s inception and over itdence of the critique to support the compliance
life requires a sufficient understanding ofreview. An individual performing critiques,
appraisals and evaluations to fully assess crediither an employee of the branch or an outsid
risk. While the appraisal plays an important roleconsultant, should have real estate-related trai
in the loan approval process, undue reliancang or experience and be independent of thi
should not be placed upon the collateral value itransaction. The individual may not change the
lieu of an adequate assessment of the borrowerstimate of value of the appraisal or evaluatior
repayment ability. However, when a creditas a result of a critique.
becomes troubled, the primary source of repay-
ment often shifts from the borrower’s capacity
to repay to the value of the collateral. For thes@Reappraisals and Reevaluations
reasons, it is important that branches have sound
appraisal policies and procedures as a method ®he program should also include a process fo
controlling risk. determining when a reappraisal and reevaluatio
is required on a prior transaction. In these
situations, the original appraisal or evaluatior
. . will have become unreliable, e.g., the useful life
Appraisal and Evaluation Programs of the appraisal or evaluation has ended an
) ) further circumstances dictate that the collatere
The appraisal and evaluation programs of @hould be reappraised or reevaluated. The ind
branch should be tailored to the branch’s sizg;igual who makes this determination shoulc
and attendant real estate-related activity. Such The decision to obtain a reappraisal or
programs should establish prudent standards apglevaluation will depend upon the condition anc
procedures that ensure written appraisals (guality of a credit or investment and the sound:
evaluations are obtained and analyzed for redess of the underlying collateral. The volatility
estate-related financial transactions before the the local real estate market should also b
branch makes its final credit decision. considered in determining the need for a reap

The branch’s appraisal and evaluation propraisal or reevaluation. In certain situations
grams should also establish the manner in whichch as loan workouts, loan renewals, loa
it selects, evaluates, and monitors individual§estructurings, or problem credits or invest-
who perform real estate appraisals or evaludDents, the need for a reappraisal or reevaluatic
tions. The key elements of the branch’s IDroshould receive particularly close attention. In all
grams should ensure that individuals possess ti$8Ses, the information sources and analys’e
requisite expertise to satisfactorily complete thé&elied upon must sufficiently support a branch's
assignment, hold the proper state certification d¥€termination of whether a reappraisal ol
license, if applicable, and are capable of rendef€evaluation is required. Reappraisals shoul

ing a high quality, written appraisal or evaluation.conform with appraisal regulations, and reevalu
ations should conform with applicable supervi-

sory guidelines.
A reappraisal would not be required when ar

Compliance Procedures institution advances funds to protect its interes

in a property, such as to repair damaged pror
To ensure the branch’s compliance with applierty, because these funds should be used
cable supervisory guidelines, the branch shoultestore the damaged property to its origina
have established regulatory compliance procesondition. If a loan workout involves modifica-
dures for all appraisals and evaluations. Addition of the terms and conditions of an existing
tionally, a branch should critique selectedcredit, including acceptances of new or addi
appraisals and evaluations for adequacy artibnal real estate collateral, which facilitates the
relevance of the data before making final crediorderly collection of the credit or reduces the
decisions. The critique should consider thenstitution’s risk of loss, a reappraisal or reevalu-
appropriateness of the methods and approachaon may be prudent, even if it is obtained aftel
used, and assess the reasonableness of the anéhg- modification occurs.
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FEDERALLY-RELATED collateral, solely through an abundance of
FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS caution and, as a consequence, the terms of

the transaction have not been made more
A federally-related transaction is defined in favorable than the terms would have been in

Title Xl as a real estate-related financial trans- the absence of a lien;
action that a federal financial institution’s regu-* The transaction is not secured by real estate;
latory agency engages in, contracts for, or regu- A lien on real estate has been taken for
lates and that requires the services of an Purposes other than the real estate’s value;
appraiser. Title X further defines a real estate* The transaction is a business loan that has a
related financial transaction as any transaction transaction value of $1 million or less and is
involving the sale, lease, purchase, investmen- not_dependent on the sale of, or rgntal Income
tin, or exchange of real property, including derived from, real estate as the primary source
interests in property or the financing thereof; the Of repayment; ) )
refinancing of real property or interests in reaf A lease of real estate is entered into, unless the
property; or the use of real property or interests lease is the economic equivalent of a purchase
in property as security for a loan or investment, Or sale of the leased real estate;
including mortgage-backed securities. . _The transaction involves the purchasg, sale,
The federal banking agencies recognize that investment in, exchange of, or extension of
not all real estate-related financial transactions credit secured by a loan or interest in a loan,
require the services of a certified or licensed pooled loans, or interests in real property,
appraiser and, therefore, would not be consid- including mortgage-backed securities, and
ered federally-related transactions. While these €ach loan or interest in a loan, pooled loan, or
transactions do not require a certified or licensed real property interest met the Board's regula-
appraisal, an evaluation of the underlying col- tory requirements for appraisals at the time of

lateral is required under existing supervisory Origination; o
guidelines. » The transaction is wholly or partially insured

or guaranteed by a U.S. government agency or
U.S. government- sponsored agency;
» The transaction either qualifies for sale to a
U.S. government agency or U.S. government-
sponsored agency, or involves a residential
real estate transaction in which the appraisal
conforms to the Federal National Mortgage
Association or Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation appraisal standards applicable to
that category of real estate; or
There is a subsequent transaction resulting
from a maturing extension of credit, provided
that:
— The borrower has performed satisfactorily,
according to the original terms;
No new monies have been advanced, other
than as previously agreed;
— The credit standing of the borrower has
not deteriorated; and

Transaction Value

The transaction value is defined as the amount
of the loan or extension of credit under consid-
eration. For a pool of loans or a mortgage-
backed security, the transaction value is the
amount of each individual loan. In determining
transaction value, the senior and junior debt are
considered separate transactions under the
appraisal rule. However, a series of related
transactions will be considered one transaction
if it seems that an institution is attempting to
avoid the appraisal requirement by structuring
the transactions below the appraisal threshold.

Transactions Not Requiring the — There has been no obvious and material
Services of a Licensed or Certified deterioration in market conditions or physi-
Appraiser cal aspects of the property, which would

threaten the branch’s collateral protection;
Currently, the categories of transactions not or
requiring the services of an appraiser include — A branch purchases a loan or interest in a

transactions where: loan, pooled loans, or interests in real
property, including mortgage-backed secu-
¢ The transaction value is $250,000 or less; rities, provided that the appraisal prepared

* A lien on real property has been taken as for each pooled loan or real property
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interest met the requirements of theis still valid at the time the branch extends the
appraisal regulation. additional credit for the new phase.

When a real estate-related financial transadsross-Collateralization+a cases where mul-
tion does not require a certified or licensediple loans are secured by separate parcels
appraiser, the U.S. regulator may still require ameal estate and are collateralized by the rec
appropriate evaluation of the real property thaestate pledged to other loans, the branch woul
is consistent with the guidelines for real estat@ot necessarily be required to reappraise all re:
appraisal and evaluation programs. estate collateral if an extension or renewal i
granted on one of the loans. However, if the
branch is relying on the excess collateral of the
other loans to support the loan in question, th
branch would have to have a valid appraisal ol

The branch or its agent is responsible for engagelll real estate collateral.
ing the appraiser and must have sufficient tim
to analyze the appraisal as part of the decisio

process to enter into the transaction. A branc X L9
orrower is released from any future obligatior

may not accept an appraisal prepared for ;
potential borrower as the appraisal for a feders " the loan, the branch would be required t

ally related transaction. However, an appraisa{?ave a valid appraisal.

prepared for one federally-regulated financiaL .
institution may be used by the branch, so long a %?JT d has\»ltguc‘;(t)urkl‘r;g\llear;d v\;\fﬂkgmgra‘ isb;?r;fd][he
the branch has established procedures for review- PP

ing appraisals, the review indicates that th ransaction is a refinancing.
appraisal meets the regulation, and the review Foreclosures-At the time title to foreclosed

documented in writing. real estate passes to the branch, a branch nee
to have a valid appraisal. It is recommended the
the individual who performed the appraisal for

When to Obtain an Appraisal the original credit decision should normally not
perform the appraisal for this subsequen

The branch should obtain the appraisal in suffiransaction.

cient time to be analyzed before the branch

makes its final credit or other decision. In certairSale of Other Real Estate Owned (ORE@)—

circumstances, when a branch acts to prudentlyranch is required to have a valid appraisa

protect its interest by modifying the terms andvhen the sale occurs. The appraisal prepared fi

conditions of an existing extension of credit tothe foreclosure may be used, if that appraise

facilitate orderly collection and thereby reduceemains valid.

its risk of loss, an appraisal or evaluation may be

obtained after the branch makes its decision

concerning the extension of credit.

The determination of when a federally-relatejé
transaction has occurred may be difficult t
define in existing credits or in established lend-
ing arrangements. A new federally-related transthe useful life of an appraisal or evaluation will
action is generally considered to have occurredary depending upon the circumstances sul
when there is a potential change in the branch®®unding the property and the marketplace
exposure to risk. This includes, but is not limitedWhen deciding if an appraisal or evaluation may
to the following situations. be used for a subsequent transaction, a bran

should determine if there has been any materi
Phased DevelopmentsFhe appraisal of an ear- change to the underlying assumptions, whicl
lier phase cannot be used for a new phasaould affect the original estimate of value.
However, if the original appraisal was prepared Examples of factors that could cause materie
for all phases of the project, the branch may usehanges to reported values include the passa
the project appraisal, provided that the appraisaif time; the volatility of the local market; the

Obtaining an Appraisal

oan Assumptions#-a new borrower is substi-
ted for the original borrower and the original

seful Life of Appraisals or
valuations
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availability of financing; the inventory of com- Departure Provision which allows the appraiser
peting properties; new improvements to, or lacko depart, under limited conditions, from stan-
of maintenance of, the subject or competingdards identified as specific guidelines. For exam-
surrounding properties; change in zoning; ople, in a Limited Appraisal, the appraiser might
environmental contamination. The branch shouldot utilize all three approaches to value. Depar-
document its information sources and analysesire from standards designed as binding require-
used to determine that an existing appraisal anents is not permitted.

evaluation remains valid and that the branch will A branch and appraiser must concur that use
use that appraisal or evaluation in a subsequeof the Departure Provision is appropriate for the
transaction. transaction before the appraiser commences the
appraisal assignment. The appraiser must ensure
that the resulting appraisal report will not mis-
lead the branch or agency or other intended
users of the appraisal report. The banking regu-
gtors do not prohibit the use of a Limited

Updated Appraisal

An updated appraisal is currently not acceptab
as an appraisal under the Board of Governor
regulation. However, a branch may use a
updated appraisal in the following cases:

ppraisal for a federally related transaction, but
he bank regulators believe that branches should
be cautious in their use of a Limited Appraisal
because it will be less thorough than a Complete
ppraisal.

Complete and Limited Appraisal assignments
may be reported in three different report for-
mats: a Self-Contained Report, a Summary
Report, or a Restricted Report. The major dif-
ference among these three reports relates to the

degree of detail presented in the report by the

APPRAISAL REQUIREMENTS appraiser. The Self-Contained Appraisal Report
rovides the most detail, while the Summary

ppraisal Report presents the information in a
&ndensed manner. The Restricted Report pro-
ides a capsulized report with the supporting
etails maintained in the appraiser’s files.

¢ To evaluate real estate when a federally’-o‘
related transaction has not occurred; or
* To assess the useful life of an appraisal.

The objective of an appraisal is to communicat
the appraiser’'s reasoning and conclusions in
logical manner so that the reader is led to th
appraiser’'s estimation of market value. Thed
contents of appraisals should conform to the

standards of the Board’s appraisal regulation iI[? The banking agencies believe that the
applicable, and the Uniform Standards of Pror estricted Report format will not be appropriate

fessional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), promul-to underwrite a significant number of federally

gated by the Appraisal Standards Board of threlated transactions due to the lack of sufficient

. . gupporting information and analysis in the
Appraisal Foundation. The actual form, Iengthappraisal report. However, it might be appropri-
and content of appraisal reports may var

. MNYate to use this type of appraisal report for
geptra;g;ndg a?lg ,[trt'g ntg{)uere oéf %céngi ﬁﬁ:gggngoing collateral monitoring of a branch’s real
pp 9 state transactions and under other circum-

Standard forms completed in compliance Wm%tances when a branch’s program requires an
the rule and USPAP are also acceptable. evaluation

Moreover, since a branch is responsible for
selecting the appropriate appraisal report to
Appraisal Options support its underwriting decisions, its program
should identify the type of appraisal report that
A branch may engage an appraiser to perforrwill be appropriate for various lending transac-
either a Complete or Limited Appraisal. Whentions. The branch’s program should consider the
performing a Complete Appraisal assignment;isk, size, and complexity of the individual loan
an appraisal must comply with all USPAP stanand the supporting collateral when determining
dards without departing from any bindingthe level of appraisal development and the type
requirements and specific guidelines when estdf report format that will be ordered. When
mating market value. When performing a Lim-ordering an appraisal report, institutions may
ited Appraisal, the appraiser elects to invoke thevant to consider the benefits of a written
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engagement letter that outlines the branch’'s Render the “as is” value, which reflects the
expectations and delineated each party’s respon-value of the property in its current physical
sibilities, especially for large, complex, or out- condition and subject to the zoning in effect as
of-area properties. of the appraisal date. Appropriate deduction:

Appraisal Standards

Title XI mandated that the minimum standards
for Complete appraisals performed in connec;
tion with federally-related transactions are stan-
dards set forth in USPAP together with any other
standards that the federal banking agencies dee
necessary. In summary, an appraisal must:

and discounts should be made for propose

development projects to reflect holding costs
marketing expenses, and entrepreneurial profi

which are based on stabilized occupancy fo
commercial projects or a retail sales progran
for residential projects;

* Report the sales history on the appraise

property for one year for 1-to—4 family resi-

dential properties and three years for all othe

Mypes of properties;

e Address a proposed project’'s marketability
and feasibility prospects. Studies prepared b
a party other than the appraiser must b

- 'verified to the extent assumptions are utilized

who is competent and knowledgeable of rel- o 5 0raiser's acceptance or rejection of th

evant markets. The appraiser must also hold 4 harty study and its impact on value must
the proper state certification or license as pq fully explained:
required under the appraisal regulations. AQ giate the marketing period for the appraiset

independent appraisal is one in which the nhery the effective date of the appraisal
appraiser is not participating in the adminis- 2.4 the date the appraisal was rendered;

tration O.f the credit or in Fhe approyal Of. the, nclude a legal description of the subject
transaction and has no interest, financial or property:

otherwise, in the property; _ - Identify and separately value any persona
Result in a market value that is defined as the property, fixtures, and intangible items that are
most probable price that a property should ot real property but are included in the
bring in a competitive and open market under gnpraisal, and discuss the impact of thei
all conditions requisite to a fair sale, assuming jnclusion or exclusion on the estimate of
the buyer and seller are both acting prudently m,5rket value of the real property:

and knowledgeably and the price is not affected contain an appraiser’s certification statemer
by any undue stimulus; in which the appraiser attests to the accurac
State the market value in terms of the cash of the data, the disclosure of assumptions, an
equivalent Value, which reflects the value of independence from the transaction; state
Follow a reasonable valuation method, which received from another appraiser; and certifie
addresses cost, income, and direct sales com+that a fee, contingent on the value renderec
parison approaches to determine market value,was not received; and

unless the appraiser fully explains and docus The appraisal regulations and USPAP provid
ments the elimination of an approach; a complete listing of the appraisal standards
Support the current valuation of the real

estate. All assumptions and projections should

be supportable by current market conditionsAppraisal Valuation Approaches

and expectations of current market trends. In

the case of income property, the capitalizatioThere are three basic approaches used in appra
rate, discount rate, net income and/or lostg the market value of real estate in a Complet
projections, cash flow, financing terms, andAppraisal:

absorption rate should be reasonable and sup-

portable by current market conditions; e Cost Approach;

Document and explain how the discount and Market Data or Direct Comparable Sales
capitalization rates used in generating present Approach; and

value estimates were derived; « Capitalization of Income Approach.

Be performed by a qualified, independent stalff
or fee-paid appraiser, selected by the branch

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
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All three approaches have particular meritdhough vacant; (2) estimate the current cost of
depending upon the type of real estate beingeproducing the existing improvements;
appraised. For single family residential property(3) estimate depreciation and deduct from the
the cost and comparable sales approaches asproduction cost estimate; and (4) add the
most frequently used because the common usstimate of land value and the depreciated
of the property is the personal residence of theeproduction cost of improvements to determine
owner. However, if a single family residentialthe value estimate.
property is intended to be used as a rental
property, the appraiser would have to consider
the income approach and the cost and compa-

rable sales approaches. For special use COMMRlrarket Data or Direct Sales

cial properties, the appraiser may have difficult -
in obtaining sales data on comparable propertiggompanson Approach

and may have to base the value estimate on the ) ) )

cost and capitalization of income approach. If ad he essence of this approach is to determine the
approach is not used in the appraisal, therice at which similar properties have sold for
appraiser should disclose the reason the approa@gently on the local market. Through an appro-

was not used and whether this affects the valugriate adjustment for differences in the subject
estimate. property and the selected comparable properties,

the appraiser estimates the market value of the
subject property based on the sales price of the
Value Correlation comparable properties. The market approach to
value estimation is essential in nearly every
The three value estimates—cost, market, an@Ppraisal of real property and is based on the
income—must be evaluated by the appraiser arf@/lowing assumptions:
correlated into a final value estimate based on
the appraiser’s judgment. Correlation does ndt Market value is the highest price for which a
imply averaging the value estimates obtained by Property is deemed most likely to sell in a
using the three different approaches. Where competitive market;
these value estimates are relatively close together,A reasonable time is allowed for exposure of
correlating them and setting the final market the property in the open market;
value estimate presents no special problem. It is
in situations where widely divergent values are
Obta'.ned by using the three apra'Sii' approac_hesﬁnancing terms available at the time of the
that judgment must be exercised in analyzing

- . appraisal;
the results and determining the estimate of pp ' ) )
market value. + Both the buyer and seller are typically moti-

vated and the price is not affected by undue
stimulus; and

Cost Approach » Both buyer and seller act prudently and knowl-
edgeably and have reasonable knowledge of
In the cost approach to value estimation, the the various uses to which the property may be
appraiser obtains a preliminary indication of put.
value by adding the estimated depreciated
reproduction cost of the improvements to the The application of this approach produces an
estimated land value. This approach is based astimate of value of a property by comparing it
the assumption that the reproduction cost is th&ith similar properties that have been sold
upper limit of value and that a newly con-recently. The process used in determining the
structed building would have functional anddegree of comparability of two or more proper-
mechanical advantages over an existing buildies involves judgment as to their similarity with
ing. The appraiser would evaluate any depreciaespect to age, location, condition, construction,
tion, i.e., disadvantages or deficiencies of théayout, and equipment. The sales price or list
existing building in relation to a new structure.price of those properties deemed most compa-
The cost approach consists of four basicable tend to set the range in which the value of
steps: (1) estimate the value of the land athe subject property lies.

Payment is to be made in cash or on terms
reasonably equivalent to cash or on typical

September 1997 Branch and Agency Examination Manual
Page 16



Real Estate Loans 3100.1

Capitalization of Income Approach ties. This method calculates the value of ¢

property by dividing an estimate of its “stabi-
The income approach estimates the project'$€d” annualincome by a factor called a “cap”
expected income over time converted to afiate. Stabilized income _generally is defined a
estimate of its present value. The incomdn€ yearly netoperating income produced by th
approach typically is used to determine thdroperty at normal occupancy and rental rates;

market value of income producing propertiesM@ be adjusted upward or downward from

such as office buildings, apartment complexeé?day’S actual market conditions. The “cap”

hotels, and shopping centers. In the incom&te—usually defined for each property type in ¢

approach, the appraiser can use several differefi2rket area—is viewed by some analysts as tf
capitalization or discounted cash flow tech__requwed rate of return stated in terms of curren

niques to arrive at a market value. These tecH'cOMe- _ _ )
niques include band-of-investments method, The use of this technique assumes that eithe
mortgage equity method, annuity method, anthe stabilized income or the “cap rate used
land residual technique. The use of a particmaﬁ\ccurately captures all relevant characteristics ¢
technique will depend upon whether there i$he property relating to its risk and income
project financing, whether there are |Ong_tempotentlal. If the same risk factors, requw(ed rate
leases with fixed level payments and whethef return, financing arrangements, and incom
the value is being rendered for a component dirojections are used, explicit discounting anc
the project, such as land or buildings. direct capitalization will yield the same results.
The accuracy of this method depends on the FOr Special use properties, new projects, o
appraiser's skill in estimating the anticipatedroubled properties, the discounted cash flov
future net income of the property and in select(Net present value) method is the more typicz
ing the appropriate capitalization rate and®PProach to analyzing a property’s value. In this
method. The following data are assembled anfiéthod, a time frame for achieving a “stabi-

analyzed to determine potential net income anted,” or normal occupancy and rent level, is
value: projected. Each year's net operating incom

during that period is discounted to arrive at the
Rent schedules and the percentage of occhresent value pf expected future cash flows. Th
pancy for the subject property and for compaPrOPerty’s anticipated sales value at the end c
rable properties for the current year and sevthe pgrlod untll_stablllzatl_on (its terminal or
eral preceding years. This information provideg€Version value) is then estimated. The reversio
gross rental data and the trend of rentals an¢plue represents the capitalization of all future

occupancy, which are then analyzed by th&'come streams of the property after the pro
appraiser to estimate the gross income thigcted occupancy levelis achieved. The terminz
property should produce; or reversion value is then discounted to its

Expense data, such as taxes, insurance, a
operating costs being paid from revenue

. . f the property.
derived from the subject property and by . .
comparable properties. Historical trends in Mostimportantly, the analysis should be basex

these expense items are also determined; on thg ability of the project to generate income

« Time f f hievi sstabilized” or °VE" time based upon reasonable and suppol
o Irame or ac |(ejvmg“a sla |I|ze for ble assumptions. Additionally, the discount rate
tnormah Olt(:j(_:upancy %n. reg evels (also referre hould reflect reasonable expectations about t
oasho |n.g pero .)’ ‘.ﬂm . rate of return that investors require under nor
An appropriate capitalization rate and valuamga|, orderly, and sustainable market conditions

tion technique are selected and applied to netor further discussion, refer to the section of this
income to establish a value estimate. manual on Real Estate Loans.

resent value and added to the discounted incon
eam to arrive at the total present market valu

Basically, the income approach converts all
expected future net operating income into present o
value terms. When market conditions are stabl@ther Definitions of Value
and no unusual patterns of future rents and
occupancy rates are expected, the direct capitan appraisal for a federally-related transactior
zation method is used to value income propemust reflect a market value as defined in the
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regulations. The regulations also require thagiples (GAAP) as “the estimated selling price in
for development projects, the appraisal contaithe ordinary course of business less estimated
the “as is” value as of the date of the appraisalcosts of completion (to the stage of completion
However, there are other definitions of valueassumed in determining the selling price), hold-
that are encountered in appraising and evaluaing, and disposal.” The NRV is generally used
ing real estate transactions. These include: to evaluate the carrying amount of assets being
held for disposition and properties representing
Fair Value. This term is an accounting term thatcollateral. While the market value or future
is generally defined as the amount, in cash aelling price are generally used as the basis for
cash equivalent value or other consideratiorthe NRV calculation, the NRV also reflects the
that a real estate parcel would yield in a currenturrent owner’s costs to complete the project
sale between a willing buyer and a willing sellerand to hold and dispose of the property. For this
(i.e., selling price), that is, other than in a forcedeason, the NRV will generally be less than the
or liquidation sale. According to accountingmarket value.
literature, fair value is generally used in valuing The appraiser should state the definition of
assets in troubled debt restructuring, quasivalue reported in the appraisal, and, for federally-
reorganizations, nonmonetary transactions, anelated transactions, the value must meet the
business combinations accounted for by thenarket value definition as defined in the regu-
purchase method. An accountant generalljations. This value is the most probable price
defines fair value as market value; howevethat a property should bring in a competitive and
depending on the circumstances, these valuepen market under all conditions requisite to a
may not be the same for a particular property.fair sale, assuming the buyer and seller are both
acting prudently and knowledgeably and the
Investment Valuelhis term is based on the dataprice is not affected by undue stimulus. Other
and assumptions that meet the criteria an@resentations of value, in addition to market
objectives of a particular investor for a specificvalue, are allowed and may be included in the
property or project. The investor's criteria andappraisal at the request of the branch.
objectives are often substantially different than
participants in a broader market. Thus, invest-
ment value can be significantly higher than
market value in certain circumstances and shouldVALUATION REQUIREMENTS
not be used in credit analysis decisions.
The appraisal regulations identify certain real
Liquidation Value This term assumes that thereestate-related financial transactions that do not
is little or no current demand for the propertyrequire the services of an appraiser (i.e., do not
and that the property needs to be disposed ofeed an appraisal). In the context of Title XI of
quickly, resulting in the owner sacrificing poten-FIRREA, an appraisal means the kind of spe-
tial property appreciation for an immediate salecialized opinion as to the value of real estate
containing certain formal elements recognized
Going-Concern Valu€eThis term is based on the by appraisal industry practices and standards.
value of a business entity rather than the valuBor transactions that do not require an appraisal
of just the real estate. The valuation is based oy a licensed or certified appraiser under the
the existing operations of the business that hasappraisal regulations, the branch should estab-
proven operating record with the assumptiofish an evaluation program and perform an
that the business will continue to operate. appropriate evaluation of the real estate for these
transactions as a prudent banking practice. The
Assessed Valud@his term represents the valueevaluation should result in a determination of
on which a taxing authority bases its assessralue that will assist the branch in assessing the
ment. The assessed value and market value magundness of the transaction and that will pro-
differ considerably due to tax assessment lawsgct the branch’s interest in the transaction.
timing of reassessments, and tax exemptiorfsurther, the evaluation need not meet all of the
allowed on properties or portions of a propertydetailed requirements of an appraisal as set forth
in the appraisal regulations.
Net Realizable Value (NRVJhis term is recog-  Bank regulators’ appraisal regulations allow
nized under generally accepted accounting priran institution to use an appropriate evaluation of
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real estate rather than an appraisal when thé&nce relevant to the type of property but doe:

transaction: not have to be a state-licensed or -certifiec
appraiser. Prudent practices generally requir
* Has a value of $250,000 or less; that, as the branch’s exposure in a real estat

* Is a business loan of $1,000,000 or less, anetlated financial transaction increases, a mor
the transaction is not dependent on the sale afietailed evaluation should be performed, whe
or rental income derived from, real estate asher or not specifically subject to appraisal
the primary source of repayment; or regulations.
Involves an existing extension of credit at the An evaluation for a transaction that needs :
lending branch, provided that: (i) there hasmore detailed analysis should fully describe the
been no obvious and material change in theroperty and discuss its use, especially fo
market conditions or physical aspects of thexonresidential property. An evaluation report
property that threaten the adequacy of thehould include calculations, supporting assumpg
branch’s real estate collateral protection aftetions, and, if utilized, a discussion of compa-
the transaction, even with the advancement afible sales. Documentation should be sufficier
new monies; or (ii) there is no advancement ofo allow an institution to understand the analy-
new monies other than funds necessary teis, assumptions, and conclusions. An institu
cover reasonable closing costs. tion’s own real estate loan portfolio experience
and value estimates prepared for recent loans «
The branch is not precluded from obtainingcomparable properties might provide a basis fo
an appraisal that conforms to the regulation foevaluations.
any real estate-related financial transaction. If a An evaluation for a transaction that requires ¢
branch makes loans that may be sold into thress detailed analysis may be based upon info
secondary market at a later date, the branch mayation, such as comparable property sale
need to ensure that they meet the secondalifformation from sales data services, for exam
mortgage market requirements. ple, the multiple listing service or current tax
assessed value in appropriate situations. Furthe
. the branch’s own real estate loan portfolio
Form and Content of Evaluations experience and value estimates, which wer
) ] prepared for recent loans on comparable proy
The documentation for evaluations should fullyerties where appraisals meeting the requiremen
support the estimate of value and include suffipf the regulation were obtained, may be usec
cient information to understand the evaluator’@egarmess of the method, the branch must doc

analysis and assumptions. There is no requirgnent its analysis and findings in the loan file.
ment that the evaluator use a particular form or

valuation approach but the analysis should be

applicable to the type of property and fully| etter Updates
explain the value rendered.

An evaluation, at a minimum, should: A branch may use letter updates to an apprais.
L as an evaluation even though such updates ¢
* Be written; not conform to the appraisal regulations an

Include the preparer's name, address, angould not be acceptable for the initial credit
signature, and the effective date of thejecision for federally-related transactions. Fo

evaluation; _ example, an existing appraisal for a first mort-
* Describe the real estate coIIatera.I, its condlgtfjug.e might be updated for a subsequent hon
tion, its current and projected use; equity line of credit where the extension of

Describe the source(s) of information used irxredit is below the threshold amount.
the analysis;
Describe the analysis and supporting informa-

tion; and
- Provide an estimate of the real estate’s markéQUALIFICATIONS CRITERIA FOR
value, with any limiting conditions. APPRAISERS AND EVALUATORS

An individual who conducts an evaluationThe accuracy of an appraisal or evaluatior
should have real estate-related training or expelepends on the competence and integrity of th
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individual performing the appraisal or evalua-ticular designation from an appraisal associa-
tion and the expertise of the appraiser or evalution, organization, or society.

ator at developing and interpreting pertinent In that regard, branches should treat all
data for the subject property. Appraisers andppraisers fairly and equitably in determining
evaluators should have adequate training, expesether to use the services of a particular
rience, and knowledge of the local real estatappraiser. Generally, financial institutions have
market to make sound judgments concerning thestablished procedures for selecting appraisers
value of a particular property. The level ofand maintaining an approved appraiser list. The
training, experience, and knowledge should beractice of pre-approving appraisers for on-going
commensurate with the type and complexity otppraisal work and maintaining an approved
the property to be valued. Additionally, apprais-appraiser list is acceptable as long as all apprais-
ers and evaluators should be independent of tlegs are required to follow the same approval
credit decision, have no interest in the propertyprocess. However, a branch that requires apprais-
being appraised, and have no affiliations oers who are not members of a particular appraisal
associations with the potential borrower. organization to formally apply, pay an applica-
tion fee, and submit samples of previous
appraisal reports for review—but does not have
identical requirements for appraisers who are
members of certain appraisal organizations—

Under Title XI of FIRREA, two classifications Would be viewed as having a questionable
of appraisers were identified to be used ir?‘EIGCtlon process.

federally-related transactions: “state-certified

appraiser” and “state-licensed appraiser.” For a

certified appraiser, Title XI contemplated thatAPPRAISALS PERFORMED BY

the states would adopt similar standards fOCERTIFIED OR LICENSED
certification based on the qualification criteria OfAPPRAISERS

the Appraiser Qualifications Board of the
Appraisal Foundation. These standards set fory
minimum educational, testing, experience, an
continuing education requirements. For a license
appraiser, the states have some latitude in esta.b-AII

lishing qualification standards provided that the $1m

criteria are adequate to protect federal financia Nonresidential federally-related transactions

and public policy interests. .
The Appraisal Subcommittee of the FFIEC is, OCfo?nZSI(e)’)??eosic():lrem?z;Iefe?jrgall -related transac-
responsible for monitoring the states for com- P y
tions of $250,000 or more.

pliance with Title XI. The federal banking
agencies also have the authority to impose
additional certification and licensing require-
ments to those adopted by a given state.

Appraiser Qualifications

summary, a federally-insured branch is
quired to use a Certified Appraiser for:

federally-related transactions over
illion;

A federally-insured branch is required to use
a Licensed Appraiser for:

« All other federally-related transactions over
) ) the $250,000 transaction value not requiring
Selection of an Appraiser the services of a certified appraiser. These also
may be performed by a certified appraiser.
In selecting an appraiser for an appraisal assign-
ment, a branch is expected to consider whether Some of the states have adopted other
the individual holds the proper state certificatiorappraiser designations, which may cause confu-
or license and has the appropriate experienc@on on whether a particular appraiser holds the
and educational background to complete thappropriate designation for a given appraisal
assignment. Financial institutions may notassignment. Additionally, some states have used
exclude a qualified appraiser from consideratiodesignations such as “certified residential”
for an appraisal assignment solely because tlappraiser and “certified general” appraiser,
appraiser lacks membership in a particulawhich leads to further confusion. Other states
appraisal organization or does not hold a pathave no specified license designation but have
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used the term “certified residential” based onactivities, including but not limited to apprais-
the standards for licensing. For this reason, thals, real estate lending experience, real esta
branch needs to understand (1) the qualificatiorsonsulting, and real estate sales. An individua
criteria set forth by the state appraiser regulatorgerforming an evaluation need not be license
body and (2) whether these standards are equivar certified. The branch’s evaluation procedure!
lent to the federal designations as accepted tshould have established standards for selectir
the Appraisal Subcommittee. qualified individuals to perform evaluations and
confirming their qualifications and indepen-
dence to perform an evaluation for a particula
transaction.

Other Appraiser Designations

The Appraisal Subcommittee recognized twasypervisory Policy and Evaluations
other appraiser designations: certified residential

appraiser and transitional license. For the certiy
fied residential appraiser, the minimum qualifi-
cation standards are those established by t

Appraiser Qualifications Board for “certified 5jyities to ensure compliance with regulations

residential real estate appraiser.” Under thé o tederally-insured branch, and to evaluate
appraisal regulations, a certified residential

X . . jsk management techniques as appropriate. Th
appraiser would be permitted to appraise reajocess would include a review of the proce
estate in connection with a federally-relate

. X for a “certified” **“ures for selecting an appraiser for a particula
transaction designated for a “certified appralserappraisa| assignment and confirming that th

as long as the individual is competent for theynqiser is qualified, independent, and license
particular appraisal assignment. certified to undertake the assignment. If a branc

The Appraisal Subcommittee and the federahaintains a list of qualified real estate appraiser
banking agencies also recognized a transnmngtcceptame for the branch’s use, the examine
license, which allowed a state to issue a licensg,q,,id ascertain whether senior management
to an appraiser provided that the individual hastine branch has periodically reviewed anc
passed an examination and had satisfied eithﬁbproved the list.

::]ae n s?t(ijcl)JnC:ItII(i) cne n(;re de;perrl:ir;(éerz V\C:guweermietpetd {'\ When analyzing individual credits, examiners
PP P hould analyze appraisals or evaluations to dete

appraise real estate collateral in connection wit ine that the methods, assumptions, findings

?r;iiﬁirggg e_ll?ctggst;a:jns;ctlrc;?szf 'ugsenesfde';zand conclusions are reasonable and in compl
y PP p nce with any applicable appraisal regulation:

to co_mplete the missing requirement W"h”.‘ %nd supervisory guidelines. Examiners shouls
set time frame or the license would expire

The recoanition of a transitional license wa not challenge the underlying assumptions, includ
believed gt]o be necessary to ease the initigﬂg discount rates and capitalization rates use
y appraisals, that differ only in a limited way

problems and inefficiencies resulting from e, " ormg that would generally be associate
establishment of a new regulatory program. Th ith the property under review. Additionally, an

Appraisal Subcommitt.eje adv[sed the states th% aminer is not bound to accept the results ©
the use of the fransitional license should be,o ) visa or evaluation, regardless of wheth
phased out over time once the appraiser regulad- new appraisal or evaluation was requeste
tory program is fully established. As a result, theduring the examination. If an examiner con-

E;eec;frgrfet?;r?glsofcilwl:Cs?[gtsf t‘zngt;?: appl'cablgludes that an appraisal or evaluation is deficier
) for any reason, that fact will be taken into
account in reaching a judgment on the quality o

branch’s appraisal and evaluation policies an
rocedures should be reviewed as part of th
amination of its overall real estate-relatec

the credit.
Qualifications of Individuals Who When the examiner can establish that th
Can Perform Evaluations underlying facts or assumptions are inappropri

ate and can support alternative assumptions, tt
Evaluations can be performed by a competer@xaminer may adjust the estimated value of th
person who has experience in real estate-relat@doperty for credit analysis purposes. It is
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important to emphasize that an examiner’s oveiand state statutes that establish environmental
all analysis and classification of a credit may bdiability that could place banking organiza-
based upon other credit or underwriting stantions at risk. For example, underground storage
dards, even if the loan is secured by realanks are also covered by separate federal
property whose value is supported by adegislationit
appraisal or evaluation. Further discussion on While the superfund statute was enacted in
the examiner's assessment of value for loan980, it has been only since the mid-1980s that
classification can be found in sections in thigourt actions have resulted in some banking
manual on Classification of Credits. organizations being held liable for the clean-up
Significant failures to meet applicable stan-of hazardous substance contamination. These
dards and procedures as outlined previouslgarly court decisions had a wide array of inter-
should be criticized and corrective action shoulgretations as to whether banking organizations
be required. Furthermore, inadequate appraisate owners or operators of contaminated facili-
and evaluation procedures may be considered gies and thereby liable under the superfund
unsafe and unsound banking practice if thatatute for clean-up costs. These decisions led to
failure to accurately reflect the value of assets onncertainty on the part of banking organizations
a timely basis misrepresents the branch’s finaras to how best to protect themselves from
cial condition. In this situation, formal correc- environmental liability.
tive measures will be pursued as appropriate. The relevant provisions of CERCLA, the
The appraisal regulation and guidelines requireo-called “superfund” statute as it pertains to
that federally-insured financial institutions usebanking organizations indicate which persons or
the services of qualified, independent, certifieéntities are subject to liability for clean-up costs
or licensed appraisers to perform appraisals. Af hazardous substance contamination. These
branch that knowingly uses the services of ainclude “the owner and operator of a vessel or a
individual to perform an appraisal in connectionfacility, (or) any person who at the time of
with a federally-related transaction who is notdisposal of any hazardous substance owned or
properly certified or licensed is in violation of operated any facility at which such hazardous
Section 1120(a)(1) of Title XI of FIRREA. Any substances were dispose@.A person or entity
action of a state-certified or -licensed appraisethat transports or arranges to transport hazard-
that is contrary to the purpose of Title XI shouldous substances can also be held liable for
be reported to the branch’s appropriate federalleaning up contamination under the superfund
and/or state regulators for referral to the statetatute.
appraiser regulatory agency for investigation.  The liability imposed by the superfund statute
is strict liability, which means the government
does not have to prove that the owners or
operators had knowledge of or caused the haz-
ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY ardous substance contamination. Moreover, lia-
) ) ) . bility is joint and several, which allows the
In connection with any real estate lending activyoyernment to seek recovery of the entire cost
ity, a branch and its legal entity, the foreigng the clean up from any individual party that is
banking organization, may be subject to liabilityjjgple for those clean-up costs under CERCLA.
associated with the clean-up of hazardous suly this connection, CERCLA does not limit the
stance contamination pursuant to the Compresringing of such actions to the EPA but permits
hensive Environmental Response, Compensaych actions to be brought by third parties.
tion and Liability Act (CERCLA), the federal_ CERCLA provides a secured creditor exemp-
superfund statute. CERCLA was enacted i, i the definition of “owner and operator”
response to the growing problem of impropey, sating that these terms do not include “a

handling and disposal of hazardous substancep%rson’ who, without participating in the man-

CERCLA authorizes the Environmental Protecgement of a vessel or facility, holds indicia of

tion Agency (EPA) to clean up hazardous wastg nership primarily to protect his security inter-
sites and to recover costs associated with the
clean up from entities specified in the statute.
The _super_fund statute is the primary federal l.aW 11. Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1987
dealing with hazardous substance contamingrcra).

tion. However, there are numerous other federal 12. CERCLA, Section 107(a).
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est in the vessel or facility®™® However, this ¢ Dry cleaners (various cleaning solvents).
exception has not provided banking organizas Service station and convenience store oper:
tions with an effective “safe harbor” because tors (underground storage tanks).

early court decisions worked to limit the appli- Fertilizer and chemical dealers and applicator
cation of this exemption. Specifically, courts (storage and transportation of chemicals).
held that actions by lenders to protect theik Lawn care businesses (application of lawr
security interests may result in the banking chemicals).

organization “participating in the management”. Trycking firms (local and long haul transport-
of a vessel or facility, thereby voiding the ers of hazardous substances, such as fuel
exemption. Additionally, once the title to a chemicals).

foreclosed property passes to the banking orga-The real estate industry has taken the brunt c
nization, courts held that the exemption NO ihe adverse affects of hazardous waste col
longer applies and that the banking organization tamination. In addition to having land con-
is liable under the superfund statute as an igminated with toxic substances, constructiol
“owner” of the property. Under some circum-  methods for major construction projects, suct
stances, CERCLA may exempt landowners who a5 commercial buildings, have utilized mate-
acquire property without the knowledge of pre- g5 that have been subsequently determine
existing conditions (the so-called “innocent land- 14 he hazardous resulting in significant decline
owner defense”). However, the courts applied a i their value. For example, asbestos wa
stringent standard to qualify for this defense. commonly used in commercial construction
Because little guidance is provided by the stat- from the 1950s to the late 1970s. Asbesto
ute as to what constitutes the appropriate timing \yas found to be a health hazard and now mu:
and degree of “due diligence” to successfully meet certain federal and, in many instances
employ this defense, banking organizations giate requirements for costly removal or abate
should exercise caution before relying on it. ment (enclosing or otherwise sealing off).

e Another common source of hazardous sub
stance contamination is underground storag
Overview of Environmental Hazards  tanks. Leaks in these tanks not only contami
nate the surrounding ground but often flow
Environmental risk can be characterized as into ground water and travel far away from the
adverse consequences resulting from having original contamination site. As contamination
generated or handled hazardous substances ogpreads to other sites, clean-up costs escala
otherwise having been associated with the after-
math of subsequent contamination. The follow-
ing discussion highlights some common envi+ . o
ronmental hazards but by no means covers allmpaCt on Banking Organization
environmental hazards. . o
Hazardous substance contamination is mo&anking organizations may encounter losse
often associated with industrial or manufactur@rising from environmental liability in several
ing processes that involve chemicals or solvent§@ys. The greatest risk to banks resulting fron
in the manufacturing process or as waste prodhe superfund statute and other environment:
ucts. For years, these types of hazardous subiability statutes is the possibility of being held
stances were disposed of in land fills or jusﬁolely liable for costly environmental c!eaq ups,
dumped on industrial sites. Hazardous subsuch as hazardous substance contamination. I
stances are also found in many other lines dpank is found to be a responsible party unde
business. The following examples demonstrate ERCLA, it may find itself responsible for
the diverse sources of potential hazardous subléaning up a contaminated site at a cost that fz

stance contamination, which should be of conéXceeds any outstanding loan balance. This ris
cern to banking organizations. of loss results from an interpretation of the

superfund statute as providing for joint and

 Farmers and ranchers (use of fuel, fertilizersseveral liability. Any responsible party, includ-

herbicides, insecticides, and feedlot runoff). ing & branch and the foreign banking organiza
tion or FBO, as the branch’s legal entity, could

[ be forced to pay the full cost of any clean up. Of
13. CERCLA, Section 101(20)(A). course, the branch or FBO may attempt ftc
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recover such costs from the borrower, or from Risk of credit losses can also arise where the
the owner, if different than the borrower, pro-credit quality of individual borrowers (opera-
vided that the borrower or owner continues irtors, generators, or transporters of hazardous
existence and is solvent. Banking organizationsubstances) deteriorates markedly as a result of
may be held liable for the clean up of hazardoubeing required to clean up hazardous substance
substance contaminations in situations where icontamination. Banking organizations must be
aware that significant clean-up costs borne by
Takes title to property pursuant to foreclosurethe borrower could threaten the borrower’s sol-
Involves the banking organization’s personnelency and jeopardize the lender’s ultimate col-
or contractors engaged by the bank in day-tdection of outstanding loans to that borrower
day management of the facility; regardless of the fact that no real property
Takes actions designed to make the contamcollateral is involved. Therefore, ultimate col-
nated property salable, possibly resulting idection of loans to fund operations or to acquire
further contamination; manufacturing or transportation equipment
Acts in a fiduciary capacity, including man- can be jeopardized by the borrower’s generating
agement involvement in the day-to-day operaer handling of hazardous substances in an
tions of industrial or commercial concerns andmproper manner. Further, some bankruptcy
purchasing or selling contaminated property;courts have required clean up of hazardous
e Owns or acquires (by merger or acquisition)substance contamination before distribution of a
subsidiaries involved in activities that mightdebtor’s estate to secured creditors.

result in a finding of environmental liability;  gorrowers may have existing subsidiaries or
or , , may be involved in merger and acquisition
Owns or acquires, for future expansion, PréMactivity that may place the borrower at risk for
ises that have been previously contaminateghe activities of others that result in environmen-
by hazardous substances. For example, sifg liability. Some courts have held that for the
contamination at a branch office where &, ,1hoses of determining liability under the
service station with un_derground storage ta“k§uperfund statute, the corporate veil may not
once operated. Premises or other real estafotect parent companies that participate in the
owned could also be contaminated by asbestqgyy-to-day operations of their subsidiaries from
requiring costly clean up or abatement. environmental liability and court imposed
clean-up costs. Additionally, borrowers can be

A more common situation encountered byhe|d |iable for contamination that occurred before
banking organizations has been where real proghey owned or used real estate.

erty collateral is found to be contaminated by

hazardous substances. The value of contami-

nated real property collateral can decline dra-

matically depending on the degree of contamis . . .

nation. As the projected clean-up costs increaf,rOIeptlon Against Environmental

the borrower may not be able to provide the-iability

necessary funds to remove contaminated mate-

rials. In making its determination whether toLenders have numerous ways to identify and
foreclose, the lender must estimate the potentiahinimize their exposure to environmental liabil-
clean-up costs. In many cases, this estimatdty. Because environmental liability is relatively
cost has been found to be well in excess of theecent, procedures used to safeguard against
outstanding loan balance and the lender hasuch liability are evolving. Generally, however,
elected to abandon its security interest in théanking organizations should have in place
property and write-off the loan. This situationadequate safeguards and controls to limit their
occurs, regardless of the fact that the superfuneikposure to potential environmental liability.
statute provides a secured creditor exemptio.oan policies and procedures should address
Some courts have not extended this exemptiomethods for identifying potential environmental
to situations where lenders have taken title to aroblems relating to credit requests and existing
property pursuant to foreclosure. These rulinglbans. The loan policy should describe an
have been based on a strict reading of the statutpropriate degree of due diligence investiga-
that provides the exemption to “security inter-tion required for credit requests. Borrowers in
ests” only. high-risk industries or localities should be held
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to a more stringent due diligence investigationnvestigate, in greater detail, those factors liste
than borrowers in low-risk industries or localities.previously and actually test for hazardous sub
In addition to establishing procedures forstance contamination. Such testing might requir
granting credit, procedures should be developetbllecting and analyzing air samples, surface
and applied to portfolio analysis, credit moni-soil samples, and subsurface soil samples ar
toring, loan workout situations, and—beforedrilling wells to sample ground water.
taking title to real property—foreclosures. Banks Other measures used by some banking org:
may avoid or mitigate potential environmentalnizations to assist in identifying and minimizing
liability by having sound policies and proce-environmental liability include obtaining indem-
dures designed to identify, assess, and contraities from borrowers for any clean-up costs
environmental liability. incurred by the bank and including affirmative
At the same time, banking organizations mustovenants in loan agreements (and attenda
be careful that any lending policies and proceeefault provisions) requiring the borrower to
dures, especially those undertaken to assess agwmply with all applicable environmental regu-
control environmental liability, cannot be con-lations. Although these measures may provid
strued as taking an active role in participating irsome aid in identifying and minimizing poten-
the management or day-to-day operations of thigal environmental liability, they are not a sub-
borrower’s business. Activities that could bestitute for environmental reviews, assessment
considered active participation in the manageand audits because their effectiveness is depe
ment of the borrower’s business and therefordent upon the financial strength of the borrower
subject the banking organization to potential The foregoing discussion provides genera
liability, include but are not limited to: guidance on environmental liability. Because o
continuing legal and regulatory changes an
* Having branch or FBO employees serve agourt decisions in this area, all policies, prac-
members of the borrower’s board of directorgices, and procedures should be periodicall
or actively participating in board decisions; reviewed by legal counsel to ensure that they ar
Assisting in day-to-day management anchdequate and up-to-date.
operating decisions; or
Actively determining management changes.

These considerations are especially importafeonclusion
when the banking organization is actively
involved in loan workouts or debt restructuring.Potential environmental liability can touch on a

The first step in identifying and minimizing great number of loans to borrowers in many
environmental risk is for banks to performindustries or localities. Moreover, nonlending
environmental reviews. Such reviews may bectivities and affiliations can lead to environ-
performed by loan officers or others and typi-mental liability depending upon the nature of
cally identify past practices and uses of thdéhese activities and the degree of participatio
facility and property, evaluate regulatory com-that the banking organization, whether domesti
pliance, if applicable, and identify potentialor foreign, exercises in its U.S. operations
future problems. This review is accomplishedSuch liability can result in losses arising from
by interviewing persons familiar with past andhazardous substance contamination becau
present uses of the facility and property, reviewbanking organizations are held directly liable for
ing relevant records and documents, and visitingostly court ordered clean ups. Additionally, the
and inspecting the site. banking organization’s ability to collect the

Where the environmental review reveals posloans it makes may be hampered by significar
sible hazardous substance contamination, ateclines in collateral value or the inability of a
environmental assessment or audit may bleorrower to meet debt payments, after paying
required. Environmental assessments are maffer costly clean-ups of hazardous substanc
by personnel trained in identifying potentialcontamination.
environmental hazards and provide a more thor- Banking organizations must understand tht
ough review and inspection of the facility andnature of environmental liability arising from
property. Environmental audits differ markedlyhazardous substance contamination. Addition
from environmental assessments in that indepeudly, they should take prudential steps to identify
dent environmental engineers are employed tand minimize their potential environmental lia-
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bility. Indeed, the common thread to environ-substances, not types of borrowers, lines of
mental liability is the existence of hazardousbusiness, or real property.
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Real Estate Loans

Examination Objectives
Effective date July 1997

Section 3100.2

1. To determine if policies, practices, proce-
dures, and internal controls regarding real
estate lending activities and appraisals ars.
adequate.

2. To determine if branch officers are operating
in conformance with established guidelines.6.

3. To evaluate the portfolio for collateral suffi-
ciency, performance, credit quality, and7.
collectibility.

4. To determine that appraisals performed in
connection with federally-related transac-
tions comply with the minimum standards of

the appraisal regulations and the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice
To determine whether adequate safeguar
and controls have been established to limi
exposure to potential environmental liability.
To determine compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

To recommend corrective action when poli-
cies, practices, procedures, or internal con
trols are deficient or when violations of laws
or regulations have been noted.
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Real Estate Loans

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3100.3

Refer to the Credit Risk Management examina-

tion procedures for general procedures to assess

the risk of real estate lending activities. How-

ever, if the branch engages in significant real
estate lending activities, and additional informa-
tion is needed, the examiner should perform the
following examination procedures.

1. If selected for implementation, complete or
update the Internal Control Questionnaire.

2. Determine if deficiencies noted at previous
examinations and internal/external audits
have been adequately addressed by
management.

3. Review the following

information for

selected real estate loans:

a.

b.

Determine the primary source of repay-
ment and evaluate its adequacy.
Assess the quality of any secondary col-
lateral afforded by the loan guarantors or
partners.

. Compare collateral values to outstanding

debt and determine whether the loan’s
LTV ratio is in excess of the suggested
supervisory LTV limits.

. Review the borrower’s compliance with ) )
payment 5. Review the branch’s appraisal and evalua

loan covenants, and

performance.

. Determine if any problems exist that

may jeopardize the repayment of the
loan.

If the loan was classified during the 6.

preceding examination and has subse-
quently been paid off, determine the
source of funds for repayment (e.g.
another loan, a sale to another institution,
or repossession of the property.)

If the loan is to a firm or to individuals
who provided professional services to
the branch, such as attorneys, accoun-
tants, or appraisers, determine if the
borrower received preferential treatment.

4. Evaluate the branch’s real estate lending
activities, taking into account the following
items:

a.

b.

The adequacy of the policies, proce-
dures, and internal controls.

The adherence to policies and proce
dures, and accuracy and completeness «
the branch’s records.

. The competency of management an

loan officers.

. The adequacy of systems to monitor bott

favorable and adverse trends in the over
all real estate industry.

. The quality of the real estate loan port-

folio, including the level and trends of
classified and criticized loans, and delin-
quent and nonaccrual loans. Ascertain i
management is aware of the causes c
existing problems.

Loans lacking current and complete
financial information or documentation.
Address deficiencies related to items sucl
as appraisals, feasibility studies, the
environmental impact study, takeout
commitment, title policy, deeds of trust,
and mortgage notes.

. Compliance with laws, regulations, and

applicable regulatory policy.

. Assess the adequacy of the appraisal or h. Independent verification of collateral
evaluation. values.
. Determine if the loan complies with
branch policy.
Identify deficiencies in the loan’s credit
files or the collateral records. APPRAISALS

tion program, making sure it includes guide-
lines for obtaining appraisals from third
party appraisers and evaluating appraisal
in-house.

Evaluate the adequacy and integrity o

the appraisal

and evaluation process

considering:
a. The appropriateness of the methods

b.

assumptions, and techniques used, ar

compliance with interagency real estate

appraisal and evaluation guidelines.

Other appraisal deficiencies such as:

* Misrepresentation of data,

« Inadequate analysis,

« Use of dissimilar comparables,

* Underestimation of factors, such as
construction cost, construction period,
lease-up period, and rent concessions
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» Use of best case assumptions for the9. Review loan agreements to determine if
income approach, or warranties, representations, and indemnifi-
» Overly optimistic assumptions, such as  cations have been included in loan agree-
a high absorption rate in an overbuilt ments designed to protect the branch from
market. losses stemming from hazardous substance
contamination. (Although such provisions
provide some protection for the lender,
ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY these agreements are not binding against the
government or third parties. Such contrac-
7. Determine if policies, procedures, and other U@l protections are only as secure as the

safeguards and controls have been estab- Porrower's financial strength.) _
lished to avoid or mitigate potential envi- 10- Update workpapers with any information
ronmental liability. that will facilitate future examinations.

8. Determine whether appropriate periodic
analysis of potential environmental liability
is conducted.
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Real Estate Loans

Internal Control Questionnaire
Effective date July 1997

Section 3100.4

Refer to the Credit Risk Management Internal
Control Questionnaire, section 3010.4, for a
general review of the branch’s internal controls, 7.
policies, practices, and procedures. If the branch
engages in significant real estate lending activi-
ties, and additional information is needed, the
examiner should complete the following ICQ. g,
For audit procedures, refer to the Credit Risk

Management section 3010.5. 9

1. Has branch and head office management
adopted written real estate lending policies;
that define: '

a.
b.
c.

Target market?
Acceptable collateral?
Prudent, clear, and measurable underwrit-
ing standards for each type of property
such as: 12
» Maximum loan amount and maturity? =~
¢ Repayment terms? 13.
e Pricing structure?

* Loan-to-value (LTV) limits?

. Approval procedures and authority limits?
. Loan administration procedures that

include documentation, disbursement,
collateral inspection, collection, and loan
review?

Minimum loan documentation standards
such as minimum frequency and type o
financial information required for each

category of real estate loan? 14.

. Appraisals and evaluations?
. Reporting requirements to the head office

relative to loan portfolio monitoring,
including items such as compliance with
lending policies and procedures, delin-
quency trends, and problem loans?

. Are policies and procedures appropriate to
the size and sophistication of the branch,
and are they reviewed annually to ensure
they are compatible with changing market
conditions?

. Has someone been assigned the responsibll5-

ity for maintaining the document files?

. Are notes and other original documents
properly safeguarded?

. Is a tickler system or a check sheet used to
ensure that required documents are received
and on file?

. Are loan files reviewed after closing to
determine if all documents are properly

drawn, executed, recorded, and filed within
the loan files?

Is there a procedure for monitoring escrow
accounts to determine that private mortgag
insurance premiums and hazard insuranc
premiums are current?

Do hazard insurance policies include a los:
payable clause to the branch?

. Are escrow accounts reviewed at least annt

ally to determine if monthly deposits will
cover anticipated disbursements?

Are disbursements for taxes and insuranc
supported by records showing the nature
and purpose of the disbursement?

11. Does the branch have adequate collectio

procedures to monitor delinquencies anc
pursue foreclosure?

Are “in-substance foreclosure” properties
appropriately identified?

Are properties to which the branch has
obtained title appropriately transferred to
other real estate owned (OREQ)? Refer t«
the Other Real Estate Owned section in thi:
manual for requirements.

APPRAISALS AND EVALUATIONS

Do appraisal policies include:

a. Guidelines for selecting, evaluating, anc
monitoring the individuals performing
appraisals or evaluations, whether thirc
party or in-house?

b. Procedures for when to obtain appraisal
and evaluations on new loans, as well a
reappraisals or reevaluations on existing
loans?

c. Review procedures to determine thal
appraisals and evaluations comply with
supervisory guidelines?

If appropriate, does the appraisal meet th

minimum standards of the appraisal regula

tions and the Uniform Standards of Profes:
sional Appraisal Practice, including:

a. Purpose?

. Market value?

Effective date?

. Marketing period?

. Sales history of subject property?

o0 o
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Real Estate Loans: Internal Control Questionnaire

16.

17.

18.

19.

f. Reflect the valuation using the cost,

income, and comparable sales
approaches?
g. Evaluate and correlate the three22.

approaches into a final value estimate,
based on the appraiser’s judgment?
h. Explain why an approach is inappropri-
ate and not used in the appraisal? 23.
i. Fully support the assumptions and the
value rendered through adequate
documentation?
Are staff appraisers independent of the lend24.
ing, investment, and collection functions?
Are fee appraisers engaged directly by the
branch and do they have no direct or indi-25.
rect interest, financial or otherwise, in the
property or transaction?
Are fee appraisers paid the same fee wheth26.
or not the loan is granted?
If the transaction is outside the local geo-
graphic market of the branch, does the
branch engage an appraiser with knowledge
of the market where the real estate collateral
is located?

27.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY

20.

21.

Do loan applicants provide information on
environmental matters pertaining to their28.
business facilities?

If the branch acquires a loan, either by
purchase or participation, does it ensure that

adequate due diligence regarding environ-
mental risk matters has been performed by
the lead lender?

Do loans receive a Phase | Environmental
Risk Report if the collateral is deemed to
have a higher environmental risk potential
than other types of real property?

Has senior management designated a spe-
cific “environmental risk analyst” who
receives special training on environmental
risk?

Are potential environmental problems noted
in an environmental risk report considered
by senior management prior to loan approval?
Are procedures established for reviewing
collateral prior to foreclosure to ensure
environmental risk has been addressed?
Are training programs conducted so that
lending personnel are aware of environmen-
tal liability issues and are able to identify
borrowers with potential problems?

CONCLUSION

Is the information covered by this ICQ
adequate for evaluating internal controls in
this area? If not, indicate any additional
examination procedures deemed necessary.
Based on the information gathered, evaluate
the internal controls in this area (i.e. strong,
satisfactory, fair, marginal, unsatisfactory).
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Real Estate Construction Loans _
Effective date July 1997 Section 3110.1

INTRODUCTION Lending Limits

A construction loan is used to finance thea branch should establish well-controlled con-
construction of a particular project within astruction lending limits that are within the
specified period of time and is funded by superacceptable standards of state banking regul
vised disbursements of a predetermined amoufibns. State banking statutes governing constru
over the construction period. When properiytion lending may contain minimum standards of
controlled, a branch can promote commercial gprudence without specifying actual loan terms.
residential development through its construction The pranch'’s internal limits should not exceec
Iending as well as receive significant profits ovefnhe supervisory loan-to-value (LTV) limits set
a relatively short time frame. forth in the Interagency Guidelines for Real

Inasmuch as construction lending is a form oEstate Lending Policies, as required by sectio
interim financing, loan repayment is contingen804 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora
upon the borrower either obtaining permanention Improvement Act of 1991 and included as
financing or finding a buyer with sufficient fundsappendix C of the Federal Reserve’'s Regula
to purchase the completed project. Becaus@on H. These guidelines, and the accompanyin
many borrowers anticipate retaining ownership.TV limits, are discussed in the Real Estate
after construction, the cost and availability ofLoans section of this manual. Generally, the
funds from permanent financing is a primaryLTV ratio should not exceed the following
factor to be considered by the branch in assessupervisory guidance limits:
ing the risk of a construction loan.

A construction loan is generally secured by a 65 percent for raw land loans;
first mortgage or deed of trust on the land and 75 percent for land development and improvec
improvements, which is often backed by a land loans;
purchase agreement from a financially sounel 80 percent for commercial, multifamily, and
investor or by a takeout financing agreement other nonresidential construction loans; and
from a responsible permanent lender. A longs 85 percent for one- to four-family residential
term mortgage loan (permanent financing) is construction loans.
typically obtained prior to or simultaneous with
the construction loan and is made to refinance The foregoing limits apply only to domestic
the short-term construction loan. Additionally,hanks, not to FBOs; however, these guideline
the bank may require a borrower to provideare provided for reference.
secondary collateral in the form of a junior For |oans that fund multiple phases of the
interest in another real estate project or a pekame real estate project, the appropriate LT\
sonal guarantee. limit is the supervisory LTV limit applicable to

the final phase of the project.

Lending Risks
LENDING POLICY

Construction loans are vulnerable to a wide
Banks can limit the risk inherent in constructionvariety of risks. Critical to the evaluation of any
lending by establishing policies that specifyconstruction loan is the analysis of the project’s
the type and extent of branch involvementfeasibility study to ascertain the developer's
The branch’s lending policies should reflectisk, which affects the lender’s risk. The major
prudent lending standards and set forth pricingortion of the risk is attributable to the need to
guidelines, limits on loan-to-value ratios andcomplete a project within specified cost anc
debt-coverage ratios, and yield requirementsime limits. Examples of difficulties that may
Such policies should also address proceduregise include:
relative to controlling disbursements in a man-
ner that is commensurate with the constructiom Completion of a project after takeout dates
progress. which voids permanent funding commitments.
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e Cost overruns, which may exceed takeoutinsecured advances to creditworthy borrowers.

commitments or sale prices. A development loan involves the purchase of
« The possibility that the completed project willland and lot development in anticipation of
be an economic failure. further construction or sale of the property. In

e The diversion of progress payments resultingddition to funding the acquisition of the land, a
in  nonpayment of material bills or development loan may be used to fund the
subcontractors. preparation of the land for future construction,
A financial collapse of or the failure of the including the grading of land, installation of

contractors, subcontractors, or suppliers tatilities, and construction of streets.

perform before the completion date. Effective administration of a land develop-
* Increased material or labor costs. ment loan begins with a plan defining each step
» The destruction of improvements from unex-of the development. The development plan

pected natural causes. should incorporate cost budgets, including legal
* An improper or lax monitoring of funds expenses for building and zoning permits, envi-

advanced by the branch. ronmental impact statements, costs of installing

utilities, and all other projected costs of the
development. Branch management’s review of
TYPES OF CONSTRUCTION the plan and related cost breakdowns should
LOANS provide the basis for determining the size, terms,
and restrictions for the development loan. Refer

The basic types of construction loans are unsé? the subsection below on the assessment of
cured front money, land development, resideni€al estate coII_ateraI for furth(_er dlscussn_)n_.
tial construction, and commercial construction The LTV ratio should provide for sufficient
loans. It is not uncommon for a branch tomargin to protect the branch from unforeseen
provide the acquisition, development, and con€Vents (such as unplanned expenses) that would
struction loans for a particular project. otherwise jeopardize the branch’s collateral posi-
tion or repayment prospects. If the loan involves
the periodic development and sale of portions of
Unsecured Front Money Loans the property under lien, each separately identi-
fiable section of the project should be indepen-
Front money loans are considered very risky andently appraised and any collateral should be
should not be undertaken unless the branch hasleased in a manner that maintains a reasonable
the expertise to evaluate the credit risk. Thesmargin. The repayment program should be struc-
loans may represent working capital advances toired to follow the sales or development pro-
a borrower who may be engaged in a new andgram. Control over development loans can be
unproven venture. The funds may be used tbest established when the branch finances both
acquire or develop a building site, eliminate titlethe development and the construction or sale
impediments, pay architect or standby fees, anghases of the project.
meet minimum working capital requirements In the case of an unsecured land development
established by construction lenders. Becaudean, it is essential to analyze the borrower’s
repayment often comes from the first drawfinancial statements to determine the source of
against construction financing, many construcloan repayment. In establishing the repayment
tion loan agreements prohibit the use of the firsprogram, the branch should review sales projec-
advance to repay nonconstruction costs. Unséons to ensure that they are not overly optimis-
cured front money loans used as a developeritc. Additionally, branches should avoid grant-
equity investment in a project or to cover initialing loans to illiquid borrowers or guarantors
cost overruns are symptomatic of an undercapiwho provide the primary support for a borrower
talized or possibly an inexperienced or inep{project).
builder.

Land Development Loans Residential Construction Loans

Land development or off-site improvement loandResidential construction loans are made either
are intended to be secured-purchase loans on a speculative basis, where homes are built to
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Real Estate Construction Loans 3110.1

be sold later in the general market, or for aCommercial Construction Loans
specific buyer with prearranged permanent

financing. Loans financing residential projects , . . .
that do not have prearranged home buyer finané® Pranch’s commercial construction lending

ing are usually limited to a predetermined num@Ctivity can encompass a wide range of

ber of speculative homes, which are permitted tg"0i€Cts—apartments, condominiums, —office
uildings, shopping centers, and hotels—witt

get the project started. It is important to ensur > : :
that the home buyer has arranged permaneﬁf"Ch requiring a special set of skills and exper
financing before the branch finances the corfiS€ 10 successfully manage, construct, an
struction; otherwise, the branch may find itselfnarket.
without a source of repayment. Construction Commercial construction loan agreement:
loans without permanent takeout commitmentshould normally require the borrower to have &
generally should be aggregated to determingrecommitted extended-term loan to “takeout”
whether a concentration of credit exists, that ishe construction lender. Takeout financing agree
in those situations when the amount exceeds thgents, however, are usually voidable if construc
designated percentage of total assets. For furthgtn is not completed by the final funding date,
guidance in this area, examiners should constilt the project does not receive occupancy per
with their respective agencies. mits, or if the preleasing or occupancy rate doe
Proposals to finance speculative constructionot meet an agreed-upon level. A branch ca
projects should be evaluated according to prealso enter into an “open-end” construction loan
determined policies that are compatible with thevhere there is no precommitted source to repa
institution’s size, the technical competence of itshe construction loan. Such loans pose an adde
management, and the housing needs of its saisk because the branch may be forced int
vice area. The prospective borrower’s reputaproviding permanent financing, oftentimes in
tion, experience, and financial condition shouldlistressed situations. In evaluating this risk, the
also be reviewed to assess the likelihood abranch should consider whether the complete
completing the proposed project. Until theproject will be able to attract extended-term
project is completed, the actual value of the redinancing, supported by the projected net oper
estate is questionable. Thus, the marketability adting income.

the project should be substantiated in a feasibil- The risk of commercial construction requires
ity study, reflecting a realistic assessment of q

current favorable and unfavorable local housin r;?r%%ﬁfwae?ie?iirgﬁggffrgﬁchaelsesst,ﬁccflg
market conditions. As in any real estate loan, th ’ !

branch must also obtain an appraisal or evalu e extended-term financing, and constructiol

tion for the project. The appraisal or evaluationolans' As in any real estate loan, the branch mu:

and the feasibility study are important tools toObtaln an appraisal or evaluation of the rea
be used by lenders in evaluating project risk estate in accordance with the Federal Reserve

For projects located out of area, the lender ma egulation H. Additionally, the borrower should

lack market expertise, which makes evaluatin rovide a feasibility study for the project that

the reasonableness of the marketing plan a tails the_ project's marketing plan, as well as
feasibility study more difficult, and therefore ah analysis of the supply-and-demand factor
makes the loan inherently riskier. affecting the projected absorption rate. For ai

A branch dealing with speculative builders_open-end construction loan, the feasibility stud

should have control procedures tailored to the pzirtlff:LtjkI]arly |n;_r:obrtant to The branch’s atssﬁﬁ
individual project. A predetermined limit on the Imen 8 e crecl ecalﬂsel grepaé/metn 0 th
number of unsold units to be financed at any ongan becomes increasingly dependent on
time should be included in the loan agreement tgales program or leasing of the project.

avoid overextending the builder’s capacity. The The branch also needs to assess the borroy
construction lender should receive currener’s development expertise, that is, whether th
inspection reports indicating the project’sborrower can complete the project within budge
progress. In some instances, the constructicend according to the construction plans. The
lender is also the permanent mortgagor. Loannancial risk of the project is contingent on the
on larger residential construction projects ar®orrower’s development expertise because th
usually negotiated with prearranged permanersource of the extended-term loan may be pred
financing as part of the construction loan. cated upon a set date for project completion
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3110.1 Real Estate Construction Loans

Until the project is completed, the actual valueanalyzed to ensure that the loan can be repaid in
of the real estate is questionable. the event that a takeout does not occur.

A branch may reduce its financial risk by The degree of analysis depends on whether
funding the construction loan after the borrowethe borrower is a single-asset entity or a multi-
has funded its share of the project equity (fomsset entity. A loan to a single-asset entity is
example, by paying for the feasibility study andoften predicated upon the strength of the partners/
land acquisition and development costs). Arguarantors. Accordingly, understanding their
alternative approach would require the borrowefinancial strength, which frequently is made up
to inject its own funds into the project atof various partnership interests, is key to assess-
agreed-upon intervals during the project's maning the project’s strength. In this example, it
agement, construction, and marketing phases twould be necessary to obtain financial informa-
coincide with the construction lender’s contri-tion on the partner’s/guarantor’s other projects,
butions. In larger projects, equity injections careven those not financed by the branch, to under-
be provided by equity partners or joint venturesstand their overall financial condition. This is
These can take the form of equity syndicationsyecessary because other unsuccessful projects
with contributions injected in the project in may cause financial trouble for the partner/
phases. A branch should assess the likelihood ghiarantor, despite a successful sales program by
the syndication being able to raise the necessatiye branch’s borrower. Issues to be considered,
equity. in addition to those raised in the preceding

paragraph, include the vacancy rates of the
various projects, break-even points, and rent
rolls.
BRANCH ASSESSMENT OF THE A loan to a multi-asset entity has similar
BORROWER characteristics to those found in the single-asset
entity, in that it is necessary to evaluate all of the
The term “borrower” can refer to different types assets contained therein to ascertain the actual
of entities. These forms can range from an entitfinancial strength. In both cases, assessment of
whose sole asset is the project being financed the project under construction would include
an entity that has other assets available tpreleasing requirements. For a loan with a
support the debt in addition to the project beingakeout commitment, the financial strength and
financed (a multi-asset entity). reputation of the permanent lender should be

Although the value of the real estate collaterahnalyzed. For a loan without a takeout commit-
is an important component of the loan approvaient, or one where the construction lender
process, the branch should not place undugrovides the permanent financing for its con-
reliance on the collateral value in lieu of anstruction loan, the long-term risks also need to
adequate analysis of the borrower’s ability tdhe evaluated. Refer to the Real Estate Loans
repay the loan. The analytical factors differsection in this manual, on the branch’s assess-
depending on the purpose of the loan, such aaent of the borrower, for additional factors to be
residential construction versus the various typesonsidered.
of commercial construction loans. In instances where approval for the loan is

The branch’s analysis is contained in itspredicated upon the strength of entities other
documentation files, which should include backthan the borrower (partner/guarantor), the branch
ground information on the borrower and partnershould obtain information on their financial
guarantor concerning their character and creditondition, income, liquidity, cash flow, contin-
history, expertise, and financial statements (prefient liabilities, and any other relevant factors
erably audited) for the most recent fiscal yearghat exist to demonstrate their financial capacity
Background information regarding a borrower'sto fulfill the obligation in the event that the
and partner's/guarantor’s character and creditorrower defaults.
history is based upon their work experience and Partners/guarantors generally have invest-
previous repayment practices, both relative tonents in other projects included as assets on
trade creditors and financial institutions. Theheir financial statements. The value of these
documentation files should indicate whether thinvestments frequently represents the partner’s/
borrower has demonstrated the ability to sucguarantor's own estimate of the investment's
cessfully complete the type of project to beworth, as opposed to a value based upon the
undertaken. The financial statements should bavestment’s financial statements. As a result, it
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Real Estate Construction Loans 3110.1

is necessary to obtain detailed financial stateahe appraiser's acceptance or rejection of th
ments for each investment to understand thstudy and its effect on the value should be fully
partner's/guarantor’'s complete financial pictureexplained in the appraisal.

and capacity to support the loan. The statements Management is responsible for reviewing the
should include detailed current and accurateeasonableness of the appraisal’s or evaluation
cash flow information since cash flow is oftenassumptions and conclusions. Also, manage
the source of repayment. ment’s rationale in accepting and relying upor

It is also important to consider the numberthe appraisal or evaluation should be docu
and amount of the guarantees currently extendedented in writing and made a part of loan
by a partner/guarantor to determine if they havelocumentation. In assessing the underwriting
the financial capacity to fulfill the contingentrisks, management should reconsider an
claims that exist. Furthermore, the branch shouldssumptions used by an appraiser that refle
review the prior performance of the partnerfoverly optimistic or pessimistic values. If man-
guarantor to voluntarily honor the guarantee aagement, after its review of the appraisal ol
well as the marketability of the assets collaterevaluation, determines that there are unsubsta
alizing the guarantee. Since the guarantee can biated assumptions, the branch may request tt
limited to development and construction phasesppraiser or evaluator to provide a more detaile
of a project, the branch should closely monitojustification of the assumptions or obtain a new
the project before issuing a release to the partnemppraisal or evaluation. Since the approval o
guarantor. the loan is based upon the value of the projec

after the construction is completed, insofar a:
the value component of the loan-to-value ratio i
concerned, it is important for the branch to
BRANCH ASSESSMENT OF REAL closely monitor the project’s progress and valu
ESTATE COLLATERAL during the construction period. Refer to the Rea
Estate Loans section of the manual for addi
Branches should obtain an appraisal or evaluaional information relative to the real estate
tion, as appropriate, for all real estate-relatedollateral assessment.
financial transactions prior to making the final
credit or other decision. Refer to the Real Estate
Appraisals and Evaluations section of this
manual for a description of the related requireLOAN DOCUMENTATION
ments a branch must satisfy for real estate-
related financial transactions. The appraisal sedhe loan documentation should provide infor-
tion explains the standards for appraisalgnation on the essential details of the loar
indicates which transactions require an apprais#iansaction, the security interest in the real esta
or an evaluation, states qualifications necessagpllateral, and the takeout loan commitment, il
for an appraiser and evaluator, provides guidany. The necessary documentation before tt
ance on evaluations, and describes the thregart of construction generally includes:
appraisal methods. . ) . .

The appraisal or evaluation techniques useti Financial and background information on the
to value a proposed construction project are Porrower to substantiate the borrower’s exper
essentially the same as those used for othertise and financial strength to complete the
types of real estate. The aggregate principal Project.
amount of the loan should be based on an The construction loan agreement, which set
appraisal or evaluation that provides, at a mini- forth the rights and obligations of the lender
mum, the “as is” market value of the property. and borrower, conditions for advancing funds
Additionally, the branch will normally request and events of default. In some states, th
the appraiser to report the “as completed” agreement must be cited in either the deed
value. Projections should be accompanied by a trust or the mortgage.
feasibility study explaining the effect of pro-+ A recorded mortgage or deed of trust, which
jected property improvements on the market can be used to foreclose and to obtain title t
value of the land. The feasibility study may be a the collateral.
separate report or incorporated into the appraisal A title insurance binder or policy, usually
report. If the appraiser uses the feasibility study, issued by a recognized title insurance com
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3110.1 Real Estate Construction Loans

pany or, in some states, an attorney’s opinioressary for processing and servicing the loan and
The title should be updated with each advancprotect the branch in the event of default.

of funds to provide additional collateral pro-

tection.

Insurance policies and proof of payment ag)gcumentation for Residential
evidence that the builder has adequate angynstruction Loans on Subdivisions
enforceable coverage for liability, fire and

other hazards, and vandalism and maliciou$pe documents mentioned above are usually
mischief losses. . . available for residential construction loans on
An appropriate appraisal or evaluation showsypdivisions (tracts). Documentation of tract
ing the value of the land and improvements tQoans frequently includes a master note in the
date or, possibly, a master appraisal based ftoss amount of the entire project, and a master
specifications for a multi-phase developmentgeed of trust covering all of the land involved in
Project plans, a feasibility study, and a conthe project. In addition to an appraisal or evalu-
struction budget showing the developmenation for each type of house to be constructed,
plans, project costs, marketing plans, anghe branch should also obtain a master appraisal
equity contributions. A detailed cost break-including a feasibility study for the entire devel-
down of land and “hard” construction costs, opment. The feasibility study compares the
as well as indirect or “soft” costs for con- projected demand for housing against the antici-
struction loan interest, organizational andpated supply of housing in the market area of the
administrative cost, and architectural, engiproposed tract development. This analysis should
neering, and legal fees should be included. indicate whether there will be sufficient demand
Property surveys, easements, an environmefor the developer's homes given the project’s
tal impact report, and soil reports that indicatdocation, type of homes, and unit sales price.
construction is feasible on the selected devel-

opment site. The branch should also obtain the

architect’s certification of the plan’s compli- Documentation for Takeout

ance with all applicable building codes and00mmitment

zoning, environmental protection, and other

gove'rnment regulations, as well as the ENIK1ost construction lenders require the developer
neer’'s report on compliance with building

codes and standards. If internal expertise ito have an arrangement for permanent financing
: P for each house to be constructed. Exceptions

not available, a branch may need to retain A\ clude model homes typically one for each

independent construction expert to rev'e"\étgle of home offered, and a limited number of

g‘nedszS&%%?;gﬁ;sosasfsﬁ]ses égﬁsrt?:st(?g:lgg N ﬁsmg starts ahead of sales (speculative bunq-
and costs r]?ig)_. _The starts ahead of sale_s, however, contain
’ . additional risk. If the branch finances too many
The takeout commitment from the permanen,, ;ses without purchase contracts, and housing
lender, if applicable, and the terms of the l0ang,|e5 decline rapidly, it may have to foreclose on
The branch should verify the financial strengthe | nsold houses and sell them for less than

of the permanent lender to fund the takeoujeir |0an value. A takeout of this type is usually
commitment. an arrangement between the developer and a

* A completion or performance bond signed bysermanent mortgage lender, but construction
the borrower that guarantees that the borrowggnders may also finance the permanent

will apply the loan proceeds to the projectmortgages_

being financed. . . The essential information required for a com-
* An owners’ affidavit or a borrowing resolution mercial real estate takeout to proceed includes

empowering the borrower or its representativghe floor and ceiling rental rates and minimum

.

to enter into the loan agreement. occupancy requirements; details of the project
< Evidence that property taxes have been paid toeing financed; expiration date; standby fee
date. requirement; assignment of rents; and, gener-

ally, a requirement that the construction loan be
These documents furnish evidence that thaully disbursed and not in any way be in default
lending officer is obtaining the information nec-at the time settlement occurs.
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The commitment agreement, referred to as 8tage Payment Plan

buy/sell contract or a tri-party agreement, is

signed by the borrower, the construction Iende|.=|—he stage payment plan, which is normally
and the permanent lender. The purpose of thig,hjied to residential and smaller commercia
agreement is to permit the permanent lender tQqstriction loans, uses a pre-established sche
buy the loan directly from the construction e for fixed disbursements to the borrower a
lender upon completion of the constructionghe eng of each specified stage of constructior
with the stipulation that all contingencies haverpae amount of the draw is usually based upo
been satisfied. Examples of contingencies includg, e stage of development because residenti
project completion by the required date, cleapqsing projects normally consist of houses ir
titte to the property, and minimum lease-Upyarious stages of construction. Nevertheless
requirements. A commitment agreement alsgyan agreements involving tract financing typi-
protects the construction lender against unforesyly restrict further advances in the event of ar
seen possibilities, such as the death of a princlcymulation of completed and unsold houses
pal, before the permanent loan documents af§ispyrsements are made when construction h:

signed. reached the agreed-upon stages, verified by
actual inspection of the property. These typi-
cally include advances at the conclusion o
various stages of construction, such as the four
LOAN ADMINISTRATION _dat_ion, exterior frarr_ling, the roof, interior fi_n-
ishing, and completion of the house. The fina
The branch and the borrower must effectivelP2YMent is made after the legally stipulated lier
cooperate as partners if controls relative t®@€rod for mechanic’s liens has lapsed.
construction progress are to be maintained. The Disbursement programs of this type are usu
loan agreement Speciﬂes the performance @“y requlred fOI’ each house COﬂStl’u(_:ted W|th|n C
each party during the entire course of construdract development. As each house is complete
tion. Any changes in construction plans should@nd sold, the branch makes a partial releas
be approved by both the construction lender antlative to that particular house covered by its
the takeout lender. Construction changes camaster deed of trust. The amount of the releas
result in increased costs, which may not neceds set forth in the loan agreement, which speci
sarily increase the market value of the comfies the agreed-upon release price for each hou
pleted project. On the other hand, a decrease f9!d with any excess over the net sales procee:
costs may not indicate a savings but may sugemitted to the borrower.
gest the use of lesser quality materials or work-
manship, which could affect the marketability of
the project.
Progress Payment Plan

. The progress payment plan is normally used fo
Disbursement of Loan Funds commercial projects. Under a progress paymelr
system, funds are released as the borrowe

Loan funds are generally disbursed througltompletes certain phases of construction a
either a stage payment plan or a progress paggreed upon in the loan agreement. Normally
ment plan. Regardless of the method of disthe branch retains a percentage of the funds as
bursement, the amount of each constructiohold-back (or retainage) to cover project cos
draw should be commensurate with the improvesverruns or outstanding bills from suppliers or
ments made to date. Funds should not bsubcontractors. Hold-backs occur when ¢
advanced unless they are used in the projedeveloper/contractor uses a number of subcor
being financed and as stipulated in the drawractors and maintains possession of a portion ¢
request. Therefore, the construction lender mugihe amounts owed to the subcontractors durin
monitor the funds being disbursed and must bthe construction period. This is done to ensur
assured, at every stage of construction, thdhat the subcontractors finish their work before
sufficient funds are available to complete theeceiving the final amount owed. Accordingly,
project. the construction lender holds back the sam
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3110.1 Real Estate Construction Loans

funds from the developer/contractor to avert th&efore any draw amount is disbursed, however,
risk of their misapplication or misappropriation.the branch must obtain verification of continued
The borrower presents a request for paymeititle insurance. Generally, this means verifying
from the branch in the form of a “construction that no liens have been filed against the title of
draw” request or “certification for payment,” the project since the previous draw. The title
which sets forth the funding request by construcinsurance insuring the construction lender's
tion phase and cost category for work that hagiortgage or lien is then increased to include the
been completed. This request should be accomew draw, which results in an increase in the
panied by receipts for the completed workitle insurance commensurate with the disburse-
(material and labor) for which payment is beingment of funds. The lender frequently examines
requested. The borrower also certifies that thtitle to the property securing the construction
conditions of the loan agreement have beelpan to also be certain that the borrower is not
met—that all requested funds have been used fledging it for other borrowings and to be sure
the subject project and that suppliers and sulihat mechanic’s liens are not being filed for
contractors have been paid. Additionally, theunpaid bills. When the project is not proceeding
subcontractors and suppliers should provide thas anticipated, that fact should be reflected in the
branch with lien waivers covering the workinspection reports.
completed for which payment has been received. Another important component in the process
Upon review of the draw request and indepenis the ongoing monitoring of general economic
dent confirmation on the progress of work, thdactors that will affect the marketing and selling
branch will disburse funds for construction cost®f the residential or commercial properties and
incurred, less the hold-back. The percentage @fffect their success upon completion of the
the loan funds retained are released when project.
notice of the project’'s completion has been filed,
and after the stipulated period has elapsed under

which subcontractors or suppliers can file a "e”Monitoring Residential Projects

An inventory list is maintained for each tract or
Monitoring Progress of Construction Phase of the project. The inventory list should
and Loan Draws show each lot number, the style of house, the
release price, the sale price, and the loan bal-
ance. The list should be posted daily with
?Odvances and payments indicating the balance
gdvanced for each house, date completed, date
gpld, and date paid, and should age the builder’s
anentory by listing the older houses completed

It is critical that a branch has appropriate pro
cedures and an adequate tracking system
monitor payments to ensure that the fund
requested are appropriate for the given stage
development. The monitoring occurs throug
physical inspections of the project once it ha§Ind unsold.

started. The results of the inspections are then Inspecftlons t(us?ally fmon:}hlﬁ/) du”?‘g ;[geb
documented in the inspection reports, which ar&0UrS€ Of construction ot each house should be

kept in the appropriate file. Depending on th ocumented In progress rep.orts'. Thg progress
coﬁmlexity ofF:IEl)e Sroject, the ins%ectior? reportd ©POrt should indicate the project's activity dur-
can be completed either by the lender or by a g the previous month, reflecting the number of
independent construction consulting firm, th omes under construction, the number com-
latter generally staffed by architects and engipleted' ?“d.the number sold. The monthly report
neers. The reports address both the quantity aﬁ&omd. |nd|cat¢ Whether advances are being
the quality of the work for which funds are made in compliance with the loan agreement.
being requested. They also verify that the plans
are being followed and that the construction is
proceeding on schedule and within budget. Monitoring Commercial Projects

The branch must be accurately informed of
the progress to date in order to monitor the loarTo have an effective control over its commercial
It is also important that the branch ascertaironstruction loan program, the branch must
whether draws are being taken in accordandeave an established loan administration process
with the predetermined disbursement scheduléhat continually monitors each project. The pro-
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cess should include monthly reporting on thdord’s position by the branch in the event the
work completed, the cost to date, the cost tdborrower declares bankruptcy. Furthermore, t
complete, construction deadlines, and loan fundsnsure that the branch has full knowledge of al
remaining. Any changes in construction plangrovisions of the lease agreements, tenan
should be documented and reviewed by thehould be required to sign an estoppel certifica
construction consulting firm and should betion.
approved by the branch and takeout lender. A In some cases, the takeout lender may onl
significant number of change orders may indipay off a portion of the construction loan becaust
cate poor planning or project design, or proba conditional requirement for full funding has
lems in construction, and should be tracked andot been met, such as the project not attaining
reflected in the project’s budget. Soft costs suchertain level of occupancy. The construction
as advertising and promotional expenses nofender would then have a second mortgage o
mally are not funded until the marketing of thethe remaining balance of the construction loan
project has started. When the conditions of the takeout loan are me
the construction lender is repaid in full and the
lien is released.

Final Repayment

Interest Reserves
Before the final draw is made, the construction
loan should be in a condition to be converted tg\ construction loan is generally an interest-only
a permanent loan. Usually the final draw includegpan because of the fact that cash flow is no
payment of the hold-back stipulated in the loaryyailable from most projects until they are
agreement and is used to pay all remaining billsompleted. The borrower’s interest expense i
The branch should obtain full waivers of lienstherefore borrowed from the construction lende
(releases) from all contractors, subcontractorgs part of the construction loan for the purpos
and suppliers before the loan is released and th “paying” the lender interest on the “portion”
hold-back is disbursed. The branch should alsgf the loan used for actual construction. The
obtain a final inspection report to confirm thefunds advanced to pay the interest are include
project is completed and meets the buildings part of the typical monthly draw. As a result,
specifications, including confirmation of the certhe balance due to the lender increases with ea
tificate of occupancy from the governing build-draw by the full amount of construction costs,
ing authority. plus the interest that is borrowed.

Sources of permanent funding for commercial The borrower’s interest cost is determined by
projects vary greatly, depending upon the typehe amount of credit extended and the length o
of project. For condominium projects, the contime needed to complete the project. This inter
struction lender may also be providing theest cost is referred to as an interest reserve. Th
funding for marketing the individual units and period of time should be evaluated for reason
would be releasing the loan on a unit-by-unitableness relative to the project being financec
basis similar to a residential development conin larger projects, cash flow may be generate
struction loan. If there is a pre-committed takeprior to the project’'s completion. In such cases
out lender, the new lender could purchase theny income from the project should be appliec
construction loan documents and assume the debt service before there is a draw on th
security interest from the construction lender. linterest reserve. The lender should closely mon
the project is being purchased for cash, theor the lease-up of the project to ensure that th
branch would release its lien and cancel theroject’s net income is being applied to debt
note. service and not diverted to the borrower as :

Additionally, as the commercial project isreturn of the developer’s capital or for use in the
leased, the lender should ensure that the branchidsveloper’s other projects.
position is protected in the event that extended-
term funding is not obtained. The branch may
require tenants to enter into subordinationLoan Default
attornment, and nondisturbance agreements,
which protect the branch’s interests in the leas&he inherent exposure in construction financin
by providing for the assumption of the land-is that the full value of the collateral is not
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realized until the project is completed. In defaulgreater number of assets (projects/properties)
situations the branch must consider the alterndhat make up the borrower. As a result, it is
tives available to recover its advances. Fonecessary to obtain detailed financial statements
incomplete projects, the branch must decidef each of the assets (projects/properties) and
whether it is more advantageous to complete thie consolidating financial statements, as well as
project or to sell on an “as is” basis. The variousthe consolidated financial statements. This is
mechanic’'s and materialmen’s liens, tax liensimportant because each kind of statement can
and other judgments that arise in such cases apeovide significant insight into problems that
distressing to even the most seasoned lendeould adversely affect the borrower’'s overall
Due to these factors, the construction lendefinancial condition.
may not be in the preferred position indicated by Assessing the financial condition of the multi-
documents in the file. Therefore, the lendeasset entity includes evaluating the major sources
should take every precaution to minimize anyof cash and determining whether cash flow is
third-party claim on the collateral. Because lawslependent on income generated from completed
regarding the priority of certain liens may varyprojects, the sale of real estate, or infusion of
among states, the branch should take the necesitside capital. Additionally, the branch should
sary steps to ensure that its lien is recorded prictiso review the borrower’s account receivables
to the commencement of work or the delivery offor the appropriateness of intercompany trans-
materials and supplies. actions and to guard against diversion of funds.
Depending upon the structure of the loan, it
may also be desirable to obtain a partner’s/
guarantor’s financial statements on a periodic
basis. In such cases it is important to obtain

. e . detailed current and accurate financial state-
To detect signs of a borrower’s financial prob-

X ,ments that include cash flow information on a
lems, the branch should review the borrower roject-by-project basis.
flna_nmal state_ments on a _perlodlc (quarterly Slow unit sales, or excessive inventory rela-
basis, assessing the I|qu_|d|ty, de.bt Ievel_, anﬂve to sales, indicate the borrower may have
cash flow. The degree of information the ﬂnan-di !

; ; : fficulty repaying the loan. Although some-
cial statements provide the ’bra_nch, _|nsofar %Fmes there are mitigating factors beyond the
understanding the borrower’s financial condi-

tion is concerned, depends primarily on whetheContrOI of the borrower, such as delays in
1€d, dep P 1y .5btaining materials and supplies, adverse weather
the borroyver Is a single-asset entity or a mult"conditions, or unanticipated site work, the bor-
asset enpty. i i rower may be unable to overcome these prob-
The financial statements of a single-assqbms. Such delays usually increase project costs
entity only reflect the project being constructedyng could hamper the loan’s repayment.

tf:etrefore,t thefy arltta_ of atmorﬁ_llmltﬁd ust?] tlhan The construction lender should be aware of
statements of multi-asset entiies. Nevertnelesg, ,ys peing misused—for example, rebuilding

one issue that is of Importance to f'né.mc.'ao meet specification changes not previously
statements of both entities relates to monitoringic -15sed starting a new project, or possibly

changes in accounts and trade payables. Mony, iny'sbcontractors for work performed else-
toring these payables in a detailed manner hel here. The practice of “front loading,” whereby

the branch to determine if trade payables arg y iqer deliberately overstates the cost of the
paid late or if there are any unpaid bills. In th ork to be completed in the early stages of

event of problems, a branch might choose tQJ‘,onstruction, is not uncommon and, if not
either contact the payables directly or request a

o X etected early on, will almost certainly result in
additional credit check on the borrower. Anothefg icient Ioan funds available to complete
source of information indicating borrower prOb'construction in the event of a default.
lems is local publications that list lawsuits or
judgments that have been filed or entered against
the borrower. Additionally, the branch should
also verify that the borrower is making its taxLoan Workouts
payments on time.

In a multi-asset entity, on the other handSound workout programs begin with a full
more potential problems could arise due to theisclosure of all relevant information based on a

Signs of Problems
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realistic evaluation of the borrower’s ability to which led to declining rental income caused by
manage the business entity (business, technicéhe ever greater need for rent concessions. Th
and financial capabilities), and the branch’slecline in cash flow from income-producing
ability to assist the borrower in developing andproperties, and the uncertainty regarding futur:
monitoring a feasible workout/repayment planincome, reduced the market value of many
Management should then decide on a course pfoperties to levels considered undesirable b
action to resolve the problems, with the terms opermanent mortgage lenders. As a result of th
the workout documented in writing and formally subsequent void created by the permanent len
agreed to by the borrower. If additional collat-ers, banks in the mid- and late-1980s began t
eral is accepted or substituted, the branch shouektend medium-term loans with maturities of up
ensure that the necessary legal documents a@seven years (also referred to as mini-perms
filed to protect the branch’s collateral position.These mini-perms were granted with the expec
In those cases where the borrower is permitation by banks that as the excess supply c
ted to finish the project, additional extensions oépace declined, the return on investment woul
credit for completing the project, due to costimprove, and permanent lenders would return.
overruns or an insufficient interest reserve, may As these loans mature in the 1990s, borrower
represent the best alternative for a workout plammay continue to find it difficult to obtain
At the same time, the branch should evaluate tf@jequa{e sources of long-term credit. In som
cause of the problem(s), such as mismanageases, banks may determine that the most des
ment, and determine whether it is in its beshble and prudent course is to roll over or renev
interest to allow the borrower to complete thepans to those borrowers who have demon
project. strated an ability to pay interest on their debts
but who presently may not be in a position to
obtain long-term financing for the loan balance
SUPERVISORY POLICY The act of refinancing or renewing loans to
sound borrowers, including creditworthy com-
As a result of competitive pressures, manynercial or residential real estate developers
branches in the early 1980s made constructiogenerally should not be subject to supervison
loans on an open-end basis, wherein the bogcriticism in the absence of well-defined weak-
rower did not have a commitment for longer-nesses that jeopardize repayment of the loan
term or takeout financing before constructiorRefinancings or renewals should be structured i
was started. Although there was sufficiensuch a manner that is consistent with soun
demand for commercial real estate space whevanking principles, supervisory guidelines, anc
this practice commenced, the supply of spacaccounting practices, which would protect the
began to exceed demand. One symptom of theranch and improve its prospects for collecting
excess supply was an increase in vacancy rates, recovering on the asset.
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Real Estate Construction Loans

Examination Objectives .
Effective date July 1997 Section 3110.2

1. To determine if policies, practices, proce4. To determine compliance with applicable
dures, and internal controls regarding real laws and regulations.
estate construction loans are adequate. 5. To initiate corrective action when policies,
2. To determine if branch officers are operating practices, procedures, or internal controls ar
in conformance with the branch’s established deficient or when violations of law or regu-
guidelines. lations have been noted.
3. To evaluate the portfolio for collateral suffi-
ciency, performance, credit quality, and
collectibility.

Branch and Agency Examination Manual September 1997
Page 1



Real Estate Construction Loans

Examination Procedures
Effective date July 1997

Section 3110.3

Refer to the Real Estate Loan Examination

Procedures section of this manual for examina-
tion procedures related to all types of real estate
lending activity, and incorporate into this check-

list those procedures applicable to the review of
the real estate construction loans. The proce-
dures in this checklist are unique to the review
of a branch’s construction lending activity.

1. Determine the scope of the examination based
on the evaluation of internal controls and the
work performed by internal/external auditors.

2. Test real estate construction loans for com-
pliance with policies, practices, procedures,
and internal controls by performing the
remaining examination procedures in this
section. Also, obtain a listing of any deficien-
cies noted in the latest internal/external audit
reviews and determine if appropriate correc-
tions have been made. Review manage-
ment's actions taken in response to prior
examination comments.

3. Review management reports on the status of

construction

lending activity, economic

developments in the market, and problem
loan reports.
4. Evaluate the branch with respect to:

a.

b.

the adequacy of written policies and pro-
cedures relating to construction lending.
operating compliance with established
branch policy.

. favorable or adverse trends in construc-

tion lending activity.

. the accuracy and completeness of the

branch’s records.

. the adequacy of internal controls, includ-

ing control of construction draws.

the adherence of lending staff to lending
policies, procedures, and authority as well
as the branch’s adherence to the holding
company'’s loan limits, if applicable.

. compliance with laws, regulations, and

Federal Reserve policy on construction
lending activity, including supervisory
loan-to-value (LTV) limits and restric- 6.
tions; loans to officers, directors, and share-
holders; appraisal and evaluation of real
estate collateral; and prudent lending
practices.

5. Select loans for examination, using an appro-
priate sampling technique. Analyze the per-

formance of the loans selected for examina
tion by transcribing the following kinds of
information onto the real estate constructior
loan line cards, when applicable:

a.

b.

m.

Collateral records and credit files, includ-
ing the borrower’s financial statements,
review of related projects, credit report of
the borrower and guarantors, appraisal o
evaluation of collateral, feasibility studies,
economic impact studies, and loan agree
ment and terms.

Loan modification or restructuring agree-
ments to